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REPLY BRIEF 

Geoff Cassidy, in “exclusive,” “actual and effective control” of Zetta Singapore, bought 

the Bombardier aircraft the company needed for its charter business.  Because Zetta’s business 

plan was poorly conceived and because Cassidy was also allegedly embezzling millions of dollars, 

Zetta Singapore and its sister company Zetta USA went under.  Though the Trustee now seeks to 

hold the Defendants liable for the Zetta companies’ failure, Cassidy was architect of the 

companies’ demise.  Once his guilty knowledge is properly imputed to the company he ran, every 

one of the Trustee’s claims fails. 

Despite the Trustee’s attempts to blame outsiders, the rot was inside Zetta.  The First 

Amended Complaint (FAC) admits that directors Matthew Walter and James Seagrim knowingly 

let Zetta Singapore defraud its creditors and counterparties by buying aircraft despite knowing that 

the company could not pay for them.1  These directors bought into the business plan and approved 

every transaction.  Despite their supposed aviation-business experience, and even though Cassidy 

had for years been a headline-making fraudster and was committing “obvious frauds” the entire 

time the company was operating, Seagrim and Walter gave Cassidy carte blanche to run the entire 

enterprise.  And yet the Trustee contends that the Debtors’ failure was due not to the blind eye they 

turned to Cassidy’s misdeeds but to a conspiracy between Cassidy and the Defendants. 

If the Court considers the Trustee’s late-filed Opposition at all (and it should not), it will 

see a school of red herrings.  Most glaringly, the Trustee asks the Court to adopt an overbroad and 

unreasonable version of the adverse-interest exception to imputation.  But the adverse interest 

exception, according to California Supreme Court decisions applying California law, does not 

apply because Cassidy’s actions benefited the Debtors:  the Debtors’ revenue came from charter 

 
1 Citations to “Opp.” are to the Trustee’s 35-page opposition to the FK Defendants’ Motion to 
Dismiss, Doc. 332.  Citations to “MTD” are to Doc. 281.  Paragraph-number citations (e.g., “¶ 1”) 
are to the FAC, Doc. 265. 
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flights on the aircraft Cassidy bought.  And Cassidy also satisfies the sole-actor exception:  he was 

in “actual and effective,” “exclusive” control of the company such that the Trustee admits he was 

its alter ego.  The Opposition does not dispute that, even without in pari delicto, imputing 

Cassidy’s knowledge to the Debtors is fatal to the tort claims. 

But in pari delicto, too, requires dismissal of those claims.  As the FK Defendants pointed 

out repeatedly, the FAC admits (albeit in conclusory fashion) that the Debtors were engaged in 

knowingly wrongful behavior—buying planes they knew they could not afford, thus defrauding 

third parties dealing with them.  Because the Trustee is bound by these assertions, the Debtors 

were in pari delicto.  California agency law offers a separate path to the same result, denying the 

Debtors an escape route from the transactions they authorized Cassidy to make and then approved.  

And, finally, imputation of Cassidy’s guilty knowledge to Zetta Singapore is a third, independent 

reason the Debtors were in pari delicto. 

For those reasons, all the Trustee’s tort claims fail.  But they also fail individually, despite 

the Trustee’s attempt to amend the FAC via his Opposition.  For example, merely using the word 

“kickback” does not satisfy the FAC’s pleading burden.  Money is just money unless it was 

intended to induce wrongful behavior—and the Trustee concedes that buying the aircraft was not 

wrongful.  Opp. 7.  This concession confirms what the Defendants have known all along:  the 

alleged “bribes” or “kickbacks” are no such thing because they were not made corruptly.  The 

Trustee also has not fixed the problem this Court identified with his first complaint—he has not 

adequately alleged that the aircraft Zetta bought were overpriced.  The unsourced “expert” 

assertions in the FAC are belied by the evidence appended to the FAC.  And the Opposition’s 

attempt to amend new allegations into the FAC is improper. 

Moreover, the UCL claim fails because—despite the Trustee’s invitation to misread 

California law—the FAC does not allege any activity by any Defendant in California (even “in 

part”) or any injury in California.  The conspiracy claim fails for numerous reasons, including that 
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the Trustee does not dispute that, if the Court credits his agency and alter ego allegations, there 

can be no conspiracy as a matter of law.  Then, flipping fraud law on its head, the Opposition 

argues that the FK Defendants should be held liable for misrepresentations made to them.  The 

fraudulent concealment claim fails for similar reasons and because the supposedly “concealed” 

information was readily discoverable. 

The Trustee’s late-filed Opposition confirms that, after receiving thousands of documents 

in discovery and after twenty-seven months of litigation (including more than twenty-one months 

to file the FAC), the Trustee is unable to plead viable claims against the Defendants.  The 154-

page FAC contains 840 paragraphs of allegations and claims and attaches another 170 pages as 

exhibits, which combine to produce a confused and conflicting story that alternates between failing 

to adequately plead necessary facts and pleading facts that confirm that the Trustee is not entitled 

to any relief.  And the Trustee’s attempts to further amend the FAC via his Opposition or avoid 

admissions by invoking Rule 8 are both improper and futile.  The FK Defendants’ motion should 

be granted and the Trustee’s tort claims dismissed with prejudice. 

I. By Filing Late, the Trustee Consented to Granting the FK Defendants’ MTD 

In its November 22, 2021 Order, the Court granted the Trustee’s motion to file his 35-page 

Opposition “nunc pro tunc to the date/time that the 40-page Opposition was filed.”  Doc. 328 at 3.  

The Court noted that the 40-page Opposition had been filed “at 12:22:12 p.m. PT—after the 

deadline for the Trustee to file an opposition.”  Id. at 2.  Accordingly, filing the 35-page Opposition 

“nunc pro tunc to [that] date/time” means that it was also filed “after the deadline for the Trustee 

to file an opposition to the FK MTD.”  See id. at 2–3.  The Trustee affirmatively moved to file the 

35-page Opposition “nunc pro tunc,” see generally Doc. 313, and therefore out of time.  The 

Trustee also did not contemporaneously serve the Defendants with the unredacted revised 

Opposition as he represented to the Court he would do when he sought to file the 35-page 

Opposition, id. at 2, but did so two days later after the FK Defendants requested it.  Though the 
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FAC fails on its own terms, the Court need not reach those questions because the Court may treat 

the out-of-time filing as the Trustee’s consent to grant the FK Defendants’ motion and dismiss 

Counts 1–3, 6, and 7 with prejudice.  C.D. Cal. L.R. 7-12; In re GGW Brands, LLC, 2013 WL 

6908889, at *14 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. Nov. 15, 2013) (deeming failure to timely “file and serve” a 

document “consent to the granting or denial of the motion”) (quotation marks omitted); see also 

In re Franklin, 2021 WL 2593841, at *6 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. June 24, 2021) (“Debtor has not shown 

any error by the court in dismissing the complaint based on Debtor’s failure to timely oppose the 

motion to dismiss and we would affirm on that basis alone.”).   

II. Imputation of Cassidy’s Knowledge is Proper and Fatal to the Trustee’s Tort Claims 

A. Imputation and in pari delicto require separate analyses. 

Perhaps because courts often shortcut the analysis when both doctrines are involved (which 

is often), the Trustee’s arguments related to in pari delicto and imputation conflate the two 

doctrines.  E.g., Opp. 27 (incorrectly presenting the “adverse interest exception” as an exception 

to “[i]n pari delicto”).  But as the FK Defendants explained in their opening brief, although the 

presumption of imputation and the in pari delicto doctrine often go hand in hand, they are separate 

legal doctrines that require separate analyses.  MTD 12, 18. 

The presumption of imputation is a legal doctrine that presumes a principal knows what its 

agent knows.  Restatement (3d) of Agency § 5.03 (2006).  It often arises in the context of corporate 

responsibility for an employee’s or manager’s actions.  Austin v. Hallmark Oil Co., 21 Cal. 2d 718, 

729, 134 P.2d 777, 784 (1943) (a corporation “is presumed to know what is known to its managing 

officers and directors”).  The law of imputation is rooted in a strong public policy in favor of 

allocating responsibility for the actions of a corporation’s officers and agents to the corporation 

itself—the entity more appropriately charged with that responsibility than third parties with whom 

the corporation has dealings through its agents or officers.  MTD 6 (citing In re ChinaCast Edu. 

Corp. Sec. Litig., 809 F.3d 471, 478 (9th Cir. 2015)).  
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The presumption of imputation is subject to the adverse-interest exception—a narrow 

exception that overcomes the presumption when the agent’s actions are so contrary to the 

principal’s interests that he can be said to have completely abandoned those interests.  Restatement 

(3d) of Agency § 5.04 (knowledge is not imputed “if the agent acts adversely to the principal … 

intending to act solely for the agent’s own purposes or those of another person”) (emphasis added); 

see also McKenney v. Ellsworth, 165 Cal. 326, 329, 132 P. 75, 76 (1913) (imputation remains 

proper despite the fact that an agent “may have an opposing personal interest” in the transaction); 

3 Witkin, Summary of California Law § 166 (11th ed. 2021).  Because of the policy undergirding 

imputation, the adverse-interest exception must be narrow:  “To allow a corporation to avoid the 

consequences of corporate acts simply because an employee performed them with his personal 

profit in mind would enable the corporation to disclaim, at its convenience, virtually every act its 

officers undertake”—a result that would throw commercial relationships of all kinds into disarray.  

Kirschner v. KPMG LLP, 15 N.Y.3d 446, 467, 938 N.E.2d 941 (2010). 

Further narrowing the adverse-interest exception is the “sole actor” exception to that 

exception: where the agent is in sole control of the principal or if they are alter egos, it makes no 

difference if the agent was acting adversely to the principal—his guilty knowledge is imputed to 

the principal.  Uecker v. Zentil, 244 Cal. App. 4th 789, 798, 198 Cal. Rptr. 3d 620, 626 (1st Dist. 

2016). 

The in pari delicto doctrine, meanwhile, is not about agency and does not require 

imputation.  E.g., Kardoh v. United States, 572 F.3d 697, 698 (9th Cir. 2009).  Instead, like the 

closely related equitable doctrine of unclean hands, it addresses the relationship between a plaintiff 

and defendant in a lawsuit:  when a plaintiff seeks to hold a defendant liable for a tort for which 

the plaintiff bears equal fault, the law will not aid the plaintiff.  Casey v. U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n, 

127 Cal. App. 4th 1138, 1143 n.1, 26 Cal. Rptr. 3d 401, 404 n.1 (4th Dist. 2005). 

These two doctrines intersect when a principal claiming innocence seeks to hold a third 

Case 2:19-ap-01382-SK    Doc 336    Filed 12/22/21    Entered 12/22/21 12:29:22    Desc
Main Document      Page 14 of 43



 

6 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS 1-3, 6, AND 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

party liable for the third party’s dealings with the principal’s allegedly guilty agent.  In other words, 

these doctrines are—individually and together—particularly appropriate for this case.  The Trustee 

does not dispute (and thus concedes) that, if Cassidy’s knowledge is imputed to the Debtors, each 

tort claim must be dismissed because the FAC fails to allege the required elements of each cause 

of action.  MTD 18.  Separately, the claims are barred by the in pari delicto doctrine for three 

reasons, two of which—the Trustee’s affirmative allegations of wrongdoing by the Debtors and 

California’s respondeat superior law—do not rely on imputing Cassidy’s knowledge to Debtors.  

And even aside from those two reasons, imputing Cassidy’s knowledge also renders the Debtors 

in pari delicto. 

B. Cassidy’s knowledge is correctly presumed imputed to Zetta Singapore. 

Under California law, a corporation “is presumed to know what is known to its managing 

officers and directors.”  Austin, 21 Cal. 2d at 729.  Cassidy was the managing director of Zetta 

Singapore, and so his knowledge is presumed imputed to Zetta Singapore.  MTD 6–7.   

The Trustee’s response invites the Court to reject this initial presumption by focusing on 

cases applying the adverse-interest exception.  E.g., Opp. 22.  But, again, that collapses two 

analytically distinct questions—first, whether knowledge is presumed imputed, and second, 

whether the adverse-interest exception applies.  Contrary to the Trustee’s contention that the Court 

may reject imputation without considering the adverse-interest exception, Opp. 22, resolution of 

this issue turns on the scope and application of California’s adverse-interest exception.  And as 

discussed immediately below, Section II.C, the Trustee’s expansive reading of the adverse-interest 

exception is contrary to binding California authority. 

The Trustee’s contention that because there are “no allegations of any wrongdoing by the 

Debtors” there is “no wrongful conduct to impute” misconstrues how imputation works.2  See 

 
2 The Trustee is also wrong that there are “no allegations of any wrongdoing by the Debtors” in 
the FAC.  See infra Section III.A. 
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Opp. 26 (quotation marks omitted).  It is Cassidy’s guilty knowledge that is imputed to Zetta.  The 

purported innocence of a principal that authorized a guilty agent is precisely what agent-principal 

imputation overcomes. 

C. The narrow adverse-interest exception does not apply. 

1.  Cassidy’s knowledge is imputed to Zetta Singapore unless the adverse-interest 

exception applies.  The Trustee invites the Court into error by advancing an incorrectly overbroad 

version of that exception.   

As background, the black-letter common-law rule, followed throughout the country, is that 

an agent’s knowledge is imputed to the principal unless the agent has wholly abandoned the 

principal’s interests.  MTD 8 (citing, inter alia, Restatement (3d) of Agency § 5.04 (knowledge is 

not imputed “if the agent acts adversely to the principal in a transaction or matter, intending to act 

solely for the agent’s own purposes or those of another person”) (emphasis added)).  The sound 

policy behind the narrowness of this exception is obvious.  An outside party should not be held 

liable to a principal where an agent, authorized to act for the principal in dealing with that outside 

party and ostensibly doing so in a way that benefits the principal, nevertheless acts in some way 

that the principal may later contend is in any way adverse.  See Kirschner, 15 N.Y.3d at 467. 

The rule in California for the last century has been the same as that foundational common-

law rule:  an agent’s mere “opposing personal interest” in a transaction is insufficient to deny 

imputation of the agent’s knowledge to the principal.  MTD 7–8 (quoting McKenney, 165 Cal. at 

329); see also 3 Witkin, Summary of California Law § 166 (“California courts have drawn a 

distinction between situations in which the agent acts in an adverse capacity and those in which 

the agent acts for the principal but has a personal adverse interest.”).  Whenever a company 

“derive[s] and retain[s] the benefit of the acts in question”—in other words, where the agent’s 

actions are not wholly adverse because they benefit the company—imputation is proper despite an 

agent’s adverse interest.  Verder v. Am. Loan Soc’y, 1 Cal. 2d 17, 28, 32 P.2d 1081, 1085 (1934). 
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Despite that California Supreme Court precedent, the Trustee wrongly contends that 

California rejected these sensible limitations to the adverse-interest exception and made itself an 

outlier by applying the adverse-interest exception whenever it is alleged that anything the agent or 

manager has done is even slightly contrary to the principal’s interests, no matter how beneficial 

the actions may otherwise be to the principal.  Opp. 27–30.  The version of California law that the 

Trustee proposes cannot be correct because it has no logical endpoint.  Under the Trustee’s reading, 

whenever an agent does anything that is even arguably a bit adverse to the principal’s interests (for 

example, failing to negotiate for what the principal might later contend is the best possible price 

on a transaction), the third party with whom the agent is dealing could not trust that the deal it 

reached will be honored—or even that the principal would not, as happened here, sue the third 

party and claim it contributed to the agent’s alleged delinquency.  The principal would then escape 

all responsibility for its role in empowering the agent to deal with the third party and for approving 

any agreement the agent reached on the principal’s behalf, no matter how beneficial the deal 

actually was to the principal.  The perverse incentives of such a rule (if it were a rule) are plain:  a 

company may escape the business consequences of its own negligence or even its actively poor 

decisionmaking and shift those consequences onto parties whom the law does not otherwise 

require to safeguard the company’s interests.  See Kirschner, 15 N.Y.3d at 467. 

That is not the law in California.  Here, as elsewhere, imputation is proper despite an 

agent’s “opposing personal interest” in a transaction so long as the principal “derive[s] and 

retain[s] the benefits of the act in question.”  McKenney, 165 Cal. at 329; Verder, 1 Cal. 2d at 28. 

2.  The Trustee’s assault on First National Bank v. Reed, 198 Cal. 252, 244 P. 368 (1926), 

is similarly misguided.  Opp. 24–26.  The Trustee suggests that Reed stands for the principle that 

“if the agent and the third party are acting in collusion to defraud the principal the principal will 

not be held bound by the knowledge of the agent.”  Opp. 25 (quoting Reed).  But the Trustee omits 

what Reed says just after that statement:  that rule applies only to a situation in which “the liability 
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of the principal to a third person is involved,” and “has no application to a situation … wherein 

the principal is seeking to establish the liability of a third person.”  Reed, 198 Cal. at 259 (emphasis 

added).  Accordingly, California courts “presume, in favor of third persons” that “even though [the 

agent] may have an opposing personal interest” the agent’s knowledge is imputed to the principal.  

Rhinock v. Price, 218 Cal. 403, 407, 23 P.2d 1014, 1016 (1933) (emphasis added, quotation marks 

omitted).  Those holdings, of course, are the very holdings on which the FK Defendants relied in 

their MTD.  MTD 7–8 (quoting Reed & Rhinock).  This “interpretation” is not “tortured,” Opp. 24 

n.21—it is California law set out by the California Supreme Court. 

Though the Trustee cites a host of cases from here and far afield, not one of the California 

cases he cites stands for the rule he asks the Court to adopt—that the partially adverse interest of 

an agent or officer (here, Cassidy) overcomes imputation of that agent or officer’s knowledge to a 

principal (here, the Trustee, standing in Zetta Singapore’s shoes) who seeks to establish the 

liability of a third person (here, the Defendants), where the principal benefited from the agent’s 

transactions on its behalf (here, with multimillion-dollar aircraft and the revenue they generated). 

Instead, some of the Trustee’s cases present inapposite situations in which the principal 

(i.e., the Trustee) tries to impute its own agent’s knowledge (i.e., Cassidy) to a third party (i.e., the 

Defendants).  Witty v. Clinch, 207 Cal. 779, 783–84, 279 P. 797, 798–99 (1929); Stueve Bros. 

Farms, LLC v. Berger Kahn, 222 Cal. App. 4th 303, 316, 166 Cal. Rptr. 3d 116, 126 (4th Dist. 

2013).  But that is exactly the opposite of the situation presented in this case.  Other cases address 

a third party seeking to hold the principal liable—also inapposite here.  Saks v. Charity Mission 

Baptist Church, 90 Cal. App. 4th 1116, 1138, 110 Cal. Rptr. 2d 45, 62–64 (2d Dist. 2001); Meyer 

v. Glenmoor Homes, Inc., 246 Cal. App. 2d 242, 253, 54 Cal. Rptr. 786 (1st Dist. 1966); Sands v. 

Eagle Oil & Refining Co., 83 Cal. App. 2d 312, 188 P.2d 782, 793–94 (1st Dist. 1948).  Still others 

are suits in which the principal is suing its own agent—again, not this case.  Sharim v. Amin, 2015 

WL 7180680 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. Nov. 16, 2015) (unpublished).  Meanwhile, Peregrine Funding, 
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Inc. v. Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP, 133 Cal. App. 4th 658, 681, 35 Cal. Rptr. 3d 31, 

48 (1st Dist. 2005), is consistent with the FK Defendants’ reading of Reed—it rejects an attempt 

by the principal to hold a third party liable where the agent’s knowledge is properly imputed to the 

principal. 

The Trustee further implies that imputation should be allowed only when the third party is 

innocent.  Opp. 24.  But the Trustee himself concedes that just as the Trustee has accused the 

Defendants here of wrongdoing, the third-party defendant in Reed was accused of wrongdoing: 

that third-party defendant, the Trustee says, “allegedly conspired with” the agent.  Opp. 24; see 

Reed, 198 Cal. at 255–56.  In any event, the Trustee’s reading cannot be correct.  As discussed 

above, imputation is often applied together with the in pari delicto defense.  If the Trustee were 

right, defendants could never rely on both imputation and in pari delicto because in pari delicto is 

a defense against an accusation of wrongdoing by the defendant, but the Trustee’s rule would 

preclude imputation when the defendant was accused of wrongdoing.  That is clearly not the law.  

E.g., In re Mortg. Fund ’08 LLC, 527 B.R. 351, 366 (N.D. Cal. 2015) (applying both imputation 

and in pari delicto); In re Yellow Cab Coop., 602 B.R. 357, 362 (Bankr. N.D. Cal. 2019) (same). 

The Trustee’s contention that Reed “is not ‘bedrock’ California law,” Opp. 24 n.21, is 

mistaken.  Reed is the source of the language on which the Trustee relies to advance his incorrect 

interpretation of the California adverse-interest exception.  MTD 10 (noting that the source of the 

language in both Peregrine and Meyer is Reed).  But unlike the later intermediate appellate cases, 

which had no occasion to apply the exception, Reed explained its limitations.  MTD 10.  

This Court should reject the Trustee’s attempt to avoid clear statements by the California 

Supreme Court.  The law the Trustee cites does not call those statements of California law into 

question.  And, in any event, it could not—apart from Witty, which is consistent with the other 

Supreme Court cases the FK Defendants cite, the rest of the law the Trustee cites comes either 

from inferior California appellate courts or from foreign or federal decisions, none of which can 
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overcome the California Supreme Court’s explanation of California law. 

3.  To the extent the federal district court decisions cited by the Trustee recognize a 

supposedly broader reading of the adverse-interest exception, they are wrong about California 

law.3  MTD 8–9.  Much of the confusion around this doctrine in California federal courts arises 

from the Ninth Circuit’s vacated decision in FDIC v. O’Melveny & Myers (O’Melveny I), 969 F.2d 

744, 750 (9th Cir. 1992), rev’d O’Melveny & Myers v. FDIC (O’Melveny II), 512 U.S. 79 (1994).  

That case, in which a principal sought to establish the liability of an agent, is—like all the Trustee’s 

other cases—factually inapposite and therefore not binding here.  MTD 8.  The Trustee does not 

respond to (and thus concedes) that explanation why O’Melveny I does not govern this case. 

The Trustee also cites the unpublished table decision in Engeleiter v. Shin, 956 F.2d 274, 

1992 WL 33930 (9th Cir. 1992), for the notion that the Ninth Circuit has rejected reliance on Reed.  

Opp. 25.  But Engeleiter—in addition to being nonbinding, 9th Cir. R. 36-3(a)—is less on point 

than O’Melveny I.  Its discussion of Reed is about neither imputation nor in pari delicto.  Instead, 

that discussion arises in the context of whether the defendant is an accommodation party on a note.  

The Engeleiter court, moreover, was applying federal common law, 1992 WL 33930, at *1, and 

declined to adopt the holding from Reed as a federal common-law rule “whatever [its] status … as 

a matter of California law” because it was decided “prior to the U.C.C.,” id. at *2.  In sum, 

Engeleiter contains no suggestion that California’s adverse-interest exception differs from the 

black-letter common-law rule. 

4.  Hedging his argument in recognition that California law does, in fact, require imputation 

when the principal benefits at all from the transactions, the Trustee argues that Zetta Singapore did 

not benefit from the transactions.  Opp. 28–29.  This argument is easily dispensed with.  The 

benefits are alleged on the face of the FAC, which affirmatively alleges that Zetta received 

 
3 This Court is “not bound by a district court’s decision from another district.”  In re Silverman, 
616 F.3d 1001, 1005 (9th Cir. 2010). 
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multimillion-dollar aircraft that it used to run its business for nearly two years.  E.g., ¶¶ 6, 344–

345, 438.  The Debtors earned more than $200 million in revenues by operating those aircraft.  

¶ 422.  That is no transitory stock-price change, Opp. 29 (citing Nathanson v. Polycom, Inc., 87 F. 

Supp. 3d 966, 981–82 (N.D. Cal. 2015)), or mere “peppercorn,” Opp. 30 (citing In re Adelphia 

Commc’ns Corp., 365 B.R. 24, 56–57 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2007)).   

That Zetta allegedly chose to operate these aircraft at a net loss, ¶ 438 & Opp. 9, cannot be 

laid at the feet of the Defendants, who of course had no control over what Zetta did with the planes 

once it had them.  In the FAC, the Trustee admits that Cassidy informed Seagrim and Walter that 

the company was purportedly insolvent as soon as it bought its very first plane, but they chose to 

keep buying aircraft, ¶¶ 469–70; and “the Debtors” kept buying more aircraft “despite knowing 

that their operations would not be sufficient to cover the debt service on those obligations,” ¶ 439.   

Nor does the “net loss” argument make a difference.  The Trustee “derived and retained 

the benefit of [Cassidy’s] acts in question,” Verder, 1 Cal. 2d at 28—namely, the aircraft and the 

money they earned—and therefore imputation of Cassidy’s knowledge to Zetta Singapore is 

proper despite Cassidy’s alleged “opposing personal interest” in the transactions, McKenney, 165 

Cal. at 329.  Allowing the Trustee to hold an outside party liable for what the Trustee alleges is 

Zetta Singapore’s own, knowing choice to engage in unsustainable business practices would turn 

law and equity on their heads.  This Court should not countenance the Trustee’s transparent attempt 

to escape the obvious effect of his own allegations. 

D. Cassidy was the sole actor in exclusive control of Zetta Singapore. 

The sole-actor exception also justifies imputing Cassidy’s knowledge to the Debtors.  

Uecker, 244 Cal. App. 4th at 798.  In arguing that Cassidy was not in sole control of Zetta 

Singapore, the Trustee again attempts to evade the FAC’s fatal concessions, downplaying the new 

allegations he has added to the FAC and attempting to wiggle out of the admissions he made and 

the evidence he introduced that Cassidy was in “exclusive control” of Zetta Singapore and was its 

Case 2:19-ap-01382-SK    Doc 336    Filed 12/22/21    Entered 12/22/21 12:29:22    Desc
Main Document      Page 21 of 43



 

13 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS 1-3, 6, AND 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

alter ego.  Doc. 1464 (Mot. for Subst. Consol.) ¶ 26, In re Zetta Jet PTE, Ltd., No. 2:17-bk-21386-

SK; Doc. 1464-1 (Decl. of Luke Furler) ¶ 13, No. 2:17-bk-21386-SK; see also Doc. 1504 (Suppl. 

Br. in Support of Subst. Consol.) at 6, No. 2:17-bk-21386-SK.   

The Trustee first relies on what he contends is conflict within his own allegations, asking 

the Court to disregard his allegation that Cassidy was in “actual and effective control of key 

functions of the company, including its financial operations.”  ¶ 90.  As the Trustee would have it, 

Cassidy’s control was neither actual nor effective because “Seagrim and Walter (and later Li) still 

had controlling authority to approve the transactions.”  Opp. 31.  The Trustee may not demand the 

Court’s adherence to the legal fiction that his allegations are true only where he finds it convenient 

for his argument.  His FAC is a judicial admission that Cassidy was in “actual and effective 

control” of Zetta Singapore.  Am. Title Ins. Co. v. Lacelaw Corp., 861 F.2d 224, 226 (9th Cir. 

1988) (“Factual assertions in pleadings … unless amended, are considered judicial admissions 

conclusively binding on the party who made them.”).  And as the FK Defendants explained, this 

allegation satisfies the sole actor doctrine.  MTD 13–14 (citing Yellow Cab Coop., 602 B.R. at 

362); see R.107 at 47 (“the sole owner exception was inapplicable because the corporation did not 

have sole control over the transactions at issue”).  The Trustee, again, cites predominantly out-of-

state authority from Florida and the Second and Sixth Circuits for the notion that the mere presence 

of purported innocent decisionmakers overcomes the sole actor exception.  Opp. 32–33.  But 

where, as here, an alter ego relationship exists (as the Trustee has conceded), California applies 

the sole-actor exception.  Uecker, 244 Cal. App. 4th at 798. 

As for his judicial admissions in the bankruptcy proceeding, MTD 23, the Trustee resorts 

to hair-splitting, contending that because he argued that Cassidy was in “exclusive control in 

Singapore” he was not actually in exclusive control of Zetta Singapore.  Opp. 31.  But Zetta 

Singapore was in Singapore.  ¶¶ 81, 90, 153, 524(c). 

The Trustee further contends that “the traditional alter ego test” is different from the sole-
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actor test and so his concession that Cassidy was Zetta Singapore’s alter ego (which his Opposition 

does not recant) does not matter.  Opp. 32.  California law says otherwise:  “Where the principal 

and agent are alter egos, there is no reason to apply an adverse interest exception,” because “where 

the principal and agent are one and the same, the agent’s knowledge is imputed to the principal 

despite the fact that the agent is acting adversely to the principal.”  Uecker, 244 Cal. App. 4th at 

798 (quotation marks omitted).  As Uecker explains, that is exactly what the “sole actor” exception 

means.  Id.   

E. If Cassidy’s actions are imputed to Zetta Singapore, the tort claims must be 

dismissed even if in pari delicto does not apply. 

All of the FAC’s tort claims rely on the Debtors’ supposed ignorance of what Cassidy 

knew—either to escape Seagrim and Walter’s responsibility for signing off on the transactions or 

because they assert fraud liability for misrepresentations on which the Debtors could not be said 

to rely if they had Cassidy’s knowledge.  MTD 18.  As noted above, the Trustee nowhere disputes 

the FK Defendants’ argument that imputation—even without application of the in pari delicto 

doctrine—bars every one of the Trustee’s tort claims.  See generally Opp.  Accordingly, the 

Trustee has conceded that regardless of whether in pari delicto applies, imputation is fatal to the 

tort claims.  E.g., Our Children’s Earth Found. v. U.S. E.P.A., 2008 WL 3181583, at *5 (N.D. Cal. 

Aug. 4, 2008) (argument not opposed is “therefore conceded”). 

III. The In Pari Delicto Doctrine also Bars the Trustee’s Claims 

Imputation of Cassidy’s knowledge is proper and fatal on its own to the Trustee’s tort 

claims.  See supra Sections II.A–II.E.  But Zetta Singapore was also in pari delicto.  First, the 

Trustee affirmatively alleges wrongdoing by Zetta in the transactions at issue.  Second, respondeat 

superior makes Zetta Singapore responsible for Cassidy’s bad acts.  And the imputation of 

Cassidy’s knowledge offers a third, independent reason to apply the in pari delicto doctrine. 

The Trustee’s threshold contention that resolving the application of in pari delicto is 
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improper at the pleading stage, Opp. 21–22, ignores the FAC’s affirmative allegations of 

wrongdoing by the Debtors themselves.  Arguments like in pari delicto are only generally 

improper at the pleading stage because most complaints avoid fatal admissions like those in the 

FAC.  Where, as here, they do not avoid this pitfall, courts have no problem dismissing complaints 

as defective as the FAC based on the in pari delicto doctrine.  E.g., Mortg. Fund ’08, 527 B.R. at 

367–70 (affirming grant of motion to dismiss aiding-and-abetting claim based on in pari delicto); 

Yellow Cab Coop., 602 B.R. at 360–62 (granting dismissal based on in pari delicto). 

A. The Complaint affirmatively alleges bad acts by Zetta Singapore even absent 

imputation of Cassidy’s knowledge or actions. 

The Trustee contends that the FAC “does not allege any willful, voluntary misconduct apart 

from Cassidy.”  Opp. 27; see also id. at 26 (“The complaint contains no allegations of any 

wrongdoing by the Debtors or their disinterested directors,” there is “no wrongful conduct to 

impute to the [Debtors] in the first place.”) (quotation marks omitted).  This contention ignores the 

Trustee’s other allegations. 

As the FK Defendants explained repeatedly in their motion (MTD 1, 2, 4, 16, 19, 23), the 

FAC contains a fatal judicial admission:  “the Debtors”—i.e., the Zetta entities, not just Cassidy—

intentionally and repeatedly took on aircraft debts despite knowing they could not repay them.4  

¶ 439; FAC p. 98 subhead D.  The Trustee further admits Seagrim and Walter were well aware 

that the company was operating in the red and chose to go forward anyway.  See ¶¶ 469–71 

(explaining that Cassidy “repeatedly emailed Seagrim and Walter” about the company’s purported 

insolvency).  That amounts to an admission of fraud.  According to the Trustee, the Debtors kept 

buying aircraft they knew they could not afford, with the result that the sellers and creditors in fact 

 
4 Defendants are free to argue that the Trustee has not plausibly alleged these facts, but these 
assertions “conclusively bind[]” the Trustee—the “party who made them.”  Lacelaw, 861 F.2d at 
226. 
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sold them the aircraft.  ¶ 439, FAC p. 98 subhead D, ¶¶ 469–71.  Thus, even without imputing 

Cassidy’s guilty knowledge or actions to Zetta Singapore, Zetta Singapore was in pari delicto with 

Defendants.  MTD 16; see In re Dublin Sec., Inc., 133 F.3d 377, 380 (6th Cir. 1997) (holding that 

in pari delicto required dismissal of a complaint that “concedes, for example, that the debtors 

intentionally defrauded their investors”). 

B. Under California respondeat superior law, Cassidy’s bad acts are Zetta 

Singapore’s—rendering the company in pari delicto. 

“An agent’s liability for compensatory and punitive damages may be imputed to even an 

innocent principal.”  Spahn v. Guild Indus. Corp., 94 Cal. App. 3d 143, 156, 156 Cal. Rptr. 375, 

383 (1st Dist. 1979); see also Restatement (3d) of Agency § 7.08 (“A principal is subject to 

vicarious liability for a tort committed by an agent in dealing or communicating with a third party 

on or purportedly on behalf of the principal when actions taken by the agent with apparent authority 

constitute the tort or enable the agent to conceal its commission.”).  Moreover, “[t]he principal is 

subject to [imputed] liability although he is entirely innocent and has received no benefit from the 

transaction.”  Hartong v. Partake, Inc., 266 Cal. App. 2d 942, 960, 72 Cal. Rptr. 722, 734 (1st 

Dist. 1968).  Nor is this rule subject to an adverse-interest exception:  the principal “is not relieved 

from liability by the fact that the servant or other agent acts entirely for his own purposes.”  Id. 

The Debtors vested apparent (indeed, actual) authority in Cassidy to engage in the 

transactions by which they accuse him of defrauding the company.  MTD 16–18.  Zetta Singapore 

“accepted the benefits of [Cassidy’s] actions each time” it put customers on one of the aircraft it 

bought from the FK Defendants.  See id. (quoting Spahn, 94 Cal. App. 3d at 157).  Because Zetta 

Singapore is vicariously liable in respondeat superior for Cassidy’s alleged torts, it is in pari 

delicto even without imputation of Cassidy’s knowledge.  MTD 17–18.  Nor can the Trustee rely 

on the notion that the Defendants somehow knew or suspected that Cassidy was acting to defraud 

Zetta, Opp. 23 (citing Cal Civ. Code § 2306), because Cassidy was buying the aircraft Zetta needed 
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to operate—purchases the Trustee concedes were not fraudulent or wrongful, Opp. 7, and that the 

FAC alleges were within the scope of his authority, ¶ 90. 

C. Imputing Cassidy’s knowledge renders Zetta Singapore’s acts wrongful. 

Even if the Trustee had not affirmatively alleged the Debtors’ own bad acts, imputing 

Cassidy’s knowledge renders the Debtors in pari delicto with the Defendants—a point the Trustee 

implicitly concedes.  See MTD 15–16; Opp. 26–27.  Imputation is separately fatal as discussed 

above, Section II.E; and the Debtors were in pari delicto without imputation, Sections III.A & 

III.B.  But imputing Cassidy’s knowledge is another reason the Debtors were in pari delicto. 

IV. Counts 1 and 2 Fail Because the FAC Fails to Adequately Plead a Breach of Duty 

that the Defendants Aided or Abetted 

A. The Trustee’s “kickbacks” and “bribes” argument is question-begging. 

The Trustee goes to great lengths to argue that simply alleging that a particular payment is 

a kickback or bribe is enough to get him over his pleading hurdle for counts 1 and 2.  E.g., Opp. 

7–8, 10.  In the Trustee’s view, asserting that “[i]n reality, of course,” certain payments were 

kickbacks or bribes means no further factual allegations are necessary.  ¶¶ 255, 273.  But that 

argument is question-begging.  Merely asserting that a payment is a “kickback” or “bribe” does 

not make it so.  Money is not a bribe or a kickback if it is not intended to and does not induce the 

payee to commit wrongful behavior.  Commercial bribery under California law requires the 

accused individual to act “corruptly,” meaning that “the person specifically intends to injure or 

defraud.”  Cal. Penal Code § 641.3(d)(3).  This is the only definition rooted in any law in the FAC 

for either “kickback” or “bribe.”  ¶ 586 (relying on § 641.3 for the definition of commercial 

bribery); see also ¶ 5 n.4 (commercial bribery is “corrupt dealing”) (emphasis added); ¶ 5 n.5 

(asserting that a “kickback is a species of bribe” that is “illegally paid”).  Accordingly, the Trustee 

must plead that the result of the payments was injurious or fraudulent.  He does the opposite, 

conceding that “[t]he FAC does not allege that the purchase of Bombardier aircraft … was a breach 
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of Cassidy’s duty.”  Opp. 7. 

Nor would that allegation be proper.  Seagrim and Walter agreed to Cassidy’s proposal for 

an airline consisting of particular aircraft—“brand new Bombardier Global 5000s and 6000s.”  

Doc. 1 ¶ 66; MTD 23.  The Trustee contends that the FAC “amended” those allegations “to say 

that the First Business Plan was fraudulent.”  Opp. 7 n.4.  But the original complaint also alleged 

that the business plan was fraudulent, Doc. 1 ¶ 81, so the Trustee’s supposed “amendment” 

amended nothing.  It is, instead, an omission, which cannot cure the Trustee’s judicial admission.  

Jackson v. Loews Hotels, Inc., 2019 WL 6721637, at *3 (C.D. Cal. July 24, 2019); MTD 23.   

But in any event, whether the business plan was fraudulent or not makes no difference—

the question is what Seagrim and Walter agreed to, and the Trustee cannot avoid the fact that they 

agreed to a form a company premised on using new Bombardier aircraft.  See ¶ 380.  Thus, the 

notion that Cassidy could “implement a competitive procurement process” by, one supposes, 

having Bombardier bid against itself, or that Cassidy could buy Bombardier aircraft “from 

Bombardier’s competitors such as Gulfstream,” Opp. 8 (quoting ¶ 92), contradicts the Trustee’s 

admissions.  MTD 23–24.  The FAC does not allege that the aircraft Zetta needed were available 

anywhere else.  In reality, Cassidy bought the aircraft at prices the market, Seagrim, Walter, and 

Zetta Singapore’s creditors all deemed reasonable.  MTD 19, 23–24.  Though the Trustee 

characterizes the purchase as Cassidy seeking to “enrich himself,” Opp. 8, he cannot escape his 

allegations that Zetta Singapore needed these planes and used them to earn hundreds of millions 

of dollars.  And so the Trustee concedes that buying these aircraft was not a breach of Cassidy’s 

fiduciary duty.  Opp. 7.  All this adds up to the FAC’s failure to allege that the payments and other 

transactions characterized as “kickbacks” and “bribes” were made “corruptly.” 

The Trustee cites foreign cases for the notion that “commercial bribery” and “kick-back[s]” 

are, in essence, per se breaches of duty.  His sole California case—Arcturus Mfg. Corp. v. Rork, 

198 Cal. App. 2d 208, 17 Cal. Rptr. 758 (2d Dist. 1961)—does not address what constitutes 
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sufficiently pleading a bribe or the argument set forth above.  See id. at 209.  Nor is the court’s 

dicta that “undoubtedly there is a breach of fiduciary obligation alleged” either supported by any 

analysis, id. at 210, or necessary to the case’s contract-law holding, id. at 214. 

The Trustee’s aiding-and-abetting and conspiracy claims rely on this Court concluding that 

the alleged actions constituted “kickbacks” and “bribes,” Opp. 7–8, 10, but his allegations are 

insufficient to support those characterizations.  Accordingly, those claims must be dismissed. 

B. The Trustee does not adequately allege that the Defendants aided or abetted 

any breach of duty via the Sea-Doos or the Nyota. 

The Trustee’s contentions related to the Sea-Doos and the Nyota transaction are also 

insufficient to allege a claim for aiding and abetting for additional reasons.   

The Trustee contends that the Sea-Doos purchased by Zetta constituted a bribe that 

establishes aiding-and-abetting liability against the Jetcraft and FK Defendants.  Opp. 8.  But this 

argument ignores the FAC’s clear allegation that the Sea-Doos represented aiding and abetting by 

Bombardier, not the Jetcraft or FK Defendants.  Compare ¶ 560 (“Bombardier aided and abetted 

Cassidy’s breaches … by … offering Cassidy the Sea-Doos”), with ¶ 561.  The Trustee’s attempt 

to convert this allegation against Bombardier to an accusation of wrongdoing by the Jetcraft and 

FK Defendants, Opp. 9 n.5 & Opp. 34 n. 31, is an improper attempt to amend the FAC by means 

of his Opposition.   

The pleading deficiency is sufficient to dispose of the Sea-Doo theory, but that theory also 

fails for several other reasons.  First, the Trustee does not dispute the FK Defendants’ argument 

that the FAC nowhere alleges that Zetta had a right to cancel the agreements at issue.  MTD 24 

n.8; see also Doc. 310 at 18–19 (Bombardier motion to dismiss explaining the lack of right to 

cancel).  Having conceded this point, the Trustee’s convoluted Sea-Doo–Nyota theory fails as a 

matter of law.  Second, the FAC itself fatally undercuts the Trustee’s arguments—the Trustee 

alleges that at least two other Zetta agents in addition to Cassidy were aware of the Sea-Doo offer.  
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¶ 316 (Crevier), ¶ 319 (Ng).  Imputation of either agent’s knowledge to Zetta, MTD 25, which the 

Trustee does not contest, precludes a finding that the Sea-Doos were bribes.  Cal. Penal Code 

§ 641.3(a) (a bribe occurs only if a payment is made or offered “without the knowledge … of the 

employer”).  Third, the vague statement—not by any Jetcraft or FK Defendant—that a Bombardier 

employee would “sort … out” payment for the Sea-Doos, ¶ 318, is not enough to plausibly 

constitute a bribe.  Finally, the Trustee’s attempt to tie these payments to the Jetcraft and FK 

Defendants with a supposed offer related to the Nyota a year afterward, and after all the aircraft 

had been purchased, is implausible on its face—causation does not operate backward in time.  See 

MTD 24–25.  Accordingly, the most the Trustee can say is that the Nyota could have been a 

“vehicle for … future bribes”—not that the yacht transactions actually constituted a bribe.  ¶ 338. 

Nor has the Trustee adequately alleged that the Nyota “venture” constituted a separate 

breach of Cassidy’s duty—much less that the Defendants knew that it was contrary to Cassidy’s 

duties.  MTD 25.5  First, the Trustee does not contest that the FAC does not actually allege that 

Seagrim and Walter did not use or were unaware of the Nyota.  Id.  Rather, the Trustee tries to 

salvage this claim by pointing to a single word—“undisclosed,” Opp. 9—to argue that Seagrim 

and Walter did not know.  That is nowhere near enough—neither Seagrim nor Walter is mentioned 

within 30 paragraphs on either side of that word.  ¶ 326; see ¶¶ 285–361.  The Trustee, in fact, 

concedes that the FAC’s allegations are not enough, arguing that the Court must instead “draw an 

inference” from this single word.  But as the FK Defendants explained, the only plausible inference 

to draw from the few facts the Trustee actually pleaded is that an outsider like Mr. Fazal-Karim 

would have seen Cassidy’s use of Zetta insurance and personnel (who communicated using Zetta 

email addresses) as reflecting that the Nyota was a Zetta transaction and not a personal transaction 

 
5 The Opposition wrongly suggests the Defendants challenged only whether the FAC adequately 
alleged a breach of fiduciary duty.  Opp. at 9 n.5.  The MTD specifically argued that the FAC did 
not adequately allege that Mr. Fazal-Karim knew about the breach.  MTD 25. 
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for Cassidy.  MTD 25 (citing In re 1st All. Mortg. Co., 471 F.3d 977, 993 (9th Cir. 2006) (“aiding 

and abetting liability under California law … requires a finding of actual knowledge”)).  The 

Trustee has no answer for that point—or for the point that the consultant’s knowledge is properly 

imputed to the company.6  MTD 25; see Opp. 9.  His failure to refute them is dispositive and 

certainly cannot be overcome by a single word in the 150-page FAC.  And so the Trustee is left to 

emphasize that Cassidy used his personal name on the yacht’s registration.  Opp. 9.  He alleges 

nothing suggesting that this was improper or even uncommon, much less that it was a breach of 

Cassidy’s duty to do so.  Id.  Nor is there anything but the Trustee’s say-so to suggest that this was 

somehow sufficient to allege that Mr. Fazal-Karim actually knew that Cassidy was supposedly 

misappropriating Zetta’s resources.  See id.  The Opposition’s rhetorical questions, id., cannot 

disguise the absence of plausible allegations and legal authority. 

V. The Trustee Still Fails to Plead the Aircraft were Overpriced 

The Trustee has no plausible answer for why the prices included in the documents he chose 

to attach to the FAC vary so widely from the ones reached in the so-called “analysis” performed 

by his anonymous “experts.”  Opp. 19–20.  He does not contest that there is conflict between the 

numbers, but he asks the Court to privilege his allegations over the facts in the documents he has 

attached to the complaint.  Opp. 20 (“the FK Defendants ask this Court to simply ignore the well-

pleaded allegations in the FAC”).  The law is the opposite:  courts “need not accept as true 

allegations contradicting documents that are referenced in the complaint.”  Johnson v. Fed. Home 

Loan Mortg. Corp., 793 F.3d 1005, 1007 (9th Cir. 2015) (per curiam) (quotation marks omitted).  

The Trustee chose to attach those documents to the FAC.  He may not disavow their facts in favor 

of allegations.  See id.  The purported “analysis” is also contradicted by the FAC’s allegations that 

Seagrim and Walter signed off on the aircraft purchases at the prices Cassidy negotiated.  If the 

 
6 Nor, for that matter, is there any allegation that Cassidy used a personal email address when 
dealing with Mr. Fazal-Karim. 
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planes were worth only what the Trustee’s “analysis” claims, allegedly experienced airline 

executives Seagrim and Walter surely would have spoken up. 

The Trustee similarly argues that he is not “simply making something up” by relying on 

“facts” outside the FAC.  He invites the Court to consider that he supposedly “retained two experts 

to value the planes, and that those experts have been reimbursed their fees … with Court approval.”  

Opp. 19.  He then seeks to add even more new allegations into the FAC by means of a footnote in 

his Opposition.  Id. n.14.  The Trustee alleged none of this in the FAC, nor does he seek judicial 

notice of these assertions.  This Court accordingly may not consider any of this new argument.  

Schneider v. Cal. Dep’t of Corr., 151 F.3d 1194, 1197 n.1 (9th Cir. 1998) (“In determining the 

propriety of a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, a court may not look beyond the complaint to a plaintiff’s 

moving papers, such as a memorandum in opposition to a defendant’s motion to dismiss.”) 

(emphasis in original).  As the Trustee himself recognizes, “adding ‘facts’” like those the Trustee 

seeks to add “outside the four corners of the FAC” would be “reversible error.”  Opp. 21. 

As discussed above, moreover, the Trustee has failed to plead that any bribe or kickback 

took place.  See supra Section IV.  So his argument that the aircraft were overpriced by the amount 

of the purported “kickbacks,” Opp. 17–18, fails.  And, in any event, the allegedly experienced 

airline executives Seagrim and Walter did not blink at these prices, which the Trustee’s 

attachments to the FAC make clear were consistent with the market.   

The remainder of the Trustee’s arguments related to overpricing amount to a contention 

that the Defendants should not have sought to make as much profit as they did.  Opp. 21.  But the 

Trustee cites nothing at all—and the FK Defendants would be surprised if any law existed—in 

favor of his novel proposition that a party selling anything must negotiate against itself lest it later 

be accused of charging too much by its counterparty’s bankruptcy trustee. 

VI. The FAC does not Adequately Allege an Actionable Conspiracy 

The Trustee has not pleaded individual agreements to commit the torts he asserts the 
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Defendants conspired to commit.  MTD 26–27.  The Opposition seeks to paper over this failure 

by relying, again, on his insufficiently pleaded allegations of kickbacks and bribes.  The FAC’s 

failure to plead any actual “kickbacks” or “bribes,” supra Section IV, fatally undercuts these 

arguments.  Opp. 10.  Because he has failed to plead that the payments caused any wrongful 

behavior or that the aircraft Zetta Singapore bought were overpriced, supra Section V, these 

arguments fail.  See Berg & Berg Enters., LLC v. Sherwood Partners, Inc., 131 Cal. App. 4th 802, 

823, 32 Cal. Rptr. 3d 325, 339 (6th Dist. 2005) (civil conspiracy requires pleading “that the 

defendant had knowledge of and agreed to both the objective and the course of action that resulted 

in the injury[] [and] that there was a wrongful act committed pursuant to that agreement”). 

The Trustee does not contest that California has no cause of action for “conspiracy to aid 

and abet.”  MTD 26.  This portion of the conspiracy claim also necessarily fails.   

The Trustee further does not contest that a corporation cannot conspire with itself or act 

except through its employees and agents, and so any allegation of a conspiracy between a 

corporation and its agent or employee fails.  See Opp. 11–12; Black v. Bank of Am. N.T. & S.A., 

30 Cal. App. 4th 1, 6, 35 Cal. Rptr. 2d 725, 728 (1st Dist. 1994); Fortis Advisors LLC v. Fishawak 

Med. Commc’ns Ltd., 2021 WL 308279, at *4 (S.D. Cal. Jan. 29, 2021).  The Trustee’s allegations 

that Mr. Fazal-Karim is Bombardier’s agent and that Mr. Fazal-Karim is the alter ego of all the FK 

and Jetcraft Defendants are judicial admissions and are fatal to the conspiracy claim.  Lacelaw, 

861 F.2d at 226.  Recognizing this, the Trustee tries to use his Opposition to amend those 

allegations out of his complaint.  See Opp. 11 n.7.  He cannot.  See Schneider, 151 F.3d at 1197 

n.1.  The Defendants, meanwhile, are entitled to rely on the FAC’s allegations as admissions that 

the Trustee is bound by, Lacelaw, 861 F.2d at 226, and also entitled to contend that the Trustee 

has failed to plausibly plead facts supporting his claims, Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6); Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 

556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009); see also Rumbaugh v. Harley, 2018 WL 4002854, at *3, *8, *10 (E.D. 

Cal. Aug. 22, 2018) (finding the plaintiff’s assertions of fact in the complaint binding as to plaintiff 
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but not as to the defendant, and granting the defendant’s motion to dismiss for failure to plausibly 

plead claims). 

Rule 8 does not save the Trustee.  Opp. 11–12.  To be sure, Rule 8 allows alternative 

pleading.  Fed. R. Civ. P 8(d)(2) (emphasis added).  But the Trustee has not pleaded anything in 

the alternative; instead, he expressly incorporated the alter ego and agency allegations in the 

conspiracy claim.  ¶ 573; ¶¶ 368–99; see Maloney v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., 256 F. App’x 29, 31 (9th 

Cir. 2007) (allegations are “not pleaded in the alternative” when they are “expressly incorporated 

into each cause of action”).  The Trustee is bound by those allegations.  Wishon v. Anglim, 42 F. 

Supp. 359, 361–62 (N.D. Cal. 1941) (“[P]laintiffs … are, of course, bound by the allegations of 

their complaints.”).  Because the Trustee concedes that his allegations of alter ego and agency are 

inconsistent with his conspiracy claim, Opp. 12, his conspiracy claim must be dismissed. 

VII. The Trustee’s California UCL Claim Fails 

The Trustee’s Opposition only underscores the FAC’s failure to allege (1) an injury in 

California, or (2) Defendants’ conduct in California.  This Court should again dismiss the UCL 

claim.  See R.107 at 30–33; Tidenberg v. Bidz.com, Inc., 2009 WL 605249, at *4–5 (C.D. Cal. 

Mar. 4, 2009) (dismissing UCL claim for failure to allege nexus to California). 

A. The Trustee alleges no injury in California. 

To argue that injury occurred in California, the Trustee relies on (1) allegations that Zetta 

USA made two payments supposedly “secured by the First Kickback,” Opp. 12, and (2) allegations 

that Zetta USA “conducted the Debtors’ revenue-generating flights,” “was … responsible for the 

lease payments on every plane,” and “guaranteed every plane,” id. at 13 (citing ¶¶ 82, 112, 116).  

The Trustee cites no cases suggesting that either action constitutes injury under the UCL.  Opp. 

12–13.  They do not. 

Far from being “direct injur[ies],” Opp. 12, the payments the Trustee identifies are not 

injuries at all.  The only “injuries” recognized by the UCL are the “loss or deprivation of money 
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or property.”  Van Patten v. Vertical Fitness Grp. LLC, 847 F.3d 1037, 1048–49 (9th Cir. 2017) 

(emphasis added); see also Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204; Kwikset Corp. v. Super. Ct., 51 Cal. 

4th 310, 323, 246 P.3d 877, 885–86 (2011) (setting out test for determining economic injury).   

Here, the Trustee’s allegations that Zetta USA made payments are not tantamount to 

alleging that Zetta USA lost or was deprived of the payments’ amount.  Tellingly, the Trustee does 

not plead that these payments constitute injuries, does not seek to recover them in rescission, and 

does not allege Zetta USA was “deprived” or “diminished” in the amount of those two payments.  

See ¶¶ 583–98.  Rather, the Trustee seeks restitution that is measured by the difference between 

what is paid and the value of what was received.  Chowning v. Kohl’s Dep’t Stores, Inc., 735 F. 

App’x 924, 924–25 (9th Cir. 2018) (mem.) (holding remedies under UCL are limited to “injunctive 

relief and restitution” and that the measure of restitution is “[t]he difference between what the 

plaintiff paid and the value of what the plaintiff received”) (internal citations and quotation marks 

omitted); Kwikset, 51 Cal. 4th at 323.  Under this established standard, there is no injury to Zetta 

USA because the two payments were in exchange for multi-million-dollar aircraft that, in turn, 

generated many more millions of dollars.  See, e.g., ¶¶ 252–54 (discussing purchase price of Plane 

1).  Even the Trustee’s purported “expert analysis” acknowledges that the aircraft procured by 

these minimal payments had “[f]air [m]arket [v]alue[s]” in excess of $35 million apiece.  Compare 

¶ 344 with ¶ 94.  Payments totaling a small fraction of the price of a plane that the Trustee admits 

is worth at least $35 million is not an injury.  See Hall v. Time Inc., 158 Cal. App. 4th 847, 853–

55, 70 Cal. Rptr. 3d 466, 469–71 (4th Dist. 2008).  For these same reasons, in making those two 

limited payments Zetta USA did not “surrender in a transaction more, or acquire in a transaction 

less, than [it] otherwise would have” or enter into an “unnecessary” transaction.  Kwikset, 51 Cal. 

4th at 323; see also Hall, 158 Cal. App. 4th at 853–55 (holding consumer who purchased book did 

not suffer an injury where consumer did not allege that he did not want the book, that the book 

was unsatisfactory, or that the book was worth less than he paid for it).  Quite simply, Zetta USA 

Case 2:19-ap-01382-SK    Doc 336    Filed 12/22/21    Entered 12/22/21 12:29:22    Desc
Main Document      Page 34 of 43



 

26 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS 1-3, 6, AND 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

suffered no injury at all via the two payments it is alleged to have made and, thus, a fortiori, 

suffered no injury in California. 

The Trustee’s allegations that “Zetta USA … conducted the Debtors’ revenue-generating 

flights” fail for similar and additional reasons.  Opp. 13 (citing ¶ 82).  As an initial matter, the 

Trustee assumes that conducting revenue-generating flights would be enough to constitute the 

requisite injury.  The Trustee cites no authority supporting this proposition.  Rather, the Trustee 

simply quotes a passage from this Court’s initial motion to dismiss decision where the Court 

repeats, and then rejects, the Trustee’s argument on this point.  Nowhere in its initial order did the 

Court rule that Zetta USA being the revenue-generating entity was sufficient to satisfy the injury 

prong.  Perhaps recognizing this, the Trustee pivots and points to allegations that the aircraft were 

“leased or sub-leased” to Zetta USA.  Opp. 13; ¶ 112.  But the FAC makes clear the leases were 

downstream of Zetta Singapore or TVPX (itself a sublessee of Zetta Singapore).  Opp. 13; ¶ 112.  

The Trustee cannot use Zetta’s own actions to create a California nexus where none otherwise 

exists.  As importantly, the FAC contains no details about the terms of the leases and no allegations 

that Zetta USA actually paid the leases.  Thus, there are no allegations Zetta USA suffered a “loss” 

from the leases.  The Trustee also repeats his allegation that Zetta USA “signed guarantees,” Opp. 

13 (citing ¶ 116), but he has never alleged these guarantees were called, and this Court has already 

correctly rejected the argument that uncalled guarantees constitute an injury, R.107 at 31–32.   

B. The Trustee alleges no conduct on the part of the Defendants in California. 

The FAC fails to allege the FK Defendants’ conduct occurred in California.  

Acknowledging that “[t]he fact that Seagrim and Walter live in California is insufficient” to form 

a nexus, Opp. 13 (quoting R.107 at 33), the Trustee asserts that Seagrim and Walter (1) executed 

“directors’ resolutions” and “transactional documents” in California and (2) had a “controlling 

interest in Zetta PTE’s board,” id. 

The Trustee suggests that each of these facts shows Defendants’ conduct in California.  As 
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set forth below, the Trustee does not cite one case supporting this view—only the portion of the 

Court’s initial motion-to-dismiss decision where the Court rejected these same arguments.  Again, 

this Court never suggested that either fact would be sufficient to allow the UCL claim to go forward 

but only confirmed that the facts alleged did not support the Trustee’s argument.  Both points are 

again easily dismissed. 

First, although the FAC alleges Seagrim and Walter executed “transactional documents” 

in California, Opp. 13 (citing ¶¶ 122, 190), the FAC makes clear these transactions closed in 

Oklahoma, see ¶¶ 131(b), (g); 198(b), (g).  More to the point, the Trustee cites no authority for the 

novel proposition that where Seagrim and Walter signed documents is relevant to the question of 

where any Defendants’ conduct took place.  

Second, the Trustee’s attempt to transform Seagrim and Walter’s supposed “controlling 

interest in Zetta [Singapore]’s board” into conduct by the Defendants in California fails for a host 

of reasons.  See Opp. 13.  Most glaringly, nothing about Zetta Singapore’s board has anything to 

do with where the Defendants’ conduct took place and the Trustee again cites no authority 

suggesting it does.  What is more, the factual premise is wrong.  The Trustee leans heavily on a 

requirement in Zetta Singapore’s Memorandum of Association that “a director shall not vote in 

respect of any transaction in which he is interested (and if he does his vote shall not be counted).”  

¶ 31.  Thus, according to the Trustee, because Cassidy, Tang, and Li were “interested” in every 

single transaction, their “votes do not count.”  ¶¶ 32–33.  Even if Seagrim and Walter in fact had 

the Trustee’s daisy-chain version of a “controlling interest” with respect to some transactions, that 

does not mean they had a “controlling interest” in Zetta Singapore itself—indeed, the Trustee 

alleges the very opposite.  See supra Section II.D.  The Trustee thus runs into the same problem 

that doomed this claim the first time—Seagrim and Walter are distinct from Zetta Singapore, so 

their location is not relevant.  See R.107 at 33. 

The Trustee also stretches the bribery statute past its breaking point.  Opp. 14.  As the 
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Trustee acknowledges, Section 641.3 only reaches conduct committed “in whole or in part” in 

California.  See Fortner v. Super Ct., 217 Cal. App. 4th 1360, 1364, 159 Cal. Rptr. 3d 128, 131 

(6th Dist. 2013) (quoting Cal. Penal Code § 27).  But no part of the payments the Trustee calls 

“kickbacks” occurred in California and the Trustee does not argue otherwise.  See ¶¶ 38–52, 241–

89 (making no reference to California).  Rather, the Trustee emphasizes the details of the 

transactions’ alleged connections to California.  See Opp. at 14.  But these details have nothing to 

do with the analysis of where the alleged bribe actually occurred, and the Trustee cites no authority 

suggesting they do.  To the contrary, the Trustee’s case law involves bribes allegedly made by 

California defendants (and, thus, a self-evident nexus to California).  See Mattel, Inc. v. MGA 

Entm’t, Inc., 782 F. Supp. 2d 911, 1040–41 (C.D. Cal. 2011) (discussing allegations that 

defendants MGA Entertainment, Inc. and Isaac Larian made bribes); Bryant v. Mattel, Inc., 2010 

WL 3705668, at *8 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 2, 2010) (same); 4th Am. Answer & Countercls. at 30, 31, 

Mattel, Inc. v. MGA Ent., Inc., No. 04-cv-9049 DOC-RNB (C.D. Cal. Apr. 12, 2010), ECF No. 

7714 (alleging that MGA Entertainment is a California corporation and that Larian resides in 

California).   

Finally, the argument that “fraudulent statements and omissions to Seagrim and Walter” 

constitute conduct “in California” is a nonstarter.  Opp. 14.  The argument improperly conflates 

where Seagrim and Walter saw the alleged misrepresentations (California) with where the 

statements were made.  See Tidenberg, 2009 WL 605249, at *4–5 (looking to where alleged 

misleading statements were made from, not received, under “conduct” prong).  The FAC nowhere 

alleges any Defendant made misrepresentations in California—quite the contrary.  See, e.g., 

¶¶ 38–52, 83, 89, 390. 

VIII. The Fraudulent Misrepresentation Claim Fails 

Count 6 should be dismissed because the statements on which the Trustee bases his 

misrepresentation claim are statements made to the Defendants, and therefore they cannot 
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constitute misrepresentations by the Defendants.  Among the elements of fraud are that “the 

defendant made a false representation” and that “the plaintiff justifiably relied on the 

representation.”  West v. JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., 214 Cal. App. 4th 780, 792, 154 Cal. Rptr. 

3d 285, 295 (4th Dist. 2013).  Here, the representations at issue were all statements made to the 

Defendants, by Cassidy on Zetta Singapore’s behalf.   

Statements by a plaintiff cannot constitute fraud against the plaintiff as a matter of common 

sense:  a plaintiff cannot be misled about a material fact by the plaintiff’s own statement of that 

fact.  Put another way, there can be no justifiable reliance on one’s own misstatement.  See MTD 

31 (noting that the plaintiff must “justifiably rel[y] on the representation”).  That the Defendants 

have not found a case directly making this obvious point, Opp. 15, is a testament to how 

fundamentally the Opposition misapprehends the law. 

To be sure, the Opposition urges the Court to rule for the Trustee again on this narrow 

issue, see MTD 32 n.13, by arguing that these statements by Cassidy and Zetta are transformed 

into statements by the Defendants because the Defendants requested them.  The Trustee cites not 

a single case that stands for his unprecedented application of misrepresentation law.  See Opp. 14–

15.  Rather, the Trustee suggests that this Court resolved this issue in the first motion to dismiss 

decision.  Id.  However, this Court’s conclusion that the “misrepresentation factor is met regarding 

the Second Kickback” appears to have been based solely on the conclusion that the statement in 

the second invoice was false; there is no indication that the Court adopted the Trustee’s argument 

that statements made by a plaintiff to a defendant can constitute actionable misrepresentations that 

the plaintiff could justifiably rely upon.  Doc. 107 at 36.  And a party cannot be misled by its own 

statement, especially if it is a statement about itself.  If a party disagrees with representations it is 

making, its option is to not make the representation—not to sue in fraud over its counterparty’s 

request for the information. 

/// 
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IX. The Fraudulent Concealment Claim Fails 

The Trustee contends that “Antonenko included misleading language in the APAs to 

conceal the [purported] Kickbacks.”  Opp. 15.  That argument fails for the same reason that the 

same language is not an actionable misrepresentation.  The representations were buyer 

representations—Cassidy’s and Zetta Singapore’s.  MTD 32 & n.13.  The Opposition cites no case 

for the startling proposition that requesting that a contract counterparty make particular 

representations about itself as a condition for signing a contract makes the first party liable if the 

counterparty’s representations (again, about itself) later turn out to be false.  The Trustee’s attempt 

to hold the Defendants liable for Zetta Singapore’s breach of its own material representation is 

unsupported by law or logic. 

The fraudulent concealment claim also fails for other reasons.  Under California law, a fact 

is not fraudulently concealed if it was “reasonably discoverable.”  Warner Constr. Corp. v. City of 

L.A., 2 Cal. 3d 285, 294, 466 P.2d 996, 1001 (1970); MTD 33.  The Trustee’s conclusory assertion 

that Seagrim and Walter were “unaware of the kickbacks,” Opp. 16, is thus neither here nor there.  

If the amount of the payments he alleges were “kickbacks” resulted in material inflation of the 

aircraft’s prices, they were “reasonably discoverable” by Seagrim and Walter, because those 

directors signed off on the aircraft purchases.  MTD 33 (quoting Warner, 2 Cal. 3d at 294).  And 

of course, if the price increase was not material, its “concealment” cannot serve as the basis of a 

fraud claim.  See Hoffman v. 162 N. Wolfe LLC, 228 Cal. App. 4th 1178, 1186, 175 Cal. Rptr. 3d 

820, 827 (6th Dist. 2014) (fraudulent concealment requires concealment of “material facts”). 

The Trustee contends that the Court must pile up inferences in the Defendants’ favor to 

conclude that the payments were reasonably discoverable.  Opp. 16.  Not so.  The FAC makes 

clear that Seagrim and Walter “had ample reason to suspect” that Cassidy was trying to defraud 

them.  Fox v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery Inc., 35 Cal. 4th 797, 814, 110 P.3d 914, 924 (2005).  The 

FAC alleges Cassidy was a headline-making fraudster before Seagrim and Walter even went into 
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business with him.  ¶¶ 72–73.  And the FAC alleges that Zetta Singapore’s “[i]nternal records 

show[ed]” the results of “Cassidy’s theft and embezzlement,” meaning that Seagrim and Walter 

could have had the knowledge by means of an exercise of the most basic due diligence.  ¶ 438.  

Not only that, the Trustee contends that Seagrim and Walter did in fact “discover[] Cassidy’s 

fraud.”  Opp. 16.  Nothing in the FAC explains why it would not have been possible for them to 

do so earlier than they did.  To the contrary, the FAC alleges that Cassidy’s “frauds” were 

“obvious” as early as 2015, ¶ 440, had Seagrim and Walter only been interested.  But the FAC 

alleges that they were not.  MTD 4 n.2; ¶¶ 206, 207, 461, 593, 616–18, 630, 634–35. 

The Opposition’s response to the concealment claims is limited to the $500,000 payments 

and does not respond to the FK Defendants’ arguments related to the Nyota, MTD 33, thus 

conceding them.  Opp. 16–17.  But even if the Court were to consider the arguments raised 

elsewhere in the Opposition that Seagrim and Walter were unaware of the Nyota, Opp. 9, their 

lack of actual knowledge makes no legal difference.  The information the Trustee contends the 

Defendants concealed was “reasonably discoverable.”  Warner, 2 Cal. 3d at 294; MTD 33.  At a 

minimum, other Zetta agents were aware of the yacht’s purchase and operation, ¶ 331–32, and 

their knowledge is properly imputed to Zetta, Austin, 21 Cal. 2d at 729, MTD 25.   

Finally, the Trustee cites nothing in the FAC for the notion that the Defendants “actively 

concealed” the payments from Zetta.  The reference to allegations about how the payments were 

made or under what circumstances the Defendants would disclose payments to Element, Opp. 16–

17, are irrelevant to whether the Defendants “actively concealed” the payments from the Debtors. 

X. The Trustee Fails to Plead Wrongful Conduct by FK Group, FK Partners, or 

Jetcraft Asia or that they were Alter Egos of any other Defendant 

The Trustee opposes dismissal of FK Group, FK Partners, and Jetcraft Asia because he 

claims the FAC alleges wrongful conduct by each of them and, in the alternative, they are alter 

egos of other Defendants.  Opp. at 33–34.  He is wrong on both points. 
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First, the FAC does not plausibly plead any wrongful conduct by FK Group, FK Partners, 

or Jetcraft Asia.  In an attempt to keep these Defendants in the case, the Trustee relies on pure 

speculation that the FAC’s allegations do not plausibly support.  The only fact the Trustee claims 

implicates FK Partners is that Mr. Fazal-Karim allegedly gave Cassidy a credit against an amount 

Cassidy owed FK Partners on the Nyota yacht.  Opp. at 33–34.  But nothing related to the Nyota 

constituted a bribe or a breach of duty (or any other species of actionable, wrongful behavior).  

MTD 24–26.  Because Cassidy never paid for his half of the yacht at all, ¶ 328, there was no bribe, 

as the Trustee’s speculation that the boat “would have been … perfect … to funnel future bribes” 

confirms.  ¶ 338.  The FAC does not allege that FK Partners had any involvement whatsoever in 

the “prior agreement between Mattar and Cassidy” regarding the Sea-Doos.  Opp. 33 (emphasis 

added).  The Trustee’s argument that FK Group and Jetcraft Asia engaged in misconduct is even 

more attenuated and implausible.  The FAC alleged no facts that any payment was made by Jetcraft 

Asia or FK Group, and so the Opposition speculates that a vague statement about unrelated 

payments and an allegation about a payment purportedly made by Jetcraft Global means Jetcraft 

Asia and FK Group made “similar offshore payments to Cassidy.”  Opp. 34.  That is not a plausible 

inference that must be drawn in the Trustee’s favor; it is guesswork.  Nor can the Trustee rely on 

the “KM.xlsx Spreadsheet” to rescue that argument.  ¶ 291.  The FAC alleges no facts suggesting 

any connection between Jetcraft Asia or FK Group and the transactions on that spreadsheet.  

Moreover, the Trustee’s own (incorrect) allegation is that the spreadsheet “reconcile[s] a flow of 

payments between Fazal-Karim and Mattar”—not Cassidy.  ¶ 292.  Simply put, the FAC pleads 

no facts alleging actionable conduct by Jetcraft Asia or FK Group. 

Second, the Trustee’s conclusory allegations plead no inequitable result justifying an alter 

ego finding.  Instead of arguing an inequitable result, the Trustee leans again on allegations about 

underlying conduct that would be relevant (if at all) to the unity-of-interest prong.  Opp. 34.  In 

doing so, he collapses the two branches of the alter-ego inquiry into a single query.  That is not the 
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law:  he must show an inequitable result—“abuse of the corporate form, such as … the 

misrepresentation of the corporate structure to creditors.”  MTD 34; In re Antovich Constr., Inc., 

2006 WL 3834302, at *4 (Bankr. N.D. Cal. Dec. 29, 2006) (quotation marks omitted; emphasis 

added).  The Debtors are not “creditors” of the FK Defendants, so any “misrepresentation” to them 

is not inequitable.  See id.  Because the Trustee has failed to plead an inequitable result, his alter 

ego arguments regarding FK Group, FK Partners, and Jetcraft Asia fail. 

XI. The FAC Should be Dismissed with Prejudice 

After more than two years of litigation, following a similarly protracted period of pre-suit 

discovery, and having had more than sixteen months to refine and file the FAC, the Trustee has 

now failed multiple times to plead his claims.  The damaging new admissions in his FAC 

demonstrate that amendment would be futile, MTD 35, and the Trustee does not argue otherwise, 

Opp. 35.  He merits no further chances.  See, e.g., Williams v. California, 764 F.3d 1002, 1018–19 

(9th Cir. 2014) (per curiam) (denying leave to amend after “two chances[] to articulate clear and 

lucid theories”) (footnote omitted). 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons and those in the Motion to Dismiss, Counts 1–3, 6, and 7 should 

be dismissed with prejudice. 
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Dated:  December 22, 2021 KING & SPALDING LLP 
 
By:/s/ Aaron S. Craig 
  
KING & SPALDING LLP 
Aaron Craig (Cal. Bar No. 204741) 
633 West Fifth Street 
Suite 1600 
Los Angeles, CA 90071 
Telephone: 213.443.4355 
Facsimile: 213.443.4310 
 
Michael Ciatti (pro hac vice) 
1700 Pennsylvania Ave., NW 
2nd Floor 
Washington, D.C. 20006-4707 
Telephone: 202.737.0500 
Facsimile: 202.626.3737 
 
Mark Maloney (pro hac vice) 
1180 Peachtree St NE 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
Telephone: 404.572.4600 
Facsimile: 404.572.5100 

Attorneys for the FK Defendants 
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2010 WL 3705668
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court,
C.D. California.

Carter BRYANT, Plaintiff,
v.

MATTEL, INC., Defendant.
and Consolidated Actions.

No. CV 04–9049 DOC (RNBx).
|

Aug. 2, 2010.

West KeySummary

1 Antitrust and Trade Regulation What
law governs

Trade secret holder made a prima facie showing
that California district federal court's jurisdiction
over a Mexican company was proper. Holder
showed that the alleged theft of trade secrets
was purposefully directed to California in
action and in effect. Holder showed that
the Mexican company injected itself into the
affairs of California by directing the theft of
the trade secrets, consummating transactions
and employment agreements in California, and
conducting its business operations in California
through an individual.

17 Cases that cite this headnote

Attorneys and Law Firms

Peter H. Bonis, Peter H. Bonis Law Offices, Walnut Creek,
CA, for Plaintiff.

David M. Stern, Matthew C. Heyn, Klee, Tuchin, Bogdanoff
& Stern, LLP, John B. Quinn, Randa A. F. Osman, Rory
S. Miller, Sanford I. Weisburst, Jon D. Corey, Michael T.
Zeller, Quinn, Emanuel, Urquhart & Sullivan, LLP, Kevin
E. Deenihan, Brett Dylan Proctor, Diane C. Hutnyan, Quinn,
Emanuel, Urquhart, Oliver and Hedges, Los Angeles, CA,

Annette L. Hurst, Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe, LLP, San
Francisco, CA, for Defendant.

ORDER ON MOTIONS TO DISMISS

DAVID O. CARTER, District Judge.

*1  Barbie may thrive on competition, but did the Bratz thrive
on racketeering?

* * *

The following motions 1  came before the Court for hearing

on May 28, 2010:(1) Counter–Defendants 2  MGA Parties and
IGWT 826's Motion to Dismiss RICO and Creditor Claims;
(2) MGA Entertainment, Inc. and Isaac Larian's Motion
to Dismiss U.S.-Based Trade Secret and Employee–Based
State Law Tort Claims; (3) MGAE de Mexico's Motion to
Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction and on Ground
of Forum Non Conveniens; (4) Carlos Gustavo Machado

Gomez's Motion to Dismiss First Counterclaim; 3  and (5)
Omni 808 Investors, LLC's Motion to Dismiss.

1 The motions filed by MGA Entertainment, Inc.,
Isaac Larian, and MGAE de Mexico, in which
Carlos Gustavo Machado Lopez joined, originally
included arguments seeking dismissal of one or
more counterclaims pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 56.
By Minute Order dated May 13, 2010, the Court
struck as premature the submissions' summary
judgment arguments.

2 Mattel is the Defendant to the action numbered
CV 04–9049 and its counterclaims are the subject
of this order. However, this Order does not
definitively identify the party(ies) that will be
labeled Plaintiff(s) or Defendant(s) at the time of
trial.

3 Defendant Carlos Gustavo Machado Gomez also
joins in the MGA Parties' and IGWT 826's
Motion to Dismiss, MGA Entertainment, Inc. and
Isaac Larian's Motion to Dismiss, and MGAE de
Mexico's Motion to Dismiss.

Background
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Mattel's Fourth Amended Answer and Counterclaims
(FAAC) brings seventeen counterclaims arising under federal
law and the laws of the state of California. The counterclaims
are predicated upon certain acts alleged to have been
taken by MGA Entertainment, Inc. (“MGA”), its founder
and Chief Executive Officer Isaac Larian (“Larian”), its
Mexican subsidiary MGAE de Mexico (“MGA Mexico”),
its Hong Kong subsidiary MGA Hong Kong (“MGA
HK”), its current and former employees including but not
limited to Carter Bryant (“Bryant”) and Carlos Gustavo
Machado Gomez (“Machado”), its creditor Omni 808
Investors, LLC (“Omni”), and Omni's creditor IGWT 826
(“IGWT”) over the last decade. In broad terms, Mattel
alleges that counter-defendants undertook to deprive Mattel
of its intellectual property, wrongfully solicit its employees'
services, misappropriate its confidential and proprietary
information, infringe its copyrights, secret assets, and obstruct
justice.

MGA and Larian appealed from the Phase 1 post-trial orders
and the Ninth Circuit vacated the equitable relief issued after
the first phase on July 22, 2010 with instructions.

Discussion 4

4 The Court declines to follow the sequence of
argument in the parties' briefing.

The FAAC's seventeen counterclaims are: (1) violation of
18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c) and 1964(c); (2) violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1962(d) and 1964(c); (3) misappropriation of trade
secrets; (4) copyright infringement; (5) breach of contract;
(6) intentional interference with contract; (7) breach of
fiduciary duty; (8) aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary
duty; (9) breach of duty of loyalty; (10) aiding and abetting
breach of duty of loyalty; (11) conversion; (12) unfair
competition; (13) avoidance of actual fraudulent transfers;
(14) avoidance of constructive fraudulent transfers; (15)
prohibited distributions; (16) breach of constructive trust;
and (17) declaratory relief. The named defendants are MGA,
MGA Mexico, MGA HK, Larian, Bryant, Machado, Omni,
and IGWT (collectively “counter-defendants”).

I. Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) Based on Violation
of § 1962(c) (Substantive RICO)

The FAAC's first counterclaim alleges that MGA, MGA

Mexico, MGA HK, Larian, Machado, 5  and Does 6 through

10 violated section 1964(c) of the Racketeer Influenced and
Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), which provides that
“[a]ny person injured in his business or property by reason of
a violation of section 1962 of this chapter may sue therefor
in any appropriate United States district court and shall
recover threefold the damages he sustains” and other damages
identified by the statute. 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). Section 1962
provides that “[i]t shall be unlawful for any person employed
by or associated with any enterprise engaged in, or the
activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to
conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct
of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering
activity or collection of unlawful debt.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

5 For simplicity, the named counter-defendants to the
first counterclaim are collectively referred to as
“the members.”

A. Person, Enterprise, and Distinctness
*2  To establish liability under section 1962(c), one must

prove the existence of a(1) person who is “employed by
or associated with” (2) an enterprise that is not simply the
“person referred to by a different name.” Cedric Kushner
Promotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 U.S. 158, 161, 121 S.Ct. 2087,
150 L.Ed.2d 198 (2001). Mattel alleges that the members
constituted an associated-in-fact enterprise “engaged in a
scheme to unlawfully compete with Mattel.” FAAC ¶ 123.
The members argue that Mattel fails to plead a valid enterprise
because the association formed by MGA, MGA's employees,
and MGA's subsidiaries is no different from MGA.

A corporation is an “individual” for the purposes of §
1961(4). See United States v. Blinder, 10 F.3d 1468, 1473
(9th Cir.1993) (citing United States v. Feldman, 853 F.2d
648, 655–56 (9th Cir.1988)). Thus, MGA can associate in
fact with other “individuals” to form an enterprise that is
“not a legal entity.” Id.; see also 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). But
the enterprise formed by MGA and these other “individuals”
must be distinct from MGA, since MGA cannot be “employed
by or associated with” itself. King, 533 U.S. at 161–62.

Measuring distinctness is elementary if the enterprise is
an individual (dissociative personalities notwithstanding),
tougher if the enterprise is a corporation, and hardest if
the enterprise is composed of individuals who form an
association that is, by definition, “not a legal entity.” 18
U.S.C. § 1961(4). Unlike the corporation—an entity King
distinguished by its “rights and responsibilities” under law
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—an associated-in-fact enterprise is conceptually slippery. It
lacks the features most groups possess:

[An associated-in-fact enterprise n]eed
not have a hierarchical structure or
“chain of command”; [can make]
decisions [ ] on an ad hoc basis
and by any number of methods—
by majority vote, consensus, a show
of strength, etc. [Need not have]
fixed roles [for its members] ... [Need
not have] name, regular meetings,
dues, established rules and regulations,
disciplinary procedures, or initiation
ceremonies.

Boyle v. United States, ––– U.S. ––––, 129 S.Ct. 2237, 2245–
46, 173 L.Ed.2d 1265 (2009).

Instead, an associated-in-fact enterprise is characterized by
its purpose, the relationships between its individual members,
and its longevity. Id. at 2245. Each element satisfies a
different part of the RICO statute: an “enterprise” must have a
purpose; an “associat[ion]” needs relationships; and “affairs”
cannot be conducted through a pattern of racketeering activity
unless the enterprise has sufficient longevity. Id.

The corporation's purpose, relationships, and longevity
subsume the purpose, relationships, and longevity of an
enterprise formed between the corporation and its employees
and/or subsidiaries. Thus, a corporation cannot be employed
by or associated with an enterprise composed of the
corporation and its employees and/or subsidiaries. See Living
Designs, Inc. v. E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co., 431 F.3d
353, 361 (9th Cir.2005); Anatian v. Coutts Bank (Switzerland)
Ltd., 193 F.3d 85, 88–89 (2d Cir.1999) (citing Riverwoods
Chappaqua, 30 F.3d 339, 344 (2d Cir.1994)); Gasoline Sales,
Inc. v. Aero Oil Co., 39 F.3d 70, 73–74 (3d Cir.1994) (“[A]
corporation generally cannot be a defendant under section
1962(c) for conducting an ‘enterprise’ consisting of its own
subsidiaries or employees, or consisting of the corporation

itself in association with its subsidiaries or employees.”); 6

Bachman v. Bear Stearns & Co., Inc., 178 F.3d 930, 932
(7th Cir.1999) (“A firm and its employees, or a parent and
its subsidiaries, are not an enterprise separate from the firm
itself.”) (citing Emery v. Am. Gen. Fin., Inc., 134 F.3d 1321,
1324–25 (7th Cir.1998)). Although the corporation and its

employees are distinct, King, 533 U.S. at 161, it is odd to
speak of a corporation as associated with or employed by an
association of the corporation and its employees. Id. at 163.

6 The FAAC tracks the language of a hypothetical
exception created by Aero Oil. FAAC ¶ 125
(“MGA had a role in the racketeering activity that
was distinct from the undertaking of those acting
on its behalf.”). This exception doesn't comport
with King's observation that a corporation has
distinct obligations and responsibilities. Instead,
the employees should have a role distinct from
their traditional undertaking on behalf of the
corporation. The language in ¶ 125 is therefore
irrelevant.

*3  But a corporation is distinct from an enterprise composed
of the corporation and a professionally independent entity. See
Living Designs, 431 F.3d at 362 (corporation distinct from
associated-in-fact enterprise composed of corporation, law
firm, and expert witnesses); c.f. Odom v. Microsoft Corp.,
486 F.3d 541, 552–53 (9th Cir.2007) (enterprise composed
of two corporations); see also Riverwoods, 30 F.3d at 344
(distinctness is satisfied even if “there is only a partial overlap
between the RICO person and the RICO enterprise”). Since
Bryant and Machado weren't always employed by MGA,
Mattel argues the enterprise composed of the two defecting

Mattel employees was distinct from MGA. 7

7 Obviously, Machado and Bryant were employed by
MGA for some period of time. But the members
don't discuss whether distinctness can be subject to
temporal limitations and the Court declines to visit
the issue sua sponte, since it is fact intensive and
can be addressed at summary judgment and/or trial.

The members respond that Bryant and Machado were the
target of the pattern of racketeering, not members of the
enterprise. See Docket 7996 at 3 n. 1. However, Mattel
alleges that Bryant and Machado were participating members
of the enterprise, not its targets. FAAC ¶¶ 28 (“Bryant
worked with MGA [ ] while he was still employed by
Mattel.”); 31 (same); 33 (similar); 52 (Machado met with
Larian). Moreover, the principle that the “ ‘enterprise’ is
not the ‘pattern of racketeering activity’,” Izenberg v. ETS
Svcs., LLC, 589 F.Supp.2d 1193, 1202 (C.D.Cal.2008),
does not preclude one enterprise member from engaging
in an act of racketeering directed at another enterprise
member. The principle merely applies to a scenario in which
“several individuals, independently and without coordination,
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engaged in a pattern [of racketeering activity].” Boyle, 129
S.Ct. at 2245 n. 4.

Finally, the members summarily argue the enterprise fails
because the members merely “carry[ ] on the regular affairs
of the corporation.” Since the manner in which the enterprise
must be constituted is governed by Boyle and not the line of
cases addressing distinctness, this argument is unrelated to
whether the person must be distinct from the enterprise. Even
if the affairs of the enterprise must be distinct from the affairs
of each of its members, such a determination would be fact-
intensive and is unfit for resolution at this early stage. Notably,
Mattel does not allege that the enterprise carried on the regular
affairs of MGA.

The members' limited challenge to the distinctness and
cognizability of the enterprise fails.

B. Predicate Acts
Mattel alleges that the members conducted the enterprise's
affairs through predicate acts of mail fraud, wire fraud,
spoliation and concealment of evidence, obstruction of
justice, interstate and foreign travel in aid of racketeering
enterprises, and criminal copyright infringement. FAAC ¶
123(a)-(f).

A RICO plaintiff must establish that the alleged “person”
conducted or participated in the conduct of the alleged
enterprise's affairs “through a pattern of racketeering
activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). A “ ‘pattern of racketeering
activity’ requires at least two predicate acts of racketeering
activity ... the latter of which occurred within ten years ...
after the commission of a prior act of racketeering.” 18
U.S.C. § 1961(5). “Racketeering activity,” includes, for the
purposes of the present order, any act indictable under
18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 (wire fraud), 1344 (mail fraud), 1512
(tampering with a witness, victim, or an informant), 1503
(obstruction of justice), 1952 (racketeering), and 2319
(criminal infringement of a copyright).

1. Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud (RICO Predicate Acts)
*4  Mail fraud and wire fraud share elements and are

therefore evaluated under the same framework. Miller v.
Yokohama Tire Corp., 358 F.3d 616, 621 (9th Cir.2004) (citing
Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144
L.Ed.2d 35 (1999)). A claim for mail fraud or wire fraud
must allege that the defendant: “(1) devised [ ] or intend[ed]
to devise a scheme to defraud (or to perform specified

fraudulent acts), and (2) use[d] the mail [or wires] for the
purpose of executing, or attempting to execute, the scheme
(or specified fraudulent acts).” Carter v. United States, 530
U.S. 255, 261, 120 S.Ct. 2159, 147 L.Ed.2d 203 (2000).
The statutes encompass “any scheme to deprive another of
money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses.”
Carpenter v. United States, 484 U.S. 19, 27, 108 S.Ct. 316,
98 L.Ed.2d 275 (1987). The scheme to defraud requires
concealment of a “material fact,” Neder v. United States, 527
U.S. 1, 22–23, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999), but
not reliance, Bridge v. Phoenix Bond & Indem. Co., 553 U.S.
639, 128 S.Ct. 2131, 2140, 170 L.Ed.2d 1012 (2008).

Mattel alleges that the members' acts of mail fraud and
wire fraud furthered or executed a “scheme or artifice to
defraud Mattel of its rights to receive honest services from
its employees and to maintain the secrecy of its confidential
and trade secret information and property; to transfer the ill-
gotten gains from such thefts and wrongs, secret MGA assets
and purportedly obtain priority over Mattel; and to obstruct
the judicial process and thwart the verdicts of the jury and
Orders of the Court, including by failing to preserve Mattel's
property.” FAAC ¶¶ 124(a)-(b). In effect, Mattel challenges
the crime and the cover up.

a. Scheme to Deprive Mattel of Employees' Honest
Services

A “scheme or artifice to defraud” under the mail fraud
and wire fraud statutes includes “a scheme or artifice to
deprive another of the intangible right of honest services.”
18 U.S.C. § 1346. The Supreme Court has “construe[d]” the
statute to cover only “fraudulent schemes to deprive another
of honest services through bribes or kickbacks supplied
by a third party who had not been deceived.” Skilling v.
United States, ––– U.S. ––––, ––––, 130 S.Ct. 2896, 2928,
177 L.Ed.2d 619 (June 24, 2010). This includes bribes of
private sector employees. See id. at 2932 n. 45 (discussing
“undisclosed self-dealing by ... a private employee”); id.
n. 46 (contending that re-construal does not render § 1346
superfluous of bribery statutes, which do not address “state
and local corruption and ... private-sector fraud”); see also
United States v. Procter & Gamble Co., 47 F.Supp. 676, 678
(D.Mass.1942) (cited with approval in Skilling ).

Mattel alleges Bryant, Machado, Trueba, Vargas, Brisbois,
and Castilla worked for MGA while at Mattel in exchange
for bribes of cash or future employment. See, e.g., FAAC
¶¶ 30 (employment contract); 86–90 (indirect bribes);
43 (“induce[ment]”); 44 (future employment benefits);
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61 (meeting); 77 (“lur [ing]”); 81 (job and raise); 67

(misappropriation); 80 (same); 85 (same). 8  The allegations
expressly encompass acts of bribery and are therefore
sufficient to sustain a claim that the members used the mails
or wires to execute a scheme to deprive Mattel of the honest
services of its employees.

8 The FAAC's remaining allegations about Mattel
employees contracting to work with MGA and
committing acts of self-dealing do not state a claim
for honest services fraud. Skilling, 130 S.Ct. at
2931.

*5  The members respond that the alleged honest services
fraud (1) deprived Mattel of an intangible property interest
not recoverable under civil RICO and (2) was perpetuated
by entities that owed no fiduciary duty to Mattel. However,
the members conflate the standing requirements of a civil
RICO claim, 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), with the mail fraud and
wire fraud statutes, and fail to recognize that a person, like
Mattel in this case, can suffer tangible harm by reason of the
deprivation of an intangible right. Furthermore, the members'
fiduciary relationship argument is extra-statutory. Indeed,
Skilling cited with approval a pre-McNally prosecution that,
like this case, concerned “the payment of gratuities or bribes
by the defendant [corporation], its subsidiaries and agents,
to certain employees of [another corporation] in exchange
for which the employees obtained from their employer
possession of [proprietary information] which they turned
over to the [defendant corporation].” See Procter & Gamble,
47 F.Supp. at 678; see 130 S.Ct. at 2929.

b. Scheme to Deprive Right to Secrecy of Confidential
and Trade Secret Information

The members argue that trade secret misappropriation cannot
constitute a scheme under §§ 1341 and 1343 because a
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1832 (trade secret misappropriation)
cannot be bootstrapped into the mail fraud and wire fraud
statutes.

The same conduct can violate the mail fraud or wire fraud
statutes and some other statute not listed in § 1961(1). See
Midwest Grinding Co., Inc. v. Spitz, 976 F.2d 1016, 1021–
22 (7th Cir.1992) (while “telling a simple lie or committing
perjury is not per se a RICO predicate act” it can still
constitute mail or wire fraud). Alternatively, the same conduct
can violate two statutes listed by § 1961(1), since certain types
of schemes to defraud are independently wrongful. See 18
U.S.C. § 1961(1) (listing financial institution fraud, fraud and

related activity in connection with access devices, fraud and
misuse of visas, permits, and other documents).

But not all illegal conduct violates the mail fraud and wire
fraud statutes. United States v. Gallant, 570 F.Supp. 303
(S.D.N.Y.1983) (violation of statute alone is not mail/wire
fraud); Evercrete Corp. v. H–Cap Ltd., 429 F.Supp.2d 612
(S.D.N.Y.2006) (same). A violation of some other statute does
not constitute mail fraud or wire fraud unless (obviously)
fraud is involved. Chagby v. Target Corp., No. CV 08–4425–
GHK (PJWx), 2008 WL 5686105, at *4 (C.D.Cal. Oct.27,
2008). For example, since copyright infringement cannot be
effectuated through fraud, c.f. 18 U.S.C. § 2319, a scheme to
infringe copyrights is not a scheme or artifice proscribed by
the mail fraud or wire fraud statutes. See Smith v. Jackson,
84 F.3d 1213 (9th Cir.1996); see Johnson Elec. N. Am. Inc. v.
Mabuchi Motor Am. Corp., 98 F.Supp.2d 480 (S.D.N.Y.2000)
(same with patent infringement, which has “no deceptive
element”).

*6  Trade secret misappropriation can be fraudulent, unlike
copyright infringement and patent infringement. 18 U.S.C.
§ 1832(a). The employer discloses trade secret materials to
the employee pursuant to the employee's promise to keep
that information confidential, Miller v. Yokohama Tire Corp.,
358 F.3d 616, 621–22 (9th Cir.2004), and the employee
may commit mail fraud or wire fraud by betraying that
trust through the use of the mails or wires. Carpenter v.
United States, 484 U.S. 19, 25, 108 S.Ct. 316, 98 L.Ed.2d

275 (1987). 9  Here, Mattel alleges it was defrauded of
its trade secrets. FAAC ¶¶ 37–42 (Machado, Trueba, and
Vargas secured Mattel's trust); 48 (Trueba extracted Mattel
confidential information); id. (Machado, Vargas, and Trueba
attended three day Mattel planning meeting even though their
resignations were imminent). The members don't contest the
strength of these allegations, which aver the theft of Mattel's
trade secrets by fraud. Thus, the alleged scheme is cognizable
to the extent it involves the deprivation of Mattel's right
to maintain the secrecy of its confidential and trade secret
information.

9 The members argue that Carpenter does not
control since it was decided before § 1832.
However, Carpenter did not discuss trade secret
misappropriation and more importantly, § 1832
recognizes claims for fraud.

c. Scheme to Obstruct Justice and Thwart Jury Verdicts
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The alleged scheme also aimed “to obstruct the judicial
process and thwart the verdicts of the jury and Orders of
the Court, including by failing to preserve Mattel's property.”
FAAC ¶ 124. Though Mattel's Opposition states that the
scheme was “aimed at, among other things, ‘defraud[ing]
Mattel of its rights to receive honest services from its
employees and to maintain the secrecy of its confidential
and trade secret information and property,’ “ see Docket
7880, at 12, that is an understatement. The false or fraudulent
statements, if any, were made to the Court in order to
prevail in the litigation—they did not just “cover up” already
consummated schemes. In other words, Mattel alleges that
MGA sought to deprive Mattel of business or property
through false or fraudulent litigation conduct. This sort of
scheme may be cognizable under the mail fraud and wire
fraud statutes. See, e.g ., Living Designs, 431 F.3d at 364–
65 (plaintiffs accepted lower settlement in prior litigation due
to lack of access to wrongfully concealed documents). The
members ignore these issues, which can be addressed again
at summary judgment and/or trial.

The members instead argue that the alleged litigation conduct
was not committed in furtherance of a scheme to defraud
Mattel of its honest services and the secrecy of its confidential
and trade secret information. However, the “cover up” of
a scheme to defraud executes the scheme. See Spitz, 976
F.2d at 1021–22 (7th Cir.1992) (“cover up” of consummated
scheme can be in furtherance of scheme). And Mattel
alleges that the members' litigation misconduct concealed
their scheme to bribe Mattel employees and steal Mattel trade
secrets. FAAC ¶¶ 95 (alleging document destruction, deletion
and manipulation, concealment of identities); id. 96, 104,
114, 118–21 (perjurious statements). The members' limited
challenge to the alleged sub-scheme to engage in litigation
and post-litigation misconduct fails.

d. Scheme to Conceal Assets
*7  The alleged scheme also aimed to “transfer the ill-gotten

gains from such thefts and wrongs, secret MGA assets and
purportedly obtain priority over Mattel.” FAAC ¶ 124(a)(b).
As a general matter, a scheme to nefariously conceal assets
can be a scheme to deprive another of business or property
through false or fraudulent pretenses. See, e.g., Rothberg
v. Chloe Foods Corp., No. CV–06–5712 (CPS), 2007 WL
2128376, at *11–12 (E.D.N.Y. July 25, 2007); Gutierrez v.
Givens, 1 F.Supp.2d 1077, 1086 (S.D.Cal.1998). The alleged
scheme need not have been successful to be wrongful, since
mere “intent to deprive the victim of money or property,”
United States v. Ciccone, 219 F.3d 1078, 1082 (9th Cir.2000),

can give rise to a claim under the mail fraud and/or wire fraud
statutes. C.f. United States v. Vaughn, 797, F.2d 1485, 1493
(9th Cir.1986).

The members argue that acts taken to shield the enterprise
from detection do not constitute mail fraud or wire fraud.
However, Mattel alleges the concealment of assets furthered
a scheme to defraud Mattel of its property; not a scheme to
conceal the enterprise. FAAC ¶ 124.

e. Particularity
Every act of mail or wire fraud need not be pled with the
“particularity” required by Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b). Schmuck v.
United States, 489 U.S. 705, 714, 109 S.Ct. 1443, 103 L.Ed.2d
734 (1989). (“It is sufficient for the mailing to be ‘incident
to an essential part of the scheme’ or ‘a step in [the] plot.’
”); M'Baye v. N.J. Sports Prod., Inc., No. 06–CV–3439, 2007
WL 431881, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 7, 2007). This is because
the scheme, not the communications in furtherance of the
scheme, must be fraudulent. Schmuck, 489 U.S. at 715 (“
‘innocent’ mailings—ones that contain no false information
—may supply the mailing element [and] the elements of
mail fraud [can] be satisfied where the mailings have been
routine”) (internal citations omitted).

Rule 9(b)'s particularity requirements only apply to (1) the
scheme itself; and (2) any mail or wire communications
alleged to be fraudulent. See M'Baye, No. 06 Civ 3439,
2007 WL 431881, at *7 (quoting Evercrete Corp. v. H–
Cap Ltd., 429 F.Supp.2d 612, 624 (S.D.N.Y.2006)); see also
Living Designs, 486 F.3d at 554 (“The only aspects of wire
fraud that require particularized allegations are the factual
circumstances of the fraud itself.”). The FAAC does not
allege that the mail or wire communications that executed the
fraudulent scheme were themselves fraudulent. Regardless,
Mattel pleads the mail fraud and wire fraud scheme with
particularity. FAAC ¶¶ 25–27 (Bryant secured position of
trust by entering into specifically identified agreements with
Mattel); 28 (Bryant failed to disclose his work for MGA's
benefit to Mattel and induced other Mattel employees to
work for MGA); 31 (Bryant designed Bratz with MGA
while employed by Mattel); 37–42 (Machado, Vargas, and
Trueba secured positions of trust with Mattel by signing
specifically identified agreements); 48 (Trueba accessed
Mattel information by attending a Barbie meeting four days
before departure and soliciting advertising strategy two days
before departure). Mattel also attaches, for good measure,
hundreds of communications that show the existence of the
scheme.
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*8  Because the members' arguments are premised on a
misunderstanding of Mattel's pleading obligations, they fail
to raise a viable Rule 9(b) challenge.

2. Violation of the Travel Act (RICO Predicate Act)
Mattel alleges that MGA and Larian violated 18 U.S.C. §
1952. For the purposes of this order, § 1952 proscribes (1)
interstate travel or use of interstate facilities (2) with intent
to promote unlawful activity (3) followed by promotion or
attempted promotion of the unlawful activity. 18 U.S.C. §
1952. Unlawful activity includes “extortion, bribery, or arson
in violation of the laws of the State in which committed or
of the United States.” Id. at (b)(2). California's commercial
bribery statute, Cal.Penal Code § 641.3, proscribes any non-
employer from “offer[ing] or giv[ing][ ] money or any thing
of value” to an employee who “corruptly and without the
knowledge or consent of the employer [ ] agree[s] to use
his or her position for the benefit of that other person.” In
effect, Penal Code § 641.3 is California's version of the federal
honest services fraud statute.

Contrary to the members, Mattel adequately pleads a violation
of the Travel Act. FAAC ¶¶ 30, 43, 44, 61, 67, 77, 80, 81,
85–90. The members object to Mattel's use of “information
and belief,” but there are plenty of allegations not based on
information and belief. Moreover, information and belief is
itself sufficient to sustain a claim as long as it is supported
with “a statement of the facts upon which the belief is based.”
Zatkin v. Primuth, 551 F.Supp. 39, 42 (S.D.Cal.1982). The
facts upon which Mattel's Travel Act claim is predicated
can be found between paragraphs 85 and 90 of the FAAC.
Specifically, MGA vendor Veronica Marlow received a salary
that Larian characterized as enough for “4 high quality doll
fashion designers with experience full time,” and thereafter
used those funds to bribe Mattel employees to work for
MGA's benefit. FAAC ¶ 87.

Citing legislative history, the members argue that the Travel
Act was never intended to apply to civil actions, such as
this one. However, section 1952' s unambiguous statutory
language should not be re-construed in order to redeem its
perceived purpose. See Amalgamated Transit Union Local
1309 AFL–CIO v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Inc., 448 F.3d 1092,
1096 (9th Cir.2006). The members also argue that Cal.Penal
Code § 641.3 did not prohibit MGA and Larian from bribing
Machado, Vargas, and Trueba in Mexico and Brisbois in
Canada, since the statute does not apply to extra-territorial
conduct. However, Penal Code § 641.3 proscribes bribery

conducted “in whole or in part” in California, which is what

Mattel alleges. See FAAC ¶¶ 36, 43–47, 52, 56, 61–63. 10

Finally, in a footnote, the members argue that Mattel must
allege injury because intent to commit bribery doesn't violate
the Travel Act. The premise is correct but the conclusion all
wrong. Section 1952 requires not just intent but performance
or attempted performance as well. 18 U.S.C. § 1952. It does
not, however, require a showing of injury—an issue properly
addressed in the context of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).

10 Markey v. Kudelski S.A., No. 06–CV–1300
W(RBB), 2008 WL 65401 (S.D.Cal. Jan.3, 2008)
did not address extra-territorial concerns directly.

*9  The members' arguments against the Travel Act
allegation fail.

C. “Pattern”
The commission of at least two acts of racketeering within
a ten year period can constitute a “pattern of racketeering
activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5). The acts of racketeering must
be related and “amount to or pose a threat of continued
criminal activity.' “ Turner v. Cook, 362 F.3d 1219, 1229 (9th
Cir.2004) (quoting H.J. Inc. v. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S.
229, 239, 109 S.Ct. 2893, 106 L.Ed.2d 195 (1989)). Machado
seeks dismissal of the first counterclaim on the grounds that
his alleged acts of racketeering did not constitute a “pattern.”

1. Continuity
RICO predicate acts may be bound by closed-ended or open-
ended continuity. Turner, 362 F.3d at 1229. Closed-ended
continuity is established by a series of predicate acts “over
a substantial period of time” that “threaten [ ] ... future
criminal conduct.” Id. (quoting Howard v. Am. Online, Inc.,
208 F.3d 741, 750 (9th Cir.2000)). Open-ended continuity
is established by “a form of predicate misconduct that
‘by its nature projects into the future with a threat of
repetition.’ “ Id. (citing Religious Tech. Ctr. v. Wollersheim,
971 F.2d 364, 366 (9th Cir.1992)). Neither form of continuity
requires “a showing that the defendants engaged in more than
one ‘scheme’ or ‘criminal episode’.” Medallion Television
Enters., Inc. v. SelecTV of Cal., Inc., 833 F.2d 1360, 1363–64
(9th Cir.1987).

Mattel alleges that Machado committed acts of mail fraud and
wire fraud (in furtherance of a scheme to defraud Mattel of the
secrecy of its confidential information and honest services),
spoliation (in order to conceal his wrongdoing), and criminal
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copyright infringement (by using Mattel documents in his
capacity as an MGA employee). However, Machado's receipt
of bribes, betrayal of Mattel, and misappropriation of trade
secrets was concentrated between the start of 2004 when he
met Susana Kuemmerle, FAAC ¶ 43, and April 19, 2004
when he made off with Mattel's trade secret information, id.
¶ 44–51. See Ex. R to FAAC (April 16 and April 17, 2004
communications); Ex. W (emails and phone calls between
Machado and MGA/Larian between February and April
2004). Even Machado's alleged spoliation occurred on “the
day of his resignation.” FAAC ¶ 95.

Mattel responds that Machado's post-resignation use of
Mattel's trade secrets constitutes predicate acts of mail fraud
and wire fraud, because every use of Mattel's trade secret
information executed the illegal scheme to deprive Mattel
of the secrecy of its confidential information. For example,
in May 2004, October 2004, and February 2005, Machado
prepared reports for Larian and MGA by using Mattel trade
secret information. See Ex. W to FAAC.

The subsequent use of Mattel's trade secret did not execute
a scheme to defraud Mattel of its right to maintain the
secrecy of its confidential and trade secret information. The
scheme targeted Mattel's ability to “decide how to use”
its confidential information, Carpenter, 484 U.S. at 25–27,
which like the confidential employer-employee relationship,
see Intermedics, Inc. v. Ventritex, Inc., 822 F.Supp. 634, 651
(N.D.Cal.1993), can be lost but once. See Bro–Tech Corp. v.
Thermax, Inc., 651 F.Supp.2d 378 (E.D.Pa.2009) (subsequent
use “does not function to extend the fraudulent scheme's
duration because such use is not a predicate act of the
scheme”). Indeed, 18 U.S.C. § 1832 prohibits the acquisition,
duplication, use, and knowing receipt of trade secrets, but
suggests by omission that only the acquisition of trade secrets
can be consummated by fraud. See 18 U.S.C. § 1832(1)
(imposing liability upon person who “by fraud, artifice,
or deception obtains [trade secret] information”) (emphasis

added) . 11  Not surprisingly, Mattel cites no authority for the
proposition that the use of fraudulently obtained business or
property executes an already consummated mail fraud or wire
fraud scheme.

11 Of course, subsequent use of an employer's trade
secret information may constitute an independently
wrongful act subject to liability under the tort of
misappropriation of trade secrets. See, e.g., Harry
Miller Corp. v. Mancuso Chem. Ltd., 469 F.Supp.2d
303, 317 (E.D.Pa.2007); Underwater Storage, Inc.

v. United States Rubber Co., 371 F.2d 950, 953
(D.C.Cir.1966).

*10  The FAAC alleges that Machado first disclosed much
of Mattel's trade secret information to MGA while he
was still employed by Mattel. See, e.g., Ex. W to FAAC.
However, the FAAC also appears to allege that Machado
withheld some Mattel trade secret information initially, only
to first access such information later in his tenure at MGA
Mexico. See FAAC ¶¶ 53–54. Discovery is ongoing into
the timing of Machado's disclosures and it is premature to
resolve these issues on the basis of the FAAC's ambiguous
allegations. Finally, since Machado's acts of mail fraud and
wire fraud may have been sufficiently continuous, the Court
need not resolve whether continuity is, in the alternative,
established by Machado's alleged acts of spoliation and
criminal copyright infringement.

2. Relatedness
As discussed supra, Mattel argues that Machado's post-
resignation e-mails were acts of wire fraud, because those
e-mails disclosed Mattel trade secret information. Machado
argues that e-mails sent by Machado after he left Mattel were
not related to the other alleged predicate acts. The continued
relevance of this dispute is called into question by the Court's
ruling that (1) subsequent uses of already disclosed Mattel
trade secret did not execute a scheme to deprive Mattel of
the right to maintain the secrecy of its confidential and trade
secret information; and (2) Machado may have engaged in
other post-resignation acts of mail fraud or wire fraud to the
extent he later disclosed Mattel trade secrets that he initially
withheld.

Assuming Machado's post-resignation e-mails constituted
acts of wire fraud, they were sufficiently related to the
other alleged predicate acts. Relatedness is established when
predicate acts have “the same or similar purposes, results,
participants, victims, or methods of commission, or otherwise
are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics ....“ Id. at 192

(citing 18 U .S.C. § 3575(e) (repealed effective 1987)). 12

Predicate acts must be vertically related “to the activities of
the enterprise” and horizontally “related to each other.” See
United States v. Daidone, 471 F.3d 371, 375 (2d Cir.2006).
Mattel alleges that Machado led a close-knit team of former
Mattel Mexico employees in an effort to misuse Mattel's
trade secret information for MGA Mexico's benefit. The
departing employees used thumb drives and emails to capture
Mattel's trade secret information and disclosed Mattel's
confidential information to MGA at the same meetings and
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to the same individuals in MGA's corporate hierarchy. And
like the alleged infringement of Mattel's copyrights and
subsequent acts of spoliation, Machado's disclosure of Mattel
trade secrets sought to deprive Mattel of its intellectual
property and reduce Mattel's market position. In other words,
Machado's post-resignation acts of mail and/or wire fraud
were related to his other acts of racketeering, as well as the
acts of racketeering committed by Trueba, Vargas, and other
members of the enterprise.

12 The statute's repeal does not diminish its relevance
to the relatedness inquiry. See Sedima, 105 S.Ct.
at 3285 n. 14; see also Bulletin Displays, LLC v.
Regency Outdoor Advertising, Inc., 518 F.Supp.2d
1182, 1191–92 (C.D.Cal.2007).

D. Standing 13

13 Contrary to Mattel, the members challenge injury
throughout their briefing in attacking each of the
RICO predicate acts.

*11  A civil RICO plaintiff must be “injured in his business
or property by reason of a violation of section 1962.” 18
U.S.C. § 1964(c). The “[c]ompensable injury flowing from a
violation of [section 1962(c) ] ‘necessarily is the harm caused
by predicate acts sufficiently related to constitute a pattern,
for the essence of the violation is the commission of those
acts in connection with the conduct of an enterprise.” Anza v.
Ideal Steel Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 457, 126 S.Ct. 1991,
164 L.Ed.2d 720 (2006) (quoting Sedima, 473 U.S. at 497).
The injury must be “concrete financial loss, and not mere
injury to a valuable intangible property interest.” Oscar v.
Univ. Students Co–Operative Ass'n, 965 F.2d 783, 785 (9th
Cir.1992) (en banc) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The violation of § 1962(c) must be the proximate cause
of plaintiff's concrete financial loss. Hemi Group, LLC v.
City of New York, ––– U.S. ––––, 130 S.Ct. 983, 989, 175
L.Ed.2d 943 (2010) (citing Holmes v. Sec. Investor Prot.
Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268 112 S.Ct. 1311 (1992)). The alleged
RICO violation must have “led directly to the plaintiff's
injuries,” Bridge v. Phoenix Bond & Indem. Co., 553 U.S. 639,
128 S.Ct. 2131, 2142, 170 L.Ed.2d 1012 (2008). And mere
foreseeability is insufficient to establish proximate cause
between the RICO violation and the injury. See Couch v. Cate,
No. 09–15599, 2010 WL 1936277, at *4 (9th Cir. May 14,
2010). Though the Supreme Court has declined to impose
a “black-letter rule,” see Bridge, 128 S.Ct. at 1242, it has
rejected claims where the RICO violation was distinct from

the conduct that caused the injury. See, e.g. Hemi Group,
130 S.Ct. at 990 (“conduct directly responsible for the City's
harm was the customers' failure to pay their taxes” and not
defendant's fraud); Anza, 547 U.S. at 458 (no causation even
though defendant committed both the RICO violation and the

distinct conduct causing the injury). 14

14 Mattel tries to revive foreseeability by quoting the
Second Circuit's decision in Anza, but the case was
reversed on the very proposition quoted by Mattel.

Mattel makes two preliminary arguments. First, Mattel argues
that Judge Larson, who previously presided over this case,
concluded that “[d]amages easily flow from the theft of
trade secrets and confidential information committed by a
direct competitor and from infringement of copyrights that
are alleged to have been used to make millions-if not billions-
of dollars.” Bryant v. Mattel, Inc., 573 F.Supp.2d 1254, 1269
(C.D.Cal.2007). But Judge Larson's order pre-dated Hemi
Group, which held that injury cannot just “easily flow”
from the § 1962(c) violation. See 130 S.Ct. at 990 (holding
violation must directly cause injury). Second, Mattel argues
that standing is inappropriate for resolution at the Rule
12(b)(6) stage. However, Hemi Group affirmed a 12(b)(6)
dismissal, and if it works for Chief Justice Roberts, it works

for this Court. 15

15 This argument applies to the conspiracy
counterclaim as well.

Mattel alleges that it suffered the following injuries: (1)
MGA's profits and Mattel's lost opportunity from the use, sale,
distribution and licensing of Bratz, FAAC ¶¶ 32, 34; (2) the
theft of Mattel's confidential and proprietary information, id.
¶¶ 50, 53; 62, 77, 80, 84, 85(3) counter-defendants' diversion
of resources from the Bratz line of dolls after the Phase 1 jury
awarded ownership of the line to Mattel, id. ¶¶ 91–93; (4)
the concealment of funds obtained as a result of MGA and
Larian's alleged RICO violations, id. ¶¶ 113; (5) Mattel's loss
of priority as a result of the Omni transaction, id. ¶ 115; (6)
the dissipation of MGA funds; id. ¶ 117; and (7) the costs of
the forensic auditor appointed by Judge Larson as a result of
Mattel's concern that MGA was dissipating funds, id. ¶ 121.

*12  The third, fourth, fifth, and sixth categories are not
“concrete financial injuries.” Mattel lacks priority because
it has no judgment against any of the counter-defendants.
Access to MGA's funds and intellectual property is nothing
more than an intangible business interest (if that). Such
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interests are not recoverable under § 1964(c). See Oscar, 965
F.2d at 785.

Lost profits can be recoverable if they are concrete and
deprived by the wrongful conduct, instead of an intervening
event or market condition. See Sierra Nat. Ins. Holdings, Inc.
v. Altus Fin., S.A ., No. CV 01–1339 AHM (CWx), 2001
WL 1343855 (C.D.Cal. June 20, 2001). The members do not
dispute this, but offer a number of arguments in favor of
summary judgment as to Mattel's lost profits injury. However,
this order does not address arguments brought pursuant to

Rule 56, which can be addressed at the appropriate time. 16

Furthermore, Mattel alleges the theft of its trade secrets
resulted in concrete financial loss by depriving Mattel of
valuable contracts and access to retailers, FAAC ¶ 53, to
which the members offer no response.

16 The Court declines to consider the new arguments
in page 18 of Docket 7996.

Mattel's standing to bring its first counterclaim must be
resolved at summary judgment and/or trial upon analysis of
each defendant's alleged acts of racketeering and the nature
of the injury caused by those acts.

II. Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) Based on Violation
of § 1962(d) (RICO Conspiracy)

The FAAC's second counterclaim alleges that “Larian, MGA
HK, [MGA Mexico], Bryant, Machado, IGWT 826, [and]
Omni 808” conspired to violate § 1962(c) and thereby
violated § 1962(d). FAAC ¶ 129.

A. Conspiracy
“[A] defendant is guilty of conspiracy to violate § 1962(c) if
the evidence showed that she ‘knowingly agree[d] to facilitate
a scheme which includes the operation or management of
a RICO enterprise.’ “ United States v. Fernandez, 388
F.3d 1199, 1230 (9th Cir.2004) (quoting Smith v. Berg,
247 F.3d 532, 538 (3d Cir.2001)). “A conspiracy may
exist even if a conspirator does not agree to commit or
facilitate each and every part of the substantive offense. The
partners in the criminal plan must agree to pursue the same
criminal objective and may divide up the work, yet each
is responsible for the acts of each other.” Salinas v. United
States, 522 U.S. 52, 63–64, 118 S.Ct. 469, 139 L.Ed.2d 352
(1997). A conspirator need not have “specific knowledge
of or participation in each predicate act conducted by other
members” of the conspiracy. United States v. Yannotti, 541

F.3d 112, 122 (2d Cir.2008). “[I]t suffices that he adopt[ed]
the goal of furthering or facilitating the criminal endeavor.”

Salinas, 522 U.S. at 65. 17

17 The members argue in error that the claim is pled
incorrectly because it uses the words furthered,
promoted, or facilitated, even though furthering
or facilitating the organization or management of
a criminal enterprise is the essence of a RICO
conspiracy claim. Salinas, 522 U.S. at 65.

The members argue that Mattel fails to set forth sufficient
facts that show the existence of any unlawful agreement
to violate RICO. This argument ignores literally dozens
of paragraphs that allege inter alia (1) MGA, Larian,
MGA Mexico, and Machado discussing theft of trade
secrets; (2) Omni, MGA, Larian, and IGWT combining to
conceal MGA's assets; (3) MGA, MGA HK, and MGA
Mexico discussing acts of copyright infringement and bribery
of Mattel employees; and (4) Bryant, MGA and Larian
discussing the theft of trade secrets, bribery, and copyright
infringement. Even if Rule 9(b) applied here, Mattel has
alleged detailed facts to sustain its claim that each conspirator
adopted the goal of furthering or facilitating the operation or
management of the associated-in-fact enterprise.

*13  The members also liken this case to Bell Atl. Corp.
v. Twombly. But in Twombly, the complaint failed to plead
“plausible grounds to infer an agreement [or] enough fact
to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal
evidence of illegal agreement.” See, 550 U.S. 544, 556–57,
127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007). Not so here, as many
of the co-conspirators are alleged to constituted an associated-
in-fact enterprise engaged in serial acts of racketeering.
Moreover, the nature of the uncontested relationships between
the alleged co-conspirators is suggestive, if not supportive,
of agreement. For example, Larian ran both MGA and MGA
Mexico, had tremendous input in the operations of MGA HK,
recruited Bryant and Machado, solicited funds for Omni, and
funded IGWT with his family members.

B. Standing
Only Omni challenges Mattel's standing to bring a § 1964(c)
claim arising out of injury to business or property caused by
a violation of § 1962(d).

Omni's precise conduct is largely irrelevant because of the
nature of conspiratorial liability. In essence, Mattel alleges
that Omni was a shell entity formed by Larian to purchase
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MGA's debt to Wachovia at a discount, and then obtain a
security interest in MGA's intellectual property in exchange
for little to no value. See FAAC ¶¶ 97, 100–121. The key fact
is that Omni joined the conspiracy when Omni was formed
on August 12, 2008. Id. ¶ 103.

A plaintiff may recover injuries to his business or property
by reason of a violation of § 1962(d) only when the injury
results from the commission of an overt act that “violates one
of the substantive provisions of § 1962.” Beck v. Prupis, 529
U.S. 494, 500, 120 S.Ct. 1608, 146 L.Ed.2d 561 (2000). Overt
acts in furtherance of a conspiracy do not give rise to a §
1964(c) claim unless those acts are independently wrongful
under RICO. Id. at 500. An independently wrongful act is
one expressly prohibited by any section of RICO, including
§ 1961(1). Id.

A civil RICO “plaintiff [may] sue co-conspirators who
might not themselves have violated one of the substantive
provisions of § 1962” pursuant to the well-established rule
that a conspirator can be held “vicariously liable for the
underlying tort[s]” committed by his co-conspirators. Id. at
500–07 (quoting Halberstam v. Welch, 705 F.2d 472, 479
(D.C.Cir.1983) and Royster v. Baker, 365 S.W.2d 496, 499,
500 (Mo.1963) (“[T]he fact of a conspiracy merely bears on
the liability of the various defendants as joint tort-feasors.”));
see also Sec. Investor Prot. Corp. v. Vigman, 908 F.2d 1461,
1468 (9th Cir.1990), rev'd sub. nom., Holmes, 503 U.S. at
264 n. 6 (“All conspirators are liable for the acts of their
co-conspirators.”) (quoting Beltz Travel Serv. v. Int'l Air
Transp. Ass'n, 620 F.2d 1360, 1367 (9th Cir.1980)). Vicarious
liability for a co-conspirator's independently wrongful overt
acts committed in furtherance of the RICO conspiracy is
consistent with the long-standing principle that a conspirator
should be held liable for the foreseeable consequences of
the unlawful agreement, i.e., overt acts in furtherance of the
conspiracy. See Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640, 647,
66 S.Ct. 1180, 90 L.Ed. 1489 (1946).

*14  However, a conspirator cannot reasonably foresee his
co-conspirators' commission of overt acts prior to his entry
into the unlawful agreement. United States v. O'Campo, 973
F.2d 1015, 1024 (1st Cir.1992) (“[S]uch an argument means
that ‘the concept of foreseeability (a forward looking concept)
must be turned around 180 degrees [to] be applied to the
conduct of co-conspirators occurring before the entry of a
particular defendant into the conspiracy.’ ”) (quoting United
States v. Edwards, 945 F.2d 1387, 1393 (7th Cir.1991)). Thus,
a conspirator is not liable for substantive acts committed by

his co-conspirators before he joined the conspiracy. O'Campo,
973 F.2d at 1023 (holding that a judge may not consider
co-conspirators' substantive offenses for the purposes of
sentencing); United States v. Lothian, 976 F.2d 1257, 1262
(9th Cir.1992); United States v. Blackmon, 839 F.2d 900,
908–09 (2d Cir.1988). Prior acts may still be considered
for the purposes of conspiratorial liability. Id. at 1022–23;
Lefco v. United States, 74 F.2d 66, 68–69 (3d Cir.1934) (“[A]
conspirator cannot argue that they are responsible only for
what they themselves were doing when caught, and as that
usually is only part of the conspiracy, they say, the part
being less than the whole, it is different from the whole
and in consequence is not the conspiracy alleged in the
indictment.”). However, “the conspiracy is not independently
actionable” under RICO. Halberstam v. Welch, 705 F.2d 472,
479 (D.C.Cir.1983) (cited by Beck, 529 U.S. at 500); id. at
508 n. 1–2 (Stevens, J., dissenting).

Accordingly, Omni is liable for (1) the injury to Mattel's
business or property (2) directly caused by any co-
conspirator's foreseeable racketeering acts; (3) committed
after August 12, 2008. Since none of the post-August 12,
2008 racketeering acts directly injured Mattel in its business
or property, Mattel lacks standing to bring a § 1964(c)
counterclaim predicated upon Omni's alleged violation of §
1962(d).

1. The Omni Transaction
Mattel alleges that Wachovia assigned some portion of
its interest in the Revolving Credit Facility to Omni.
Thereafter, Omni's purported Side Letter Agreement with
MGA contemplated that Omni could obtain a first priority
security interest in MGA's intellectual property. Finally,
Omni, Larian and MGA allegedly drafted a disingenuous
demand letter from Kadisha to MGA. These transactions were
allegedly concealed from the Court.

Loss of Priority: Omni's dealings with Wachovia, MGA/
Larian, and IGWT allegedly resulted in Mattel's loss of
priority. However, Mattel never did and does not now have an
enforceable judgment against MGA due to the Ninth Circuit's
rulings with respect to the post-Phase 1 equitable relief. And
“[w]ithout a harm to a specific business or property interest
—a categorical inquiry typically determined by state law—
there is no injury to business or property within the meaning
of RICO.” Diaz v. Gates, 420 F.3d 897, 900 (9th Cir.2005)
(en banc), cert. denied, 546 U.S. 1131, 126 S.Ct. 1069, 163
L.Ed.2d 928 (2006). Even if Mattel did have a judgment, it
would not have suffered any concrete financial injury unless
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it attempted in vain to enforce that judgment. Lincoln House,
Inc. v. Dupre, 903 F.2d 845, 847–48 (1st Cir.1990) (rejecting
claimed injury based on “hypothetical inability to recover
from [defendant], if [plaintiff] obtains a judgment, in some

amount, in the pending [action].”) (emphasis in original). 18

18 Contrary to Mattel and Mattel's authorities, the
pendency of separate proceedings was irrelevant
to the analysis in Lincoln House. Furthermore,
Mattel's authorities are inapposite. National
Capital Orthopedics Assoc., P.C. v. Goltz, No.
CIV. A. AW 96–2429, 1997 WL 625117 (D.Md.
Sept.29, 1997) only discussed ripeness, not injury
to business or property. And Hecht v. Summerlin
Life and Health Ins. Co., 536 F.Supp. 1236
(D.Nev.2008) held that legally contingent claims
(not factually contingent claims as here) may be
tried in the same proceeding.

*15  Mattel's authorities are unavailing. Gutierrez v. Givens,
1 F.Supp.2d 1077 (S.D.Cal.1998) was decided before
Diaz and involved an unsuccessful attempt to “collect [a]
judgment.” Id. at 1085; see also Rothberg v. Chloe Foods
Corp., No. CV–06–5712 (CPS), 2007 WL 2128376, at
*2 (E.D.N.Y. July 25, 2007) (plaintiff had judgment in
hand and Second Circuit had not imposed requirement of
concrete financial injury); Jeffreys v. Exten, 784 F.Supp.
146 (D.Del.1992) (plaintiff obtained default judgment and
court only analyzed whether plaintiff belonged to a class of
creditors, concluding he did not).

Costs: Mattel claims it incurred attorneys' fees and costs “for
the forensic auditor to uncover MGA's and Omni's wrongful
conduct.” Docket 7868 at 13. But the auditor was appointed
at Mattel's request, FAAC ¶¶ 118–121, and RICO doesn't
provide for the recovery of losses caused by self-inflicted
wounds. Even though costs incurred in collecting on a debt
may be recoverable under RICO, Stochastic Decisions, Inc.
v. DiDomenico, 995 F.2d 1158 (2d Cir.1993), Mattel wasn't
attempting to collect on a debt when it successfully petitioned
for the appointment of a forensic auditor. Moreover, the
district court's order appointing a forensic auditor, see Docket
4657, never cited the Omni transaction as a relevant factor.
Furthermore, the alleged wrongful conduct (Omni's purchase)
was different from the conduct causing the injury to Mattel

(the Court's appointment of the forensic auditor). 19  Finally, it
is tautological for Mattel to argue that the discovery of Omni's
illegality spurred the appointment of an auditor charged with
“uncover[ing] MGA's and Omni's wrongful conduct.”

19 Both Bankers Trust Co. v. Rhoades, 859 F.2d
1096 (2d Cir.1988) and Miller v. Glen & Helen
Aircraft, Inc., 777 F.2d 496 (9th Cir.1985) are of
questionable relevance in light of Anza and Hemi
Group. See Miller, 777 F.2d at 499 (requiring only
that damages “flow[ ] from the commission of the
predicate acts”).

2. Trade Secret Theft
There are a few temporally vague allegations of conduct
that may have been committed by co-conspirators after
August 12, 2008. See, e.g., FAAC ¶¶ 67 (Brawer targeting
employees to steal trade secrets); 66 (Brawer worked with
retailers from time at Mattel); 77, 79–81, 85 (similar for
Jorge Castilla, Nick Contreras, and other Mattel employees).
Even if Mattel alleged this conduct continued after August
12, 2008, the allegations, supported by nothing more than
Mattel's “information and belief,” would be implausible. All
of these former Mattel employees left Mattel well before
Omni's formation. Even if trade secrets were stolen, Mattel
doesn't identify any with particularity (except as discussed
below) and doesn't identify any concrete financial harm
suffered as a result of the use of the trade secrets. Compare
FAAC ¶ 53 (alleging Machado's theft of trade secrets eroded
Mattel's relationships with retailers). Mattel has had six years
of discovery into these claims and expansive discovery over
the last several months under this Court's watchful eye. If
all it has are temporally ambiguous allegations based on
“information and belief” about the recruitment of Mattel
employees who may or may not have stolen trade secrets that
may or may not have caused Mattel injury, the Court sees no
basis on which to allow a futile amendment.

*16  Moxie. Mattel alleges that MGA made a habit of stealing
product ideas from Mattel. “Moxie” is a line of dolls marketed
by MGA after the post-Phase 1 injunctive relief assigned the
Bratz line to Mattel. MGA funded “Moxie” with resources
earmarked for Bratz. Id. ¶ 92. The name “Moxie” “was and
is confidential and trade secret Mattel information that was
unlawfully shared with MGA by a Mattel doll designer.” Id. ¶
93. Subsequent use of an already disclosed trade secret does
not execute a scheme to defraud the trade secret's owner of
its right to the confidentiality of the trade secret, see section
I(C)(1), supra, and Mattel alleges that Bryant disclosed the
Moxie name to MGA in 2000. FAAC ¶ 93. Thus, Omni cannot
be liable for MGA's post August 12, 2008 use of the Moxie
name.
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3. Perjury/Obstruction of Justice.
As a general matter, the perjury and obstruction of justice
allegations are temporally vague and could include conduct
after August 12, 2008. However, the only specific instances
of obstruction that post-date August 12, 2008 relate to the
Omni transaction, which did not cause direct injury to Mattel's
business or property. The remaining conduct occurred before
Omni joined the conspiracy. See FAAC ¶¶ 95–96.

Mattel seeks leave to amend its claim against Omni after years
of discovery into the acts of Omni's co-conspirators. Even if
this pleading had been filed before discovery, leave to amend
would still be denied because amendment would be futile.
Mattel contends that it can obtain further discovery into the
Omni transaction and the potential encumbrance of MGA's
intellectual property. Docket 7868 at 20 & n. 16 (discovery
into “Arsalan Gozini [ ] assign[ing] his interest in Omni to
Larian's IGWT entity,” or “the promissory note and [other]
‘legal documents' “ that evidence the Omni transaction).
However, the predicate acts allegedly committed by Omni
and its co-conspirators after August 12, 2008 could not have
resulted in injury to Mattel. Thus, leave to amend should
be denied because “the allegation of other facts consistent
with the challenged pleading could not possibly cure the
deficiency.” Schreiber Distrib. Co. v. ServWell Furniture Co.,
806 F.2d 1393, 1401 (9th Cir.1986).

The second counterclaim is DISMISSED WITHOUT LEAVE
TO AMEND as to Omni.

III. Misappropriation of Trade Secrets
The FAAC's third counterclaim alleges that MGA, MGA
Mexico, Larian, and Machado misappropriated Mattel's trade
secrets in violation of the California Uniform Trade Secrets
Act (CUTSA), Cal. Civ.Code § 3426, et seq. MGA Mexico
moves to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. In
addition, all counter-defendants move to dismiss on forum
non conveniens grounds.

A. Personal Jurisdiction 20

20 Machado joins in the Motion, but the motion does
not argue that personal jurisdiction is improper as
to Machado; it argues that personal jurisdiction is
improper as to MGA Mexico. Even if Machado
intends to challenge personal jurisdiction as to
himself, Mattel has made a prima facie showing

that: (1) Machado availed himself of California
to reach agreements with Larian; (2) Machado
directed his activities to California by agreeing with
Trueba and Vargas to steal trade secrets from El
Segundo; (3) Machado's forum related acts give
rise to the third counterclaim; and (4) the exercise
of jurisdiction is reasonable.

“It is the plaintiff's burden to establish the court's personal
jurisdiction over a defendant.” Doe v. Unocal Corp., 248
F.3d 915, 922 (9th Cir.2001). In ruling on a Rule 12(b)(2)
motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, the court
may consider evidence outside the pleadings. Id. Absent an
evidentiary hearing, the court must deny the motion if plaintiff
makes a prima facie showing of jurisdiction—“[t]hat is, the
plaintiff need only demonstrate facts that if true would support
jurisdiction over the defendant.” Ballard v. Savage, 65 F.3d
1495, 1498 (9th Cir.1995).

*17  The court has personal jurisdiction over a foreign
defendant who has “certain minimum contacts with the
forum such that the maintenance of the suit does not offend
traditional conceptions of fair play and substantial justice.”
Int'l Shoe Co. v. State of Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316,
66 S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95 (1945). A defendant's contacts
with the forum may give rise to either general or specific
personal jurisdiction. Substantial, continuous, and systematic
contacts give rise to general jurisdiction, by which “the
foreign defendant is subject to suit even on matters unrelated
to his or her contacts to the forum.” Doe, 248 F.3d at
923. Specific jurisdiction, by contrast, is triggered by less
substantial contacts with the forum that “give rise to the
cause of action before the court.” Id.; see also Hanson v.
Denckla, 357 U.S. 235, 250–253, 78 S.Ct. 1228, 2 L.Ed.2d
1283 (1958).

The Ninth Circuit had laid out a three-part test for specific
personal jurisdiction:

(1) The non-resident purposefully direct his activities or
consummate some transaction with the forum or resident
thereof; or perform some act by which he purposefully
avails himself of the privilege of conducting activites in the
forum, thereby invoking the benefits and protections of its
laws;

(2) the claim must be one which arises out of or relates to
the defendant's forum-related activities; and

(3) the exercise of jurisdiction must comport with fair play
and substantial justice, i.e., it must be reasonable.
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Schwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor Co., 374 F.3d 797, 802
(9th Cir.2004).

Availment and direction are distinct concepts. Id. at
802. Purposeful availment is commonly evidenced by the
consummation or performance of a contract in the forum state.
Id. MGA Mexico is not on trial for walking into Mattel's
offices and stealing trade secrets, but for inducing Mattel
Mexico's employees to rob their employer and its parent
corporation of trade secret information. This inducement
occurred in the United States and, specifically, in the state
of California. See FAAC ¶¶ 44 (e-mails sent between
Larian in California and Machado, Trueba, and Vargas in
Mexico); Velásquez Decl., Ex. G (arranging conference
call with California resident to consummate employment
contracts). The inducement to disclose Mattel trade secrets
and confidential information also occurred in California. Id.
¶ 42 (Machado, Vargas, and Trueba traveled to Los Angeles,
shared Mattel trade secrets with Larian, and thereafter used
those very trade secrets to set up MGA Mexico).

The members argue that Mattel has “wholly failed to come
forward with any admissible evidence” that “Larian or
other [MGA Mexico officers] directed Machado, Vargas,
and Trueba to take [Mattel trade secrets].” Reply at 9. But
this is an issue ill-fit for resolution on the pleadings, if at
all before trial. See Data Disc, Inc. v. Sys. Tech. Assocs.,
Inc., 557 F.2d 1280, 1285 n. 2 (9th Cir.1977) (“Where the
jurisdictional facts are intertwined with the merits ... it is
preferable that this determination be made at trial”). Larian
lavished Machado, Vargas, and Trueba with praise and charm,
even though all three individuals were mere senior managers
for Mattel Mexico at the time of their departure. See Exs. 27–
30 to FAAC. Larian continued to recruit Machado even after
Machado shared a presentation full of Mattel trade secrets
with Larian. Ex. 20 to Kieckhefer Decl. at 2114. Machado
claimed, using an e-mail address named “plot04,” that Mattel
Mexico was collapsing after the employees' departure and
promised to share his plans for MGA Mexico with Larian
in the days ahead. Id. And Machado admitted that the other
departing employees knew he was stealing Mattel Mexico's
trade secrets—i.e., this may have been coordinated. Ex. 20
to Kieckhefer Decl. at 2042. Finally although the Mexican
tribunal concluded that MGA and Larian had not used the
misappropriated trade secrets, Ex. 95 to Kieckhefer Decl., that
is irrelevant to the issue of inducement.

*18  On the other hand, MGA Mexico has advanced
evidence that Machado, Vargas, and Trueba were specifically

instructed by Larian not to steal trade secrets from Mattel
Mexico. See Ex. 20 to Kieckhefer Decl. at 2118; Ex. 13
to Kieckhefer Decl. at 1449–1450. Indeed, both Machado
and Trueba have testified that Larian instructed them not to
misappropriate trade secrets on the way out the door. See

Ex. 20 to Kieckhefer Decl. at 2117. 21  These conflicting
circumstantial and testimonial facts are not fit for resolution
at this stage.

21 Mattel's evidentiary objections are OVERRULED
as to the Kieckhefer Declaration and otherwise
STRICKEN AS MOOT.

Mattel also makes a prima facie showing that the alleged
misappropriation of trade secrets was purposefully directed
to California in action and in effect. Purposeful direction is
established by the Supreme Court's three-part test in Calder v.
Jones, 465 U.S. 783, 104 S.Ct. 1482, 79 L.Ed.2d 804 (1984),
under which the “defendant [must] have (1) committed an
intentional act, (2) expressly aimed at the forum state, (3)
causing harm that the defendant knows is likely to be suffered
in the forum state.” Dole Food Co., Inc. v. Watts, 303 F.3d
1104, 1111 (9th Cir.2002). Prior to her departure, Trueba,
allegedly acting at the direction of Larian, solicited trade
secrets from a Mattel employee in El Segundo, California.
FAAC ¶ 48. Furthermore, there are allegations to suggest that
MGA Mexico's inducement to misappropriate trade secrets
was directed at Mattel; in addition to Mattel Mexico. See, e.g.,
FAAC ¶ ¶ Nordquist Decl. ¶ 3 (trade secrets for Hot Wheels
brand). In sum, the allegations support the notion that MGA
Mexico directed the theft of Mattel trade secrets being held
in California.

The alleged inducement of Mattel Mexico's employees to
steal trade secrets, as well as the targeting of trade secrets held
by Mattel in California satisfy the second prong: the claim
arises out of the forum related activities. This is uncontested
by the members.

Finally, the exercise of personal jurisdiction over MGA
Mexico is reasonable under the Supreme Court's seven-factor
test in Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 105
S.Ct. 2174, 85 L.Ed.2d 528 (1985). First, Mattel has made a
prima facie showing on the basis of the FAAC's allegations,
its exhibits, and evidence obtained during discovery that
MGA Mexico has injected itself into the affairs of California
by: (a) directing the theft of Mattel trade secrets; (b)
consummating transactions and employment agreements in
California; and (c) conducting its business operations through
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Larian in California. FAAC ¶¶ 44–48; 52; Ex. S to FAAC at
31–33. Second, MGA Mexico's claimed burden of defending
in the forum is purely evidentiary: it is concerned that its
30(b)(6) witness testimony will be used as a “one way
ratchet,” since damaging hearsay statements made by former
MGA Mexico employees interviewed by MGA Mexico's
30(b)(6) designee will be admissible as admissions against
interest, but beneficial statements made by those individuals
will not. See Docket 7953 at 12. There are a variety of
solutions to this, see, e.g., Fed.R.Evid. 807, that don't require
the Court to avoid exercising personal jurisdiction. Third,
contrary to MGA Mexico, there's no conflict between the
exercise of personal jurisdiction and Mexico's sovereignty.
The acts of inducement and the harm to Mattel's property
are not directly at issue in any Mexican proceeding, nor
could they be, since Mexico has little interest in the theft
of trade secrets belonging to a California resident. Fourth,
even if California has no interest in regulating Mexican
companies which do business in Mexico, it still has an
interest in redressing in-state harm caused to its residents
by out-of-state individuals and entities. See Rudzewicz, 471
U.S. at 473. Fifth, whether or not Mexican law applies
to this dispute, the most efficient forum for resolution is
this one: Mattel already has numerous pending trade secret
misappropriation claims against MGA and Larian, whose
conduct is obviously relevant to Mattel's claims against MGA
Mexico. The sixth factor is of diminished importance, see
Core–Vent Corp. v. Nobel Indus. AB, 11 F.3d 1482, 1490 (9th
Cir.1993), and doesn't compel the exercise or non-exercise of
personal jurisdiction. While the seventh factor (availability
of an alternate forum) weighs against the reasonableness of
personal jurisdiction, it is outweighed by the first five factors.

*19  In sum, Mattel has made a prima facie showing that
personal jurisdiction over MGA Mexico is proper.

B. Forum Non Conveniens
MGA, MGA Mexico, and Larian move to dismiss the trade
secret misappropriation claims arising out of the theft of
trade secrets in Mexico and Canada on forum non conveniens
grounds.

The common-law doctrine of forum non conveniens “has
continuing application [in federal courts] only in cases where
the alternative forum is abroad.” American Dredging Co. v.
Miller, 510 U.S. 443, 449 n. 2, 114 S.Ct. 981, 127 L.Ed.2d 285
(1994). A court may dismiss a case on forum non conveniens
grounds when an alternative forum has jurisdiction to hear
the case and (1) the convenience to the plaintiff[s] of trial in

the chosen forum is outweighed by the oppressiveness and
vexation to the defendant; or (2) the court's administrative and
legal concerns weigh in favor of dismissal. Sinochem Intern.
Co. Ltd. v. Malaysia Intern. Shipping Corp., 549 U.S. 422,
429, 127 S.Ct. 1184, 167 L.Ed.2d 15 (2007) (citing American
Dredging, 510 U.S. at 447–448).

The untimeliness of the motion is fatal. The fact that a party
has been subject to ongoing litigation is itself evidence that
the forum was “if not convenient[,] at least workable” for
the foreign defendant. Zelinski v. Columbia 300, Inc., 335
F.3d 633, 643 (7th Cir.2003). Moreover, the purpose of the
doctrine is to limit the burden of the forum, not multiply
the burden of having to re-start litigation in a foreign forum,
divide claims, and conduct discovery anew. See Lony v. E.I.
DuPont de Nemours & Co., 935 F.2d 604, 613 (3d Cir.1991)
(noting that continuing discovery, court's familiarity with
litigation, and progress of litigation supported denial of forum
non conveniens motion since there was no longer a concern
about “costs that must be expended in the litigation and the
convenience of the parties”).

This six year litigation has spanned multiple pleadings,
extensive discovery, and motion practice. The Court has
developed a deep familiarity with the issues, having decided
hundreds of discovery disputes related to the trade secret
misappropriation claims. There is simply no grounds on
which to dismiss these claims now on the eve of dispositive
motions and trial, especially in light of the principle that
“[m]otions to dismiss based on forum non conveniens usually
should be decided at an early stage in the litigation, so that
the parties will not waste resources on discovery and trial
preparation in a forum that will later decline to exercise its
jurisdiction over the case.” Id. at 614.

Finally, MGA, MGA Mexico, and Larian attempt to bootstrap
a number of arguments previously made in favor of summary
judgment into their reply, including choice of law issues.
While choice of law can be relevant to a forum non conveniens
analysis, it is not relevant here, since the untimeliness of the
motion is the basis for its denial. The law that applies to one
or more of the claims in this lawsuit will be determined at the
appropriate time.

IV. Intentional Interference with Contract; Breach
of Fiduciary Duty; Aiding and Abetting Breach of
Fiduciary Duty; Breach of Duty of Loyalty; Aiding
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and Abetting Breach of Duty of Loyalty; Conversion;

Unfair Competition 22

22 The filing of a new pleading defeats Mattel's
argument as to waiver.

*20  MGA, MGA Mexico, MGA HK, Larian and Machado
move to dismiss the FAAC's sixth (intentional interference
with contract), seventh (breach of fiduciary duty), eighth
(aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty), ninth (breach
of duty of loyalty), tenth (aiding and abetting breach of
duty of loyalty), eleventh (conversion), and twelfth (unfair
competition) claims on preemption grounds.

California's Uniform Trade Secrets Act (CUTSA) provides
for the civil recovery of “actual loss” or other injury caused
by the misappropriation of trade secrets. Cal. Civ.Code §
3426.3. Misappropriation means improper acquisition, or
non-consensual disclosure or use of another's trade secret.
Id. § 3426.1(b). The statute defines a “trade secret” as
information that derives “independent economic value” from
its confidentiality and “[i]s the subject of efforts that are
reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy.”
Id. § 3426.1(d).

CUTSA includes a savings clause that “preempt[s] claims
based on the same nucleus of facts as trade secret
misappropriation.” K.C. Multimedia, Inc. v. Bank of America
Tech. & Operations, Inc., 171 Cal.App.4th 939, 962, 90
Cal.Rptr.3d 247 (2009); see also Cal. Civ.Code § 3426.7.
The savings clause does not affect “contractual remedies”
and civil remedies “that are not based upon misappropriation
of a trade secret.” Silvaco Data Sys. v. Intel Corp., 184
Cal.App.4th 210, 233, 109 Cal.Rptr.3d 27 (2010). “The
preemption inquiry for those causes of action not specifically
exempted by § 3426.7(b) focuses on whether other claims
are not more than a restatement of the same operative
facts supporting trade secret misappropriation.... If there is
no material distinction between the wrongdoing alleged in
a[C]UTSA claim and that alleged in a different claim, the
[C]UTSA claim preempts the other claim.” Convolve, Inc.
v. Compaq Comp. Corp., No. 00 CV 5141(GBD), 2006 WL
839022, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Mar.31, 2006) (applying California
law).

The counterclaims are based on the following factual
allegations: (1) Larian/MGA's inducement of Mattel
employees to steal proprietary information and work
for MGA's benefit (sixth counterclaim), see FAAC ¶¶
159–162; (2) Mattel employees assisting a competitor

and misappropriating proprietary information from Mattel
(seventh counterclaim), see id. ¶¶ 166–172; (3) Larian/
MGA inducing Mattel employees to work for a
competitor and misappropriate proprietary information
(eighth counterclaim), see id. ¶¶ 174–176; (4) Bryant
and Machado working for a competitor and using Mattel
resources for MGA's benefit (ninth counterclaim), see id.
¶¶ 179–185; (5) MGA/Larian inducing Mattel employees
to work for a competitor and use Mattel resources for
MGA's benefit (tenth counterclaim), see id. ¶¶ 187–188; (6)
MGA/Larian, subsidiaries, and Machado converting Bryant's
creations, Mattel trade secrets, and Bratz inventory (eleventh
counterclaim), id. ¶¶ 192–200; and (7) MGA/Larian,
subsidiaries, and Bryant engaging in unfair and unlawful
competition, including trade secret misappropriation and
commercial bribery (twelfth counterclaim), see id. ¶¶ 201–
204.

*21  Three of the factual predicates are not at all related
to the misappropriation of trade secrets and therefore seek
“civil remedies that are not based upon misappropriation
of a trade secret.” Cal. Civ.Code § 3426.7. First, the sixth
through twelfth counterclaims encompass allegations that
Mattel employees worked for the benefit of MGA while still

employed by Mattel. 23  Second, the sixth through twelfth
counterclaims encompass allegations that Mattel employees,
and Bryant and Machado in particular, used Mattel's physical

materials for MGA's benefit. 24  Third, the sixth through
twelfth counterclaims encompass allegations that MGA
converted the Bratz intellectual property, which is not alleged
to be a trade secret.

23 Contrary to MGA, this allegation is not limited to
the theft of trade secrets.

24 MGA tilts at windmills when it defends
“moonlighting” as a legitimate practice. Mattel
doesn't allege moonlighting. It alleges that MGA
and Larian induced Bryant to work on the Bratz line
of dolls while he was still employed by Mattel; see
FAAC ¶ 161; see also id. ¶ 174 (same); to enter
into an employment contract with MGA, see id. ¶
168; and to devalue Mattel's interests, id. ¶ 180; id.
¶ 187–88 (same).

The parties dispute whether CUTSA supercedes the
counterclaims to the extent they arise out of the theft of so-
called “confidential” or “proprietary” information that does
not enjoy “trade secret” status. MGA objects to Mattel's end-
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run around CUTSA's damages limitations as a perversion
of CUTSA's statutory purpose. Sister courts across this
state and the country have rejected MGA's argument. See
Phoenix Tech. Ltd. v. DeviceVM, No. C 09–04697 CW,
2009 WL 4723400, at *5 (N.D.Cal. Dec.8, 2009); Leatt
Corp. v. Innovative Safety Tech., LLC, No. 09–CV–1301–
IEG (POR), 2010 WL 2803947, at *6 n. 5 (S.D.Cal. July
15, 2010) (distinguishing Silvaco ); TMX Funding, Inc. v.
Impero Technologies, Inc., No. C 10–202 JF (PVT), 2010 WL
2509979, at *7 (N.D.Cal. June 17, 2010); Roger Dubois N.
Am., Inc. v. Thomas, CA No. 05–2566, 2006 WL 2645149
(M.D.Pa. Sept. 14, 2006).

However, Silvaco repudiated these federal district court
opinions: We emphatically reject the ... suggestion that the
uniform act was not intended to preempt ‘common law
conversion claims based on the taking of information that,
though not a trade secret, was nonetheless of value to the
claimant.’ On the contrary, a prime purpose of the law
was to sweep away the adopting states' bewildering web
of rules and rationales and replace it with a uniform set
of principles for determining when one is—and is not—
liable for acquiring, disclosing, or using ‘information ... of
value.’ Central to the effort was the act's definition of a
trade secret. Information that does not fit this definition,
and is not otherwise made property by some provision of
positive law, belongs to no one, and cannot be converted
or stolen. [P]ermitting the conversion claim to proceed on
a contrary rationale ... impliedly create[s] a new category
of intellectual property far beyond the contemplation of
the Act, subsuming its definition of ‘trade secret’ and
effectively obliterating the uniform system it seeks to
generate.

184 Cal.App.4th at 239 n. 22, 109 Cal.Rptr.3d 27 (emphasis
in original).

Some courts have split the baby by electing to dismiss claims
under CUTSA's savings clause only after determining that
the protected information was a trade secret. See, e.g., Think
Village–Kiwi, LLC v. Adobe Sys., Inc., No. 08–4166, 2009
WL 902337, at *2 (N.D.Cal. Apr.1, 2009); Ali v. Fasteners
for Retail, Inc., 544 F.Supp.2d 1064, 1070 (C.D.Cal.2008);
First Advantage Background Servs. Corp. v. Private Eyes,
Inc., 569 F.Supp.2d 929, 942 (N.D.Cal.2008); Callaway Golf
Co. v. Dunlop Slazenger Group Americas, Inc., 295 F.Supp.2d
430, 437 (D.Del.2003). But this approach puts parties in
the uncomfortable position of conceding CUTSA liability in
order to prevail on another claim.

*22  The better approach may be to determine whether the
information alleged to have converted was “made property
by some provision of positive law,” Silvaco, 184 Cal.App.4th
at 239 n. 22, 109 Cal.Rptr.3d 27, on grounds that are
qualitatively different from the grounds upon which trade
secrets are considered property. Resolving this question
requires analysis of the facts: namely, what the confidential
or proprietary information is, how it was converted, and
the property interest alleged to have harmed as a result of
that conversion. All of these questions can be addressed at
summary judgment and/or trial.

The claim for intentional interference with contract is
superceded by CUTSA to the extent it arises out of
Mattel employees' misappropriation of trade secrets. See
Bushnell Corp. v. ITT Corp. ., 973 F.Supp. 1276, 1288–89

(D.Kan.1997). 25

25 Mattel's authority, Core Wealth Mgmt., LLC
v. Heller, No. 1157647, 2010 WL 1453068
(Cal.Ct.App. Apr. 13, 2010), isn't citable and, in
any event, failed to recognize that a claim for
intentional interference with contract is grounded
in tort, not contract. See Korea Supply Co. v.
Lockheed Martin Corp., 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1157, 131
Cal.Rptr.2d 29, 63 P.3d 937 (2003).

Finally, MGA's arguments as to conversion are unavailing.
Intangible property can be converted. Kremen v. Cohen,
337 F.3d 1024, 1036 (9th Cir.2003); Boon Rawd Trading
Intern. Co., Ltd. v. Paleewong Trading Co., 688 F.Supp.2d
940, 954 (N.D.Cal.2010) (acknowledging the “clear trend
that intangible property can be the subject of conversion”)
(emphasis in original). While MGA attempts to re-
characterize “Moxie” as “business goodwill and import
rights,” the protection (if any) enjoyed by “Moxie” is not fit
for resolution at this stage.

V. California Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act
The thirteenth and fourteenth counterclaims allege that
MGA, Larian, Omni, and IGWT violated Cal. Civ.Code
§§ 3439.04(a)(1), (a)(2), and 3439.05(a) by: (1) “pa[ying]
more than $320 million in dividends and distributions to
Larian and/or trusts controlled by Larian” between 2004 and
2008, and (2) purporting to transfer a security interest in the
Bratz intellectual property to Omni, which was controlled by
Larian and his associates. FAAC ¶ 207. Mattel alleges the
transactions were made with the intent to defraud MGA's
creditors (including Mattel) and conceal MGA's intellectual
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property in light of the “significant likelihood” that Mattel
would prevail in this lawsuit. The transfers were not made for
reasonably equivalent value and were made at a time when
MGA was insolvent or “rendered insolvent” by the transfers.
Mattel seeks compensatory, injunctive, and punitive relief.

The exercise of supplemental jurisdiction over these claims
would be imprudent. Though the claims may be “related
to” the RICO claims over which this Court has original
jurisdiction, “exceptional circumstances” militate against the
exercise of jurisdiction. See 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(4). The
claims raise complex issues under bankruptcy law, the
resolution of which has little to do with the other claims in
this lawsuit; in other words, exercising jurisdiction threatens
the proper judicial administration of this case. See City of
Chicago v. Int'l Coll. of Surgeons, 522 U.S. 156, 174 118
S.Ct. 523 (1997) (quoting Quackenbush v. Allstate Ins. Co.,
517 U.S. 706, 716, 116 S.Ct. 1712, 135 L.Ed.2d 1 (1996)).
Nor would the interests of “economy, convenience, fairness,
and comity” be served by the exercise of jurisdiction over
these claims, which are concerned with Mattel's ability to
collect on a hypothetical judgment against MGA. See San
Pedro Hotel Co., Inc. v. City of Los Angeles, 159 F.3d 470, 478
(9th Cir.1998) (quoting Executive Software North America,
Inc. v. U.S. Dist. Court, 24 F.3d 1545, 1554 (9th Cir.1994)).
The diversion of judicial resources to these state law claims
would serve no purpose, especially since the viability of these
claims rests in large part on the success of Mattel's core claims
of copyright infringement, trade secret misappropriation, and
RICO.

*23  Even if supplemental jurisdiction were proper, Mattel
fails to state a claim under the UFTA. “A fraudulent
conveyance under the UFTA involves a transfer by the debtor
of property to third person undertaken with the intent to
prevent a creditor from reaching that interest to satisfy its
claim.” Filip v. Bucurenciu, 129 Cal.App.4th 825, 829, 28
Cal.Rptr.3d 884 (2005). For the purposes of this case, a
corporation can be a creditor. Cal. Civ.Code § 3439.01(c),
(g). A “claim” means “a right to payment, whether or not [ ]
reduced to judgment.” Id. at (b). “In order for a fraudulent
transfer to occur, among other things, there must be a transfer
of an asset as defined in the UFTA.” Fidelity Nat. Title Ins.
Co. v. Schroeder, 179 Cal.App.4th 834, 841, 101 Cal.Rptr.3d
854 (2009) (emphasis in original). A creditor who brings a
claim under the UFTA must allege affirmative injury beyond
“[m]ere intent to delay or defraud.” Mehrtash v. Mehrtash,
93 Cal.App.4th 75, 80, 112 Cal.Rptr.2d 802 (2001). Injury
results from a transfer that puts beyond a creditor's reach that

property that it “otherwise would be able to subject to the
payment of [its] debt.” Id.

Mattel alleges no injury. 26  In fact, it all but admits it
can't allege injury by conceding that it's only entitled to the
transferred assets “to the extent necessary to satisfy all of
Mattel's claims.” FAAC ¶ 210 (emphasis added); see also
id. ¶ 211, 112 Cal.Rptr.2d 802 (similar language as to scope
of attachment); id. ¶ 220, 112 Cal.Rptr.2d 802 (similar to
¶ 210); id. ¶ 221, 112 Cal.Rptr.2d 802 (similar to ¶ 211).
The “extent” of Mattel's entitlement is difficult to determine,
due to the FAAC's inability to clearly identify the scope
of Mattel's desired relief for the alleged injuries caused
by MGA's violations of RICO, as well as MGA's acts of
copyright infringement, trade secret misappropriation, and
other tortious conduct prohibited by state law.

26 Mattel's Opposition confuses Mattel's creditor
status with its showing of injury.

Nor do Mattel's allegations even suggest injury. If Mattel's
claims target the Bratz intellectual property, then MGA's
transfer of the Bratz intellectual property could potentially
give rise to a claim. But Mattel only alleges that MGA
“purported” to transfer an interest in the Bratz-related
intellectual property. See id. ¶ 207, 112 Cal.Rptr.2d 802(b).
To “purport” is to “have or present the appearance,
often false, of being or intending.” WEBSTER'S II
NEW RIVERSIDE UNIVERSITY DICTIONARY 956
(1994). However, the UFTA doesn't proscribe representing,
pretending, or intending to transfer assets; it prohibits
transfer. See Cal. Civ.Code § 3439.04(a); see also In re
Ponce Nicasio Broadcasting, LP, 2008 WL 361081, at *6
(Bankr.E.D.Cal. Feb.7, 2008) (“An essential element of any
cause of action brought under the California UFTA that
seeks the avoidance of other remedies related to an allegedly
fraudulent transfer is the existence of an actual transfer

made by the debtor to a third party.”). 27  Even if the Bratz
intellectual property would be subject to payment for Mattel's
claim against MGA, Mattel does not allege a transfer that put
the Bratz intellectual property beyond its reach.

27 Mattel argues that it has raised plausible facts to
suggest such a transfer was made. Not so. Mattel
only alleges a “purported” transfer. Even if Mattel
alleged a plausible transfer, the extent of Mattel's
entitlement to Bratz remains unresolved.
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*24  Mattel likewise fails to allege injury from the alleged
dividend transfers and interest payments to Omni. MGA is
a multi-national entity that made $320 million in dividend
transfers to its Chief Executive Officer and his trusts over a
more than five year period. FAAC ¶ 207(a). Much of the $320
million came from funds MGA borrowed from Wachovia;
funds over which Mattel never had priority. See id. ¶¶ 97–98.
Moreover, MGA's annual revenue may have approximated
“$500 million” during that time period. Id. ¶ 32. Finally,
Larian is a defendant to this case and his assets are not
beyond Mattel's reach anyway. Given this background, it isn't
surprising that Mattel fails to allege that the alleged dividend
transfers to Larian and/or his trusts involved property that
would be subject to the payment of Mattel's claim against
MGA. Mattel's failure to so allege is fatal and any such
allegation would be plainly implausible, given the size of the

alleged distributions relative to MGA's assets. 28

28 The alleged interest payments to Omni could not
have caused Mattel injury for the same reason.

The thirteenth and fourteenth counterclaims are DISMISSED
WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND.

VI. Prohibited Distributions
The fifteenth counterclaim is brought derivatively on behalf
of all MGA creditors. Mattel alleges that Larian violated
Cal. Corp.Code § 501 by transferring MGA's funds to
his own coffers. FAAC ¶ 226. Section 501 provides that
“[n]either a corporation nor any of its subsidiaries shall make
any distribution to the corporation's shareholders [ ] if the
corporation or the subsidiary making the distribution is, or
as a result thereof would be, likely to be unable to meet its
liabilities ... as they mature.” Cal. Corp.Code § 501.

Rule 23.1 governs derivative actions. 29  “The derivative
action may not be maintained if it appears that the plaintiff
does not fairly and adequately represent the interests
of shareholders or members who are similarly situated.”
Fed.R.Civ.P. 23.1(a). Courts must “engage in a fact intensive
analysis to determine whether a conflict of interest exists
under the circumstances of a particular case.” See ShoreGood
Water Co., Inc. v. U.S. Bottling Co., No. RDB 08–2470, 2009
WL 2461689, at *4 (D.Md. Aug.10, 2009). A court may
consider the following factors to determine the adequacy of a
representative in a derivative action:

29 The Court need not resolve whether Rule 23.1 bars
creditor derivative actions, since Mattel does not
satisfy Rule 23.1's prerequisites anyway.

(1) indications that the plaintiff is not the true party in
interest; (2) the plaintiff's unfamiliarity with the litigation
and unwillingness to learn about the suit; (3) the degree of
control exercised by the attorneys over the litigation; (4)
the degree of support received by the plaintiff from other
shareholders; (5) the lack of any personal commitment to
the action on the part of the representative plaintiff; (6)
the remedy sought by plaintiff in the derivative action; (7)
the relative magnitude of plaintiff's personal interests as
compared to his interest in the derivative action; and (8)
plaintiff's vindictiveness towards the defendants.
*25  Larson v. Dumke, 900 F.2d 1363, 1367 (9th Cir.1990).

Not all of the eight factors need to be analyzed here, since
the conflict between Mattel and MGA's other creditors is
deep and intractable. First, Mattel has a number of direct
claims against MGA in this lawsuit, which seek to recover
substantial sums of money from MGA as well as intellectual
property held by MGA. Second, Mattel admittedly stands
adverse to Omni—a significant MGA creditor whose interests
do not overlap with Mattel's. Third, Mattel likely stands
adverse to other potential MGA creditors, including vendors
and retailers, who maintain an interest in MGA's continued
vitality and MGA's continued control over the Bratz line of
dolls as well as other intellectual property. Fourth, Mattel's
personal interest, expressed through its direct claims against
MGA, dwarfs its interest in the derivative claim, as evidenced
by the disparity between the amount at issue in the direct
counterclaims and the amount at issue in this derivative
counterclaim. Indeed, an argument can be made (and Mattel
makes it) that the derivative claim is nothing more than a
mechanism to promote the direct claims. In sum, there is
simply no basis upon which the Court could conclude that
Mattel would “vigorously and conscientiously” prosecute this
suit on behalf of MGA's creditors and “be free from economic
interests that are antagonistic to the interests of the class.” Id.

The fifteenth counterclaim is DISMISSED WITHOUT
LEAVE TO AMEND.

VII. Breach of Constructive Trust
The sixteenth counterclaim alleges that Larian and MGA
failed to adequately preserve the intellectual property subject
to the constructive trust imposed after Phase 1. Even if a
claim for breach of constructive trust is cognizable, and even
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if Larian/MGA breached the constructive trust imposed after
Phase 1, Mattel suffered no injury. The order imposing the
constructive trust was invalid, because it was overbroad and
predicated upon verdicts that were reached after improper
instruction. See Mattel, Inc. v. MGA Entertainment, Inc., No.
09–55673, 2010 WL 2853761 (9th Cir. July 22, 2010). Mattel
never had a valid property right to the Bratz intellectual
property, and suffered no damage as a result of Larian/MGA's
alleged breach of the constructive trust imposed after Phase 1.

The sixteenth counterclaim is DISMISSED WITHOUT
LEAVE TO AMEND.

VIII. Declaratory Relief
Mattel alleges an actual controversy exists between itself and
counter-defendants about ownership interests in Bratz, rights
to the “Moxie Girlz” name or mark, and Mattel's status as
MGA's creditor. FAAC ¶¶ 238–243.

For declaratory relief, there must be “ ‘a substantial
controversy, between the parties having adverse legal
interests, of sufficient immediacy and reality to warrant
issuance of a declaratory judgment.’ “ Spokane Indian Tribe
v. United States, 972 F.2d 1090, 1092 (9th Cir.1992) (quoting
Maryland Casualty Co. v. Pacific Coal & Oil Co., 312 U.S.
270, 273, 61 S.Ct. 510, 85 L.Ed. 826 (1941)). Mattel and
Omni do not have adverse legal interests since (1) Omni's
alleged participation in a RICO conspiracy did not cause
Mattel injury; and (2) Omni purchased a senior secured
interest in a credit facility to which Mattel never had priority.
The seventeenth claim is DISMISSED WITHOUT LEAVE
TO AMEND as to Omni.

Disposition

*26  For the foregoing reasons, the Court ORDERS as
follows:

1. The counterclaims against Omni are DISMISSED
WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND.

2. The Motion to Dismiss RICO and Creditor Claims
(Docket 7896) is DENIED as to the first and second
counterclaims and GRANTED as to the thirteenth,
fourteenth, fifteenth, and sixteenth counterclaims.

3. Machado's Motion to Dismiss First Counterclaim
(Docket 7828) is DENIED.

4. The Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction
and on Ground of Forum Non Conveniens (Docket 7898)
is DENIED.

5. The Motion to Dismiss U.S. Based Trade Secret and
Employee–Based State Law Tort Claims (Docket 7897)
is GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART in the
manner specified by Section IV of this Order.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

All Citations

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2010 WL 3705668

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Synopsis
C.D.Cal.

AFFIRMED.

Procedural Posture(s): On Appeal.

Before TANG, KOZINSKI and TROTT, Circuit Judges.

MEMORANDUM *

*1  As part of a scam to defraud the Small Business
Administration (“SBA”), Young Kyun Shin signed a
promissory note for $100,000 to Lasung Investment and
Finance Co. (“Lasung”), in return for $100,000 loaned to
Shin by Lasung through Lasung's president, Jung S. Lee.
Shin subsequently transferred $100,000 not to Lasung, but
to two other companies owned by Lee. Lasung was put in
receivership by the SBA, and the receiver sued Shin on the
note. The district court entered judgment for the receiver. Shin

appeals. We have jurisdiction, 1  and we affirm.

Federal common law “governs questions arising under the
SBA....” Great Southwest Life Ins. Co. v. Frazier, 860 F.2d
896, 899 (9th Cir.1988). This circuit usually adopts the state
rule as the federal rule. Id. at 900. The parties tried the case
using California substantive law. We review de novo a district
court's determination of state law, State Farm Fire & Casualty
Co. v. Estate of Jenner, 874 F.2d 604, 606 (9th Cir.1989), and
federal common law, see United States v. Pastos, 781 F.2d
747, 749 (9th Cir.1986).

I

Shin claims the promissory note is void under California
law because “the sole objective of the promissory note[ ]
sued upon was an illegal scheme of Lasung” to defraud the

SBA. 2  Shin claims this issue was raised in the court below,
and cites to the Pre–Trial Order to support his claim. The
designated provision of the Pre–Trial Order relates to a tort
theory of liability, not to the legality of the underlying note;
Shin's other citations to the record are inapposite. The district
court's findings of fact and conclusions of law likewise do not
address illegality. The issue was not raised below, and we will
not consider it. See Winebrenner v. United States, 924 F.2d
851, 856 n. 7 (9th Cir.1991).

II

Shin claims the note was not a valid contract, and was not
breached. The elements of a breach of a promissory note
are the same as any breach of contract: execution (offer and
acceptance), receipt of the loan proceeds (consideration), and
failure to repay the payee (breach). See Swanson v. Skiff, 92
Cal.App.3d 805, 808–09 (1979). Shin concedes he received
from Lee a $100,000 cashier's check, and that he signed a
promissory note and other loan documentation to Lasung
for the same amount. This constitutes an execution of the
note, and consideration for the note. See Cal.Civ.Code §
1614 (West 1982) (written instrument creates presumption of

consideration). 3  Shin also concedes he did not repay any of
the note to Lasung, and that the outstanding balance on the
note was $88,857.52. This constitutes breach of the note. See
Cal.Evid.Code § 635 (West 1986) (creditor's possession of
notes creates presumption of nonpayment by debtor); Light v.
Stevens, 113 P. 659, 660–61 (Cal.1911) (in bank) (same). The
district court concluded there was execution, consideration,
and breach. We agree.
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Shin argues he repaid the note under Cal.Civ.Code § 1476
(West 1982) by transferring $100,000 to two of Lee's
companies. However, § 1476 relieves the debtor of his
obligation only “[i]f [the] creditor ... directs the debtor to” pay
the third party. Lasung was the creditor, and did not direct
Shin to pay Lee. Shin argues Lee was acting with Lasung's
authority, and Lee's representations bound Lasung. However,
an agent colluding with a third party does not have authority
to defraud the principal. Meyer v. Glenmoor Homes, Inc., 246
Cal.App.2d 242, 264 (1966). Accordingly, Lee's instructions
to Shin to pay $100,000 to Lee, and Shin's payment to Lee,
did not discharge Shin's debt to Lasung. See Cal.Civ.Code §
1488 (West 1982) (ordinarily, debtor must repay creditor, not
a third party).

III

*2  Shin argues he is not liable on the note because he
was an accommodator. He claims he was the accommodation
party, Lasung was the party accommodated, and, under
Cal.Com.Code § 3415 (West 1964), he cannot be liable to
Lasung. Section 3415(1) provides: “An accommodation party
is one who signs the instrument in any capacity for the
purpose of lending his name to another party to it.”

We will not apply the accommodation defense in these
circumstances. We decline Shin's invitation to follow First
Nat'l Bank of Reedley v. Reed, 244 P. 368 (Cal.1926), and
Lepori v. Hilson, 293 P. 86 (Cal.Ct.App.1930).  Reed is
distinguishable because it expressly relied on a trial-court
finding of no consideration for the disputed note, Reed, 244 P.
at 370; Lepori was decided by a state intermediate appellate
court. Both cases were decided more than sixty years ago,
prior to the U.C.C. In any event, whatever the status of Reed
and Lepori as a matter of California law, we will not adopt
their questionable rule as a matter of federal common law.
See Great Southwest, 860 F.2d at 899. Shin was a knowing
participant in a transaction designed to defraud the SBA.
The accommodation defense, designed to foster legitimate
commercial transactions, does not apply to him.

IV

The district court granted the SBA receiver one-third of her
total request for attorney's fees, $19,201.73, because she
prevailed only on claim stemming from the $100,000 note,

not on a claim related to another promissory note, and not
on her tort theories. Shin claims the award of attorney's
fees must be reversed because “plaintiff below simply
refused to segregate work done” between the successful and
unsuccessful claims.

“ ‘An experienced trial judge is the best judge of the value of
professional services in his court [and his judgment] will not
be disturbed unless ... it is clearly wrong.’ ” Diamond v. John
Martin Co., 753 F.2d 1465, 1467 (9th Cir.1985) (construing
California law) (citation omitted; alterations in Diamond ).
Here, although the SBA receiver did not allocate her fees, the
court did. There was no clear error.

AFFIRMED.

* This disposition is not appropriate for publication
and may not be cited to or by the courts of this
circuit except as provided by 9th Cir.R. 36–3.

1 Shin's notice of appeal was filed fifty-eight days
after judgment was entered. The SBA receiver
claims the notice of appeal was untimely pursuant
to Fed.R.App.P. 4(a)(1), which prescribes a thirty-
day time limit for appeals in disputes between
private parties, and a sixty-day time limit when the
United States or one of its agencies is a party.
The SBA receiver admits she represents an “agency
of the United States,” but claims the thirty-day
time limit should control because “the real party in
interest is Lasung....” This claim lacks merit: the
SBA took over Lasung, and sued Shin in order to
recover the money it gave to Lasung. Indeed, as the
SBA receiver properly admits, “Plaintiff, the SBA,
[is] the defrauded party....” We apply the sixty-day
time limit from Fed.R.App.P. 4(a)(1), and find the
notice of appeal was timely.
A related issue concerns Shin's admitted violation
of 9th Cir.R. 28–2.2, which requires briefs to state
the basis for jurisdiction in the district court and in
this court. The Circuit Advisory Committee Note
to Rule 28.2 states: “Sanctions may be imposed for
failure to comply with this rule, particularly with
respect to record references. See Mitchel v. General
Elec. Co., 689 F.2d 877 (9th Cir.1982).” The error
here did not concern record references, and was
corrected in the grey brief. Although Circuit rules
must be followed, we will not impose sanctions on
Shin in this case.
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2 Shin also attacks the district court's findings of fact
as clearly erroneous because they ignore the alleged
illegality of the promissory note. This is merely a
recasting of his argument on the illegality of the
note in general.

3 Shin argues there was no consideration for the note.
This argument is merely a recasting of his argument
on the illegality of the note.

All Citations

956 F.2d 274, 1992 WL 33930 (Table)
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United States District Court, S.D. California.

FORTIS ADVISORS LLC, et al., Plaintiffs,
v.

FISHAWACK MEDICAL
COMMUNICATIONS LTD., et al., Defendants.

Case No.: 20cv607-LAB-AGS
|

Signed 01/29/2021

Attorneys and Law Firms

Lily Becker, Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe, San Francisco,
CA, Brian Behmer, Behmer & Blackford LLP, San Diego,
CA, for Plaintiffs.

Tony Tootell, Alyssa Leigh Titche, Nicholas M. Gross, Foley
& Lardner, LLP, Los Angeles, CA, for Defendants.

ORDER:

1) GRANTING MOTION FOR
REMAND [Dkt. 12]; AND

2) DENYING MOTIONS TO DISMISS [Dkt. 5, 6]

Larry Alan Burns, United States District Judge

*1  California-citizen Plaintiffs Delisa Discar and Fortis
Advisors LLC filed a complaint in California state
court asserting California state law claims against four
defendants. Three—Fishawack Medical Communications
Ltd., Fishawack Creative Ltd., and Oliver Dennis—aren't
California citizens, but the fourth, Carling Communications,
Inc., is. With Carling in the case, the Court can't exercise
diversity jurisdiction. Nevertheless, Defendants removed the
action to this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1441, contending
that the Court should disregard Carling's citizenship because
Plaintiffs fraudulently joined Carling to destroy diversity.

The bar to establish fraudulent joinder is a high one: A
removing party must show, under settled state law, that there is
“no possibility that [the plaintiffs] could demonstrate a viable
claim” against the non-diverse defendant. Grancare, LLC v.

Thrower, 889 F.3d 543, 548-49 (9th Cir. 2018). Defendants
can't establish that a viable claim is impossible by arguing
that Plaintiffs’ allegations are vague, and they can't show that
a conclusion is obvious under settled state law by relying
on tenuous analogies, never adopted by California courts, to
inapplicable areas of law.

The Court can't assert diversity jurisdiction over a case that
includes a potentially viable claim against a non-diverse
defendant. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Remand, (Dkt. 12), is
GRANTED and Defendants’ motions to dismiss, (Dkt. 5
and 6), are DENIED WITHOUT PREJUDICE for lack of
jurisdiction.

BACKGROUND

The Court accepts the Complaint's factual allegations as true
for the purposes of determining the possibility of a viable
claim. Plaintiffs formerly controlled Carling, but agreed to
sell it to the Fishawack Defendants, with Discar remaining
as Carling's president after the sale. (Dkt. 1-3 ¶¶ 34-39.) As
part of the payment, the Fishawack Defendants agreed to
pay Plaintiffs an “Earn-out Payment” based on Carling's fee
revenue during a one-year period beginning on April 1, 2018
(the “Calculation Period”). (Id. ¶¶ 44-46.) Those Defendants
further agreed not to “take any actions in bad faith for the
purpose of avoiding or reducing the Earn-out Payment.” Id. ¶
46. Upon acquisition, Carling became a subsidiary of one of
the Fishawack entities. (Id. ¶ 17.)

In February 2018, shortly before the Calculation Period
began, Discar was placed on indefinite leave from her
position as Carling's president. (Id. ¶ 66.) She was terminated
in May 2018. (Id. ¶ 70.) During the Calculation Period,
Carling's activities were directed away from revenue-
generating activities and the company lost over half its
accounts. (Id. ¶¶ 50, 70-75.) The accompanying loss of over
35% of Carling's revenue substantially reduced the Earn-out
Payment to Plaintiffs. (Id. ¶¶ 75-76, 81-87.)

Plaintiffs allege that the Fishawack Defendants didn't intend,
at the time of contracting, to honor their agreement not to
“take any actions in bad faith for the purpose of avoiding or
reducing the Earn-out Payment.” (Id. ¶ 46.) On this basis,
they assert claims for fraud, conversion, and securities fraud
against the Fishawack entities and Dennis. Plaintiffs allege
that Carling conspired in and aided and abetted the other
Defendants’ torts through its adverse employment actions
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and its redirection of its efforts away from the revenue
generation that determined Plaintiffs’ compensation. (See id.
¶¶ 127-136.)

ANALYSIS

I. Legal Standard
*2  “When a plaintiff files in state court a civil action

over which the federal district courts would have original
jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship, the ...
defendants may remove the action to federal court.”
Caterpillar Inc. v. Lewis, 519 U.S. 61, 68 (1996); see 28
U.S.C. § 1441. Because the exercise of diversity jurisdiction
necessarily involves addressing matters that “intrinsically
belong[ ] to the state courts,” the party invoking federal
jurisdiction bears the burden of demonstrating that removal
was proper. Indianapolis v. Chase Nat'l Bank, 314 U.S. 63, 76
(1941); Gaus v. Miles, Inc., 980 F.2d 564, 566 (9th Cir. 1992).
The removal statutes are strictly construed, with doubts about
the propriety of removal resolved in favor of remand. Id.

Federal courts can't exercise diversity jurisdiction where “a
single plaintiff [is] from the same State as a single defendant.”
Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Allapattah Servs., Inc., 545 U.S.
546, 553 (2005). But a plaintiff can't destroy diversity by
fraudulently joining a “sham” defendant. McCabe v. Gen'l
Foods Corp., 811 F.2d 1336, 1339 (9th Cir. 1987). The burden
of overcoming both the “strong presumption against removal
jurisdiction” and the “general presumption against fraudulent
joinder” is a heavy one. Hunter v. Philip Morris USA, 582
F.3d 1039, 1046 (9th Cir. 2009).

The Court can find fraudulent joinder here only upon the
removing party's showing that there is “no possibility that the
plaintiff could demonstrate a viable claim” against the non-
diverse defendant. Grancare, 889 F.3d at 548-49 (9th Cir.

2018). 1  That impossibility must be “obvious according to the
settled rules of the state.” Id. at 549 (quoting McCabe, 811
F.2d at 1339 (9th Cir. 1987)). If the removing party's argument
relies on ambiguous or unsettled questions of law, the claim's
non-viability isn't obvious, so any such questions must be
resolved against the removing party. See id.; see also Macey
v. Allstate Property and Cas. Ins. Co., 220 F. Supp. 2d 1116,
1117-18 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 11, 2002) (citing Good v. Prudential,
5 F. Supp. 2d 804, 807 (N.D. Cal. 1998)).

1 A defendant may be fraudulently joined if the
jurisdictional facts alleged against it are false, too,
but Defendants don't contest Carling's California
citizenship.

Demonstrating “no possibility that the plaintiff could
demonstrate a viable claim” is a higher bar than showing
that the complaint fails to state a claim under Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12(b)(6). “Arguments [that] go to the sufficiency of the
complaint ... do not establish fraudulent joinder.” Grancare,
889 F.3d at 549, 552. Nor does the plaintiff need to respond
to such arguments by proposing specific amendments—the
burden remains on the removing party to demonstrate that
the plaintiff couldn't cure the deficiency by amendment. See
id. at 550 (“[T]he district court must consider ... whether a
deficiency in the complaint can possibly be cured by granting
the plaintiff leave to amend.”) (emphasis added), 552 (setting
aside arguments that plaintiff did not plead claims with
sufficient particularity because they “go to the sufficiency of
the complaint, rather than to the possible viability” of the
claims); see also Padilla v. AT&T Corp., 697 F.Supp.2d 1156
(C.D. Cal. 2009).

II. Application
Defendants, as the removing parties, bear the burden here.
They attack Carling's joinder on three bases:

1) The Complaint's factual allegations against Carling are
vague, failing to identify specific individuals and acts,
(see Dkt. 16 at 14-19);

2) The torts underlying the conspiracy and aiding and
abetting claims against Carling aren't viable, (see id. at
25-29); and

*3  3) Carling couldn't have conspired with or aided and
abetted the other Defendants, because:

a) Carling is a subsidiary of one of the Defendants that
allegedly committed the fraud; and

b) Carling was under Plaintiffs’ control at the time
Plaintiffs relied on the alleged misrepresentations.
(See id. at 19-24.)

Allegations that would fail to state a claim only because they
aren't sufficiently specific can be addressed by amendment,
so the first of these three arguments can't establish the
impossibility of a viable claim against Carling. See Grancare,
889 F.3d at 552; see also United States v. Corinthian Colleges,
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655 F.3d 984, 995 (2011) (amendment should be permitted
where pleading's vague allegations could support a claim if
made more specific).

Because Plaintiffs need only one potentially viable claim
against Carling, the Court analyzes the claim for conspiracy
to commit fraud. Neither of Defendants’ remaining two
arguments establish the non-viability of that claim, so Carling
is a properly joined defendant whose California citizenship
destroys diversity. The Court lacks jurisdiction, so it must
remand the case to state court.

A. The existence of a contract doesn't obviously
bar a claim for fraud under California law.

A claim for conspiracy to commit fraud requires, first,
an underlying fraud, and second, a conspiracy. Defendants
argue that a breach of duties memorialized in contract can't
constitute fraud. They acknowledge an exception, though:
Conduct that breaches the contract but “is also a [breach]
of a legal duty” can establish a fraud claim. Id. (quoting
Applied Equipment Corp. v. Litton Saudi Arabia Ltd., 7 Cal.
4th 503, 515 (1994)). Defendants haven't shown that the
exception doesn't apply here, so the contract doesn't obviously
bar Plaintiffs’ fraud claim against Carling.

California law requires a contracting party to refrain from
misrepresenting, at the time the contract is formed, its
intention to perform the duties imposed by that contract.
Cal. Civ. Code § 1572(4) (imposing statutory duty on
contracting parties to refrain from making “promise without
any intention of performing it”). This duty is statutory and
independent of the contract, so it can support a claim for
fraud despite the general rule that conduct that breaches a
contract can't constitute fraud. See, e.g., Lazar v. Sup. Ct., 12
Cal. 4th 631, 638-39 (1996) (intentional misrepresentations
can establish claim for fraud regardless of whether those
misrepresentations are part of contract).

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants breached this duty by
promising not to “take any actions in bad faith for the
purpose of avoiding or reducing the [revenue-based] Earn-
Out Payment” while intending to do just that. (See Dkt.
1-3 ¶¶ 82, 41-42, 47-70, 107.) Regardless of whether these
allegations suffice to meet the applicable pleading standard,
Plaintiffs allege that Defendants breached a legal duty
independent of the parties’ contract. Defendants fail to show

that a fraud claim based on such a breach is obviously barred
by California law.

B. Plaintiffs have a potentially viable claim that
Carling joined a conspiracy to commit fraud.

*4  Even if Plaintiffs’ fraud claims are viable, Defendants
argue, Carling can't be liable for conspiracy to commit
fraud. First, they contend that a subsidiary can't be liable
for conspiring with its parent. Second, they assert that
an entity that Plaintiffs controlled at the time of alleged
misrepresentations couldn't have joined a conspiracy to
engage in the fraud based on those misrepresentations. These
conclusions aren't obvious under settled California law.

a. California law doesn't obviously foreclose
liability for a parent-subsidiary conspiracy.

Defendants argue that Carling can't conspire with the
Fishawack entities as a matter of law, but they don't offer any
direct authority for this proposition. Instead, they resort to
analogy, first between the parent-subsidiary relationship and a
corporate principal's relationship with his agents, and second
between civil conspiracy and antitrust conspiracy. Neither
analogy is apt.

In California, as “agents and employees of a corporation
cannot conspire with their corporate principal or employer
where they act in their official capacities on behalf of
the corporation and not as individuals for their individual
advantage.” Black v. Bank of America, 30 Cal. App. 4th 1,
2 (1994). Courts’ refusal to permit the corporate principal's
relationship with its employees rests on two propositions.
First, conspiracy takes two: a person can't conspire with
himself. Id. at 6. And second, “a corporation is ... a legal
fiction that cannot act at all except through its employees and
agents.” Id. The corporation and its employee together make
one, then, not enough to form a conspiracy. Id.

Parents and their subsidiaries, on the other hand, are separate
entities absent an abuse of the corporate form. See Turman
v. Superior Court of Orange County, 17 Cal, App. 5th, 969,
981 (2017); see also United States v. Bestfoods, 524 U.S. 51,
61 (1998) (“It is a general principle of corporate law deeply
‘ingrained in our economic and legal systems’ that a parent
corporation ... is not liable for the acts of its subsidiaries”).
The rule that a conspiracy requires two conspirators can't
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establish that a presumptively separate parent and subsidiary
are incapable of conspiracy.

Defendants’ appeal to antitrust law, specifically Copperweld
Corp. v. Indep. Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 752 (1984), is similarly
misguided. Divorced from its context, the Copperweld
Court's statement that a parent company “and its wholly
owned subsidiary ... are incapable of conspiring with each
other” appears to support their position. Id. at 777. But the
Court in the same sentence limited that rule's application to
claims for antitrust conspiracy under § 1 of the Sherman
Act, a statute that forbids agreements “in restraint of trade.”
Id. (“[The defendant] and its wholly owned subsidiary ...
are incapable of conspiring with each other for purposes
of § 1 of the Sherman Act.”); see also id. at 771 (parents
and subsidiaries “must be viewed as ... a single enterprise
for purposes of § 1 of the Sherman Act”); 15 U.S.C. § 1.
No California court appears to have applied Copperweld
outside the antitrust context, and other courts have declined
the invitation to do so. See, e.g., Shared Communications
Svcs. of 1800-80 KFL Blvd., Inc. v. Bell Atlantic Props.
Inc., 692 A.2d 570, 572-74 (Pa. 1997) (declining to extend
Copperweld to cover civil conspiracy between parent and
subsidiary under Pennsylvania law); Borden, Inc. v. Spoor
Behrins Campbell & Young, Inc., 828 F. Supp. 216, 223-24
(S.D.N.Y. 1993) (Copperweld doesn't apply to non-antitrust
conspiracies under federal or New York law).

*5  Neither Copperweld nor agency law make it obvious as
a matter of settled California law that a subsidiary can't be
liable for conspiring in its parent's tort, so neither justifies
a conclusion that Plaintiffs fraudulently joined Carling via a
non-viable conspiracy claim.

b. California law may permit claims for conspiracy
against parties who joined a fraud after a plaintiff relied

on a misrepresentation but before it suffered harm.

Defendants next argue that Carling couldn't have conspired
in fraud because the alleged fraudulent misrepresentations
and Plaintiffs’ reliance on them occurred while Plaintiffs
themselves controlled Carling. The crux of the argument is
that a party can't join a completed fraud, and Carling couldn't
have joined a conspiracy against Plaintiffs while Plaintiffs
controlled Carling. But neither the fraud nor the conspiracy
was “complete with the sale of Carling” or at the time of the
misrepresentations, as Defendants would have it. (Dkt. 16 at
20.)

Conspiracy liability lies for “acts in furtherance of the
[conspirators’] common design.” Doctors’ Co. v. Superior
Court, 49 Cal.3d 39, 44 (1989). A conspiracy is complete,
and thus closed to new conspirators, “when [that] common
design ... is fully accomplished,” timing which “depends on
the facts and circumstances of each case, and on the nature and
purpose of the conspiracy.” de Vries v. Brumback, 53 Cal.2d
643, 647 (1960). Defendants’ alleged common design here
wasn't simply to induce the sale of Carling, but to secure an
artificially low price by reducing the Earn-out Payment. That
payment was based on Carling's revenues over the post-sale
Calculation Period, revenues that Carling allegedly reduced
in furtherance of the scheme. The common design wasn't
complete until the Earn-out Payment was reduced, and the
Earn-out Payment wasn't reduced until Carling acted.

Discar's position as Carling's president for a period post-
closing doesn't mean that Carling's actions were attributable
to her. Plaintiffs allege that Discar departed involuntarily
in February 2018, before the Calculation Period began and
before several Carling acts that allegedly reduced its revenue.
(See Dkt. 1-3 ¶¶ 66-73, 75.) Moreover, Plaintiffs allege that
Defendants undermined Discar's ability to steer Carling prior
to placing her on leave. (See id. ¶¶ 49-54.) Defendants don't
provide any basis in California law for attributing Carling's
acts to Discar under these circumstances.

Defendants fail to demonstrate either that Carling is incapable
of conspiring with its parent or that Carling's alleged
acts came after the conspiracy's common design was fully
accomplished. Plaintiffs’ claim against Carling for conspiracy
to commit promissory fraud isn't obviously foreclosed by
settled California law.

CONCLUSION

The Court can assert jurisdiction over this case only if
Defendants show that there is no possibility that Plaintiffs
could demonstrate a viable claim against the lone non-diverse
defendant, Carling. They haven't met this heavy burden, and
so jurisdiction is lacking. The Motion for Remand, (Dkt.
12), is GRANTED and the matter is REMANDED to the
Superior Court of the State of California, County of San
Diego.
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The pending motions to dismiss, (Dkt. 5 and 6), are DENIED
WITHOUT PREJUDICE for lack of jurisdiction. The Clerk
is directed to close the docket.

*6  IT IS SO ORDERED.

All Citations

Slip Copy, 2021 WL 308279

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

Case 2:19-ap-01382-SK    Doc 336-1    Filed 12/22/21    Entered 12/22/21 12:29:22    Desc
Exhibit Unpublished cases cited in reply    Page 29 of 92



In re Antovich Const., Inc., Not Reported in B.R. (2006)
2006 WL 3834302

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 1

KeyCite Yellow Flag - Negative Treatment
 Distinguished by Coach, Inc. v. Celco Customs Services Co., C.D.Cal.,

July 6, 2012

2006 WL 3834302
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States Bankruptcy Court,
N.D. California.

In re ANTOVICH CONSTRUCTION, INC., Debtor.
Suzanne L. Decker, Plaintiff,

v.
Dorothy Jane Antovich, Defendant.

Bankruptcy No.–98–60056–MM.
|

Adversary No. 00–5453.
|

Dec. 29, 2006.

Attorneys and Law Firms

Eric B. Simon, Dawe and Christopherson, Santa Rosa, CA,
Herbert W. Yanowitz, Law Offices of Herbert W. Yanowitz,
San Francisco, CA, for Plaintiff.

Marc L. Pinckney, Campeau, Goodsell and Diemer, San Jose,
CA, for Defendant.

MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER
FOLLOWING TRIAL OF PRELIMINARY ISSUES

MORGAN, Bankruptcy J.

INTRODUCTION

*1  Suzanne Decker, the trustee of the bankruptcy estate of
Antovich Construction, Inc., filed this adversary proceeding
to recover over $300,000 in allegedly fraudulent transfers
from ACI to defendant Dorothy Antovich. Dorothy asserts
that the transfers constituted payments on loans that she and
her deceased husband, Dan Antovich, made to ACI. The
matter is before the court following trial of two preliminary
issues. First, the trustee seeks a determination as to whether
ACI is the alter ego of another California corporation, M–K &
Company, Inc. Second, the trustee urges that ACI's books and
records for the fiscal year ending September 30, 1995 are not
admissible as evidence because they lack the trustworthiness

necessary to satisfy the business records exception to the
rule against hearsay. For the reasons explained, the court
finds that ACI is the alter ego of M–K. Additionally, the
trustee's hearsay objection to ACI's business records is
overruled. Proof that the records are untrustworthy may affect
evidentiary weight accorded to the records, but it does not
affect their admissibility.

BACKGROUND FACTS

Dan and Dorothy Antovich were husband and wife. Both Dan
and Dorothy had children from prior marriages, including
Radomir “Rocky” Antovich, who was one of Dan's sons,
and Marlena (neé Kehmeier) Djukich, who was Dorothy's
daughter.

In the mid 1980s, Dan formed two California corporations.
In 1984, he incorporated M–K & Company, Inc. All of
M–K's stock was held by members of Dan and Dorothy's
family, but no family member paid for the shares. Both
Rocky and Marlena received shares of M–K. Marlena, who
was nineteen years old at the time of M–K's incorporation,
was named as its president and vice-president. She did not
receive any compensation and was not involved in M–K's
operation. In October 1985, Dan also formed ACI, a company
that provided excavating contract services. Dan and Dorothy
were ACI's shareholders. From ACI's inception, Rocky was
closely involved in the company's operations. Over the years,
he served ACI in various capacities, including foreman,
superintendent, project manager and general manager. Rocky
was familiar with every detail of the business enterprise,
and Dan discussed business decisions with Rocky. Dan told
Rocky that he wanted Rocky to take over the business
someday.

Dan and Rocky operated ACI and M–K in a symbiotic
manner, each company dependent on the other. ACI was the
company that held all the assets. It entered into contracts
with customers, performed the excavating work and received
payment for the services rendered. However, ACI had no
employees of its own; it was completely dependent on M–
K for its manpower. M–K, by contrast, had no assets and
no direct contact with the customers. Nevertheless, M–K
hired and paid all the employees that ran the two companies,
including Rocky. M–K also entered into all the union labor
contracts for the workers that performed the excavation
services pursuant to ACI's contracts. Because M–K had no
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assets, it was wholly dependent on ACI to meet its payroll
demands.

*2  The two companies shared office space in a building
owned by “Dan Antovich Construction,” a fictitious business
name for Dan. ACI leased the space from Dan, paid the rent
and utilities, purchased all equipment and provided all office
supplies. Although each corporation maintained a separate
bank account, both accounts were held at the same branch
of the same bank. One person served as the controller for
both companies, using one computer to keep both companies'
records. When M–K's payroll became due, Dan or Rocky
would review and approve the time sheets submitted by
M–K's employees. They gave the approved hours to the
common controller who, in turn, prepared a “check run”
listing the wages due to each employee and amounts to be
withheld based on the hours submitted. After Dan or Rocky
approved the check run, the total amount of money needed
to cover M–K's payroll was transferred from ACI's bank
account to M–K's bank account, and the actual payroll checks
were written against M–K's account. When payments became
due for insurance premiums and other union benefits, they
were handled in a similar fashion via transfers from ACI's
account to M–K's bank account. However, because M–K was
a union shop, it could not provide benefits for its two non-
union employees. For those two M–K employees, ACI made
payments directly to the benefit provider.

According to Rocky's testimony, the way in which ACI and
M–K were set up was not unusual in the industry. It was his
understanding that the manner in which they were organized
would protect ACI from claims by workers and employees.
Additionally, Rocky believed that Dan did not want the
Antovich name to appear on union contracts. Dan chose
Marlena as the president of M–K with the hope that M–K
could qualify as a minority run business and gain advantages
in bidding on contracts.

By the late 1980s, ACI was losing money. Dorothy testified
that she and Dan made several loans to the company using
proceeds from refinancing their home. She believed that they
provided approximately $300,000 to ACI in the early 1990s.
For each loan, Dan wrote out the terms of the notes by hand,
and she typed it up. ACI's books for the fiscal year ending
September 30, 1995 reflect that the company owed Dan and
Dorothy a total of $516,600. This amount is repeated in the
1995 tax return prepared by ACI's accountants.

In October 1995, Dan Antovich passed away. After Dan's
death, Dorothy took over the business of ACI and M–K.
Rocky left the company and, in January 1996, filed a state
court action against ACI, M–K and Dorothy. The state court
suit seeks specific performance of Dan's promise to transfer
the business to Rocky and damages for unpaid wages due
from M–K.

Following Dan's death, Dorothy transferred funds totaling
$173,000 from her personal account to ACI. The parties
dispute whether or not these transfers constituted loans,
but they agree that the transfers were secured by security
agreements and UCC–1 financing statements. Beginning in
May 1996, Dorothy also withdrew funds from ACI's account
on several occasions allegedly to repay the various loans
she and Dan made to ACI. Dorothy received approximately
$305,000 from ACI. The trustee also asserts that Dorothy
indirectly received approximately $8,400 in excess rent that
ACI paid to Dan Antovich Construction following Dan's
death. Finally, ACI allegedly paid personal expenses of
Dorothy totaling $17,816.93. Based on these receipts, the
trustee seeks recovery of approximately $334,250 from
Dorothy as fraudulent conveyances.

*3  On May 13, 1996, M–K filed a petition for relief under
chapter 11 of the bankruptcy code. This chapter 7 proceeding
was filed on December 17, 1998.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. The Alter Ego Doctrine Applies to Pierce the Corporate
Veil between ACI and M–K.
When a plaintiff claims that an opposing party is unjustly
hiding behind the corporate form, a legal principle known as
the alter ego doctrine comes into play. This doctrine allows
a court, in cases of misuse, to disregard or pierce through
the corporate form to hold individual shareholders liable for
the actions of the corporation. In appropriate circumstances,
the doctrine also permits a court to treat two corporations as
one. State law controls the circumstances under which it is
appropriate to pierce a corporate veil. Enterprise Acquisition

Partners, Inc., 319 B.R. 626, 624 (9 th  Cir. B.A.P.2004).

Under California law, there is no bright line test to
establish when the alter ego doctrine applies. Whether
the corporate veil should be pierced will always depend
on the circumstances surrounding each particular case.
Nevertheless, there are two general requirements that must
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be met before the alter ego doctrine can be invoked.
First, there must be such unity of interest or ownership
that the separate personalities of the alter ego and the
corporation no longer exist. Second, it must be established
that adherence to the corporate fiction will sanction a fraud,
promote injustice or otherwise create an inequitable result.
Mesler v. Bragg Management Co., 39 Cal.3d 290, 300,
216 Cal.Rptr. 443, 702 P.2d 601 (1985); Wood v. Elling
Corp., 20 Cal.3d 353, 365 n. 9, 142 Cal.Rptr. 696, 572
P.2d 755 (1977). Where two corporations are involved, the
corporate form may be disregarded where one corporation
is the mere instrumentality, agency, conduit, or adjunct of
another corporation, as may occur in a parent-subsidiary
relationship. Ngoc Tran v. Farmers Group, Inc., 104 Cal.App.

4 th  1202, 1219 (1 st  Dist.2002). Alter ego liability can also
be found between two sister corporations when they are being
operated as a single enterprise. Id.; Las Palmas Associates v.
Las Palmas Center Associates, 235 Cal.App.3d 1220, 1249–
50, 1 Cal.Rptr.2d 301 (2d Dist.1991).

In analyzing the totality of the circumstances, there are a
number of factors that the courts consider to be important,
including: commingling of funds or assets; treatment by an
individual of corporate assets as his own; failure to obtain
authority to issues stock or to subscribe to or issue stock;
the failure to maintain corporate formalities; confusion of
records between separate entities; ownership of all stock
by one individual or the members of a family; use of the
same office or business location; use of same employees;
failure to adequately capitalize a corporation; the total
absence of corporate assets; use of a corporation as a mere
shell or conduit for another person or entity; use of a
corporation to procure labor, services or merchandise for
another person or entity, and the manipulation of assets or
liabilities between entities to concentrate the assets in one
and the liabilities in another. See Associated Vendors, Inc. v.
Oakland Meat Co., 210 Cal.App.2d 825, 838–40, 26 Cal.Rptr.

806 (1 st  Dist.1962)(collecting cases supporting these and
other factors). While this list is not exhaustive, it amply
demonstrates the wide variety of factors that a court may
consider in determining whether the alter ego doctrine should
be invoked. Applying these standards to the evidence before
the court, it is apparent that ACI is the alter ego of M–K and
vice versa.

A. ACI and M–K were operated as a single enterprise.
*4  The record before this court contains substantial evidence

that Dan and Rocky operated M–K and ACI in furtherance

of a single business venture—the provision of contract
excavating services. Both ACI and M–K were entirely
dependent on each other to conduct some significant aspect
of the business enterprise. ACI had no manpower to provide
its services without M–K, and M–K had no funds to pay its
employees without ACI.

In concluding that the unity of interest requirement is
satisfied, a number of other factors were also of significance
to the court. First, the evidence establishes that, even
though ACI and M–K were separate corporations, they
were commonly owned by the Antovich family and were
dominated by Dan in particular. Although Marlena held the
title of president of M–K, undisputed testimony established
that she was not involved in the company's operation.
Moreover, M–K was not just undercapitalized, it was totally
without assets. The Antovichs transferred funds to M–K
only on an as needed basis and only in amounts necessary
to cover M–K's immediate expenses. This manipulation of
assets is just the type of activity that leads to the imposition
of the alter ego doctrine. See Riddle v. Leuschner, 51 Cal.2d
574, 581, 335 P.2d 107 (1959); Talbot v. Fresno–Pacific

Corp., 181 Cal.App.2d 425, 427–28, 5 Cal.Rptr. 361 (4 th

Dist.1960). The manipulation of funds further indicates that
the Antovichs used M–K to procure labor for ACI in a
manner that would shield ACI from employee or worker
claims that might otherwise be made against it. Finally, the
two companies shared office space, with only ACI paying rent
and furnishing the office. They shared the same controller,
who used the same computer to maintain the records for
both companies. The shared bookkeeping creates a likelihood
of confusion between the corporate records of the two
companies.

B. Adherence to the fiction of ACI's and M–K's corporate
separateness would promote injustice or inequity.

The second requirement of the alter ego doctrine does not
demand proof of fraud or specific evidence of bad faith
intent. Mobile Medical Diagnostics, Inc. v. Shapiro, 2004 WL
363402, at *4–5 (Cal.App.2d Dist. Mar. 29, 2004). All that is
necessary is a showing that it would be unjust to persist in the
recognition of two separate corporations. Id. Nevertheless, the
alter ego doctrine does not protect every unsatisfied creditor
of a corporation. The mere inability to satisfy a debt is not,
by itself, enough to warrant piercing the corporate veil. But,
where a corporation's lack of assets is the result of an abuse of
the corporate form, a finding of injustice or inequity may be
appropriate. Associated Vendors, 210 Cal.App.2d at 842, 26
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Cal.Rptr. 806. As the Ninth Circuit has recognized, the kind of
inequitable conduct that makes alter ego liability appropriate
under California law includes “abuse of the corporate form,
such as under-capitalization, or the misrepresentation of the
corporate structure to creditors.” Orloff v. Allman, 819 F.2d

904, 909 (9 th  Cir.1987).

*5  Here, there is sufficient evidence before the court
to establish an abuse of the corporate form. In essence,
Dan Antovich set up one business enterprise, but split the
component elements of that enterprise between two corporate
entities. Each corporation's reliance on the other is strong
proof that they are in reality a single enterprise and should be
treated as such. The presence of all assets in one corporation
while the other provided the labor force further supports
a finding of abuse. This deliberate set up served to shield
the enterprise's assets from potential claims against either
company.

Dorothy's argument that the alter ego doctrine cannot apply
because Rocky has “unclean hands” is not persuasive. She
asserts that because Rocky was intimately involved in the
enterprise, he was aware of how the two companies were
organized. Therefore, with respect to any claim that Rocky
may have against M–K, his former employer, it is not unjust
to recognize ACI as a separate entity. Dorothy cites no case
law where this type of “unclean hands” defense has been
recognized. To the contrary, the court's own research revealed
at least one case where a wrongfully terminated employee was
able to hold several corporations liable as alter egos of the
corporation that employed him despite the employee's direct
participation in setting up the various corporations. Baize v.
Eastridge Companies, 142 Cal.App.4th 293, 47 Cal.Rptr.3d
763, 2006 WL 2457952, at *6 (Cal.App.2d Dist. Aug. 25,
2006). Significantly, the Ninth Circuit has recognized that
inequitable results can stem from either an abuse of the
corporate form or from the misrepresentation of the corporate
structure to creditors. While Rocky's knowledge of ACI's and
M–K's corporate structure might prevent a finding that the
corporate structure was misrepresented, it does not prevent a
finding that the corporate form was abused.

II. ACI's Books are Admissible in Evidence Pursuant to the
Business Records Exception to the Rule Against Hearsay.
The business records exception to the rule against hearsay
provides that certain records of regularly conducted activities,
like business records, can be admitted into evidence despite
their hearsay nature. F.R.E., Rule 803(6). This exception

recognizes that ordinary business records tend to be reliable
and allows for their use as evidence without going through the
cumbersome process of producing all the participants in the
process of gathering and recording the information contained
in the records. To be admissible, the records must be 1) made
at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a
person with knowledge, 2) made pursuant to a regular practice
of the business activity, 3) kept in the course of regularly
conducted business activity, and 4) the source, method, or
circumstances of preparation must not indicate a lack of

trustworthiness. In re Vee Vinhnee, 336 B.R. 437, 444 (9 th

Cir. B.A.P.2005).

At trial, counsel for Dorothy requested that ACI's corporate
records for the fiscal year ending September 30, 1995 be
admitted into evidence. These records reflect that as of
September 30, 1995, ACI owed its shareholders a total of
$516,600. By offer of proof it was established that ACI's
controller, prepared and maintained ACI's corporate records
in the ordinary course of ACI's business until her death in
August 1995. The trustee did not dispute that the records
satisfied the basic elements of the business records exception.
Rather, the trustee's sole objection to admitting the records
into evidence was that there was no proof that valid notes for
good consideration existed to support the amounts reflected
in the business records. As a result, the trustee argues that the
business records, alone, are too untrustworthy to establish the
existence a valid loan for consideration.

*6  The trustee's objection does not attack the trustworthiness
of the circumstances under which the business records
were prepared. As a result, the basic elements of the
business records exception have been satisfied. The objection,
however, questions whether the records accurately reflect
the amount of real and valid loans made to ACI. Generally,
attacks on the accuracy or completeness of a business record
go to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility.
Crompton–Richmond Co., Inc. v. Briggs, 560 F.2d 1195, 1202

n. 12 (5 th  Cir.1977). For this reason, the court overrules the
trustee's hearsay objection to the business records and admits
the records into evidence.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained, the court concludes that ACI is the
alter ego of M–K and may be held liable for claims against M–
K. Further, ACI's business records for the fiscal year ending
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September 30, 1995 are admitted into evidence pursuant to
the business records exception to the rule against hearsay.

This matter is further set for telephonic case management
conference to be held on March 6, 2007 at 10:30 a.m.
The parties are directed to file, jointly or separately, a case
management conference statement at least 7 days prior to
the telephonic case management conference. The statement
shall not exceed five (5) pages in length, and shall concisely

set forth what has occurred since the last case management
conference as well as the parties' proposals regarding the
future scheduling of pending motions and trial of this matter.

Good cause appearing, IT IS SO ORDERED.

All Citations

Not Reported in B.R., 2006 WL 3834302

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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MEMORANDUM *

* This disposition is not appropriate for publication.
Although it may be cited for whatever persuasive
value it may have, see Fed. R. App. P. 32.1, it has no
precedential value, see 9th Cir. BAP Rule 8024-1.

INTRODUCTION

*1  Chapter 13 1  debtor Kimberly Franklin (“Debtor”)
appeals the bankruptcy court's order granting the motion to
dismiss Debtor's third amended complaint under Civil Rule
12(b)(6), made applicable by Rule 7012(b), with prejudice.

Debtor filed the complaint against U.S. Bank, N.A., as
Trustee for LSF9 Master Participation Trust (“US Bank”)
seeking to disallow US Bank's proof of claim and obtain a
judgment prohibiting it from enforcing its interest in Debtor's
residence. She alleged that US Bank lacked standing to
assert a claim because the promissory note was improperly
endorsed. Debtor also alleged mortgage fraud under the
Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009 (“FERA”) and
intentional and negligent infliction of emotional harm.

1 Unless specified otherwise, all chapter and section
references are to the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C.
§§ 101–1532, all “Rule” references are to the
Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, all “Civil
Rule” references are to the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, and all “LBR” references are to the
Local Bankruptcy Rules for the Southern District
of California.

Debtor failed to timely respond to US Bank's motion to
dismiss, which is a sufficient basis for the court to grant the
motion. We also perceive no error in the bankruptcy court's
alternative ruling that the complaint failed to state a claim for
relief. Accordingly, we AFFIRM.

FACTS 2

2 We exercise our discretion to take judicial notice
of documents electronically filed in Debtor's
adversary proceeding and main bankruptcy case.
See Atwood v. Chase Manhattan Mortg. Co. (In
re Atwood), 293 B.R. 227, 233 n.9 (9th Cir. BAP
2003).

A. Prepetition Events
In June 2006, Debtor borrowed $690,000 from First Magnus
Financial Corporation (“First Magnus”) to refinance an
existing mortgage on her residence (“Property”). Debtor
executed a promissory note in favor of First Magnus and a
deed of trust in favor of Mortgage Electronic Registration
Systems Inc. (“MERS”), as nominee for First Magnus. First
Magnus recorded the deed of trust in July 2006. The note and
deed of trust provided that First Magnus could transfer its
interests without prior notice to Debtor.

In 2011, MERS assigned the deed of trust to BAC
Home Loans Servicing, L.P., fka Countrywide Home Loans
Servicing, L.P. In 2014, Bank of America, N.A., as successor
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by merger to BAC Home Loans Servicing, assigned the
deed of trust to Christina Trust, a division of Wilmington
Savings Fund Society, FSB. Christina Trust then assigned
the deed to trust to Wilmington Trust, N.A. in 2015, and
Wilmington Trust assigned it to U.S. Bank in 2016. Each of
the assignments were recorded.

Pursuant to an allonge to the promissory note, the note
was endorsed by First Magnus as payable to Residential
Funding Corporation (“RFC”), which endorsed it as payable
to Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. Countrywide Home Loans,
Inc. endorsed the note as payable to Countrywide Bank, FSB,
which in turn endorsed the note in blank.

In September 2016, US Bank recorded a notice of default
and election to sell under the deed of trust which indicated
that Debtor was in default by the amount of $416,959.03.
In January 2017, US Bank's servicer recorded a notice of
trustee's sale.

B. The Bankruptcy Case And Adversary Complaints
*2  Debtor filed her chapter 13 petition in January 2017.

US Bank filed an amended proof of claim asserting a
secured claim of $1,027,117.61 and a prepetition arrearage
of $437,301.83. It attached the note, the deed of trust and
assignments, and Debtor's payment history.

Debtor did not provide for payment of the US Bank claim
in her plan and instead stated that she anticipated filing an
adversary complaint to challenge the validity of the claim.
The plan provided that if Debtor was successful in the
adversary, US Bank would not have an allowed claim, and
if Debtor was unsuccessful, she would exclude the US Bank
claim from the plan. The bankruptcy court confirmed the plan
in September 2017.

In October 2017, Debtor filed an adversary complaint against
US Bank alleging that it lacked standing to assert a claim
based on various deficiencies in the endorsements and
assignments of the note and deed of trust. US Bank filed a
motion to dismiss the complaint, which the bankruptcy court
granted with leave to amend.

Debtor filed a first amended complaint in March 2018 and
again alleged that US Bank had no interest in either the
promissory note or the deed of trust. She alleged that First
Magnus went out of business prior to June 2011 and therefore,
MERS lacked authority to assign the deed of trust. Debtor also
alleged that RFC could not endorse the note because it was

out of business prior to the date of the promissory note. She
sought declaratory relief and additionally asserted a claim for
presentation of false claims under 18 U.S.C. § 152.

US Bank filed a motion to dismiss the first amended
complaint and a request for judicial notice of documents
recorded in the San Diego Recorders Office and with the
California Secretary of State. US Bank asserted that it had
standing to enforce the note under state law and because
Debtor was not a party to the various assignments of the deed
of trust, she lacked standing to challenge those assignments
prior to foreclosure. Debtor opposed the motion to dismiss
and objected to the request for judicial notice. US Bank filed
a reply.

The bankruptcy court issued a tentative ruling which
indicated that problems remained with the first amended
complaint. The court noted that Debtor had retained new
counsel and had acknowledged that the first amended
complaint needed further amendment. The court requested
further briefing from Debtor addressing Bryer v. U.S. Bank
National Ass'n, No. 15-cv-00378-PSG, 2015 WL 9304054
(N.D. Cal. Dec. 22, 2015), a case cited by US Bank in its reply,
and provided guidance that it would take judicial notice only
that proffered documents were recorded, given that Debtor
disputed the legal effect of those documents. The bankruptcy
court continued the hearing on the motion to dismiss and
ordered that if Debtor did not file either a responsive brief
or an amended complaint by June 26, 2018, the motion to
dismiss would be granted.

On June 27, 2018, Debtor filed a supplemental brief in support
of her opposition to the motion to dismiss and attached a
proposed second amended complaint. Debtor argued that she
had standing to challenge the assignments of the deed of
trust under Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp., 62 Cal.
4th 919 (2016). US Bank responded that Debtor did not file
the supplemental brief within the deadline set by the court,
and she failed to address Bryer, which the court specifically
ordered.

*3  The bankruptcy court issued a tentative decision
expressing its intent to grant the motion to dismiss but to allow
Debtor “one more opportunity to file an amended complaint”
consistent with the court's ruling. The tentative decision noted
that Debtor appeared to continue to defend the first amended
complaint but also appeared to argue that the court should rely
on the proposed second amended complaint. The bankruptcy
court also stated that under the reasoning of Bryer, MERS
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had authority to assign the deed of trust, and to the extent that
Debtor's claims relied on an argument that the assignments
were void, those claims would be dismissed with prejudice.

At the hearing, the bankruptcy court granted the motion
to dismiss but deferred ruling on Debtor's eighth cause
of action for presentation of false claims under 18 U.S.C.
§ 152 to permit the court to consider whether that claim
should be dismissed with prejudice. On August 14, 2018,
the bankruptcy court entered an order dismissing Debtor's
cause of action for presentation of false claims with prejudice
because Debtor failed to provide any authority or argument
supporting her private right of action under 18 U.S.C. § 152.
The court dismissed the remaining claims without prejudice
but ordered any new complaint to be filed within three weeks
of the court's order and be titled “Third Amended Complaint.”

On August 31, 2018, Debtor filed a third amended complaint
(“TAC”). She again alleged that US Bank lacked standing
to enforce the note, but she no longer alleged that the
assignments of the deed of trust were void. Debtor asserted
that First Magnus and RFC were out of business at the time of
their purported endorsements and further argued that the note
was non-negotiable. She also included a cause of action for

false presentation of claims under 18 U.S.C. § 152. 3

3 The first TAC asserted four causes of action: (1)
lack of standing to enforce the note pursuant to
§ 502; (2) declaratory relief that US Bank has no
interest in the Property; (3) presentation of false
claims under 18 U.S.C. § 152; and (4) actual fraud.

On September 6, 2018, Debtor filed a different third amended
complaint which omitted the cause of action for presentation
of false claims. The new complaint asserted four causes of
action: (1) lack of standing to enforce the note pursuant to
§ 502; (2) declaratory relief that US Bank has no interest in
the Property; (3) “manufactured claims/financial institutional
mortgage fraud for profit” under the Fraud Enforcement and
Recovery Act of 2009 (“FERA”); and (4) “intentional and/or
negligent infliction of emotional harm.” The third and fourth
causes of action were new.

C. The Motion To Dismiss And The Court's Ruling
On September 14, 2018, US Bank filed a motion to dismiss
the TAC. It also filed a motion to strike the third and fourth
causes of action because Debtor amended her complaint
without a stipulation from US Bank or a court order granting
leave to amend. US Bank again filed a request for judicial

notice of the promissory note, the deed of trust, and various
recorded assignments and documents. It served Debtor with a
notice of hearing and motion on local Form CSD 3015, which
stated that “any opposition or other response to this motion”
must be filed and served “not later than fourteen (14) days
from the date of service.” Debtor filed her oppositions to the
motion to dismiss and the motion to strike on October 29,
2018.

At the November 6, 2019 hearing, the bankruptcy court stated
that it would not consider Debtor's oppositions to the motions
because they were filed over 30 days late and the delay was
not due to Debtor's excusable neglect. However, the court said
that it would hear Debtor's substantive arguments and decide
the issues on both bases.

*4  Debtor acknowledged that US Bank was in possession
of the promissory note but argued that it was not enforceable
because the note was non-negotiable, and the endorsements
were invalid. The bankruptcy court reasoned that if the note
was negotiable, US Bank could enforce it because it had
possession and the note was endorsed in blank. And, if the
note was non-negotiable, it could still be transferred under
Division 9 of the California Commercial Code.

The court held that Debtor did not dispute the assignments of
the deed of trust, which under California law, were sufficient
to justify US Bank's right to foreclose. It also stated that
Debtor could not allege any damages because she lived in the
Property for approximately ten years without paying the debt
and she could not plausibly assert a risk of double recovery
because under California law, a nonjudicial foreclosure would
eliminate any deficiency.

The bankruptcy court determined that Debtor amended the
TAC without leave to bring additional causes of action and
therefore the third and fourth causes of action would be struck.
The bankruptcy court also dismissed the third cause of action
because Debtor not only failed to allege what provisions of
FERA US Bank allegedly violated, but also failed to provide
any authority for the proposition that she had a private right of
action to assert a violation of a criminal statute. And the court
dismissed the fourth cause of action for the reasons stated in
the tentative decision on the motion to strike.

The bankruptcy court dismissed the TAC with prejudice
because despite having several attempts to amend the
complaint, Debtor continued to base her claims on allegations
that the note was not validly endorsed, without addressing the
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possibility that it could be transferred under Cal. Com. Code
§ 9110(a)(3). The court entered a judgment dismissing the
adversary proceeding on January 23, 2018.

On February 1, 2019, Debtor filed a motion for
reconsideration and argued that the court erred by treating the
motion to dismiss as unopposed. She asserted that the court
converted the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary
judgment without fairly apprising her that it would consider
the evidentiary effect of the promissory note.

The bankruptcy court denied the motion for reconsideration.
It held that Debtor's late filed opposition justified dismissal
because it was not late due to excusable neglect, but
furthermore, even considering Debtor's opposition, dismissal
was appropriate. Finally, the bankruptcy court stated that
it did not convert the motion to dismiss into a motion for
summary judgment and did not consider matters outside of
the pleadings. The documents offered in support of the motion
to dismiss were the types of materials which the court could
consider because they were referred to in the TAC and were
attached as exhibits to the original complaint. Debtor timely
appealed.

JURISDICTION

The bankruptcy court had jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§
1334 and 157(b)(2)(O). We have jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C.
§ 158.

ISSUE

Did the bankruptcy court err by dismissing Debtor's third
amended complaint with prejudice?

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

We review de novo the bankruptcy court's grant of a Civil
Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. Movsesian v. Victoria
Versicherung AG, 670 F.3d 1067, 1071 (9th Cir. 2012). Under
de novo review, we look at the matter anew, giving no
deference to the bankruptcy court's determinations. Francis
v. Wallace (In re Francis), 505 B.R. 914, 917 (9th Cir. BAP
2014).

*5  We review the bankruptcy court's decision to dismiss
a complaint with prejudice for abuse of discretion. Tracht
Gut, LLC v. L.A. Cnty. Treasurer & Tax Collector (In re
Tracht Gut, LLC), 836 F.3d 1146, 1150 (9th Cir. 2016). A
bankruptcy court abuses its discretion if it applies an incorrect
legal standard or its factual findings are illogical, implausible,
or without support in the record. TrafficSchool.com v. Edriver,
Inc., 653 F.3d 820, 832 (9th Cir. 2011).

DISCUSSION

Debtor argues that Civil Rule 12(d) required the bankruptcy
court to treat the motion to dismiss as a motion for summary
judgment under Civil Rule 56(a), made applicable by Rule
7056. As a result, she argues that the court was required
to give her reasonable time to respond and therefore, her
opposition was timely, and the court erred by dismissing
the complaint as unopposed. Debtor further argues that the
bankruptcy court made multiple errors of law in applying the
standards for a Civil Rule 12(b)(6) motion. We disagree.

A. The Bankruptcy Court Properly Considered The
Motion To Dismiss Under Civil Rule 12(b)(6).
Civil Rule 12(b)(6) provides for dismissal if the plaintiff fails
“to state a claim upon which relief can be granted[.]” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). In reviewing a motion to dismiss, the
court generally may not consider any materials beyond the
pleadings. Lee v. City of Los Angeles, 250 F.3d 668, 688
(9th Cir. 2001), overruled on other grounds by Gailbraith
v. County of Santa Clara, 307 F.3d 1119, 1125-26 (9th Cir.
2002). Pursuant to Civil Rule 12(d), a court must treat a
motion to dismiss under Civil Rule 12(b)(6) as one for
summary judgment under Civil Rule 56(a) if “matters outside
the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the court.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d).

The court may consider material submitted as part of the
complaint and matters that are properly the subject of judicial
notice without treating the motion as one for summary
judgment. Tellabs, Inc., v. Makor Issues & Rts., Ltd., 551 U.S.
308, 322 (2007); Khoja v. Orexigen Therapeutics, Inc., 899
F.3d 988, 998-1000 (9th Cir. 2018). However, “a court cannot
take judicial notice of disputed facts contained in such public
records.” Khoja, 899 F.3d at 999.

Here, the bankruptcy court properly treated the motion as
a motion to dismiss. The court took judicial notice of the
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undisputed chain of assignments of the deed of trust and
did not consider the legal effect of the First Magnus and
RFC endorsements which were disputed by Debtor. The
bankruptcy court applied the correct standard under Civil
Rule 12(b)(6) and was not required to treat the motion to
dismiss as a motion for summary judgment.

Because the motion was one under Civil Rule 12(b)(6) and
not a motion for summary judgment, Debtor's opposition
was untimely. Under LBR 9013-7 the bankruptcy court could
consider Debtor's failure to oppose the motion as consent to

granting it. 4  The court had discretion to vacate the pending
hearing and enter an order granting the motion under LBR
9013-7, but it was not required to do so.

4 LBR 9013-7(b)(2) provides:
Failure to File Opposition. The Court may treat
a failure to timely file opposition to a motion
or application by any party in interest, including
the U.S. Trustee and the chapter 13 trustee, as
the non-objecting party's consent to the granting
of the motion and waiver of oral argument. The
Court, as a result, may vacate any then pending
hearing and promptly enter an order granting the
requested relief.

*6  We perceive no error in the court's decision to conduct the
hearing and consider Debtor's arguments despite her failure
to timely oppose the motion. Debtor has not shown any error
by the court in dismissing the complaint based on Debtor's
failure to timely oppose the motion to dismiss and we would
affirm on that basis alone. But we find no error in the court's
alternative basis for dismissal as well.

B. The Bankruptcy Court Did Not Err By Dismissing
The Complaint With Prejudice.
To avoid dismissal under Civil Rule 12(b)(6), a plaintiff must
allege “sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a
claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’ ” Ashcroft v. Iqbal,
556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly,
550 U.S. 544, 555-56 (2007)). Dismissal is appropriate if
the complaint lacks a cognizable legal theory, or it if lacks
sufficient factual allegations under a cognizable legal theory.
Johnson v. Riverside Healthcare Sys., LP, 534 F.3d 1116, 1121
(9th Cir. 2008). Debtor's TAC lacks a cognizable legal theory.

The primary contention in the TAC is that US Bank lacks
standing to enforce the note or deed of trust because the
endorsements by First Magnus and RFC are invalid.

As we explained in Veal v. American Home Mortgage
Servicing, Inc. (In re Veal), 450 B.R. 897, 902 (9th Cir. BAP
2011), a “person entitled to enforce the note,” as defined in
U.C.C. § 3-301, has standing to file a proof of claim in a
bankruptcy case. California's version of this U.C.C. provision
is Cal. Com. Code. § 3301, which provides that “the holder
of the instrument” is a person entitled to enforce it. A party
in possession of a note endorsed in blank is a “holder of
the instrument.” Cal. Com. Code §§ 1201(b)(21); 3205(b);
Zulueta v. Bronitsky (In re Zulueta), No. NC-10-1459-HPaJu,
2011 WL 4485621, at *6 (9th Cir. BAP Aug. 23, 2011),
aff'd, 520 F. App'x. 558 (9th Cir. 2013) (“A party in physical
possession of an endorsed-in-blank note qualifies as a holder
of a note under [California law].”). “A person may be entitled
to enforce the instrument even though the person is not the
owner of the instrument or is in wrongful possession of the
instrument.” Cal. Com. Code § 3301.

Debtor does not dispute that she borrowed the funds, executed
the promissory note, or defaulted under the terms of the
note and deed of trust. She also does not dispute that US
Bank is in possession of the note, endorsed in blank. US
Bank is therefore a “person entitled to enforce the note”
under California law, and Debtor is obliged to pay US Bank
according to the terms of the note. Cal. Com. Code § 3412.

Debtor alleges that the endorsements by First Magnus and
RFC are invalid and therefore one of those parties retains
the beneficial interest in the note. If true, these allegations
may support a claim to the note or its proceeds by First
Magnus or RFC under Cal. Com. Code § 3306. But they
do not support a claim for relief by Debtor because such
claims cannot be asserted by the obligor of the note. Cal.
Com. Code § 3305(c) (“the obligor may not assert against
the person entitled to enforce the instrument, a defense, claim
in recoupment, or claim to the instrument (Section 3306) of

another person ...”). 5

5 Cal. Com. Code § 3305(c) permits an obligor to
assert another person's claim to the instrument
only if the other person is joined in the action
and personally asserts the claim against the person
entitled to enforce the note. In such circumstances,
an obligor may be relieved of its obligation to pay
the holder if it is not a holder in due course and
the obligor proves that the instrument was lost or
stolen. Debtor did not join First Magnus or RFC,
and those parties have not asserted claims against
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US Bank. Debtor also has not alleged the note was
lost or stolen.

*7  Although Debtor made an alternative argument that the
note was non-negotiable, she made no allegation that it was
not properly transferred by means other than endorsement,
despite having multiple attempts to amend the complaint.
See Cal. Com. Code §§ 3203; § 9109(a)(3) (authorizing
transfers of the right to enforce a note and providing that
Article 9 governs sales of promissory notes); see also Cal.
Civ. Code § 1459 (“A non-negotiable written contract for the
payment of money or personal property may be transferred by
indorsement, in like manner with negotiable instruments.”).
Debtor's allegations are insufficient to state a claim for relief,
and the bankruptcy court did not err by dismissing the first
cause of action with prejudice.

Debtor's second claim for declaratory relief that US Bank has
no interest in the property also fails as a matter of law. Debtor
focused on the alleged invalid endorsements but did not
dispute the validity of the recorded deed of trust assignments.
Not only did Debtor fail to state a claim that US Bank lacks
standing to enforce the note, under California law, a party
holding the beneficial interest in a deed of trust can initiate
nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings even without possessing
or holding a beneficial interest in the note. Debrunner v.
Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co., 204 Cal. App. 4th 433, 441
(2012).

Debtor asserts that the bankruptcy court erred by dismissing
the third and fourth causes of action, but she provides no
argument that the court erred by striking those causes of
action. Accordingly, she has waived the issue. Smith v.
Marsh, 194 F.3d 1045, 1052 (9th Cir. 1999) (“[O]n appeal,
arguments not raised by a party in its opening brief are deemed

waived.”). 6  Moreover, we perceive no error in the court's
decision to grant the motion to strike.

6 Similarly, Debtor makes no argument that the
dismissal should not have been with prejudice or
that the court erred by denying the motion for
reconsideration and has thus waived these issues as
well. See Smith, 194 F.3d at 1052.

Because the court properly struck the third and fourth causes
of action from the TAC, we need not consider whether
dismissal was also appropriate. However, Debtor has not
demonstrated any error by the court in dismissing the
third and fourth causes of action because US Bank has an

enforceable interest in the deed of trust. 7

7 Debtor also fails to explain how she has a private
right of action under FERA and instead argues that
the FERA claim is essentially one for common
law fraud. But Debtor cannot state a claim for
relief for fraud or emotional harm because as the
bankruptcy court concluded, US Bank has a right to
foreclose, California law limits deficiency actions,
and the default was caused by her failure to make
payments under the note, not by any deficiency in
the endorsements.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, we AFFIRM the bankruptcy court's
order granting the motion to dismiss with prejudice.

All Citations

Slip Copy, 2021 WL 2593841
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United States Bankruptcy Court, C.D. California,

Los Angeles Division.

In re GGW BRANDS, LLC, GGW
Marketing, LLC, Debtor(s).

Argyle Online, LLC, Plaintiff(s),
v.

R. Todd Neilson, Defendant(s).

Bankruptcy No. 2:13–bk–15130–SK.
|

Adversay No. 2:13–ap–01552–SK.
|

Nov. 15, 2013.

Attorneys and Law Firms

Michael D. Kolodzi, Woodland Hills, CA, Ronald Tym, The
Tym Firm, Santa Fe, NM, for Plaintiff.

Matthew Heyn, Robert J. Pfister, Jonathan M. Weiss, Klee,
Tuchin, Bogdanoff & Stern LLP, Los Angeles, CA, for
Defendant.

COURT'S TENTATIVE RULING ON “MOTION
TO DIRECT ACT TO BE DONE ON BEHALF

OF DISOBEDIENT PARTY” (DOCKET
# 160) WHICH WAS ADOPTED AS THE

COURT'S FINAL RULING AT THE HEARING

SANDRA R. KLEIN, Bankruptcy Judge.

*1  On 10/23/13, GGW Marketing, LLC and R. Todd
Neilson, chapter 11 trustee of the estates of GGW Brands,
LLC, GGW Direct, LLC, GGW Events, LLC, and GGW
Magazine, LLC filed a “Motion to Direct Act to be Done on
Behalf of Disobedient Party” (Motion). Docket # 160. The
Motion was set for hearing on 11/14/13 (11/14/13 Hearing).
The day before the 11/14/13 hearing, the Court issued a
tentative ruling that was emailed to Argyle Online, LLC, Path
Media Holdings, LLC, Argyle Media Sales, LLC, Joseph
R. Francis, and Fab Films, LLC (collectively Argyle), the
Chapter 11 Trustee, and the United States Trustee (11/14/13
Tentative). During the 11/14/13 Hearing, counsel for Argyle
and the Trustee appeared and submitted on the 11/14/13
Tentative. The Court then adopted the 11/14/13 Tentative

as its final ruling on the Motion. A copy of the 11/14/13
Tentative is attached hereto.

11/14/13
Before the Court is a “Motion to Direct Act to be Done on
Behalf of Disobedient Party (Fed. R. Bankr.P. 7070)” filed
by GGW Marketing, LLC and R. Todd Neilson, chapter 11
Trustee of GGW Brands, LLC, GGW Direct, LLC, GGW
Events, LLC, and GGW Magazine, LLC (collectively the

Original GGW Debtors) (7070 Motion). AP Docket # 160. 1

In support of the 7070 Motion, the Trustee submitted a
Declaration of Matthew C. Heyn (Heyn 10/24/13 Decl.). Id.

1 “BK Docket” refers to documents in the bankruptcy
case, In re GGW Brands, LLC, 13–15130–SK and
“AP Docket” refers to documents in the adversary
proceeding, Argyle Online, LLC v. Neilson, 13–ap–
1552–SK.

On 10/24/13, the Court entered an “Order Setting Hearing on
Motion to Direct Act to be Done on Behalf of Disobedient
Party,” which set the 7070 Motion for hearing on 11/14/13 at
8:30 a.m. and set the following deadlines: oppositions to be
filed by 10/31/13 at noon; and replies to be filed by 11/7/13
at noon (10/24/13 Order). AP Docket # 162.

On 10/31/13, Argyle Online, LLC (Argyle Online), Path
Media Holdings, LLC (Path Media), Joseph R. Francis
(Francis), Argyle Media Sales, LLC (Argyle Media), and
Fab Films, LLC's (collectively Argyle/Path Media or

Defendants) 2  filed an untimely “Opposition to Motion to
Direct Act to be Done on Behalf of Disobedient Party” (7070
Opposition). AP Docket # 168.

2 The Trustee seeks an order “[a]uthorizing and
directing the Trustee to execute the Assignment
of Trademarks [attached as Exhibit 2] on behalf
of Path Media Holdings, LLC (“Path”), Joseph
R. Francis, Argyle Media Sales, LLC, Argyle
Online, LLC, [and] Fab Films, LLC (collectively,
the “Defendants”)....” 7070 Motion at 1. The
remainder of the 7070 Motion is predicated on
Path Media, LLC's noncompliance with the Final
Judgment. The Court notes that Path Media is
sometimes referred to as Path Media Holdings,
LLC, and at other times it is referred to as Path
Media, LLC. See 5/16/13 Declaration of Matthew
C. Heyn, BK Docket # 149 (Heyn 5/16/13 Decl.)
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¶ 6, Ex. S; 5/20/13 Declaration of Brendt Butler,
BK Docket # 151 (Butler 5/20/13 Decl.) ¶ 3, Ex. 1.
For the purposes of the 7070 Motion, the Court will
refer to all the parties against whom relief is sought,
referred to by the Trustee as the Defendants, as
Argyle/Path Media.

I. Background

A. Bankruptcy Cases
On 2/27/13, the Original GGW Debtors filed bankruptcy.

BK Docket # 1. 3  On 4/12/13, the Court appointed R. Todd
Neilson as the chapter 11 trustee (Trustee) in the Original
GGW Debtors' bankruptcy cases. BK Docket # 82.

3 The Original GGW Debtors filed separate
bankruptcy petitions: 1) In re GGW Brands, LLC,
13–bk15130–SK; 2) In re GGW Direct, LLC, 13–
bk–15132–SK; 3) In re GGW Events, LLC, 13–bk–
15134–SK; and 4) In re GGW Magazine, LLC, 13–
bk–15137–SK.

1. Revocation Motion and Revocation Order
On 5/9/13, the Trustee filed a “Motion for Authority to
Revoke Cancellation and to File Voluntarily Chapter 11
Petition for Debtors' Subsidiary,” in which the Trustee sought
authority to revoke the cancellation of GGW Marketing, LLC,
to file a chapter 11 petition on behalf GGW Marketing, LLC,
and to file an adversary proceeding to avoid the transfer of
certain Girls Gone Wild trademarks from GGW Marketing,
LLC to Path Media (Revocation Motion). BK Docket # 120.
On 5/10/13, the Court entered an “Order Granting Application
and Setting Hearing on Shortened Notice,” which set the
Revocation Motion for hearing on 5/20/13 (5/20/13 Hearing),
and set the following briefing schedule: oppositions to be filed
by 5/14/13, and replies to be filed by 5/16/13. BK Docket #
125.

*2  On 5/14/13, Perfect Science Labs, LLC (PSL),
Argyle Online, and Francis (collectively Francis) filed
an “Opposition ... to Motion for Authority to Revoke
Cancellation and to File Voluntary Chapter 11 Petition
for GGW Marketing, LLC” (Revocation Opposition). BK
Docket # 141. The only issue raised in the Revocation
Opposition was whether GGW Brands, LLC (one of the
Original GGW Debtors) was a member of GGW Marketing,
LLC or a manager of GGW Marketing, LLC. Id. at 1:12–21.
According to Francis, GGW Brands, LLC was only a manager
of GGW Marketing, LLC and it never owned certain Girls

Gone Wild trademarks. Id. at 1:18–19. Therefore, Francis
asserted that the Trustee did not have authority to revoke
GGW Marketing, LLC's cancellation and to file a bankruptcy
case on its behalf. Id. at 1:18–21. Francis acknowledged that
if GGW Brands, LLC were a member of GGW Marketing,
LLC, it would have an ownership interest in the Girls Gone
Wild trademarks that GGW Marketing, LLC transferred to
Path Media in November 2011. Id. at 1:13–14.

On 5/16/13, the Trustee filed a “Reply in Support of Motion
for Authority to Revoke Cancellation and to File Voluntary
Chapter 11 Petition for Debtors' Subsidiary” (Revocation
Reply). BK Docket # 148. In the Revocation Reply, the
Trustee made three arguments: 1) PSL, Argyle Online, and
Francis lacked standing to file the Revocation Opposition; 2)
GGW Brands, LLC was the sole member of GGW Marketing,
LLC; and 3) even if GGW Brands, LLC were only a manager
of GGW Marketing, LLC, GGW Marketing, LLC's operating
agreement (GGW Marketing, LLC OA) and Delaware law
authorized GGW Brands, LLC to revoke the cancellation of
GGW Marketing, LLC and to file a chapter 11 case on its
behalf. Id. at 2–9.

On the same day as the 5/20/13 Hearing, Francis filed
a “Motion to Strike and Sur–Reply to [Revocation
Motion]” (Revocation Sur–Reply). BK Docket # 151. In
the unauthorized Revocation Sur–Reply, Francis argued that
the Trustee presented a “myriad of new evidence” in the
Revocation Reply. Id. at 2. Francis then asserted that: 1) he,
as President of GGW Brands, Inc. had standing to oppose the
Revocation Motion; 2) the evidence demonstrated that GGW
Brands, Inc. was the sole member of GGW Marketing, LLC;
and 3) GGW Brands, LLC, as manager of GGW Marketing,
LLC, did not have authority to revive GGW Marketing, LLC.
Id. at 2–6.

During the 5/20/13 Hearing, the Court initially addressed
whether Francis, Argyle Online, and/or PSL had standing to
oppose the Revocation Motion and concluded that neither
Francis, Argyle Online, nor PSL had standing. Transcript of
5/20/13 Hearing, BK Docket # 183 (Trans. 5/20/13 Hearing)

at 43:3–10. 4  The Court then made alternative findings and
stated that even if Francis, Argyle Online, and/or PSL did
in fact have standing “to challenge [the] Trustee's request to
revoke the cancellation of GGW Marketing[, LLC], to file a
Chapter 11 bankruptcy on behalf of GGW Marketing[, LLC],
and then to file an adversary proceeding to avoid a transfer
of [the] GGW trademarks,” based on the evidence before the
Court, GGW Brands, LLC was a member of GGW Marketing,
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LLC. Id. at 43:5–10, 49:3–7. And, as GGW Marketing,
LLC's member, GGW Brands, LLC could revoke GGW
Marketing, LLC's cancellation, and file a bankruptcy case and
an adversary proceeding on behalf of GGW Marketing, LLC.
Id. at 49:8–14.

4 During the 5/20/13 Hearing, Francis's counsel
conceded that Argyle and PSL did not “have
standing in this case.” Trans. 5/20/13 Hearing at
29:15–16.

*3  Alternatively, the Court found that even if GGW Brands,
LLC were only a manager of GGW Marketing, LLC, based on
the express language of the GGW Marketing, LLC OA, GGW
Brands, LLC would have authority to do what the Trustee
sought to do. Id. at 49:15–22. On 5/20/13, the Court entered
an “Order Authorizing the Chapter 11 Trustee to Revoke
Cancellation and to File Voluntary Chapter 11 Petition for
GGW Marketing, LLC” (Revocation Order). BK Docket #
153. On 5/22/13, the Trustee filed a chapter 11 case on behalf
of GGW Marketing, LLC. In re GGW Marketing, LLC, 13–

bk–23452–SK, Docket # 1. 5

5 The Original GGW Debtors and GGW Marketing,
LLC are referred to collectively as the Debtors. All
of the Debtors' cases are being jointly administered
under In re GGW Brands, LLC, 13–bk–15130–SK.
BK Docket # 172. On 5/9/13, the Court approved
the employment application of Klee, Tuchin,
Bogdanoff & Stern LLP (Klee Tuchin) to represent
the Trustee. BK Docket # 118. On 6/28/13, the
Court approved the employment application of
Klee Tuchin to represent GGW Marketing, LLC.
BK Docket # 214.

Although Francis appealed the Revocation Order to the
District Court, In re GGW Brands, LLC, No. 2:13–cv–
04162–FMO, the District Court entered an order and
judgment dismissing the appeal without prejudice for lack of
prosecution on 8/7/13 (Appeal # 1). BK Docket # 371.

2. GGW Global Brands, Inc.
On 5/24/13, Francis, as “President, Director” of “GGW
Global Brands, Inc. f/k/a GGW Brands, Inc.” (Global) filed
a “State of Delaware Certificate of Revocation of Voluntary
Dissolution” on behalf of GGW Global Brands, Inc. f/k/
a GGW Brands, Inc. (Revocation of Dissolution). 7/15/13
Declaration of Joseph Francis, BK Docket # 223 (Francis

7/15/13 Decl.) ¶ 7, Ex. 2. 6  Then, on 7/15/13, Global filed the

“GGW Global Brands, Inc. Motion to Dismiss Bankruptcy
Case of GGW Marketing, LLC” (Global MTD). BK Docket
# 222. In the Global MTD, Global argued that its predecessor,
GGW Brands, Inc. was the sole member of GGW Marketing,
LLC and that GGW Brands, LLC was only the manager and
never the member of GGW Marketing, LLC. Global MTD at
5. Therefore, Global contended that GGW Brands, LLC did
not have the authority to file bankruptcy on behalf of GGW
Marketing, LLC. Id. at 4–5, 12. On 7/18/13, the Court issued
an “Order Setting Briefing Schedule ...” regarding the Global
MTD (7/18/13 Order). BK Docket # 239. The 7/18/13 Order
indicated that the Global MTD was set for hearing on 9/5/13
(9/5/13 Hearing), oppositions were due on 8/1/13, and replies
were due on 8/8/13. Id.

6 On 5/11/12, approximately a year before the
Revocation of Dissolution was filed, a “Certificate
of Dissolution” was filed with the Delaware
Secretary of State on behalf of GGW Brands, Inc.
(Certificate of Dissolution). Heyn 5/16/13 Decl. ¶
7, Ex. T. The Certificate of Dissolution indicated
that Francis was the president of GGW Brands, Inc.
Id.

On 7/26/13, the Trustee and GGW Marketing, LLC
(collectively Trustee) filed an “Ex Parte Application to
Continue Response Times and Hearing on GGW Global
Brands, Inc. Motion to Dismiss Bankruptcy Case of GGW
Marketing, LLC” (Ex Parte Motion). BK Docket # 274.
On 7/29/13, the Court entered an “Order Granting Ex Parte
Application to Continue Response Times and Hearing ...” on
the Global MTD (7/29/13 Order). BK Docket # 280. The
7/29/13 Order continued the hearing on the Global MTD to
10/22/13 (10/22/13 Hearing) and set the following briefing
schedule: oppositions to be filed by 9/24/13 and replies to
be filed by 10/8/13. Id. On 9/24/13, the Trustee filed an
opposition to the Global MTD in which he argued, among
other things, that the Global MTD should be denied because
issue preclusion barred Global from relitigating the Trustee's
authority to file a voluntary petition on behalf of GGW
Marketing, LLC (MTD Opposition). BK Docket # 364 at 7.
On 10/8/13, Global filed a reply in which it contended that
the law of the case and collateral estoppel did not prevent
it from arguing that the Trustee did not have authority to
file bankruptcy on behalf of GGW Marketing, LLC (MTD
Reply). BK Docket # 369. In the MTD Reply, Global argued
that GGW Brands, LLC was never the member or the manager
of GGW Marketing, LLC. MTD Reply at 10.
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*4  On 10/21/13, the day before the 10/22/13 Hearing, the
Court emailed a tentative ruling to the parties in which it
tentatively ruled that the Global MTD was denied (10/22/13
Tentative). During the 10/22/13 Hearing, counsel for the
Trustee and for Argyle/Path Media were present and were
given an opportunity to be heard. Both sides submitted on
the 10/22/13 Tentative. At the conclusion of the 10/22/13
Hearing, the Court adopted the 10/22/13 Tentative as its final
ruling (MTD Ruling). BK Docket # 372.

In the MTD Ruling, the Court found that Global was barred,
under the doctrines of collateral estoppel and law of the
case, from relitigating the issues whether the Trustee had the
authority to: 1) revoke the cancellation of GGW Marketing,
LLC; 2) file bankruptcy on behalf of GGW Marketing, LLC;
and 3) file an adversary proceeding to avoid the transfer of
certain trademarks. MTD Ruling at 32. The Court noted that:
1) in ruling on the Revocation Motion, it had made findings
on the same exact issues; and 2) Global was in privity with
Francis, who had opposed the Revocation Motion. Id. at 17–
22.

In the MTD Ruling, the Court then made two alternative
findings: 1) even if collateral estoppel and law of the
case did not bar Global's arguments in the Global MTD,
Global could not prevail on the merits because the evidence
demonstrated that GGW Brands, LLC was the member of
GGW Marketing, LLC; and 2) even if GGW Brands, LLC
were only the manager of GGW Brands, LLC and not its
member, GGW Marketing, LLC's OA authorized the Trustee
to file a bankruptcy petition on behalf of GGW Marketing,
LLC. Id. at 22, 27–32. On 10/23/13, the Court entered an order
denying the Global MTD (10/23/13 Order). BK Docket # 374.
On 10/30/13, Global filed a notice of appeal of the 10/23/13
Order. BK Docket # 381. And, on 11/6/13, Global filed a
“Statement of Issues to be Presented on Appeal ...,” which
lists the following issues: 1) whether the Court “committed
an error of law or an abuse of discretion in finding that
GGW Brands, LLC and not GGW Global Brands, Inc. was
the member and manager of GGW Marketing, LLC;” and 2)
whether the Court “committed an error of law or an abuse of
discretion in finding that GGW Brands, LLC had legal ability
to file [sic] bankruptcy petition on behalf of GGW Marketing,
LLC under Delaware Law” and the GGW Marketing, LLC
OA. BK Docket # 385.

B. Adversary Proceeding

1. Complaint

On 5/22/13, Argyle Online filed a complaint (Complaint)
that initiated an adversary proceeding (AP) against “R. Todd
Neilson, solely in his capacity as Chapter 11 Trustee for the
estates of GGW Brands, LLC, GGW Direct, LLC, GGW
Events, LLC and GGW Magazine, LLC, and related estates.”
AP Docket # 1. The Complaint, which contained causes
of action for conversion and slander of title, was based on
alleged statements made by the Trustee that Path Media,
Argyle Online's purported assignor, did not have the right to
use certain trademarks. Id.

2. Counterclaim and Third Party Complaint
*5  On 5/23/13, the Trustee filed “Counterclaims and Third–

Party Complaint to Avoid and Recover Fraudulent Transfers
and for Conversion” (Fraudulent Transfer Complaint) against
Argyle/Path Media. AP Docket # 4. The Fraudulent Transfer
Complaint sought to avoid the transfers of, and recover
royalties related to, certain trademarks. Id. ¶ 1.

3. Temporary Restraining Order; Preliminary Injunction
On 5/23/13, the Trustee also filed a “Motion for (1) A
Temporary Restraining Order Against Joseph R. Francis and
Path Media Holdings, LLC, and (2) An Order to Show Cause
Why a Preliminary Injunction Should Not Issue Against
Francis, Path Media, Argyle Online, LLC, Argyle Media
Sales, LLC, and Fab Films, LLC” (TRO Motion). AP Docket
# 5. The TRO Motion sought to enjoin Francis and Path
Media from taking any further action with respect to certain
trademarks. Id. ¶ 1. After a hearing on 5/24/13, the Court
entered an order granting the TRO Motion and setting a
preliminary injunction (PI) hearing on 6/7/13. AP Docket #
21.

On 5/30/13, the parties filed a stipulation to continue the PI
hearing to 7/8/13. AP Docket # 30. The Court entered an
order approving this stipulation on 5/31/13. AP Docket # 33.
On 6/7/13, the parties filed a stipulation to further continue
the PI hearing to 10/22/13 (10/22/13 PI Hearing). AP Docket
# 38. On 6/7/13, the Court entered an order approving this
stipulation and continuing the PI briefing schedule (6/7/13
Order). AP Docket # 40. The 6/7/13 Order set the following
briefing deadlines: oppositions to be filed by 9/24/13, and
replies to be filed by 10/8/13. Id.

On 10/1/13, Argyle/Path Media filed an untimely “Opposition
to Issuance of a Preliminary Injunction ...” (Opposition to
PI). AP Docket # 134. On 10/2/13, the Court issued an
“Order re: Untimely Opposition to Issuance of Preliminary
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Injunction,” (10/2/13 Order), in which the Court indicated
it would not consider the Opposition to PI because it was
untimely and pursuant to Local Bankruptcy Rule (LBR)
9013–1(h), the Court deemed “Argyle's failure to file a timely
opposition to the First OSC and the Second OSC to be consent
to the granting of the preliminary injunctions.” AP Docket #

136. 7

7 The First OSC was defined as the “Temporary
Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause Why
a Preliminary Injunction Should not Issue Against
Joseph R. Francis,” issued in Neilson v. Francis,
13–ap1468–SK, docket # 16, and the Second
OSC was defined as the “Temporary Restraining
Order Against Joseph R. Francis and Path Media
Holdings, LLC and Order to Show Cause Why a
Preliminary Injunction Should not Issue Against
Francis, Path Media, Argyle Online, LLC, Argyle
Media Sales, LLC and Fab Films, LLC,” issued in
Argyle v. Neilson, 13–ap–1552–SK. AP Docket #
21.

4. Trustee MTD/MTS and Argyle MTD
On 6/21/13, the Trustee filed a Motion to Dismiss and/
or Strike the Complaint in which the Trustee argued that
the Complaint should be dismissed without leave to amend
because the litigation privilege barred all of Argyle Online's
claims (Trustee MTD/MTS). AP Docket # 46. Alternatively,
the Trustee contended that the Complaint should be stricken

under § 425.16 of the California Code of Civil Procedure
(CCP), which is commonly referred to as the “Anti–SLAPP

Statute.” 8  AP Docket # 46 at 14. On 6/24/13, the Court
entered a scheduling order, setting 7/18/13 as the deadline for
filing oppositions to the Trustee MTD/MTS (6/24/13 SO). AP
Docket # 50. No oppositions were timely filed to the Trustee
MTD/MTS. See AP Docket.

8 SLAPP is an abbreviation for “strategic lawsuit
against public participation.” Equilon Enters,
v. Consumer Cause. Inc., 52 P.3d 685, 687
(Cal.2002).

*6  On 6/28/13, Argyle Online filed a motion to dismiss the
Fraudulent Transfer Complaint (Argyle MTD). AP Docket #
53.

5. First Amended Counterclaims and Third Party
Complaint

On 7/19/13, the Debtors filed the “First Amended
Counterclaims and Third–Party Complaint to Avoid and
Recover Fraudulent Transfers and for Conversion” (FACC).
AP Docket # 63. On 7/22/13, the Court entered an order
indicating that the FACC superseded the Complaint and that,
as a result, the Argyle MTD was moot. AP Docket # 67.

The FACC contained the following nine causes of action:

Count
 

Against
 

On Behalf of
 

Basis
 

1
 

Path Media
and Francis
 

All Debtors
 

Actual Intent
Fraudulent
Transfer re:
Assignments
(11 U.S.C. §
548(a)(1)(A))
 

2
 

Path Media
and Francis
 

GGW Brands
and GGW
Marketing
 

Actual Inten
t Fraudulent
Transfer re:
Assignments
(11 U.S.C. §
548(a)(1)(A))
 

3
 

Path Media
and Francis
 

All Debtors
 

Constructive
Fraudulent
Transfer re:
Assignments
(11 U.S.C. §
548(a)(1)(B))
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4
 

Path Media
and Francis
 

GGW Brands
and GGW
Marketing
 

Constructive
Fraudulent
Transfer re:
Assignments
(11 U.S.C. §
548(a)(1)(B))
 

5
 

Arqyle Online,
Path Media
and Francis
 

All Debtors
 

Actual Intent
Fraudulent
Transfer re:
Termination/
Relicense and
License Fee
 

6
 

Argyle Online,
Path Media
and Francis
 

GGW Direct
 

Actual Intent
Fraudulent
Transfer re:
Termination/
Relicense and
License Fee
 

7
 

Arqyle Online,
Path Media
and Francis
 

All Debtors
 

Constructive
Fraudulent
Transfer re:
Termination/
Relicense and
License Fee
 

8
 

Arqyle Online,
Path Media
and Francis
 

GGW Direct
 

Constructive
Fraudulent
Transfer re:
Termination/
Relicense and
License Fee
 

9
 

Path Media,
Francis and
Arqyle
 

 Conversion
 

FACC at 11–20.

6. Argyle Online's Dismissal of Complaint
On 7/23/13, Argyle Online filed a “Notice of Dismissal [of
the Complaint] Pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
41(a) or (c) and FRBP 7041” (Notice of Dismissal). AP
Docket # 70.

On 7/24/13, the Court held a status conference regarding
the Complaint. During the status conference, counsel for the
Trustee appeared but no appearances were made on behalf
of Argyle Online or any other party. The Trustee's counsel
indicated that the Trustee intended to proceed with the motion
to strike (MTS) portion of the Trustee MTD/MTS despite

the dismissal of the Complaint. Counsel indicated that he
would brief the issue whether it was appropriate for the Court
to award attorneys' fees based on the MTS even though the
Complaint had been dismissed.

On 7/26/13, the Court entered an “Order Following Status
Conference” (7/26/13 Order). AP Docket # 74. The 7/26/13
Order indicated that, by 8/5/13, the Trustee could file a
supplemental memorandum regarding: 1) whether, in light of
the Notice of Dismissal, the Court had jurisdiction to order
further relief in connection with the MTS; and 2) what, if
any, relief would be appropriate if the MTS were granted. Id.
The 7/26/13 Order also indicated that Argyle Online could
file an opposition to the Trustee's supplemental memorandum
by 8/12/13. Id. On 8/5/13, the Trustee filed the “Trustee's
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Supplemental Memorandum in Connection with Motion to
Strike” (Supp.Memo.). AP Docket # 78. In the Supp. Memo.,
the Trustee asserted that the Court had jurisdiction to hear the
MTS despite the dismissal of the Complaint, and requested an
“award of $35,000 as attorneys' fees pursuant to CCP section
425.16(c)(1).” Supp. Memo. at 5. On 8/14/13, Argyle Online
filed an untimely “Limited Opposition to Trustee's Motion to
Strike.” AP Docket # 95.

7. Ruling on Motion to Strike
*7  On 8/29/13, the Court held a hearing on the MTS (8/29/13

Hearing). The day before the 8/29/13 Hearing, the Court
issued a tentative ruling that was emailed to counsel for the
Trustee and Argyle Online (8/29/13 Tentative Ruling). In the
8/29/13 Tentative Ruling, the Court granted the MTS and
awarded the Trustee $35,000 in legal fees. During the 8/29/13
Hearing, the Trustee's counsel appeared but there were no
appearances for Argyle Online. The Court then adopted its
8/29/13 Tentative Ruling as its final ruling (8/29/13 Ruling).
AP Docket # 110. On 9/3/13, the Court entered an order
granting the MTS and awarding the Trustee $35,000 in
attorneys' fees. AP Docket # 113.

8. Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Final
Judgment

On 8/22/13, the Trustee filed a “Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment” (MSJ), in which he sought a determination that
there were no genuine issues of material fact and that he
was entitled to judgment as a matter of law regarding counts
1 through 8 of the FACC. AP Docket # 96. In support of
the MSJ, the Trustee submitted the following documents:
Separate Statement of Uncontroverted Facts and Conclusions
of Law (SS), AP Docket # 100; Declaration of Matthew C.
Heyn (Heyn 8/22/13 Decl.), AP Docket # 97; Declaration of
Robert J. Pfister (Pfister 8/22/13 Decl.), AP Docket # 98; and
Declaration of Constan Hermano Quirong (Quirong 8/21/13
Decl.), AP Docket # 99. On 8/23/13, the Court set a 10/3/13
hearing on the MSJ (10/3/13 Hearing) and set the following
briefing schedule: oppositions to be filed by 9/12/13, and
replies to be filed by 9/19/13 (8/23/13 Scheduling Order). AP
Docket # 105. The 8/23/13 Scheduling Order also stated that
“[n]o further briefing will be allowed or considered.” Id.

On 9/12/13, Argyle/Path Media filed an opposition to the MSJ
(MSJ Opposition). AP Docket # 116. In the MSJ Opposition,
Argyle/Path Media disputed numerous facts and argued that
these disputed facts created genuine issues of material fact,
which precluded the Court from granting the MSJ. Id. Argyle/

Path Media submitted the following documents in support of
the Opposition: Statement of Genuine Issues in Support of
Opposition to Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (SGI),
AP Docket # 117; Declaration of Christy Snow (Snow 9/11/13
Decl.), AP Docket # 118; Declaration of Christopher Dale
(Dale 9/11/13 Decl.), AP Docket # 119; Declaration of Arthur
Greenfield (Greenfield 9/11/13 Decl.), AP Docket # 120;
and Declaration of Joseph Francis (Francis 9/11/13 Decl.),
AP Docket # 121. In the SGI, Argyle/Path Media indicated
that it was undisputed that GGW Marketing, LLC and GGW
Brands, LLC owned the following trademarks (Trademarks)

before 11/15/11, when they were transferred to Path Media 9 :

9 Argyle did not dispute that GGW Marketing, LLC
and GGW Brands, LLC owned the Trademarks
“[p]rior to November 2011.” SGI ¶¶ 13, 14.
Argyle also did not dispute that GGW Marketing,
LLC transferred “certain of the Trademarks to
Path Media” in November 2011. Id. ¶ 20. And,
Argyle did not dispute that GGW Brands, LLC
transferred the remaining Trademarks to Path
Media in November 2011. Id. ¶ 21.

Trademark Number Country
Banned

from
Television

75939899 USA

Banned
from

Television

77217774 USA

Girls
Gone
Wild

77382679 USA

Girls
Gone

Mobile

77166100 USA

Girls
Gone
Wild

76517377 USA

Girls
Gone
Wild

75640463 USA

Girls
Gone
Wild

77382449 USA

Gone
Wild

77208666 USA

Gone
Wild

77384465 USA

Guys
Gone
Wild

76427548 USA

Mantra 76306922 USA
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Girls
Gone
Wild

77208650 USA

Guys
Gone
Wild

TMA714356 Canada

Banned
from

Television

TMA691868 Canada

Girls
Gone
Wild

771100 New
Zealand

Guys
Gone
Wild

771099 New
Zealand

Girls
Gone
Wild

761689 New
Zealand

Girls
Gone
Wild

762684 New
Zealand

Gone
Wild

77208674 USA

*8  SGI ¶¶ 13, 14.
On 9/19/13, the Trustee filed a “Reply in Further Support
of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment” (MSJ Reply).
AP Docket # 123. The Trustee submitted the Supplemental
Declaration of Matthew C. Heyn (Heyn 9/19/13 Decl.) in
support of the MSJ Reply. AP Docket # 124. And, the Trustee
filed “Evidentiary Objections in Connection with Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment” (Objections) to the evidence
submitted by Argyle/Path Media. AP Docket # 125.

In the Objections, the Trustee asserted numerous evidentiary
objections to the Francis 9/11/13 Decl. as well as the
Snow 9/11/13 Decl., Dale 9/11/13 Decl., and Greenfield
9/11/13 Decl. Id. The Trustee asserted that most of Francis's
declaration was inadmissible because: 1) it was a sham
declaration; 2) the statements were blatantly contradicted by
the record; and 3) Francis's statements were conclusory and
uncorroborated by the record. Id.

On 9/26/13, Argyle/Path Media filed a “Response to
Evidentiary Objections Raised by Movants” (REO), AP
Docket # 127, as well as a Declaration of Joseph R. Francis
(Francis 9/26/13 Decl.). AP Docket # 128. On 9/27/13, the
Court entered an “Order Setting Final Briefing Deadlines
Related to” the MSJ (9/27/13 Order). AP Docket # 131. In
the 9/27/13 Order, the Court indicated that the 8/23/13 Order
—which set the MSJ for hearing on 10/3/13—provided that
other than oppositions and replies, “[n]o further briefing will

be allowed or considered.” 8/23/13 Order at 2. The 9/27/13
Order indicated that although the REO purportedly responded
to the Objections filed by the Trustee, it also contained
argument related to res judicata and insolvency. 9/27/13 Order
at 2; REO at 5–6, 7–10. The 9/27/13 Order indicated that “[t]o
the extent that [the] REO contains additional argument, it will
not be considered because it violates the 8/23/13 Order. To
the extent that the REO actually responds to [the Trustee's
Objections], filed on 9/19/13, it will be considered.” 9/27/13
Order at 2. The 9/27/13 Order also indicated that by 9/30/13,
the Trustee could file a response to the REO “related to
the response to the” Objections. Id. On 9/30/13, the Trustee
filed a timely “Reply in Further Support of Evidentiary
Objections ...” (Reply Objections). AP Docket # 133.

On 10/2/13, the day before the 10/3/13 hearing, the Court
issued an extensive, detailed tentative ruling which was
emailed to counsel for Argyle/Path Media and the Trustee
(10/3/13 Tentative). In the 10/3/13 Tentative, the Court
tentatively granted the MSJ as to counts 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, and 8
and denied the MSJ as to counts 3 and 4. During the 10/3/13
Hearing, counsel for the Trustee and for Argyle/Path Media
were given an opportunity to be heard. At the conclusion of
argument, both sides consented to the dismissal of counts 3,
4, and 9 of the FACC, and the court adopted the 10/3/13
Tentative as its final ruling (10/3/13 Ruling). AP Docket #
137.

During the 10/3/13 Hearing, Argyle/Path Media's counsel
orally requested a stay pending appeal. Transcript of 10/3/13
Hearing, AP Docket # 166 (Trans. 10/3/13 Hearing) at 18:3–
17. The Court stated that it was not inclined to rule on an
oral motion, but that counsel could file a motion requesting
such relief. Id. at 18:18–25. Counsel for Argyle/Path Media
expressed concern that if there was a sale, “[a]nd if that
transaction goes through sooner than later ... [Argyle/Path
Media would be] effectively precluded from ownership of
[the Trademarks] pending appeal of this issue.” Id. at 19:16–
19. The Trustee's counsel then noted that the Trustee was “not
going to sell the company within the next 30 days” so that
any motion for stay pending appeal could be filed on regular
notice. Id. at 19:22–24. And, the Court indicated that “any
motion for stay pending appeal before this Court will have to
be filed and briefed on regular notice.” Id. at 22:22–23.

*9  On 10/3/13, after the 10/3/13 Hearing, the Court entered
two orders:

1. An “Order Granting in Part Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment” (MSJ Order) in which the Court granted the
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MSJ as to counts 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, and 8 of the FACC and
denied the MSJ as to counts 3 and 4, AP Docket # 140;
and

2. An “Order Dismissing Without Prejudice ...” counts 3,
4, and 9 of the FACC. AP Docket # 141.

On 10/4/13, the Court entered a “Final Judgment” (Final
Judgment), in which the Court granted Judgment in favor of
the following entities on the following counts of the FACC:

Count
 

In Favor of
 

Against (jointly
and severally)

 
1
 

Debtors' estates
 

Path Media and Francis
 

2
 

GGW Brands, LLC's
and GGW Marketing,

LLC's estates
 

Path Media and Francis
 

5
 

Debtors' estates
 

Argyle, Path
Media, and Francis

 
6
 

GGW Direct, LLC's estate
 

Argyle, Path
Media, and Francis

 
7
 

Debtors' estates
 

Argyle, Path
Media, and Francis

 
8
 

GGW Direct, LLC's estate
 

Argyle, Path
Media, and Francis

 

AP Docket # 142. The Final Judgment stated explicitly the

following: 10

10 The footnotes in cited paragraphs were included
in the Final Judgment although their respective
numbers are different in the Final Judgment than in
this tentative ruling.

10. All assignments made in or around November 2011 by
GGW Brands, LLC and GGW Marketing, LLC to Path

Media Holdings, LLC of “Trademarks” 11  and “Domain

Names” 12  are AVOIDED pursuant to Bankruptcy Code
section 548(a)(1), and such Trademarks and Domain
Names are RECOVERED and PRESERVED for the
benefit of the Debtors' estates pursuant to Bankruptcy
Code sections 550(a) and 551.

11 The “Trademarks” are: Banned from Television
(No. 75939899) (USA); Banned from Television
(No. 77217774) (USA); Girls Gone Wild
(No. 77382679) (USA); Girls Gone Mobile
(No. 77166100) (USA); Girls Gone Wild
(No. 76517377) (USA); Girls Gone Wild
(No. 75640463)(USA); Girls Gone Wild (No.

77382449) (USA); Gone Wild (No. 77208666)
(USA); Gone Wild (No. 77384465) (USA);
Guys Gone Wild (No. 76427548) (USA);
Mantra (No. 76306922) (USA); Girls Gone Wild
(No. 77208650) (USA); Guys Gone Wild (No.
TMA714356) (Canada); Banned From Television
(No. TMA691868) (Canada); Girls Gone Wild
(No. 771100) (New Zealand); Guys Gone Wild
(No. 771099) (New Zealand); Girls Gone Wild
(No. 761689) (New Zealand); Girls Gone Wild
(No. 762684) (New Zealand); Gone Wild (No.
77208674) (USA).

12 The “Domain Names” are: girlsgonewild.com,
bannedfromtv.com, freeggw.com,
freegirlsgonewildvideos.com,
ggwcustomerservice.com, ggwmag.com,
ggwmagazine.com, girlsgonewild.net,
girlsgonewild.tv, girlsgonewildbars.com,
girlsgonewildmag.com,
girlsgonewildmagazine.com,
getgirlsgonewild.com, ggw-online.com, ggw-
video.com, ggwapparel.com, ggwbrands.com,
ggwcash.com, girlsgonewildcash.com,
guysgonewildcash.com, guysgw-online.com,
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blackgirlsgonewild.com, bestbreastsever.com,
brandi-lynn.com, brandihowe.com,
brandilynnhowe.com, exgfclub.com, exxxgf.com,
ggwblogs.com, ggwbrands.net, ggwdating.com,
ggwent.com, ggwevents.com, ggwisland.com,
ggwlive.com, ggwtube.com, girls-gone-
mobile.com, girlsgonemobile.org,
girlsgonemobileweb.com,
girlsgonemobileweb.net, girlsgonewild.us,
girlsgonewildcams.com, girlsgonewilddating.com,
girlsgonewilddvds.com, girlsgonewildgossip.com,
girlsgonewildimages.com,
girlsgonewildisland.com, girlsgonewildlive.com,
girlsgonewildnews.com, girlsgonewildrocks.com,
girlsgonewildshoots.com,
girlsgonewildstream.com, girlsgonewildweb.com,
guysgonewild.ca, guysgonewildcams.com,
guysgonewilddating.com, helper8.info, hgia.tv,
hgia.us, hottest-girl-inamerica.com,
hottestmomentsever.com, myexgfclub.com,
onlinesupport1.info, sexiestmomentsever.com,
sexstarvedcollegegirls.net, siteservice1.com,
springbreakexplosion.com, theggwbus.com,
thegirlsgonewildblog.com, wildestsexever.com,
wildhd.com, wilshirehr.com, guysgonewild.com,
girlsgonewilduncencerd.com,
girlsghonewild.com, girlsogonewild.com,
girlsgonewildi.com.

11. Argyle Online, LLC, Argyle Media Sales, LLC, Fab
Films, LLC, Path Media Holdings, LLC, and Joseph
R. Francis (and each of them), and all those controlled
by, affiliated with, or acting in concert with them, are
ORDERED to take all steps necessary to return the
Trademarks and the Domain Names to the estates of
the Debtors, including signing documentation to transfer
the Trademarks and the Domain Names to the Debtors'
estates.

....

15. The Court retains jurisdiction to interpret and
enforce this Final Judgment and to grant any other
or further relief necessary or appropriate in aid of
its execution or otherwise to give effect to the relief
ordered herein, including (without limitation) under
Rule 70 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
and Rule 7070 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy
Procedure.

Id.

9. Appeal of Final Judgment
On 10/10/13, Argyle/Path Media filed a “Notice of
Appeal” (Appeal) and an “Election to have Appeal Heard by
District Court.” AP Docket # s 149, 150. On 10/18/13, Argyle/
Path Media filed a “Statement of Issues to be Presented on
Appeal and Designation of Items to be Included in the Record
of Appeal” (Appeal Statement). AP Docket # 152. In the
Appeal Statement, Argyle/Path Media designated three issues
for appeal:

1. Whether the Court erred or abused its discretion
by finding that Argyle/Path Media was “collaterally
estopped from presenting evidence, and arguing, that
the bankruptcy filing of GGW Marketing, LLC was
invalid;”

*10  2. Whether the Court erred or abused its discretion
“by excluding the Declaration of Joseph Francis under
the ‘sham affidavit’ rule;” and

3. Whether the Court erred or abused its discretion in
applying the law of the case doctrine “to preclude a
challenge to the validity of the bankruptcy filing of
GGW Marketing, LLC” when the prior ruling was in
the bankruptcy case, 13–bk–15130–SK, and the Court
applied the law of the case doctrine “so as to preclude a
challenge to the GGW Marketing, LLC bankruptcy” in
the adversary proceeding, 13–ap–01552–SK.

Id.

On 10/17/13, the District Court issued a “Notice Regarding
Appeal From Bankruptcy Court” (District Notice), indicating
that the Appeal is assigned to Judge Audrey B. Collins and
the District Court case number is 2:13–CV–7666–ABC. AP
Docket # 153.

10. Emergency Motion for Stay Pending Appeal filed in
the Bankruptcy Court

On 10/23/13, Argyle/Path Media filed an “Emergency Motion
for Stay of Final Judgment Pending Appeal” before the Court
(Emergency Motion # 1) AP Docket # 155. In support of
the Emergency Motion # 1, Argyle/Path Media submitted a
10/23/13 Declaration of Joseph R. Francis (Francis 10/23/13
Decl.). AP Docket # 156. On 10/23/13, the Court entered an
“Order Denying Motion for Setting Hearing on Emergency
Basis and Setting Deadlines for Briefing Emergency Motion
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for Stay Pending Appeal” (10/23/13 Order). AP Docket # 158.
In the 10/23/13 Order, the Court indicated that it had reviewed
Emergency Motion # 1 and the Francis 10/23/13 Decl. and
that Argyle/Path Media had not presented any evidence
demonstrating that the Emergency Motion # 1 should be set
on less than regular notice. Id. The Court then set Emergency
Motion # 1 for hearing on 11/14/13 at 8:30 a .m. and set the
following briefing schedule: any oppositions to be filed by
10/31/13 at noon and any replies to be filed by 11/7/13 at
noon. Id.

11. Emergency Motion for Stay Pending Appeal filed in

the District Court 13

13 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence (FRE) 201(b)
(2) and (c)(1), this Court may take judicial notice
of the docket in the District Court case. In re
Korean Air Lines Co., Ltd., 642 F.3d 685, 689 n.1
(9th Cir.2011); United States v. Wilson, 631 F.2d
118, 119 (9th Cir.1980) (“a court may take judicial
notice of ... the records of [a] court in other cases”).

On 10/28/13, Argyle/Path Media filed an “Emergency Motion
for Stay of Final Judgment of Bankruptcy Court Pending
Appeal” before the District Court (Emergency Motion #
2), as well as numerous appendices and a Declaration of
Michael D. Kolodzi (Kolodzi 10/28/13 Decl.) District Court
Docket (DC Docket) # s 6–12. On 10/29/13, the Trustee
filed an “Appellee's Statement with Respect to Appellants'
Emergency Motion for Stay of Final Judgment of Bankruptcy
Court Pending Appeal” (Opposition to Emergency Motion #
2). DC Docket # 13. On 10/30/13, the District Court denied
Emergency Motion # 2 on the following bases:

1. The request was procedurally improper because it did
not comply the District Court's Local Rules;

2. Ex parte relief was not warranted because “there is
no emergency given that it appears that [the Trustee]
must file a motion with the bankruptcy court to obtain
authorization before selling assets of the estate;” and

3. Emergency Motion # 2 seeks the same relief as
Emergency Motion # 1, which was pending before this
Court.

*11  DC Docket # 16.

II. Legal Standard

Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure (FRBP) 7070 provides
a means for bankruptcy courts to ensure compliance with their
orders. FRBP 7070 states that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
(FRCP) 7070 applies in adversary proceedings. FRCP 70,
titled, “Enforcing a Judgment for a Specific Act”, provides in
pertinent part, that:

(a) PARTY'S FAILURE TO ACT; ORDERING
ANOTHER TO ACT. If a judgment requires a party to
convey land, to deliver a deed or other document, or to
perform any other specific act and the party fails to comply
within the time specified, the court may order the act to
be done—at the disobedient party's expense—by another
person appointed by the court. When done, the act has the
same effect as if done by the party.

...

(e) HOLDING IN CONTEMPT. The court may also hold
the disobedient party in contempt.

For the Court to order another to act pursuant to FRBP 7070,
there must have been an order or a judgment requiring a
party to perform a specific act. In re Kerlo, 311 B.R. 256,
262 (Bankr.C.D.Cal.2004) (“[A] court order applying FRBP
7070 is a necessary step in obtaining relief ...”): see also In re
Health Sci. Prods., Inc., 191 B.R. 915 (Bankr.N.D.Ala.1995)
(denying a request for an order requiring a party to execute
a deed pursuant to FRBP 7070 because no prior judgment or
order requiring such action had been entered).

While FRCP 70 only applies where real or personal
property is “within the district,” FRBP 7070's reach is more

expansive. 14  FRBP 7070 provides that a court may enter
a judgment divesting the title of any party and vesting title
in others whenever the real or personal property involved
is within the jurisdiction of the court .” (Emphasis added).
Title 28, United States Code, Section 1334(e) provides that a
“district court in which a case under title 11 is commenced
or is pending shall have exclusive jurisdiction of all of
the property, wherever located, of the debtor as of the
commencement of such case ...” Emphasis added. The Central
District of California has a general order referring “all cases
under Title 11 and all proceedings under Title 11 or arising in
or related to a case under Title 11” to the bankruptcy judges
of this district. General Order No. 266, United State District
Court, Central District of California.
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14 It is beyond dispute that FRBP 7070 can be used
to require a party to transfer intellectual property
rights. See, e.g., Analytical Eng'g, Inc. v. Baldwin
Filters, Inc., 425 F.3d 443, 452 (7th Cir.2005)
(affirming district court's FRCP 70 order requiring
the transfer of patents).

In In re Rains, 338 B.R. 99, 101 (Bankr.E.D.Cal.2006), the
bankruptcy court established a framework for analyzing a
FRBP 7070 motion. In Rains, debtor Omer Rains (Rains), the
chapter 7 trustee (Ch. 7 Trustee), and a creditor entered into
a settlement agreement (Agreement) pursuant to which Rains
and his wife agreed to pay the Trustee $250,000 by 3/31/03
(Date). When Rains failed to pay the Trustee $250,000 by
the Date, the Trustee filed an ex parte application for entry
of judgment pursuant to the terms of the Agreement. Id. The
bankruptcy court entered judgment in favor of the Trustee,
ruling that Rains' claimed exemption in his retirement plan
(Plan) was denied and that $250,000 of the Plan's funds was
property of the estate (Judgment). Id. The Judgment also
required Rains to withdraw $250,000 from the Plan and pay
it to the Trustee. Id.

*12  When Rains failed to comply with the Judgment, the
Trustee requested that the bankruptcy court find Rains in
civil contempt and that he be incarcerated until he withdrew
$250,000 from the Plan. Id. The Court deferred action on the
civil contempt request until the Trustee demonstrated that less
“heavy handed” measures would not suffice. Id. The Trustee
then moved under FRCP 70 to request $250,000 from the
Plan, on behalf of Rains. Id.

The court in Rains began by noting that all of the requirements
of FRCP 70 were satisfied. First, the Judgment was not a
“simple money judgment that could be enforced by regular
execution.” Id. Second, the court stated that Rains' right to
receive the $250,000 had been “definitively determined to be
property of the estate.” Id. Third, Rains was a “disobedient
party”; he had been asked to perform—to withdraw $250,000
from the Plan—and he had not done so. Id.

In terms of how much time a party has to comply with an
order, the court in Rains noted that the disobedient party must
have had an “opportunity to have done the required act and not
have done so.” Id. (citing Tex. Extrusion Corp. v. Lockheed
Corp. (In re Tex. Extrusion Corp.), 844 F.2d 1142, 1153 (5th
Cir.1998)). The court acknowledged that the Judgment did
not contain a specific time in which Rains had to withdraw
$250,000 from the Plan. In re Rains, 338 B.R. at 103. But, the
court concluded that “the phrase ‘fails to comply within the

time specified’ in Rule 70 logically means a ‘reasonable’ time
under the circumstances in the instance of a judgment that
does not designate a time certain.” Id.; accord In re Sanford,
403 B.R. 831, 840 (Bankr.D.Nev.2009) (noting that where a
rule does not “contain a prescribed time, compliance with a
rule is generally required to occur within a reasonable time”).
After concluding that Rains had more than sufficient time
to comply with the Judgment, the court in Rains appointed
the Ch. 7 Trustee to act on behalf of Rains to withdraw
$250,000 from the Plan. In re Rains, 338 B.R. at 103; see also
Farmers State Bank v. Miner (In re Monson), 87 B.R. 577,
591 (Bankr.W.D.Mo.1988) (determining that unless a trustee
complied with an order requiring payment of proceeds of a
sale to a secured creditor, another person would be appointed
to do so).

III. Pleadings

A. Motion
In the 7070 Motion, the Trustee seeks an order authorizing
and directing the Trustee to execute the assignment of the
Trademarks on behalf of Argyle/Path Media. 7070 Motion at
1. The Trustee contends that Argyle/Path Media has failed to
comply with the Court's Final Judgment, which provides that
Argyle/Path Media and:

[A]ll those controlled by, affiliated
with, or acting in concert with
them, are ORDERED to take
all steps necessary to return the
Trademarks and Domain Names to
the estates of the Debtors, including
signing documentation to transfer the
Trademarks and the Domain Names to
the Debtors' estates.

*13  AP Docket # 142.

The Trustee contends that notwithstanding the explicit terms
of the 10/3/13 Ruling and Final Judgment, Argyle/Path Media
has not “taken steps to return the Trademarks to the Trustee for

the benefit of the Debtors' estates.” 7070 Motion at 4. 15  As of
the date the Trustee filed the 7070 Motion, the United States
Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO)'s records continue to
reflect that Path Media is the owner of the Trademarks. Heyn
10/24/13 Decl. ¶ 3, Ex. 1. Counsel for the Trustee and for
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GGW Marketing, LLC has repeatedly requested that Path
Media sign documents to properly reflect that the Debtors
are the true owners of the Trademarks. Heyn 10/24/13 Decl.
¶ 5, Ex. 3. Despite these requests, Argyle/Path Media has
not complied with the terms of the Final Judgment. Heyn
10/24/13 Decl. ¶ 6.

15 The 7070 Motion only seeks relief regarding
the Trademarks because the “Trustee has already
effectuated the transfer of the Domain Names back
from Path [Media] to the Debtors.” 7070 Motion at
1 n.1.

The Trustee asserts that even though Argyle/Path Media has
appealed the Final Judgment, the Court still has jurisdiction to
enter the relief requested because Argyle/Path Media has not
obtained a stay pending appeal. 7070 Motion at 6. To support
this position, the Trustee cites Brown v. Braddick, 595 F.2d
961, 965 (5th Cir.1979); Turay v. Seling, 108 F.Supp.2d 1148,
1152 n. 2 (W.D.Wash.2000) Georgine v. Amchem Prods., Inc.,
1995 WL 422792, at *6 (E.D.Pa.1995); Vac–Air. Inc. v. John
Mohr & Sons, Inc., 54 F.R.D. 580, 580 (E.D.Wis.1972). 7070
Motion at 6.

B. Opposition

The 7070 Opposition is brief. 16  Argyle/Path Media first
provides a summary of some of the pleadings and rulings
in this case. 7070 Opposition at 3–4. Argyle/Path Media
then states that during the 10/3/13 Hearing, “counsel for the
Trustee made representations to the Court that the Trustee was
not then presently contemplating a sale” of the Trademarks.
Id. at 4. According to Argyle/Path Media, on 10/28/13, the
Defendants learned that “contrary to the representations to
Court by the Trustee, the Trustee was, in fact, contemplating
an immediate sale” of the Trademarks. Id. Argyle/Path Media
continues by stating that the Trustee had sent an email to the
“sole potential bidder indicating that the Trustee would be
selling the disputed rights, even while the [ ] Final Judgment
is on appeal, and that the Trustee would be selling ‘free and
clear’ of the [Defendants'] claims” to the Trademarks. Id.

16 Although the 10/24/13 Order set a 10/31/13 at
noon deadline for filing an opposition to the
7070 Motion, no timely opposition was filed. On
10/31/13 at approximately 7:00 p.m. Argyle/Path
Media filed the untimely 7070 Opposition.

The 7070 Opposition contains only one paragraph addressing
the merits of the 7070 Motion. Argyle/Path Media highlights

that the Emergency Motion for Stay Pending Final Judgment
Pending (Emergency Motion # 1), AP Docket # 155;
and Appeal of the Final Judgment, are still pending. AP
Docket # 149. Therefore, Argyle/Path Media contends that
“any disposition on the [7070 Motion] is premature.” 7070
Opposition at 4.

The remainder of the 7070 Opposition argues the reasons why
the Court should issue a stay pending appeal and is virtually
identical to Emergency Motion # 1.

C. Reply
No reply was filed.

IV. Analysis

A. 7070 Motion
*14  As an initial matter, pursuant to Local Bankruptcy Rule

9013–1(h), the failure to timely file and serve a document
may be deemed as “consent to the granting or denial of the
motion, as the case may be.” Here, Argyle/Path Media did
not file the 7070 Opposition until after the deadline set in
the 10/24/13 Order. Therefore, the Court deems Argyle/Path
Media's failure to file a timely opposition to be consent to the
Court's granting the 7070 Motion.

Even if, however, that were not the case and the Court
were to consider the substance of Argyle/Path Media's 7070
Opposition, it would not alter the result because the Court
finds that the Trustee has met all of the requirements of
FRBP 7070. First, as in Rains, the Final Judgment was not
a “simple money judgment that could be enforced by regular
execution.” Instead, it required Argyle/Path Media to “take
all steps necessary to return the Trademarks and the Domain
Names” to the Debtors' estates, including signing documents
to transfer the Trademarks and the Domain Names to the
Debtors. AP Docket # 142. Second, in adjudicating the MSJ
the Court “definitively determined” that the Trademarks were
property of the estates of all of the Debtors. AP Docket # 137
at 49–50.

Third, the Court considers Argyle/Path Media to be a
“disobedient party,” because after repeated requests, it has
failed to execute the documents necessary to return the
Trademarks to the Debtors. Finally, although the Final
Judgment did not specify a definitive time in which to comply,
by the date of the hearing on the 7070 Motion, six weeks will
have passed since the Court entered the Final Judgment. The

Case 2:19-ap-01382-SK    Doc 336-1    Filed 12/22/21    Entered 12/22/21 12:29:22    Desc
Exhibit Unpublished cases cited in reply    Page 53 of 92



In re GGW Brands, LLC, Not Reported in B.R. (2013)
2013 WL 6908889

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 14

Court finds that more than a “reasonable” time has elapsed
since the Final Judgment was entered—all Argyle/Path Media
had to do was sign a document. Argyle/Path Media has had
ample opportunity to comply with the Final Judgment but has
failed to do so.

The Trustee asserts that despite the appeal, the Court has
jurisdiction to grant the relief requested in the 7070 Motion.
7070 Motion at 6–7. Argyle/Path Media counters that it would
be premature to adjudicate the 7070 Motion at this time
because Emergency Motion # 1 is pending and it has appealed
the Final Judgment to the District Court. 7070 Opposition at
4. Argyle/Path Media's position is not persuasive. “[W]hile
an appeal of an order is pending, the trial court retains
jurisdiction to implement or enforce the order.” In re Hagel,
184 B.R. 793, 798 (9th Cir.1995) (superceded by statute on
other grounds); In re Winimo Realty Corp., 270 B.R. 99, 105–
06 (S.D.N.Y.2001) (“it is also well established that ‘while an
appeal of an order is pending, the [bankruptcy] court retains
jurisdiction to implement or enforce the order”).

The law is clear, unless Argyle/Path Media obtained a stay
pending appeal, the Court has jurisdiction to grant the relief
requested in the 7070 Motion. Brown v. Braddick, 595 F.2d
961, 965 (5th Cir.1979) (finding that when a party failed
to obtain a stay pending appeal and to post a bond the
district court retained jurisdiction to enforce its orders by
civil contempt proceedings): Turay v. Seling, 108 F.Supp.2d
1148, 1152 n.2 (W.D.Wash.2000) (“A contempt finding may
be made, and sanctions imposed, while an appeal from an
injunction is pending.”); In re Hutter, 221 B.R. 632, 642
(D.Conn.1998) (“the court ... retains authority to implement
or enforce previous orders absent a stay pending appeal”);
Pansier v. Wis, Dep't of Revenue (In re Pan sier), 212 B.R.
950, 951 (Bankr.E.D.Wis.1997) (“It is well settled that while
an appeal is pending, the lower court still retains jurisdiction
to implement or enforce its order pending such appeal, unless
a stay has been granted.”); Georgine v. Amchem Prods.,
Inc ., 1995 WL 422792, at *6 (E.D.Pa.1995) (noting that
“[a]lthough the filing of an appeal generally divests a district
court of its control over those aspects of the case involved in
the appeal, courts still maintain jurisdiction for the ... purpose
of enforcing [their] injunctions”); Dicola v. Am. S.S. Owners
Mut. Prot. & Indem. Assoc., Inc. (In re Prudential Lines,
Inc.), 170 B .R. 222, 243 (S.D.N.Y.1994) (noting that filing
an appeal divests the lower court of control over the matter
on appeal but that courts have “recognized a distinction in
the divestment of jurisdiction between acts undertaken to
enforce the judgment and acts which expand upon or alter

it; the former being permissible and the latter prohibited”);
Vac–Air, Inc. v. John Mohr & Sons, Inc., 54 F.R.D. 580, 580
(E.D.Wis.1972) (notwithstanding appeal of order granting
injunction against patent infringement, trial court retained
authority to “punish for the disobedience of the order”); see
also 5 Alan N. Resnick & Henry J. Sommer, Collier on
Bankruptcy ¶ 7070.01 (16th ed.2013) (noting that where a
debtor prevailed in an adversary proceeding seeking specific
performance on a real estate contract, and the opponent stated
that it would not execute the deed, the court had the authority
to order the opponent to do so “even when the judgment to
be enforced [was] on appeal, so long as it ha[d] not been
stayed.”). Here, as indicated in the tentative ruling issued in
conjunction with Emergency Motion # 1, the Court tentatively
found that Argyle/Path Media did not demonstrate that a stay
pending appeal is warranted in this case.

B. Misrepresentation of the Record
*15  Argyle/Path Media asserts that the Trustee has

misrepresented facts to the Court regarding a possible sale
of the Trademarks. 7070 Opposition at 3–4. Based on a
review of the record in this case, the Court believes just the
opposite to be true: that Argyle/Path Media is misrepresenting
the record. Contrary to Argyle/Path Media's assertion that
Trustee's counsel purportedly stated the “Trustee was not
then presently contemplating a sale” of the Trademarks, the
Trustee said no such thing during the 10/3/13 Hearing. In
fact, during the 10/3/13 Hearing, in response to Argyle/
Path Media's counsel's request for a stay pending appeal the
Trustee's counsel stated: “Your honor, we're not going to sell
the company within the next 30 days, so [the motion for
stay pending appeal] can be filed on a regular motion and on
regular briefing.” Trans. 10/3/13 Hearing at 19:22–24.

Additionally, Argyle/Path Media's contention that it learned
on 10/28/13 that the Trustee was contemplating an immediate
sale of the Trademarks is baseless. 7070 Opposition at
4. To support its position, Argyle/Path Media cites the
Francis 10/23/13 Decl. The first glaring issue related to
Argyle/Path Media's argument is that the 10/23/13 Francis
Decl. was filed five days before 10/28/13, when Argyle/
Path Media contends it first learned that the Trustee was
contemplating an immediate sale of the Trademarks. Second,
the emails attached to the Francis 10/23/13 Decl., which are
dated 10/7/13 and 10/10/13, merely show that the Trustee
forwarded a copy of the Final Judgment to an individual. In
the email dated 10/7/13, counsel for the Trustee stated that
“In the next few weeks, the Trustee will be looking to initiate
a sale process where interested potential buyers are able to
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see updated financial information of GGW in a data room.
We hope you continue to have interest in purchasing GGW's
assets (including its trademarks).” Francis 10/23/13 Decl.
Ex. A. This email cannot be construed as “contemplating an
immediate sale” of the Trademarks.

Finally, the Court notes that counsel for the Trustee informed
the court on 6/13/13, that the Trustee's ultimate goal would be
to sell the Debtors “because the Trustee has no desire to long
term to run a soft porn business and would like to transition
it to a buyer,” but no buyer would be interested in buying the
Debtors until issues related to the Trademarks were resolved.
6/13/13 Status Conference Hearing 9:34:34–9:35:00.

V. Conclusion
As analyzed above, the 7070 Motion is granted. Pursuant
to LBR 9021–1(b)(1)(B), movant must serve and lodge a
proposed order via LOU within 7 days of the hearing.
Appearances required.

All Citations

Not Reported in B.R., 2013 WL 6908889

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Proceedings: IN CHAMBERS - ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS [25]

DOLLY M. GEE, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

I.

BACKGROUND

*1  This matter is before the Court on Defendant Loews
Hotels, Inc.'s second Motion to Dismiss (“MTD”). [Doc. #
25.] Plaintiff filed this action on April 20, 2018 [Doc. # 1]
and filed the operative Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”)
on January 25, 2019, after the Court granted Defendant's first
Motion to Dismiss. [Doc. ## 23, 24.] Plaintiff, individually
and on behalf of a putative class of similarly situated
individuals, alleges the following claims against Defendant:
(1) violation of California Civil Code section 1798.81.5(b);
(2) violation of California Civil Code section 1798.81.5(c);
(3) violation of California Civil Code section 1798.82; (4)
breach of implied contract; (5) breach of the covenant of good
faith and fair dealing; and (6) violation of California Business
and Professions Code section 17200. FAC at ¶¶ 41-90.

The Court incorporates the relevant factual background
from its previous order granting Defendant's first Motion to
Dismiss. [Doc. # 23.] The Court shall address any material
factual changes from the FAC to the SAC as they arise.
Having considered the parties' written submissions in support
of and in opposition to the MTD, the Court GRANTS
Defendants' MTD.

II.

LEGAL STANDARD

In its previous Order, the Court set forth the applicable legal
standard for motions to dismiss based on lack of subject
matter jurisdiction and need not repeat it here. [Doc # 23 at
2-3.] That standard is incorporated herein by this reference.

III.

DISCUSSION

A. Plaintiff Lacks Standing
The Court granted Defendant's previous Motion to Dismiss
because Plaintiff failed to sufficiently allege that she suffered
an Article III injury that gave rise to standing to pursue
her claims. While she has alleged some new facts in her
SAC and put forth a new legal theory to establish that she
suffered a cognizable injury, her allegations still fall short of
demonstrating that she suffered an Article III injury.

1. Plaintiff's “Benefit of the Bargain” Theory Fails
Plaintiff first argues that she has standing to sue because she
has suffered an economic injury under the “benefit of the
bargain” theory. She did not squarely raise this argument in
her opposition to Defendant's previous Motion to Dismiss.
Under the “benefit of the bargain” theory, courts generally
recognize that plaintiffs have suffered a financial injury when
they purchase a product in reliance on a false representation
about the product's value, and allege that they would not have
made the purchase, or would not have paid as much as they
did, had they known the truth. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior
Court, 51 Cal. 4th 310, 332 (2011). Plaintiff contends that, in
this context, she would not have made a hotel reservation with
Defendant if she had known that “her personal information
[would be] stolen by hackers.” [Doc. # 26 (“Opp.”) at 26.]
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In support, she cites to several decisions that apply the
“benefit of the bargain” theory to data breach cases. See Opp.
at 4-7. But those cases involve a defendant who made a
statement or representation about their data security practices
upon which the plaintiff relied before handing over his
personal information. See, e.g., In re Adobe Sys., Inc. Privacy
Litig., 66 F. Supp. 3d 1197, 1224 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (“The
Court finds plausible Plaintiffs['] ... allegations that they
relied on Adobe's representations regarding security to their
detriment.”); In re Anthem, Inc. Data Breach Litig., 162 F.
Supp. 3d 953, 967 (N.D. Cal. 2016) (“According to Plaintiffs,
both the Anthem and Non-Anthem Defendants promised their
members that their PII would be protected.”); Grigsby v.
Valve Corp., 2013 WL 12310666, at *2 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 18,
2013) (“[Plaintiff] also alleges that Valve assured Plaintiff and
Class Members that it would protect the personal information
and private financial information that users were required
to provide before purchasing content on Steam.”) (internal
quotations omitted); In re LinkedIn User Privacy Litig., 2014
WL 1323713, at *1 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 28, 2014) (“The Privacy
Policy contains a statement that ‘[a]ll information that you
provide will be protected with industry standard protocols and

technology.’ ”). 1

1 One case Plaintiff cites does not include an
express mention of a defendant's security-related
misrepresentation to the plaintiff. But that case,
Weinberg v. Advanced Data Processing, Inc., 147
F. Supp. 3d 1359, 1369 (S.D. Fla. 2015), comes
from outside the Ninth Circuit, and relies on
Resnick v. AvMed, Inc., 693 F.3d 1317 (11th
Cir. 2012), which does discuss the defendant's
misrepresentation. See Resnick, 693 F.3d at 1329.
Moreover, Weinberg discussed the implications of
personal information's disclosure in the context of
a claim for unjust enrichment under Florida law.
Given that Weinberg is only minimally applicable
to this case, and every other case Plaintiff cites
involves a defendant's misrepresentation, Weinberg
does not persuade the Court to diverge from the
cases cited above.

*2  In contrast, Plaintiff does not identify any similar
misrepresentation about Defendant's data security practices in
her SAC. She argues that paragraph 29 contains a “promise[ ]
that her PII would [be] kept safe when reserving a room
or using Loew's services,” but that paragraph describes no
such promise. Paragraph 32(e) states that Plaintiff suffered

harm because “implied in the price paid for such booking
by Plaintiff and the Class Members to Defendant was the
promise that some amount of the booking charge would
be applied to the costs of implementing reasonable and
adequate safeguards and security measures that would protect
customers' PII.” SAC at ¶ 32(e). Plaintiffs have identified
no authority approving of a “benefit of the bargain” theory
in a data breach case based on such conclusory allegations
of an implied promise to earmark a portion of the purchase
price for ensuring data safety. Indeed, case law appears to
require more precise allegations and more explicit promises.
See In re Zappos.com, Inc., 108 F. Supp. 3d 949, 962 n.5
(D. Nev. 2015) (plaintiffs' theory of standing failed in part
because they did not “allege facts showing how the price they
paid for such goods incorporated some particular sum that
was understood by both parties to be allocated towards the
protection of customer data”), rev'd on other grounds by In
re Zappos.com, Inc., 888 F.3d 1020, 1027–30 & n.15 (9th
Cir. 2018) (reversing the District Court's standing analysis in
connection with plaintiffs' alleged risk of future identity theft
and declining to address other alleged bases for standing).
While Paragraph 32(e) asserts conclusorily that a portion of
the price Plaintiff paid to reserve a room went to data security,
it does not allege “how” the price incorporated that amount or
what gave rise to Defendant's “understanding” that the room
reservation price included funds for data security—it simply
alleges that such funds were “implied in the price paid.” SAC
at ¶ 32(e).

In her Opposition, Plaintiff also refers to the Loew's Hotels'
Privacy Policy, available on Defendant's website, to argue
that Defendant did make affirmative representations about its
customers' data security. Opp. at 21. But these assertions do
not appear in the SAC, and since Defendant has mounted
a facial attack to Plaintiff's standing, the Court's inquiry
focuses on the pleadings, not extrinsic documents. Wolfe v.
Strankman, 392 F.3d 358, 362 (9th Cir. 2004).

Even if the Court could properly consider the Privacy
Policy in resolving this motion, however, it would not
save Plaintiff's claims. The Privacy Policy states that “[t]he
personal information collected from users online ... is stored
by Loews ... on databases protected through a combination of
physical and electronic access controls, firewall technology
and other reasonable security measures.” Loew's Hotels
Privacy Policy, https://www.loewshotels.com/privacy-policy
at “Protecting Personal Information” (last visited April
18, 2019). It continues, however, to warn customers that
“[n]evertheless, such security measures cannot prevent all
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loss, misuse or alteration of personal information and Loews
is not responsible for any damages or liabilities relating to any
such incidents to the fullest extent permitted by law.” Id. It
also states that “no security system or system of transmitting
data over the Internet can be guaranteed to be entirely secure.
Use of the Services and related applications and transmission
of data is at the user's own risk.” Id. Courts have held that
similar language is sufficient to put consumers on notice that
a company's data security practices are not bulletproof. See
In re Sony Gaming Networks & Customer Data Sec. Breach
Litig., 903 F. Supp. 2d 942, 968 (S.D. Cal. 2012) (“Before
registering ... all Plaintiffs had to agree to Sony's Privacy
Policy, which states that ‘there is no such thing as perfect
security ... we cannot ensure or warrant the security of any
information transmitted to us through the [system] ....’ Thus,
in the presence of clear admonitory language that Sony's
security was not ‘perfect,’ no reasonable consumer could have
been deceived.”). Accordingly, Plaintiff has not established
that she lost the benefit of any bargain sufficient to confer
Article III standing.

2. Plaintiff Fails to Show a Substantial Risk of Future
Harm

In its Order granting Defendant's first Motion to Dismiss,
the Court reasoned that Plaintiff failed to demonstrate a
risk of certainly impending future harm because: (1) she
pled that she closed or modified her financial accounts,
neutralizing any risk of future fraud arising from the theft
of her financial information, and (2) she did not establish
that the non-financial information that the hackers stole gives
rise to a risk of a cognizable injury. [Doc. # 23 at 4-8].
See Clapper v. Amnesty Int'l USA, S. Ct. 1138, 1141 (2013)
(threatened or future injury must be “certainly impending
to constitute injury in fact”) (internal quotations omitted).
Having been given leave to amend her allegations to cure
these deficiencies, Plaintiff has made three principal changes
to her theory. First, she simply omits from her SAC any
allegations that she closed or modified her financial accounts
after the data breach. Compare FAC at ¶ 6 with SAC.
Second, she adds allegations that she now “continuously
receives unsolicited direct marketing efforts to her email and
home” as a result of the breach. SAC at ¶ 9. Third, she has
abandoned her argument that hackers may have stolen her
Loew's account password. She has not alleged that hackers
stole any additional information beyond what she described
in the FAC. Compare SAC at ¶ 3 with FAC at ¶ 3. In her
Opposition, Plaintiff argues that the same precedent she cited
in her Opposition to Defendant's first Motion to Dismiss

compels a different result than the Court reached in ruling on

that earlier Motion. 2  Opp. at 10-13.

2 Defendant contends that Plaintiff “essentially asks
the Court to reconsider its previous finding that
Plaintiff failed to allege any ‘certainly impending
future harm.’ ” Reply at 3. To the extent that
Defendant asks the Court to dismiss Plaintiff's
claims on that basis, such a request, in and of
itself, is not improper—though Defendant's failure
to show that the Court misconstrued or ignored
some relevant fact or law dooms the endeavor.
Askins v. U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., 899 F.3d
1035, 1042 (9th Cir. 2018) (reversing a district
court's decision that it was “’precluded’ from
reconsidering its order dismissing the original ...
claims in adjudicating the motion to dismiss the
amended ... claims” because “[t]he law of the case
doctrine does not preclude a court from reassessing
its own legal rulings in the same case”). The
Court therefore addresses the merits of Plaintiff's
arguments once more.

i. Financial Information

*3  Plaintiff's decision to remove her previous allegations
about closing or modifying her credit card or bank accounts
does not simply erase those allegations from the case.
Defendant asserts that plaintiffs “cannot selectively delete
allegations from a prior complaint to avoid dismissal of an
amended complaint.” MTD at 8 (citing three unpublished
decisions standing for the proposition that courts need not
accept allegations that contradict allegations in a previous
complaint). The reality of the case law in this circuit,
however, is more complicated. The Ninth Circuit has held
that, in the context of granting leave to amend an original
complaint, “leave to amend should be liberally granted,
[but] the amended complaint may only allege other facts
consistent with the challenged pleading.” Reddy v. Litton
Indus., Inc., 912 F.2d 291, 296–97 (9th Cir. 1990). It later
held, without overturning Reddy, that “there is nothing in
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to prevent a party
from filing successive pleadings that make inconsistent or
even contradictory allegations.” PAE Gov't Servs., Inc. v.
MPRI, Inc., 514 F.3d 856, 860 (9th Cir. 2007). The circuit
court has not resolved this apparent inconsistency, but it has
recognized (in non-binding opinions) that Reddy and PAE
may be irreconcilable. Compare Shirley v. Univ. of Idaho,
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Coll. of Law, 800 F.3d 1193, 1194 (9th Cir. 2015) (Kozinski,
J., concurring) with id at 1194-95 (Canby, J. concurring).

The Court can ultimately avoid the intra-circuit confusion
on this issue, however, because the SAC's allegations do
not contradict the FAC's allegations—the SAC merely omits
previously-pled material information that harms Plaintiff's
case. These allegations are therefore more appropriately
characterized as judicial admissions that Plaintiff has not
cured. See Am. Title Ins. Co. v. Lacelaw Corp., 861 F.2d
224, 226 (9th Cir. 1988) (assertions in pleadings are judicial
admissions unless amended); see also Huey v. Honeywell,
Inc., 82 F.3d 327, 333 (9th Cir. 1996) (admissions in original
complaints that have been “amended or withdrawn” are no
longer conclusive, but are still admissions, and courts may
still consider them); Burgoon v. Narconon of N. California,
125 F. Supp. 3d 974, 984 (N.D. Cal. 2015) (“The amendment
of a pleading does not make it any the less an admission of
the party”) (citing Andrews v. Metro N. Commuter R. Co., 882
F.2d 705, 707 (2d Cir. 1989)).

Plaintiff asserts in her Opposition that her “accounts were not
closed, but it was modified in a minor way that does not affect
the risk of fraud.” But this assertion does not appear in the
SAC, and a plaintiff's “statements in [her] opposition brief
cannot amend the Complaint.” Fabbrini v. City of Dunsmuir,
544 F. Supp. 2d 1044, 1050 (E.D. Cal. 2008) (citing Carriers,
Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 745 F.2d 1101, 1107 (7th Cir. 1984)
(“axiomatic that the complaint may not be amended by the
briefs in opposition to a motion to dismiss.”)).

Since Plaintiff has not overcome her prior admission that she
closed or modified her accounts to mitigate the impact of the
data breach, she has not established a certainly impending
future injury sufficient to confer standing. Nor has she alleged
any additional facts in her SAC describing any past harm
or substantial risk of future harm related to her financial
information. Plaintiff therefore lacks standing to sue with
respect any financial information exposed in the data breach.

ii. Non-Financial Information

With respect to the alleged theft of Plaintiff's other, non-
financial information—her name, email address, phone
number, and mailing address—Plaintiff mostly resurrects the
arguments she made in response to Defendant's previous
Motion to Dismiss by relying on cases holding that hackers'
theft of sensitive information creates a risk of certainly

impending future harm. Opp. at 10-13. As discussed in the
Court's prior Order, however, those cases involved the theft of
certain types of sensitive information not at issue here: social
security numbers, account numbers, and account passwords.
See In re Zappos.com, Inc., 888 F.3d 1020, 1023 (9th Cir.
2018), cert. denied sub nom. Zappos.com, Inc. v. Stevens, No.
18-225, 2019 WL 1318579 (U.S. Mar. 25, 2019); Krottner
v. Starbucks Corp., 628 F.3d 1139, 1140 (9th Cir. 2010).
Plaintiff's cited cases also include the theft of credit and
debit card information, but, as discussed above, Plaintiff's
admissions indicate that she has neutralized any future threat
of credit or debit card fraud by modifying or closing her
accounts. In re Zappos.com, Inc., 888 F.3d at 1023; Remijas v.
Neiman Marcus Grp., LLC, 794 F.3d 688, 689 (7th Cir. 2015).

*4  The Zappos court held that the plaintiffs alleged an
Article III injury based on “the sensitivity of the personal
information, combined with its theft.” In re Zappos.com, Inc.,
888 F.3d at 1027 (emphasis added). Here, Plaintiff has once
again failed to demonstrate that her name, phone number,
email address (but not her email password), and mailing
address are sensitive enough pieces of information to give
rise to a certainly impending risk of future identity theft or
fraud. Her claim that she has received mass mailing materials
does not help her because receiving spam or mass mail does
not constitute an injury. See, e.g., Peters v. St. Joseph Servs.
Corp., 74 F. Supp. 3d 847, 857 (S.D. Tex. 2015) (no injury
despite plaintiff receiving “target[ed]” physical, electronic,
and telephonic “solicitations”); Cherny v. Emigrant Bank,
604 F. Supp. 2d 605, 609 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (“The receipt
of spam by itself, however, does not constitute a sufficient

injury entitling [plaintiff] to compensable relief.”). 3  Plaintiff
argues that the theft of non-financial information, and the
resulting spam mailing, can “further support [her] contention
that the hackers accessed information that could be used to
help commit identity fraud or identity theft.” Opp. at 13
(quoting In re Zappos.com, Inc., 888 F.3d at 1028). That
language from Zappos taken in context, however, reflects the
Ninth Circuit's reasoning that certain plaintiffs' allegations
that hackers “took over their [email] accounts and sent
advertisements” to others suggested that they, and other
plaintiffs, might be at risk of identity theft or fraud. In re
Zappos.com, Inc., 888 F.3d at 1027-28. That reasoning makes
sense. Allegations that hackers used the information they stole
—namely, account passwords—to actually access accounts
and take nefarious action strongly suggests that hackers could
use the information they stole to do harm to other plaintiffs,
even if every plaintiff's account had not yet been breached and
even if the harm was not necessarily financial. But Plaintiff
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has not alleged that any such account takeovers have taken
place. Nor do her allegations suggest that hackers obtained
any information that would allow them to assume Plaintiff's
identity or access any of her accounts.

3 At least one district court in this circuit has held that
being forced to spend significant money fighting
spam advertisements in order to protect a business
is a cognizable Article III injury. Asis Internet
Servs. v. Consumerbargaingiveaways, LLC, 622 F.
Supp. 2d 935, 939 (N.D. Cal. 2009) (plaintiffs
allege that they needed to spend $4,200 per month
to combat spam). But Plaintiff has made no
allegations that she has incurred financial injury as
a result of the spam mail.

Plaintiff has thus failed to show that the alleged theft of the
information she provided to Defendant can result in a risk of
certainly impending future harm.

3. Plaintiff Fails to Establish Standing Under
California's Unfair Competition Law

Plaintiff argues that, separate from her federal standing to seek
monetary damages, she has standing to seek an injunction
under California's Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”). Opp.
at 9. She bases this contention primarily on her argument
that “the theft of Plaintiff's PII creates a substantial risk of
future harm.” Id. As discussed above, however, she has not
sufficiently pled that such a harm exists. To the extent that,
as a matter of law, she may have UCL standing despite that
shortcoming—a doubtful proposition in light of the fact that
the “UCL's standing requirements appear to be more stringent
than the federal standing requirements”—her arguments are
unavailing. Troyk v. Farmers Grp., Inc., 171 Cal. App. 4th
1305, 1348 n.31 (2009).

Plaintiffs asserting a UCL claim must “have suffered injury
in fact and ... lost money or property as a result of the unfair
competition.” Rubio v. Capital One Bank, 613 F.3d 1195,
1203 (9th Cir. 2010) (internal quotations omitted). Courts in
this circuit have held that “theft” or “unauthorized release
of personal information” does not qualify as lost money or
property for purposes of determining standing under the UCL.
Ruiz v. Gap, Inc., 540 F. Supp. 2d 1121, 1127 (N.D. Cal.
2008), aff'd, 380 F. App'x 689 (9th Cir. 2010); In re Sony
Gaming Networks & Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig., 903 F.

Supp. 2d at 966. 4  Since Plaintiff has not alleged that she lost
money or property, she has failed to establish UCL standing.

4 Plaintiff cites two cases holding that plaintiffs who
successfully asserted a “benefit of the bargain”
claim in the data breach context had standing
to pursue UCL claims because those plaintiffs'
payment of more than they bargained for was
enough of an economic loss to qualify as lost
money. Opp. at 4-5 (citing In re Adobe Sys., Inc.
Privacy Litig., 66 F. Supp. 3d at 1223-24; In re
Anthem, Inc. Data Breach Litig., 162 F. Supp. 3d at
985). But, as explained above, Plaintiff's “benefit
of the bargain” theory is deficient.

*5  The Court therefore GRANTS Defendant's MTD as to
Plaintiff's individual claims for lack of standing.

B. Lack of Class Action Standing
Since Plaintiff has not met her burden to establish standing,
her class action allegations fail as well. In a class action,
named plaintiffs representing a class “must allege and show
that they personally have been injured, not that injury has
been suffered by other, unidentified members of the class
to which they belong and which they purport to represent.”
Gratz v. Bollinger, 539 U.S. 244, 289 (2003). When the
named plaintiff has not established standing, she may not
“seek relief on behalf of [her]self or any other member of
the class.” O'Shea v. Littleton, 414 U.S. 488, 494 (1974);
Lierboe v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 350 F.3d
1018, 1022–23 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding class action must be
dismissed where named plaintiff lacks standing). The Court
therefore GRANTS Defendant's MTD as to Plaintiff's class
action allegations.

IV.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, the Court GRANTS without
prejudice the MTD under Rule 12(b)(1) for lack of subject
matter jurisdiction, DENIES as moot the MTD under Rule
12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim, and DENIES as moot the
MTD under Rule 12(b)(3) for lack of personal jurisdiction.
Notwithstanding having filed three complaints, Plaintiff has
failed to allege facts sufficient to survive the pleading stage.
Amendment would thus be futile, and the Court DENIES any
further leave to amend.
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IT IS SO ORDERED. All Citations

Not Reported in Fed. Supp., 2019 WL 6721637

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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DEFENDANTS' ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO
TRANSFER VENUE TO THE DISTRICT OF HAWAII

SAUNDRA B. ARMSTRONG, District Judge.

I. INTRODUCTION.
*1  On July 29, 2008, this court considered argument

on Defendants' Motion to Transfer Venue to the District
of Hawaii (the “Motion”). Having considered the Motion,
Defendants' memorandum of points and authorities in support
of the motion, Plaintiff's memorandum in opposition to the
motion, Defendants' reply brief in support of the Motion, the
evidence before the court, and the arguments of the parties,
the court hereby GRANTS Defendants' Motion to Transfer
Venue to the District of Hawaii and ORDERS the clerk of
court to transfer this case to the District of Hawaii.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS.
The United States, on behalf of USEPA, and the State
of Hawaii, on behalf of the Hawaii Department of Health
(“HDOH”) filed suit against Honolulu in October 1994 to
address violations of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act,

33 U.S.C § 1251 et seq. (more commonly known as the
Clean Water Act or CWA), and Hawaii's equivalent State law,
H.R.S. Chapter 342D (the “1994 lawsuit”). The complaint in
the 1994 lawsuit alleged, inter alia, that Honolulu had failed
to adequately operate and maintain its sewage collection
system, resulting in a substantial number of discharges of raw
sewage (commonly referred to as “sanitary sewer overflows”

or “SSOs”). 1  The complaint in the 1994 lawsuit is attached
as Exhibit 1 to Declaration of Hugh Barroll. The parties
settled the 1994 lawsuit in 1995 with the entry of a Consent
Decree (“1995 Consent Decree”). Exhibit 2 to Declaration of
Hugh Barroll. Among other things, the 1995 Consent Decree
required Honolulu to undertake a 25 year program to improve
its sewage collection system. 1995 Consent Decree ¶ XXV.D.
The 1995 Consent Decree remains in effect. Declaration
of Hugh Barroll at ¶ 3. The District Court has retained
jurisdiction over the 1994 lawsuit to enforce the terms and
conditions of the 1995 Consent Decree. 1995 Consent Decree
¶ XXIV.

1 The “sewage collection system” is a complex
network of sewer pipes, force mains and sewage
pump stations. In a sewage collection system, most
sewers flow by gravity to low points in a collection
system. To reach a wastewater treatment plant,
sewage must be collected from these low points
at pump stations. Pump stations pump sewage
into force mains which lift sewage out of these
low points to higher places where the sewage can
again flow downhill. Sewage collection systems
are vulnerable to failures if overtaxed by excessive
flows or if allowed to deteriorate due to age or
improper maintenance.

Honolulu failed to fully comply with the 1995 Consent
Decree, and has continued to operate its wastewater treatment
and collection system in violation of the Clean Water Act.
Among other responses to the continued noncompliance,
HDOH issued an administrative order to Honolulu requiring it
to take action to improve performance of its sewer force mains
and USEPA issued a series of administrative orders to address
noncompliance at Honolulu's main sewage treatment plants
(commonly referred to as the Sand Island Treatment Plant and
the Honouliuli Treatment Plant). Declaration of Hugh Barroll
at ¶ 5.

During 2004 and 2005, USEPA, with the assistance of
HDOH, undertook a comprehensive assessment of Honolulu's
sewage collection system to evaluate Honolulu's compliance
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with the Clean Water Act and the terms of the 1995 Consent
Decree. Following completion of the sewage collection
system assessment, USEPA prepared an Audit Report
summarizing its conclusions. Declaration of Hugh Barroll at
¶ 7. USEPA and HDOH also performed detailed inspections
of the Sand Island and Honouliuli Treatment Plants to
evaluate compliance with the Clean Water Act and H.R.S.
Chapter 342D at these facilities. Following completion of
the inspections of the treatment plants, USEPA prepared
Inspection Reports summarizing its conclusions. Declaration
of Hugh Barroll at ¶ 7.

*2  Also in 2004, Plaintiff, along with the Hawaii Chapter of
the Sierra Club and Hawaii's Thousand Friends (collectively
the “Environmental Groups”), filed their own lawsuit against
Honolulu pursuant to the citizen suit provisions of the Clean
Water Act, 33 U .S.C. § 1365 (the “2004 citizen suit”).
The Environmental Groups alleged that Honolulu was not
properly operating and maintaining its wastewater collection
system, leading to unpermitted sanitary sewer overflows,
and that Honolulu's discharges from the Sand Island and
Honouliuli Treatment Plants were not in compliance with
permit requirements. See Sierra Club et al. v. City and
County of Honolulu, Civ. No. 04–00463 DAE (D.Haw.). This
litigation is still ongoing in the U.S. District Court for the
District of Hawaii before Judge Ezra, the same District Court
Judge with jurisdiction over the actions filed by USEPA and
HDOH against Honolulu.

In order to comprehensively address all Honolulu's Clean
Water Act violations, USEPA and HDOH invited the
Environmental Groups to join in negotiations with Honolulu
in late 2005. As part of this process, USEPA, HDOH and
the Environmental Groups entered into a Confidentiality
Agreement in December 2005. Exhibit 3 to Declaration of
Hugh Barroll. The Confidentiality Agreement is designed to
facilitate the sharing of certain written investigatory materials
which the parties agreed were prepared “in anticipation
of litigation.” See Confidentiality Agreement, ¶ 8. The
parties also agreed that “all privileges shall be preserved”
and that “privileged information shall be protected from
disclosure” to any third parties. Confidentiality Agreement,
¶ 9. Furthermore, the Confidentiality Agreement states that
the parties thereto “agree to consult with each other before
producing documents relating to ... [Honolulu's sewage
treatment] and/or its collection system and/or ... [Honolulu],
whether such production is made voluntarily, in response
to any discovery request, or pursuant to any other law of
regulation.” Confidentiality Agreement, ¶ 10. To date, the

parties have not consulted, or requested consultation, under
this or any other provision of the Confidentiality Agreement.
The Confidentiality Agreement has not been terminated
according to its terms, and remains in full force and effect.

Following execution of the Confidentiality Agreement, the
United States, the State of Hawaii, the Environmental
Groups and Honolulu began settlement negotiations. As
part of this process, USEPA shared with the Environmental
Groups a number of the documents at issue in this matter,
subject to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement. This
includes such documents as the Audit Report of Honolulu's
collection system and settlement communications discussing
the findings of USEPA's and HDOH's investigations of
Honolulu's sewage collection system and treatment plants.
Declaration of Hugh Barroll at ¶ 14.

In March 2006, while settlement negotiations were ongoing,
Honolulu's Beachwalk Force Main in Waikiki ruptured,
spilling approximately 48 million gallons of sewage into the
Ala Wai Canal. Declaration of Hugh Barroll at ¶ 15. On
May 8, 2007, USEPA and DOH filed an additional lawsuit
against Honolulu for the Clean Water Act violations related
to the Beach Walk Force Main spill (the “2007 lawsuit”). The
2007 lawsuit is also before Judge Ezra. The USEPA, HDOH
and Honolulu simultaneously lodged a proposed Stipulated
Order (Exhibit 4 to the Declaration of Hugh Barroll) which
was narrowly tailored to address injunctive relief claims
associated with the Beachwalk Force Main spill. Declaration
of Hugh Barroll at ¶ 16. The Stipulated Order was entered by
the Court, over the objections of the Environmental Groups,

on October 10, 2007. 2  See United States et al. v. City and
County of Honolulu, CV No. 07–00235 DAE–KSC (D.Haw.).
The Court's Order entering the Stipulated Order is attached as
Exhibit 7 to the Declaration of Hugh Barroll.

2 As part of the United States' motion for entry
of the Stipulated Order, USEPA submitted the
Declaration of JoAnn Cola in Support of United
States' Request to Enter Stipulated Order, which
Plaintiff references in its FOIA request detailed
below.

*3  In the Stipulated Order, the United States, the State
of Hawaii and Honolulu acknowledged that additional
compliance issues needed to be resolved, and that the parties
intended to enter into negotiations to resolve these issues:

The Parties expressly recognize that the filing of the
Complaint limited to these specific claims and the filing
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of this Stipulated Order do not resolve and are without
prejudice to other claims of the Governments regarding
compliance with the 1995 Consent Decree, the Act, or State
law, including, but not limited to, the Governments' claims
for civil penalties with regard to the matters set forth in this
Complaint.

Following entry of this Stipulated Order, the Parties
intend to negotiate in good faith a comprehensive remedy
addressing all compliance issues associated with CCH's
wastewater system.

Stipulated Order at 2. The Stipulated Order remains in effect
and is under the continuing jurisdiction of Judge Ezra in the
District of Hawaii. Stipulated Order at section XVI.

In addition to maintaining their independent enforcement
action in the 2004 citizen suit against Honolulu, in 2007, the
Environmental Groups intervened in both the 1994 lawsuit
and the 2007 lawsuit. In both cases, the Court adopted
recommendations of the Magistrate imposing conditions on
the Environmental Groups' intervention. The Court's Order
granting the Environmental Groups' motion to intervene in
the 1994 lawsuit and the Magistrate Judge's recommendations
setting conditions on that intervention are attached as Exhibit
5 to Declaration of Hugh Barroll. The Court's Orders
granting the Environmental Groups motion to intervene in
the 2007 lawsuit and to adopt the Magistrate's Findings and
Recommendations imposing conditions on intervention are
attached as Exhibit 6 to the Declaration of Hugh Barroll. The
Magistrate's Findings and Recommendations as to the motion
to intervene in the 2007 lawsuit are also attached as Exhibit 6
to the Declaration of Hugh Barroll.

On September 18, 2007, the Plaintiff in this action submitted
a request pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act
for USEPA records related to the Honolulu's sewage
collection and treatment system and, in particular, USEPA's
investigations into these facilities discussed above. This
request was submitted on behalf of Plaintiff by the counsel
for the Environmental Groups in the 1994, 2004 and 2007
lawsuits. Specifically, the FOIA request sought:

(1) [a]ll documents in EPA's possession reporting, listing,
documenting and/or tabulating the discharge of raw or
partially treated sewage (sometimes referred to as “sanitary
sewer overflows”) from ... Honolulu's ... sanitary sewer
collection system from May 1, 2004 through the final date
that EPA searches its records for documents responsive to
this request;

(2) [a]ny Discharge Monitoring Reports (“DMRs”)
concerning the discharge of wastewater from ...
[Honolulu's] ... Sand Island wastewater treatment plant
from April 2007 though the final date that EPA searches its
records for documents responsive to this request; and

*4  (3) [a]ll documents in EPA's possession documenting,
discussing, reporting or otherwise concerning the
comprehensive review of ... Honolulu's ... wastewater
collection system and the Sand Island and Honoulili waste
water treatment plants referred to in paragraphs 6 and 7 of
the Declaration of Joann Cola in Support of United States'
Request to Enter Stipulated Order filed in United States
et al. v. City and County of Honolulu, Civ. No. 07–00235

DAE–KSC. 3

3 The Declaration of JoAnn Cola referenced in
this document request referred to USEPA's
investigations into the Honolulu's sewage
collection system and treatment plants in 2004 and
2005 discussed above. See footnote 2. Ms. Cola
is the EPA inspector with primary responsibility
for oversight of Honolulu's sewage system, and its
compliance with the Clean Water Act.

The Declaration of JoAnn Cola referenced above is attached
as Exhibit 8 to the Declaration of Hugh Barroll.

USEPA released a substantial number of documents
pursuant to this FOIA request. USEPA is withholding no
documents responsive to the second category of documents.
However, USEPA withheld from release a number of
documents responsive to the first and third categories of
documents sought on the grounds that their release would
reveal attorney work product, would reveal attorney-client
communications, and/or would interfere with enforcement
proceedings. Documents that would disclose attorney work
product or attorney-client communications are exempt from
disclosure pursuant to FOIA Exemption 5. 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)
(5). Documents which would interfere with enforcement
proceedings are exempt from disclosure pursuant to FOIA
Exemption 7(A). 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(A). Following an
appeal to USEPA Headquarters, which upheld the decision
to withhold the documents at issue here, Plaintiff filed this
action.

III. LEGAL STANDARD.
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A motion to transfer venue is governed by 28 U.S.C. §
1404(a), which allows a district court, for the convenience of
parties and witnesses, and in the interest of justice, to transfer
any civil action to any other district or division where it might
have been brought. Because the broad federal venue statutes
often result in inconvenient forums, Congress intended
section 1404(a) to remedy this situation by authorizing the
transfer of actions to a more convenient forum. Ferrens v.
John Deere Co., 494 U.S. 516, 522 (1990). Section 1404(a)
was designed to protect litigants, witnesses and the public
against unnecessary inconvenience and expense, Van Dusen
v. Barrack, 376 U.S. 612, 616 (1964), and to ensure “systemic
integrity and fairness” in the judicial process, Stewart Org.,
Inc. v. Ricoh Corp., 487 U.S. 22, 30 (1988), and the “efficient
administration of the court system.” Coffey v. Van Dorn Iron
Works, 796 F.2d 217, 220–21 (7th Cir.1989). The decision
as to whether transfer is appropriate under 1404(a) “involves
subtle considerations” that are best left to the broad discretion
of the district court. Ventress v. Japan Airlines, 486 F.3d 1111,
1118 (9th Cir.2007) (citation omitted).

As a threshold matter, the Court must determine if the action
subject to the motion to transfer “might have been brought”
by the Plaintiff in the transferee district (i.e., the district to
which the moving party seeks to transfer the action). Hoffman
v. Blaski, 363 U.S. 335, 343–44 (1960). Next, the Court
must determine if the transfer would serve “the interest of
justice” and “the convenience of parties and witnesses.” In
making this determination, the Court may consider: (1) the
plaintiff's choice of forum; (2) the parties' convenience; (3)
the witnesses' convenience; (4) ease of access to the evidence;
(5) familiarity of each forum with the applicable law; (6)
the feasibility of consolidation with other claims; (7) any
local interest in the controversy; and (8) the relative court
congestion and time to trial in each forum. Jones v. GNC
Franchising, 211 F.3d 495, 498–99 (9th Cir.2000).

*5  The moving party bears the burden of showing that
the balance of conveniences weighs heavily in favor of
transfer in order to overcome the strong presumption in
favor of the plaintiff's choice of forum. Decker Coal Co. v.
Commonwealth Edison Co., 805 F.2d 834, 843 (9th Cir.1986).
But a plaintiff's choice of forum is entitled only to minimal
consideration if the operative facts have not occurred within
the forum of original selection and that forum has no
particular interest in the parties or the subject matter of the
litigation. Pacific Car & Foundry Co. v. Pence, 403 F.2d 949,
954 (9th Cir.1968).

IV. DISCUSSION.
Plaintiff did not oppose, and therefore conceded, Defendants'
arguments that transfer to the District of Hawaii would
serve the interest of justice, the convenience of parties and

witnesses, and all other relevant factors. 4  In fact, Plaintiff
expressly waived any objection to transferring venue as
long as jurisdiction would be proper. Opp. Mem. at 5. The
only question Plaintiff raised was whether jurisdiction in the
District of Hawaii would be proper. Jurisdiction would be
proper for three reasons: first, jurisdiction is established under
the federal question statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, because this
FOIA action arises under a law of the United States; second,
the statute Plaintiff relies on, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B), is a
venue provision, not a jurisdictional one, and Plaintiff has
waived any objection to venue; and third, even if § 552(a)(4)
(B) could be said to govern jurisdiction over original actions,
Plaintiff's complaint qualifies for transfer to the District of
Hawaii because the case “might have been brought” as a
crossclaim to an existing action in Hawaii.

4 Plaintiff asserts that the documents at issue have
some connection to the instant forum, Opp. Mem.
at 4, but does not refute or oppose any of
Defendants' arguments that the documents concern
the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's
investigation of Honolulu's compliance with the
Clean Water Act, which is of direct concern to the
citizens of Hawaii, Mot. at 15–16.

A. SECTION 552(a)(4)(B) ESTABLISHES VENUE,
NOT JURISDICTION.

Plaintiff argues that § 552(a)(4)(B) grants subject matter
jurisdiction rather than venue to specific district courts, and
that the District of Hawaii would not have jurisdiction to
hear the instant FOIA claim under that statute. Although
it appears to be an issue of first impression in the Ninth

Circuit, 5  one district court has expressly analyzed the issue
and concluded that in FOIA cases, jurisdiction is established

under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 6  because the subject matter presents
a federal question, while venue is established under § 552(a)
(4)(B):

5 The Ninth Circuit cases cited by Plaintiff, Opp.
Mem. at 3, do not address the issue raised here.
Spurlock v. Federal Bureau of Investigation, 69
F.3d 1010 (9th Cir.1995), addressed whether the
FBI had to disclose documents that the district court

Case 2:19-ap-01382-SK    Doc 336-1    Filed 12/22/21    Entered 12/22/21 12:29:22    Desc
Exhibit Unpublished cases cited in reply    Page 65 of 92



Our Children's Earth Foundation v. U.S. E.P.A., Not Reported in F.Supp.2d (2008)
2008 WL 3181583

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 5

had already determined to be exempt under FOIA,
and did not concern venue at all. Similarly, Cal–
Almond v. U.S. Dep't of Agriculture, 960 F.2d 105
(9th Cir.1992), discussed whether the Department
of Agriculture's lists of almond growers were
properly exempt from disclosure under FOIA, and
did not address venue.

Nor did Baizer v. U.S. Dep't of the Air Force,
887 F.Supp. 225 (N.D.Cal.1995), address venue.
In that case, Judge Smith stated that “[u]nder
5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B), federal subject matter
jurisdiction in a FOIA case is dependent on a
showing that an agency has (1) ‘improperly’ (2)
‘withheld’ (3) ‘agency records.’ “ Id. at 226–27
(citation omitted). Judge Smith concluded that
Supreme Court opinions stored in an Air Force
computer database are not “agency records” and
do not have to be disclosed under FOIA. Id. at
229.

6 28 U.S.C. § 1331 states in its entirety, “The district
courts shall have original jurisdiction of all civil
actions arising under the Constitution, laws, or
treaties of the United States.”

Subject matter jurisdiction, venue, personal jurisdiction
and service of process are related but independent concepts
and all four requirements must be satisfied in every case.
See 4 Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure
§ 1063 at 329 (2002). In the present case, the docket
indicates that service of process and personal jurisdiction
have been satisfied. Subject matter jurisdiction has
been established because the FOIA presents a federal
question under 28 U.S.C. § 1331. Thus, the only
remaining question is whether venue is proper in the
Eastern District of Wisconsin.

As to venue, the FOIA provides,

*6  On complaint, the district court of the United
States in the district in which the complainant
resides, or has principal place of business, or in
which the agency records are situated, or in the
District of Columbia, has jurisdiction to enjoin the
agency from withholding agency records and to order
the production of any agency records improperly
withheld from the complainant.

5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B).

Section 552(a) (4)(B) is a venue provision statute and
not a jurisdiction conferring statute. Jones v. United
States Nuclear Regulatory Comm'n, 654 F.Supp. 130
(D.D.C.1987). Venue for an FOIA claim is proper in
any district in which the complainant resides or has its
principal place of business, the district in which the
records are situated, or in the District of Columbia. In
re Scott, 228 U.S.App. D.C. 278, 709 F.2d 717, 720
(D.C.App.1983).

O'Neill v. United States Dep't of Justice, 2007 WL 983143,
slip op. at *6 (E.D.Wis.2007) (emphasis added).

Consistent with this analysis, district courts within the Ninth
Circuit have described § 552(a)(4)(B) as a venue provision.
For example, this very court stated that “venue is not proper
in this district” when the requirements of § 552(a)(4)(B)
were not satisfied because the plaintiff resided in Kansas and
the records were located in Washington, D.C. and Hawaii.
Keen v. Federal Bureau of Investigation, 1997 WL 671711,
*1 (N.D.Cal.1997) (emphasis added). Likewise, the district
court for the District of Arizona described section 552(a)
(4)(B) as “[t]he FOIA venue provision.” Haswell v. Nat'l
R.R. Passenger Corp., 2006 WL 839067, slip op. at *1
(D.Ariz.2006) (emphasis added).

In support of its position, Plaintiff cites two cases from the
district court for the District of Columbia decided in the

1980s. See Opp. Mem. at 4. 7  More recently, however, that
court has stated that “[u]nder the FOIA venue statute, 5
U.S.C. 552(a)(4)(B), venue is always proper in the District
of Columbia.” Boggs v. United States, 987 F.Supp. 11, 18
n. 4 (D.D.C.1997) (emphasis added). Moreover, the United
States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia has
characterized the FOIA section as a venue statute in at
least two published decisions. See Lykins v. United States
Dep't of Justice, 725 F.2d 1455, 1462 n. 7 (D.C.Cir.1984)
(stating that “Congress explicitly laid venue in FOIA cases”
in the courts outlined in § 552(a)(4)(B)); In re Scott, 709
F.2d 717, 720 (D.C.Cir.1983) (describing § 552(a)(4)(B) as
“the applicable FOIA venue provision”); accord Banks v.
Partyka, 2007 WL 2693180, slip op. at *5 (W.D.Okla.2007)
(“Under both FOIA and the Privacy Act, venue is proper
in the district where claimant resides, in the district where
agency records are situated, or in the District of Columbia.”).
These holdings of the D.C. Court of Appeals and the recent
holding of the D.C. district court in Boggs are entitled to
appropriate deference. See Scott, 709 F.2d at 720 (noting
that Congress believed District of Columbia courts had
“substantial expertise in working with the FOIA”) (internal
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quotations omitted); Matlack, Inc. v. U.S. EPA, 868 F.Supp.
627, 630 & n. 3 (D.Del.1994) (noting that the federal courts in
the District of Columbia have “long been on the leading edge”
of interpreting the FOIA). In conclusion, because this FOIA
action arises under a federal statute, jurisdiction is proper in
either the Northern District of California or the District of
Hawaii.

7 Plaintiff also cites Weber v. Coney, 642 F.2d 91,
93 (5th Cir.1981), but that case addressed the
question of whether a case was properly transferred
between two divisions of the same district, not, as
here, whether a case may be properly transferred
between two different districts.

B. REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SECTION 552(a)
(4)(B) CONFERS JURISDICTION OR VENUE,
TRANSFER TO HAWAII IS PROPER BECAUSE
PLAINTIFF'S FOIA CLAIM COULD HAVE BEEN
BROUGHT AS A CROSSCLAIM THERE .

*7  Even if § 552(a)(4)(B) was deemed to govern jurisdiction
as to original actions filed under FOIA, original jurisdiction is
not required for purposes of transfer. As Defendants explained
in their motion at 11, there are two methods by which a
case “might have been brought” in a district for purposes of
transfer: (1) if original jurisdiction would have existed in the
transferee district (citing Hoffman v. Blaski, 363 U.S. 335, 344
(1960)), or (2) if the case could have been filed as a claim in
an existing action in the transferee district (citing A.J. Indus.,
Inc. v. U.S. Dist. Court for the Central Dist. of Cal., 503 F.2d
384, 387 (9th Cir.1974)). Plaintiff did not specifically oppose
this two-method test in its opposition memo or proffer any law
or argument as to why this test is not good law, and therefore
conceded the test.

Nevertheless, Plaintiff asserts that transfer to Hawaii would
be improper because original jurisdiction could not exist
there, stating erroneously that “28 U.S.C. § 1404(a) only
allows a transfers (sic) to district courts where a Plaintiff's
complaint could have originally been filed.” Opp. Mem. at
2. Plaintiff offers no legal support for this assertion, which
is clearly wrong in light of the two-method test stated above

that is the product of binding Supreme Court and Ninth
Circuit authority. The practical effect of accepting Plaintiff's
assertion would be to eliminate from the test the second basis
for jurisdiction (allowing transfer if a case could have been
filed as a claim in an existing action), thereby overruling
controlling Ninth Circuit precedent under A.J. Indus. This
court declines Plaintiff's attempt to circumvent the Ninth
Circuit's holding in A.J. Indus. through the back door.

The two-method test remains good law, and under that test,
even if original jurisdiction did not lie in the District of
Hawaii under § 552(a)(4)(B), the instant case could have been
filed as a crossclaim in lawsuits commenced in the District
of Hawaii by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
in 1994 and 2007 in which OCE intervened. See Mot. at
12. Plaintiff did not specifically analyze or refute any of
Defendants' arguments as to why OCE could have brought
the instant action as a crossclaim in Hawaii, beyond Plaintiff's
generalized assertion that § 552(a)(4)(B) is a jurisdictional
statute.

Finally, § 552(a)(4)(B) nowhere states that the jurisdiction
it confers (if any) is conferred to the exclusion of other
federal statutes or rules such as § 1331, § 1404(a), Rule 13(g)
(allowing for crossclaims against a coparty), or Rule 15(d)
(allowing for supplemental pleadings). Nor does Plaintiff cite
any case holding this. Thus, even if § 552(a)(4)(B) confers
jurisdiction rather than addresses venue, transfer would still
be proper because the instant action could have been brought
as a crossclaim in the District of Hawaii.

III. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the court GRANTS Defendants'
Motion to Transfer Venue to the District of Hawaii and
ORDERS the clerk of court to transfer this case to the District
of Hawaii.

*8  IT IS SO ORDERED.

All Citations

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2008 WL 3181583

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Avalon C. Johnson Fitzgerald, Downey Brand LLP,
Sacramento, CA, for Defendants.

ORDER

Kimberly Mueller, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

*1  Plaintiff Robin Rumbaugh, as trustee of the Edith and
James Harley Trust dated August 31, 1981 (“1981 Trust”),
sues defendants Cynthia Harley in her individual capacity
and as trustee of the Harley Family Trust dated December

15, 1988 (“1988 Trust”). 1  Compl., ECF No. 1. Rumbaugh
alleges multiple common law claims based on Harley's
alleged improper possession of 1981 Trust assets. Harley
moves to dismiss the entire complaint, alleging in part that
all claims are time-barred. Mot., ECF No. 7-1. Rumbaugh
opposes, Opp'n, ECF No. 13, and Harley has replied, Reply,
ECF No. 17. The court submitted the motion on February 2,
2018. ECF No. 19. As explained below, Harley's motion is
GRANTED with prejudice.

1 Rumbaugh also indicates she may sue Does I to
X. While naming Doe defendants is disfavored
in federal court, under Lindley v. Gen. Elec. Co.,
780 F.2d 797, 799-801 (9th Cir. 1986), a federal

court sitting in diversity must apply the state's Doe
defendant statute. A plaintiff has an opportunity
through discovery to identify these Doe defendants.
Gillespie v. Civiletti, 629 F.2d 637, 642 (9th
Cir. 1980). But the court will dismiss these Doe
defendants if discovery clearly would not uncover
their identities or if the complaint would clearly
be dismissed on other grounds. Id. at 642. The
federal rules also provide for dismissing unnamed
defendants that, absent good cause, are “not served
within 90 days after the complaint is filed.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 4(m).

I. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background
For this motion, the court assumes the following allegations
are true. See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(citation omitted). Rumbaugh alleges Harley, acting both
in an individual capacity and as trustee of the 1988 Trust,
improperly possesses 1981 Trust assets, including cash
totaling $776,647.71 and real property located in Sonora,
California purchased with “cash belonging to Plaintiff.”
Compl. ¶ 8. Harley wrongfully holds these 1981 Trust assets
in the 1988 Trust or personally. Id. ¶¶ 6, 8. Rumbaugh,
current trustee of the 1981 Trust and daughter of trust
beneficiary Edith Harley, learned of Harley's possession of
these assets after the October 4, 2014 death of Richard
Harley (“Richard”), previous trustee and son of Edith Harley.
Id. ¶¶ 7-9. “Upon her appointment as” trustee of the 1981
Trust in November 17, 2015, Rumbaugh “requested that
[Harley] return the trust assets in [Harley's] possession to
[Rumbaugh].” Id. ¶ 6, 9. Harley allegedly initially agreed
“to deliver possession[,] and arrangements were made for the
return of the assets no later than February 28, 2017.” Id. ¶ 9.
But Harley “failed to return the assets ... as agreed, and now
refuses to return the [assets] altogether” despite Rumbaugh's
demands. Id. ¶ 10.

B. Procedural Background
Rumbaugh filed this complaint on September 22,
2017, alleging claims of conversion, unjust enrichment,
constructive trust and money had and received against
defendants. Compl. ¶¶ 11-32. Rumbaugh seeks return of the
$776,647.71 in cash and the fair market value of the real
property Rumbaugh describes in the complaint among other
forms of relief. Id. at 5.
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*2  Harley moves to dismiss the entire complaint with
prejudice, alleging that all claims are time-barred because
they arise from Richard's misconduct and Rumbaugh fails
to sufficiently allege claims for unjust enrichment and a
constructive trust. See Mot. at 6-16. Harley has also requested
judicial notice of multiple court filings in Nevada state
court. See Req. Judicial Notice (RJN), ECF No. 8. In
opposition, Rumbaugh contends her claims arise not only
from Richard's conduct but also from defendant Harley's
conduct, that equitable tolling applies in the alternative and
that Rumbaugh has sufficiently pleaded all claims. See Opp'n
at 8-17. Rumbaugh requests leave to amend if the court grants
Harley's motion for any reason. See id. at 17-19. Rumbaugh
“does not object to” Harley's request for judicial notice but
asserts that, through the documents the court is asked to
take notice of, Harley admits “all of the factual allegations
contained therein ....” Id. at 2 (underlining in original). In
reply, Harley renews previous arguments, contends equitable
estoppel does not preclude her from raising a statute of
limitations defense and asserts leave to amend would be futile.
See Reply at 3-9.

The court resolves the motion below.

II. LEGAL STANDARD
A party may move to dismiss a complaint for “failure to
state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12(b)(6). The motion may be granted only if the movant
can show the complaint lacks a “cognizable legal theory” or
if its factual allegations do not support a cognizable legal
theory. Hartmann v. Cal. Dep't of Corr. & Rehab., 707 F.3d
1114, 1122 (9th Cir. 2013). Determining whether a complaint
survives a motion to dismiss is a “context-specific task that
requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience
and common sense.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679. A claim may
be subject to dismissal if allegations show it is barred by
statutory limitations. Supermail Cargo, Inc. v. U.S., 68 F.3d
1204, 1206 (9th Cir. 1995). The burden lies with the defendant
to show “beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of
facts that would establish the timeliness of the claim.” Id. at
1205.

The court must construe the complaint in a light most
favorable to a plaintiff and accept as true its factual
allegations. Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93-94 (2007).
Should a motion to dismiss be granted, district courts may
allow the plaintiff leave to amend “when a viable case may
be presented.” Lipton v. Pathogenesis Corp., 284 F.3d 1027,
1039 (9th Cir. 2002). Courts “should freely give leave when

justice so requires.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2). “This policy is to
be applied with extreme liberality.” Eminence Capital, LLC v.
Aspeon, Inc., 316 F.3d 1048, 1051 (9th Cir. 2003) (citation and
quotation marks omitted). But leave to amend would be futile
where no amendment could cure the deficiency presented.
Cafasso, U.S. ex rel. v. Gen. Dynamics C4 Sys., Inc., 637 F.3d
1047, 1058 (9th Cir. 2011).

III. JUDICIAL NOTICE AND ADMISSIONS

A. Judicial Notice of Court Filings
Harley requests judicial notice of multiple court filings made
in Nevada state court. See RJN Exs. A-H. Rumbaugh does
not object to Harley's request for judicial notice, but asserts
an “understanding that, by asking the [c]ourt to take judicial
notice [of Nevada state court filings], [Harley] has admitted
all of the factual allegations contained therein, as well as all
of the reasonable inferences that may be drawn from such
allegations” for purposes of this motion to dismiss. Opp'n at 2.

The court may take judicial notice of matters that
either are “generally known within the trial court's
territorial jurisdiction” or “can be accurately and readily
determined from sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably
be questioned.” Fed. R. Evid. 201(b). Public records,
including judgments and other publicly filed documents, are
proper subjects of judicial notice. See, e.g., United States v.
Black, 482 F.3d 1035, 1041 (9th Cir. 2007) (“[Courts] may
take notice of proceedings in other courts, both within and
without the federal judicial system, if those proceedings have
a direct relation to matters at issue.”). But to the extent any
facts in documents subject to judicial notice are subject to
reasonable dispute, the court will not take judicial notice of
those facts. See Lee v. City of Los Angeles, 250 F.3d 668, 689
(9th Cir. 2001), overruled on other grounds by Galbraith v.
Cty. of Santa Clara, 307 F.3d 1119 (9th Cir. 2002).

*3  Because the state court records are the proper subjects of
judicial notice and certain records are relevant to the motion
to dismiss, the court GRANTS Harley's request for judicial
notice. The court addresses the state court records below as
relevant to resolve the motion.

B. Judicial Admissions Within Court Filings
Harley contends statements in Rumbaugh's opposition to a
motion in Nevada state court constitute judicial admissions.
Mot. at 6-8. Harley contends “there can be no dispute that
Rumbaugh's claims are directed at, and arise from, Richard's
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alleged misconduct as trustee ..., and not from Harley's
alleged refusal to return those assets in 2017.” Id. at 8
(emphasis in original). Although Rumbaugh disputes Harley's
assertion that Rumbaugh admitted “her claims arise from
[Richard's] conduct,” Rumbaugh does not dispute the content
of the statements Harley asserts are judicial admissions. See
Opp'n at 8 (asserting “Rumbaugh's claims arise not only
from [Richard's] conduct, ... but also from Cynthia Harley's
conduct” and “that it does not matter in the slightest whether
Ms. Rumbaugh also has ‘judicially admitted’ that [Richard]
was liable for his own wrongdoings ....”). Rumbaugh also
provides a list of factual allegations and inferences from
those allegations based on the Nevada state court filings
that Rumbaugh believes Harley has admitted by requesting
judicial notice. See Opp'n at 2-7.

Admissions in pleadings generally bind the parties and can
bind the court. Am. Title Ins. Co. v. Lacelaw Corp., 861 F.2d
224, 226 (9th Cir. 1988) (citing Ferguson v. Neighborhood
Hous. Servs. of Cleveland, Inc., 780 F.2d 549, 551 (6th
Cir.1986) ). “ ‘Judicial admissions are formal admissions in
the pleadings which have the effect of withdrawing a fact from
issue and dispensing wholly with the need for proof of the
fact.’ ” Id. (quoting In re Fordson Eng'g Corp., 25 B.R. 506,
509 (Bankr.E.D.Mich.1982) ). “[S]tatements of fact contained
in a brief may be considered admissions of the party in the
discretion of the district court.” Id. at 227 (emphasis omitted).
Judicial admissions are “conclusively binding on the party
who made them.” Id. Trial courts have discretion to accept
or reject a judicial admission in contexts such as statements
made in open court by a party's attorney. Singer v. State Farm
Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 116 F.3d 373, 376 (9th Cir.1997) (citing
Lacelaw, 861 F.2d at 227).

Here, because Rumbaugh does not dispute the contents
of her statements in her opposition to Harley's motion to
dismiss Rumbaugh's state court petition, the court exercises
its discretion to find Rumbaugh's statements there constitute
judicial admissions. See RJN Ex. G. Specifically, Rumbaugh
asserted “a prior trustee ( [Rumbaugh's] brother, [Richard] )
took trust assets for himself and his family.” Id. at 1.
Rumbaugh also contended Harley “refused to return trust
assets, stolen by her husband ....” Id. at 4. According to
Rumbaugh, “Richard had exclusive control over the trust
assets” during Richard's “term as [t]rustee between 2008 and
2014.” Id. at 3. Rumbaugh “discovered that [Rumbaugh's]
brother Richard had titled certain trust assets, including ... real
property and cash assets, in the name of his family living trust
that he and [Harley] were co-[t]rustees of.” Id.

At the same time, the court declines to deem Rumbaugh's
statements judicial admissions as to Harley. See Lacelaw,
861 F.2d at 226 (“Factual assertions in pleadings ... are
considered judicial admissions conclusively binding on the
party who made them.”). Rumbaugh repeatedly cites her
own complaint in this case, her state court petition and
her opposition to Harley's motion to dismiss the state
court petition, contending her own statements also constitute
Harley's judicial admissions. See Opp'n at 2-7 (citing RJN
Exs. E, G and Compl.). Because Harley did not make
the statements in those documents, those statements cannot
conclusively bind Harley.

IV. ANALYSIS

A. Statute of Limitations
*4  Harley primarily contends Rumbaugh's claims are

precluded by the one-year statute of limitations established
by California Code of Civil Procedure section 366.2. Mot. at
8-12. Harley asserts “the substance of [Rumbaugh's] claims
arises from Richard's alleged misconduct” and Rumbaugh's
claims “are truly directed at” Richard. Id. at 8, 11. These
claims are time-barred because the statute of limitations
prohibits Rumbaugh from suing more than one year after
Richard's death in October 2014, Harley argues, and no
grounds for tolling exist to extend the statute of limitations.
See Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 366.2(a); Mot. at 12-13; Compl.
¶ 7 (complaint filed on September 22, 2017, alleging Richard
died on October 4, 2014). In opposition, Rumbaugh asserts
her claims “arise not only from [Richard's] conduct ... but
also from Cynthia Harley's conduct, both personally and as
a co-trustee of the [1988 Trust].” Opp'n at 8. Thus, she says,
section 366.2 does not apply to Rumbaugh's claims. See Opp'n
at 9-12.

California Code of Civil Procedure section 366.2 provides in
pertinent part:

If a person against whom an action
may be brought on a liability of the
person, whether arising in contract,
tort, or otherwise, and whether accrued
or not accrued, dies before the
expiration of the applicable limitations
period, and the cause of action
survives, an action may be commenced
within one year after the date of death,
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and the limitations period that would
have been applicable does not apply.

Cal.Civ. Proc. Code § 366.2(a). In Dacey v. Taraday, 196 Cal.
App. 4th 962, 981-86 (2011), the California Court of Appeal
construed the meaning of the words in section 366.2(a), citing
other cases in the process. As relevant here, the court observed
that “[a]n action is defined as ‘an ordinary proceeding in a
court of justice by which one party prosecutes another for
the declaration, enforcement, or protection of a right, the
redress or prevention of a wrong, or the punishment of a
public offense.’ ” Id. at 981 (citing Cal. Civ. Proc. Code
§ 22). And “[l]iability of the person, or ‘personal liability’
means ‘[l]iability for which one is personally accountable
and for which a wronged party can seek satisfaction out of
the wrongdoer's personal assets.’ ” Estate of Yool, 151 Cal.
App. 4th 867, 875 (2007) (citing Black's Law Dict. (8th ed.
2004) at 933). As the Dacey court observed, another court
of appeal reasoned any “misconduct must occur [before] the
decedent's death,” but because the action may have accrued
or not accrued under section 366.2(a), “the claim does not
have to be discovered while the decedent is alive.” Dacey,
196 Cal. App. 4th at 983 (citing Ferraro v. Camarlinghi, 161
Cal. App. 4th 509, 554 (2008) ). The Dacey court noted that
no case “has applied the statute when the decedent did not
commit the injury.” Id. at 984. The Dacey court concluded
the California Legislature did not intend “section 366.2 to
apply to mere claims, but intended the statute to apply in any
action on a debt of the decedent ....” Id. at 986 (emphasis
removed) (citations omitted). The California Supreme Court
also reasoned this statute of limitations was intended to apply
“against another person, such as a distributee ... or a trustee.”
Collection Bureau of San Jose v. Rumsey, 24 Cal. 4th 301,
308 (2000) (emphasis removed) (citing Recommendation
Relating to Notice to Creditors in Estate Administration (Dec.
1989), 20 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. at 515 (1990) ).

Thus, if Rumbaugh “may [have] brought” an action, or a
“redress ... of a wrong” against Richard “for which [Richard]
is personally accountable,” and that claim “survives” Richard,
the misconduct having occurred before Richard's death,
Rumbaugh had at most one year after Richard's death to bring
that action. See Cal. Civ. Proc. Code §§ 22, 366.2(a); Dacey,
196 Cal. App. 4th at 983; Estate of Yool, 151 Cal. App. 4th
at 875; Ferraro, 161 Cal. App. 4th at 554 (reasoning section
366.2’s use of “survives” means the action “might have been
brought against the decedent while living”); cf. Shewry v.
Begil, 128 Cal. App. 4th 639, 644 (2005), as modified (May 4,

2005) (finding section 366.2 “inapplicable” based on liability
for an action that “could not have been brought against
the decedent”). Section 366.2(a) therefore applies even if
Rumbaugh could separately allege an action against another
defendant, including Harley. See Levine v. Levine, 102 Cal.
App. 4th 1256, 1265 (2002) (“The language is clear that the
one-year statute applies to all debts of the decedent regardless
of whom the claims are brought against.”).

*5  This construction comports with the observation that
under California law “[t]here is no meaningful distinction
between the liability of the decedent trustee who committed
a tort as trustee and the successor trustee in her capacity as
trustee, except that the decedent trustee's estate might also
be liable.” Stoltenberg v. Newman, 179 Cal. App. 4th 287,
294 (2009) (“[t]he authorities do not support ... a distinction”
between “the decedent trustee” and “the trust (which, as
noted, is not an entity or proper party) and successor trustee ...
for purposes of the application of section 366.2”).

As the Stoltenberg court observed, “[h]ad [decedent trustee]
been alive, any tort action arising out of the acts alleged by
plaintiffs would have been against him .... It would make
no sense if the statute of limitations barring claims for a
decedent's tortious actions could be avoided by not pursuing a
claim against the estate of the decedent but rather proceeding
against the successor trustee of the decedent's trust.” 179
Cal. App. 4th at 295-96. The same court further observed,
regarding the claims at issue in that case, “that whatever
its form, the substance of the claims ... [was based on] the
personal misconduct of the settlor/trustee on behalf of and for
the benefit of the trust, that was completed entirely before
the settlor/trustee died, and for which the settlor/trustee could
have been held personally liable.” Id. at 296. Thus, the action
there was “one that could have been ‘brought on a liability of
the person’ ... and [was] based ‘on a debt of the decedent.’
” Id. (citing Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 366.2(a) and Rumsey, 24
Cal. 4th at 308).

The “restrictive” and “short limitation period” set by section
366.2(a) reflects the Legislature's purpose of protecting “a
decedent's heirs, beneficiaries and devisees from unknown
and unfiled claims.” Dobler v. Arluk Med. Ctr. Indus. Grp.,
Inc., 89 Cal. App. 4th 530, 536 (2001) (observing section
366.2’s statute of limitations “also enable[s] the expeditious
administration of probate estates”); see also Collections
Bureau, 24 Cal. 4th at 307-312 (analyzing legislative intent
as to section 366.2 and relying in part on “the strong public
policy of expeditious estate administration” evidenced in a
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California Probate Code section incorporating a one-year
statute of limitations).

The court next considers whether tolling or equitable estoppel
applies to the one-year statute of limitations, to the extent
section 366.2 applies to claims in this case.

B. Tolling and Equitable Estoppel
Rumbaugh asserts section 366.2, to the extent it applies to
Rumbaugh's claims, is equitably tolled under the doctrine
of equitable estoppel. Opp'n at 13-15. Harley contends no
tolling exception enumerated under section 366.2(b) applies
here, even if Rumbaugh had alleged such an exception did
apply. See Mot. at 12-13. In reply, Harley rebuts Rumbaugh's
assertions that equitable estoppel tolls the section 366.2
statute of limitations. See Reply at 7-8.

Section 366.2(b) 2  provides that the limitations period
established by section 366.2(a) “shall not be tolled or
extended for any reason” with a few exceptions “where
applicable,” including California Code of Civil Procedure
sections related to calculating time and certain portions of the
California Probate Code. See Dobler, 89 Cal. App. 4th at 535
& nn.8-10 (“This limitations period, however, is tolled by (1)
the timely filing of a creditor claim; (2) the filing of a petition
for payment of debts, claims or expenses from the decedent's
revocable trust; or (3) a proceeding to judicially construe a
‘no contest’ provision.”) (footnotes citing California Probate
Code sections 9100, 9103, 1900 et seq., and 21300 et seq.).
Additionally, section 366.2(a) “is not subject to delayed
discovery.” Levine, 102 Cal. App. 4th at 1265; see also Cal.
Civ. Proc. Code § 366.2(a) (one-year limitations period for
an action “whether accrued or not accrued”). As explained
below, no allegations in Rumbaugh's complaint provide a
basis for application of any of the enumerated bases for tolling
in section 366.2(b), nor does Rumbaugh point in opposition to
the possibility of her pleading such a basis. See Opp'n at 9-15.

2 The full text of California Civil Code § 366.2(b) is
as follows:

(b) The limitations period provided in this
section for commencement of an action shall
not be tolled or extended for any reason except
as provided in any of the following, where
applicable:
(1) Sections 12, 12a, and 12b of this code.

(2) Part 4 (commencing with Section 9000) of
Division 7 of the Probate Code (creditor claims
in administration of estates of decedents).
(3) Part 8 (commencing with Section 19000)
of Division 9 of the Probate Code (payment of
claims, debts, and expenses from revocable trust
of deceased settlor).
(4) Former Part 3 (commencing with Section
21300) of Division 11 of the Probate Code (no
contest clauses), as that part read prior to its
repeal by Chapter 174 of the Statutes of 2008.

*6  Rumbaugh asserts in her opposition that equitable
estoppel applies here, and the determination of whether this
doctrine applies is a factual question for the jury. Opp'n
at 14. As the factual basis for her assertion of equitable
estoppel, Rumbaugh relies on Harley's alleged agreement to
deliver the improperly possessed assets to Rumbaugh no later
than February 28, 2017. See id.; Compl. ¶ 9. According to
Rumbaugh, Harley “induced Ms. Rumbaugh into forbearing
to file suit within the applicable limitations period” and
section 366.2 therefore “is equitably tolled,” precluding
Harley “from asserting [s]ection 366.2 as a defense to”
Rumbaugh's claims. Opp'n at 14-15. In reply, Harley contends
Rumbaugh's asserted grounds for equitable estoppel cannot
save any claims otherwise barred by section 366.2(a)’s statute
of limitations. Reply at 7-8. Harley is correct, based on
Rumbaugh's own allegations and admissions of which the
court has taken judicial notice.

In Battuello v. Batuello, 64 Cal. App. 4th 842, 847 (1998),
the court observed that section 366.2’s prohibitions on tolling
or extending a claim say “nothing about equitable estoppel.”
But equitable estoppel, unlike tolling, “comes into play only
after the limitations period has run” and could apply where “a
party will be estopped from asserting the statute of limitations
as a defense to an admittedly untimely action because his
conduct has induced another into forbearing suit within the
applicable limitations period.” Id. Applying these principles
to the facts of that case, the court found plaintiff had alleged
sufficient facts for the doctrine to apply because defendant
“convinced him not to file a timely suit by telling him that he
would receive” the disputed property. Id. at 848. “By the time
[plaintiff] learned [defendant's] promise was false, the statute
of limitations had passed.” Id.

Here, Richard died on October 4, 2014. Compl. ¶ 7. A
Nevada court approved Rumbaugh's petition to be appointed
trustee of the 1981 Trust on November 17, 2015. Id. By that
time, the one-year statute of limitations had already expired,
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having run out well before Rumbaugh filed her complaint in
September 22, 2017. Rumbaugh's alleged request that Harley
return the improperly possessed 1981 Trust Assets “[u]pon
her appointment as [t]rustee of the [1981 Trust],” and Harley's
agreement “to deliver possession,” came too late for equitable
estoppel to save any claims covered by section 366.2.

The court next addresses each claim, addressing whether
section 366.2 bars the claim and, if not or if necessary to
inform a complete analysis, whether Rumbaugh sufficiently
pleads the claim.

C. Conversion
Harley does not assert Rumbaugh has failed to sufficiently
plead a conversion claim against her, but Harley has
contended section 366.2 bars Rumbaugh's entire complaint.
Mot. at 8. Rumbaugh contends section 366.2 bars none of
her claims. Opp'n at 9-12. Although Rumbaugh sufficiently
pleads a conversion claim against Harley, section 366.2
precludes Rumbaugh's claim because, as explained below,
Rumbaugh “may [have] brought” the same claim against
Richard. Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 366.2(a).

In California, a plaintiff may allege conversion by asserting
“the wrongful exercise of dominion over another's personal
property in denial of or inconsistent with his rights in the
property.” In re Emery, 317 F.3d 1064, 1069 (9th Cir. 2003).
Conversion requires only intent to possess, not wrongful
intent. Id.; Taylor v. Forte Hotels Int'l, 235 Cal. App. 3d 1119,
1124 (Ct. App. 1991). “To establish [conversion], a plaintiff
must show ‘ownership or right to possession of property,
wrongful disposition of the property right and damages.’
” Kremen v. Cohen, 337 F.3d 1024, 1029 (9th Cir. 2003)
(quoting G.S. Rasmussen & Assocs., Inc. v. Kalitta Flying
Serv., Inc., 958 F.2d 896, 906 (9th Cir.1992) ).

Rumbaugh asserts Harley has “intentionally and substantially
interfered” with 1981 Trust assets by “refusing to return”
the assets despite Rumbaugh's entitlement, thus “causing
harm.” Compl. ¶¶ 13, 17. Rumbaugh has asserted facts to
support those legal contentions, including that Rumbaugh
had learned certain assets, including a specific piece of
real property and a definite sum of cash, were possessed
by Harley personally or in the 1988 Trust. Id. ¶ 8 (“[r]eal
property located at 22532 Phoenix Lake Road, Sonora,
California” purchased “by Harley with cash belonging to
[Rumbaugh]” and “$776,647.71 cash deposited in [Harley's]
bank accounts”). Rumbaugh has also alleged Harley agreed
to deliver possession of those assets but “failed to return the

assets” and “now refuses to return” those assets “altogether
despite demands by [Rumbaugh] to do so.” Id. ¶¶ 9-10.
Rumbaugh's allegations adequately convey the “wrongful
exercise of dominion over another's personal property”
required for a conversion claim and Harley's intent to possess
(and continue possessing) that property. See In re Emery, 317
F.3d at 1069.

*7  But Rumbaugh “may [have] brought” the same
conversion claim against Richard because, as Rumbaugh has
admitted in a filing in Nevada state court, Richard was the one
who “took [1981 Trust] assets and for himself and his family”
during his “exclusive control over the trust assets” between
“2008 and 2014,” “titl[ing] certain trust assets, including ...
real property and cash assets, in the name of his family living
trust that he and [Harley] were co-[t]rustees of.” RJN Ex. G
at 1-4.; see Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 366.2(a). Thus, the one-
year statute of limitations in section 366.2(a) applies, and
Rumbaugh's claim is time-barred.

Rumbaugh asserts her claims “arise not only from [Richard's]
conduct, ... but also from [Harley's] conduct,” both personally
and as a co-trustee, which included her agreeing to deliver
possession of improperly possessed trust assets no later
than February 28, 2017. Opp'n at 7-8. Rumbaugh argues
Harley's independent wrongdoing distinguishes this case
from other cases in which courts have applied section
366.2(a)’s statute of limitations. See Opp'n at 11. For instance,
in Levine, 102 Cal. App. 4th at 1258-59, plaintiffs sued
defendant trustee in her representative capacity, seeking
recovery of funds improperly withdrawn by decedent, the
trustee's dead husband. The defendant was not involved in
decedent's misconduct. Rumbaugh contends Levine involved
no independent wrongdoing by the surviving defendant
trustee, unlike Harley's independent conversion here. See
Opp'n 11. Yet the court in Levine found section 366.2 barred
the first amended complaint in that case, which had named
the trust as a defendant and changed the claims to conversion
and breach of the Probate Code instead of breach of fiduciary
duty. Id. at 1259. And, it said, “[t]he language is clear that the
one-year statute applies to all debts of the decedent regardless
of whom the claims are brought against.” Id. at 1265.

Rumbaugh argues her case is distinguishable from
Stoltenberg, 179 Cal. App. 4th at 291, contending the
facts there were different because the court had held in an
earlier appeal “that plaintiffs did not allege facts showing
that [surviving defendant trustee] committed any breach
of fiduciary duty or caused any damages.” In contrast,
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here, Rumbaugh alleges Harley has committed independent
misconduct. Opp'n at 11. But in Stoltenberg the surviving
defendant trustee was a co-trustee with the decedent before
decedent died, like Harley here. See 179 Cal. App. 4th
at 290. Additionally, plaintiffs, like Rumbaugh here, sued
the surviving defendant trustee in her individual capacity
and as the successor trustee. Id. at 291 & n.4. The court
still determined the “action [was] one that could have been
‘brought on a liability of the person’ (§ 366.2, subd. (a) ), and
[was] based on a debt of the decedent ... even though brought
against the successor trustee.” Id. at 296-97 (some internal
quotation marks omitted) (citation omitted). The claims were
therefore “barred by section 366.2.” Id. at 297.

Rumbaugh also argues her case is distinguishable from
Rumsey, 24 Cal. 4th at 308-10, in which the California
Supreme Court found section 366.2 barred claims for unpaid
debts of a debtor spouse. Rumbaugh asserts her claims here
are for Harley's misconduct, not based merely on Harley's
status as the spouse of Richard. See Opp'n at 11. Although this
argument might otherwise be persuasive, Rumbaugh cannot
escape the plain language of section 366.2, which provides
the one-year statute of limitations applies where “an action
may be brought on a liability of the person ....” Cal. Civ. Proc.
Code § 366.2(a).

*8  Court decisions finding section 366.2 inapplicable do not
help Rumbaugh, either. In reaching these decisions, courts
generally have found section 366.2 did not apply or would not
apply because the wrongful conduct had not occurred before
the decedent's death. See, e.g., Dacey, 196 Cal. App. 4th at
986 (holding section 366.2 did not apply where breach of
contract occurred after decedent's death, “[s]ince [plaintiff]
had no cause of action against [decedent] at the time of his
death”); Lauter v. Anoufrieva, 642 F.Supp.2d 1060, 1106-07
(C.D. Cal. 2009) (finding section 366.2 did not apply to
malicious prosecution claim because claim could not have
been filed before defendant died); Ferarro, 161 Cal. App.
4th at 552-54 (2008) (holding section 366.2 did not time-bar
action alleging decedent violated agreement for the division
of her estate properties and assets); Estate of Yool, 151 Cal.
App. 4th at 876-77 (“At the time of [decedent's] death,
nothing had occurred to affect the rights of ..., the beneficiary
of the resulting trust.... [Decedent] had not repudiated the
resulting trust or shown any resistance to conveying the
property.... The legal issue of who owned the [property] and
to whom it should be conveyed only arose after [decedent's]
death.”) (emphasis in original).

This court therefore finds section 366.2 applies to
Rumbaugh's conversion claim here because she could have
brought that claim against Richard for his wrongdoing.
Because Rumbaugh sued for this claim after the one-year
statute of limitations period expired, the court GRANTS
Harley's motion to dismiss the claim. Because leave to amend
would be futile, the court denies leave to amend. See Ascon
Props., Inc. v. Mobil Oil Co., 866 F.2d 1149, 1160 (9th
Cir.1989) (“Leave need not be granted where the amendment
of the complaint would cause the opposing party undue
prejudice, is sought in bad faith, constitutes an exercise in
futility, or creates undue delay.”).

D. Unjust Enrichment
Harley contends both that section 366.2 bars Rumbaugh's
unjust enrichment claim and that Rumbaugh has not
sufficiently pleaded this claim because she has not pleaded
possession of the 1981 Trust assets “as the result of Harley's
fraud or coercion, nor can she.” Mot. at 14-15. Rumbaugh
maintains she sufficiently pleads this claim based on “Harley's
conduct.” Opp'n at 15-16.

Unjust enrichment occurs when “a defendant has been
unjustly conferred a benefit ‘through mistake, fraud, coercion,
or request.’ ” Astiana v. Hain Celestial Grp., Inc., 783 F.3d
753, 762 (9th Cir. 2015) (quoting 55 Cal. Jur. 3d Restitution
§ 2). “ ‘[I]n California, there is not a standalone cause
of action for ‘unjust enrichment,’ which is synonymous
with ‘restitution.’ ” Id. (citations omitted). But a court
may “construe [unjust enrichment] as a quasi-contract claim
seeking restitution” if a plaintiff plausibly alleges the absence
of applicable and enforceable contract provisions and a
benefit conferred through mistake, fraud, coercion or request.
Rutherford Holdings, LLC v. Plaza Del Rey, 223 Cal. App.
4th 221, 232 (2014) (plaintiff alleging mistake or fraud
resulting in conferred benefit of retained deposit based
on potentially unenforceable contract provision); see, e.g.,
Longest v. Green Tree Servicing LLC, 74 F. Supp. 3d 1289,
1302 (C.D. Cal. 2015) (plaintiffs alleging fraud by inflating
insurance premiums, resulting in conferred benefit of insurers
retaining “unauthorized kickbacks”); Astiana, 783 F.3d at 762
(plaintiffs alleging fraud through “ ‘false and misleading’
labeling” of purchased body products resulting in conferred
benefit of “enrichment”).

Here, Rumbaugh has not plausibly alleged the absence of any
applicable and enforceable contract provisions. See Compl.
¶¶ 6-10, 18-22; Lennar Mare Island, LLC v. Steadfast Ins.
Co., No. 212CV02182 KJM KJN, 2016 WL 829210, at *4
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(E.D. Cal. Mar. 3, 2016) (“A review of the [counterclaim]
reveals no allegation that the ... policies are unenforceable
or void, and no factual allegations support a theory of their
unenforceability or voidness.”). But Rumbaugh arguably has
pleaded that Harley has “been unjustly enriched by the
possession and use of” 1981 Trust assets at Rumbaugh's
expense based on Harley's “agree[ing] to deliver possession”
of the 1981 Trust assets then failing to do so. Compl. ¶¶ 9-10,
19-20.

*9  Although Rumbaugh could have sued Richard for the
same reasons if Rumbaugh could have pleaded the absence
of any applicable and enforceable contract provisions,
Rumbaugh could not have sued Richard for Harley's
agreement after Richard's death to deliver the 1981 Trust
assets to Rumbaugh. Compare Compl. ¶¶ 8-9 (Rumbaugh's
request and Harley's agreement in 2015), with id. ¶ 7
(Richard's death in 2014).

Because Rumbaugh has not sufficiently pleaded an unjust
enrichment claim, but also because Rumbaugh may be able to
provide greater clarity with respect to her unjust enrichment
claim to the extent she could not have sued Richard for
the same misconduct, the court GRANTS Harley's motion
to dismiss and grants LEAVE TO AMEND consistent with
the Federal Rules and the Ninth Circuit's guidance. See Fed.
R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2) (courts “should freely give leave when
justice so requires”); Eminence Capital, LLC, 316 F.3d at
1051 (“This policy is to be applied with extreme liberality.”).

E. Constructive Trust
Harley contends both that section 366.2 bars Rumbaugh's
constructive trust claim and that Rumbaugh has not
sufficiently pleaded this claim. Mot. at 15-16. Rumbaugh
asserts she sufficiently pleads this claim for the same reasons
she has sufficiently pleaded her unjust enrichment claim.
Opp'n at 16.

“A constructive trust is an equitable remedy that compels the
transfer of wrongfully held property to its rightful owner.”
Mattel, Inc. v. MGA Entm't, Inc., 616 F.3d 904, 908-09 (9th
Cir. 2010), as amended on denial of reh'g (Oct. 21, 2010)
(citation omitted); see Cal. Civ. Code § 2223. “A plaintiff
seeking imposition of a constructive trust must show: (1)
the existence of a res, meaning property or some interest
in property; (2) the right to that res; and (3) the wrongful
acquisition or detention of the res by another party who is not
entitled to it.” Mattel, 616 F.3d at 909; see Higgins v. Higgins,

11 Cal. App. 5th 648, 659 (2017), review denied (July 26,
2017).

Here, Rumbaugh has alleged (1) an interest in property,
namely the 1981 Trust assets, (2) her right to that property
and (3) the wrongful detention of the property by Harley.
Compl. ¶¶ 8-10, 25-29. But, as with Rumbaugh's conversion
claim, Rumbaugh “may [have] brought” the same conversion
claim against Richard because Richard was the one who “took
[1981 Trust] assets for himself and his family” during his
“exclusive control over the trust assets” between “2008 and
2014,” “titl[ing] certain trust assets, including ... real property
and cash assets, in the name of his family living trust that he
and [Harley] were co-[t]rustees of.” RJN Ex. G at 1-4.; see
Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 366.2(a). The court therefore GRANTS
Harley's motion to dismiss this claim but denies leave to
amend because amendment would be futile. See Ascon Props.,
Inc. v. Mobil Oil Co., 866 F.2d at 1160.

F. Money Had and Received
Harley does not assert Rumbaugh has failed to sufficiently
plead a claim for money had and received against her, but does
contend section 366.2 bars Rumbaugh's entire complaint.
Mot. at 8. Rumbaugh asserts the court should deny Harley's
motion to dismiss this claim because she does not “argue
anywhere in her [m]otion to [d]ismiss that Ms. Rumbaugh's
[claim] for Money Had and Received fails to state a claim ...
under Rule 12(b)(6).” Opp'n at 17.

“To prevail on a common count for money had and received,
the plaintiff must prove that the defendant is indebted to the
plaintiff for money the defendant received for the use and
benefit of the plaintiff.” Rutherford Holdings, 223 Cal. App.
4th at 230 (citations omitted). Further, “[m]oney had and
received ... applies when ... unjust enrichment occurred thanks
to a contract or other transfer of ‘a definite sum.’ ” Berger v.
Home Depot USA, Inc., 741 F.3d 1061, 1070 (9th Cir. 2014),
abrogated on other grounds by Microsoft Corp. v. Baker,
137 S. Ct. 1702 (2017). “The cause of action is available
where ... the plaintiff has paid money to the defendant [under]
a contract [that] is voided for illegality.” Schultz v. Harney,
27 Cal. App. 4th 1611, 1623 (1994), as modified on denial of
reh'g (Sept. 29, 1994).

*10  Here, Rumbaugh alleges Harley received, and was
unjustly enriched by, cash and real property. Compl. ¶¶ 8-10
25, 31. But Rumbaugh has not sufficiently pleaded how
the unjust enrichment here occurred distinct from Richard's
misconduct, either through a “contract” or “other transfer”

Case 2:19-ap-01382-SK    Doc 336-1    Filed 12/22/21    Entered 12/22/21 12:29:22    Desc
Exhibit Unpublished cases cited in reply    Page 75 of 92



Rumbaugh v. Harley, Not Reported in Fed. Supp. (2018)
2018 WL 4002854

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 9

that occurred after Richard's death. See Berger, 741 F.3d at
1070. As Rumbaugh has admitted, Richard was the one who
“took [1981 Trust] assets and for himself and his family”
during his “exclusive control over the trust assets” between
“2008 and 2014,” “titl[ing] certain trust assets, including ...
real property and cash assets, in the name of his family living
trust that he and [Harley] were co-[t]rustees of.” RJN Ex. G
at 1-4. These admissions indicate the transfer of a definite
sum occurred during Richard's lifetime. The court therefore
GRANTS Harley's motion to dismiss.

Although the court is skeptical of Rumbaugh's ability to
sufficiently amend this claim, the court grants Rumbaugh
LEAVE TO AMEND this claim consistent with its reasoning
in granting Rumbaugh leave to amend her unjust enrichment
claim.

V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Harley's motion to dismiss
is GRANTED WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND as to
Rumbaugh's conversion and constructive trust claims.
Harley's motion to dismiss is GRANTED WITH LEAVE TO
AMEND as to Rumbaugh's unjust enrichment and money had
and received claims. Rumbaugh has 21 days from the date of
this order to amend her complaint, consistent with this court's
ruling.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

This resolves ECF No. 7.

All Citations

Not Reported in Fed. Supp., 2018 WL 4002854

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Opinion

ZELON, J.

*1  Farhad Sharim filed a derivative action on behalf of
Encino Properties, LLC alleging that defendant Joseph Amin
had defrauded Encino and breached his fiduciary duties by
structuring a lease of the company's property in a manner
that diverted a portion of the company's rental proceeds to
himself. Following a bench trial, the court found in favor of
Encino, awarding the company approximately $120,000 in
compensatory damages and $500,000 in punitive damages.

On appeal, Amin asserts that: (1) there was insufficient
evidence to support an award of punitive damages; (2) there
was insufficient evidence to support the court's finding that
Encino proved fraudulent concealment; and (3) the court

erred in granting a motion to amend the complaint to conform
to proof by alleging a claim for fraudulent concealment. We
affirm, concluding that the trial court's decision to award
punitive damages was supported by substantial evidence and
that Amin has failed to demonstrate prejudice from his other
claims of error.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Undisputed Background Facts
Farhad Sharim and Joseph Amin were each 50 percent owners
of Encino Properties, LLC, which held title to adjoining
retail properties located at 18252 and 18254 Sherman Way
in Reseda, California. Amin and Sharim jointly operated a
pharmacy at the 18254 Sherman Way location. With Sharim's
consent, Amin spent approximately $400,000 of his own
funds to convert the retail space at 18252 Sherman Way into
a “fully operating laundromat.”

After several years of attempting to run the laundromat
business himself, Amin asked real estate agent Robert
Melamed to locate a tenant to “lease the space and
improvements therein.” In November of 2010, Melamed
reached an agreement with Aminda Randhawa to lease the
laundromat for a period of 10 years at the rate of $5,000
per month. Under the agreement, Randhawa was to pay
$2,500 per month to lease the premises, which Encino owned,
and $2,500 per month to lease the laundromat equipment,
which Amin owned. At Amin's request, however, Randhawa
agreed to reallocate his $5,000 monthly payment so that
only $1,000 per month would be paid toward the premises
and the remaining $4,000 per month would be paid toward
the equipment. In January of 2011, Randhawa executed
two separate ten-year leases: a $1,000 per month lease of
the laundromat premises, which Amin signed on behalf of
Encino, and a $4,000 per month lease of the laundromat
equipment, which Amin signed on his own behalf.

B. Summary of the Complaint
On April 5, 2011, Sharim filed an action on behalf of himself
and Encino Properties alleging claims for fraud and breach
of fiduciary duty arising from the lease agreements Amin had
entered into with Randhawa. The fraud claim, which Sharim
alleged on behalf of Encino, asserted that Amin had leased
Encino's property to Randhawa “without the knowledge or
consent of [Sharim], and without authority to do so under
the [Encino] Operating Agreement.” It further alleged that
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the $1,000 per month rate set forth in the premises lease was
“significantly below the fair market rate for the leasehold
space,” and that the $4,000 per month rate set forth in
the equipment lease was “in excess of [the equipment's] ...
lease value.” According to the complaint, by structuring
the leases in such a manner, Amin had intended to “divert
funds to himself” that were “rightfully due to [Encino].” The
breach of fiduciary duty claim, which Sharim alleged on
behalf of himself and Encino, was predicated on the same
conduct. Both claims included a request for punitive damages,
asserting that Amin had acted “with the intent to ... injure
Encino ..., such as to constitute oppression, fraud or malice.”

*2  The complaint also included a claim for declaratory
relief asserting that “an actual controversy existed between
[Encino] and [Amin] ... concerning their respective rights, in
that [Encino] contends that [Amin] did not have the right and
authority to enter into the subject lease on behalf of [Encino],
and [Amin] ... claim[s] that [he] had the right and authority” to
do so. The complaint requested a “judicial determination” on
the issue “in order that [Encino] ... may ascertain the validity

of the lease.” 1

1 The complaint alleged additional claims that are not
at issue in this appeal, including: (1) a negligence
claim alleging that Robert Melamed had breached
his professional duties to Encino by advising the
company to “enter into a lease ... at an amount
that was more than fifty percent less than the
prevailing market rate”; (2) a rescission claim
against Randhawa alleging that the premises lease
should be invalidated because Randhawa knew
“the lease was for considerably less than fair rental
value”; and (3) a trespass claim against Amin.
Prior to trial, Encino dismissed its claims against
Randhawa and Melamed, who are not parties to this
appeal.

C. Evidence at Trial
At the ensuing bench trial, Robert Melamed testified that
Amin had asked him to find a party interested in buying or
leasing the laundromat. Pursuant to this request, Melamed
negotiated a lease with Randhawa requiring him to pay $2,500
per month for the laundromat premises and $2,500 per month
for the laundromat equipment. Melamed believed a monthly
rental rate of $2,500 reflected “a fair price” for the laundromat
premises.

Melamed further testified that, at some point after Randhawa
had agreed to the lease terms described above, Amin
instructed Melamed to reallocate the lease payments so that
Randhawa would only pay $1,000 per month toward the
premises, and the remaining $4,000 per month toward the
equipment. According to Melamed, Randhawa had agreed
to the proposed reallocation because the total lease amount
remained at $5,000 per month. Melamed stated that although
he had complied with Amin's request to restructure the leases,
he believed that a rental rate of $1,000 per month for the
premises was “less than fair market” and “was not a good and
fair lease to Encino Properties.”

When Melamed drafted the premises and equipment lease
agreements, he named Amin as the lessor on both leases.
At Amin's request, however, Melamed changed the lessor on
the premises lease to Encino Properties; Amin then signed
the document on Encino's behalf. Melamed testified that he
never discussed the lease transactions with Sharim, and that
Amin had never advised him to obtain Sharim's consent
prior to finalizing the leases. Melamed received a $15,000
commission for the lease agreements, $5,500 of which was
allocated to the premises lease.

Amin provided conflicting testimony, asserting that he had
only requested that the premises lease be lowered to $1,000
per month because Melamed had told him that was the fair
market value of the property. Amin also denied having ever
asked Melamed to find a lessee for the property, and denied
that Melamed had acted as his agent when negotiating the
premises lease. Amin admitted he had signed the premises
lease on behalf of Encino Properties, and that he had done so
without consulting Sharim.

Randhawa testified that he had agreed to reallocate the lease
amounts to $1,000 and $4,000 because he was only concerned
about his total monthly payment. Randhawa also testified
that, prior to signing the lease agreements, he had never met
Sharim. After the leases were executed, however, Sharim
came to the laundromat and told Randhawa he had no right
to be there. When Sharim attempted to block Randhawa from
entering the premises, Randhawa told Sharim he had a lease
and called the police.

*3  Sharim testified that he was not aware of the premises
lease until after it had been executed. Sharim stated that, upon
learning of the lease, he had tried to stop Randhawa from
occupying the premises because he believed the lease had
been illegally procured. He also admitted that he had sent
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Amin's attorney a letter stating that Randhawa had provided
him a copy of the signed lease and that he believed the lease
was an “illegal act.”

Tupper Leinke, an expert witness on real estate appraisal,
testified that his analysis of comparable properties in the area
indicated that the fair market rental value of the laundromat

premises was at least $2,500 per month. 2

2 During trial, Amin also presented evidence that
Encino had previously agreed to lease him the
laundromat premises in exchange for $2,000 per
month in advertising for the adjoining pharmacy.
Amin asserted that the premises lease he had
entered into with Randhawa for $1,000 per month
was intended as a sublease, and that Encino was
therefore effectively receiving $3,000 per month in
value for the laundromat premises: $1,000 in rent
from Randhawa and $2,000 in advertising from
Amin. The trial court, however, found that while
there was evidence Amin had previously leased the
laundromat premises from Encino, Amin's decision
to lease the premises to Randhawa had “vitiated”
that prior lease. Amin has not challenged that
finding on appeal. Accordingly, for the purposes
of this appeal, we accept the court's finding
that Amin's lease with Randhawa was the only
operative lease of the laundromat premises.

D. The Court's Proposed Statement of Decision
Following trial, the court issued a proposed statement of
decision concluding that the terms of the “Encino Properties
Operating Agreement” did authorize Amin to lease the
laundromat premises without obtaining Sharim's consent, and
that Sharim had “acceded to Amin's desire to control the
leasing of the [laundromat] space.” The court concluded that,
in light of these findings, the 10–year premises lease Amin
had entered into with Randhawa was enforceable against
Encino.

The court also found that while Amin had initially agreed
to lease the premises to Randhawa at a rate of $2,500
per month, Amin later “insisted that that the [premises]
lease rent be reduced from $2,500 to $1,000,” and that the
“$1,500 reduction in lease rental amount be allocated to [the]
separate ... equipment lease, thereby increasing the sum to be
paid to Amin individually from $2,500 to $4,000 per month.”
The court emphasized that there was no evidence Randhawa
had ever requested “this change in payment allocation.”

The court further concluded that the evidence showed the
fair market rental value of the laundromat premises was “a
minimum of $2,500” per month, and that the fair market
rental value of the laundromat equipment was also $2,500
per month. Based on the testimony that Sharim's witnesses
had provided regarding current and future rental value of the
laundromat premises, the court found that Amin's conduct
had deprived Encino of $214,000. A settlement with another
party, in the amount of $45,000, reduced Encino's loss to
$169,000.

The court's statement of decision also analyzed each of
the causes of action Sharim and Encino had presented at
trial, which included fraud, breach of fiduciary duty and

declaratory relief. 3  On the fraud claim, the court found
Encino had proven each of the elements necessary to
establish “fraudulent concealment.” Specifically, the court
found Encino had showed “by a preponderance of the
evidence” that: (1) Amin “intentionally and in bad faith
failed to disclose” that Randhawa was originally willing to
pay $2,500 to lease Encino's premises, and that Amin had
subsequently requested Randhawa to restructure the lease in
a manner that “divert[ed] [a portion] of the [premises lease
proceeds] to himself”; (2) Encino was not aware of these facts
at any time prior to the execution of the lease agreements;
(3) Amin had “intended in bad faith to deceive [Encino] by
concealing this information”; (4) Encino “reasonably relied
on Amin's deception”; and (5) Encino was harmed by having
been “deprived of the difference between the fair market rent
of $2,500 per month and the actual monthly rent charged to
Randhawa of $1,000/month.”

3 The court also addressed a trespass claim that
Encino had alleged against Sharim. That claim,
which the court denied, is not at issue in this appeal.

*4  The court also found Encino had proven each of the
elements necessary to establish its claim that Amin had
breached fiduciary duties he owed to the company based on
his status as a “managing member.” Specifically, the court
found that: (1) Amin was a managing member of Encino;
(2) Amin “acted for the purpose of securing a fair market
rental rate for the subject property, though [he] ultimately
acted against this purpose”; (3) “[n]o reasonably careful
managing member of [Encino] would act to reject the $2,500
per month rental rate agreed to by Randhawa in favor of a
lesser rental rate of $1,000 per month”; (4) Sharim, the only
other managing member of Encino, “did not give informed
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consent to the terms set forth in the [premises] lease”; and
(5) Encino was harmed by Amin's conduct “in at least the
amount of the difference between the agreed rental rate of
$2,500 per month and the actual rate of $1,000.” The court
additionally noted that “[t]he fact ... Amin ... diverted this
$1,500 per month difference to his own benefit ... evidence[d]
the bad faith nature of Amin's conduct.”

The court also found that Sharim had proven “an individual
claim against Amin for breach of fiduciary duty of loyalty.”
However, the court awarded Sharim only “nominal damages
of $2500 on his individual claim.”

On the declaratory relief claim, the court explained that
because it had found Amin was authorized to lease Encino's
premises, “the Randhawa lease was binding upon [Encino].”
The court added, however, that Amin did not have “authority
to defraud [Encino] by leasing the property at a below fair
market rental rate. For this deficiency, Amin is personally
liable.”

Finally, the court's proposed statement explained that “the
prayer for punitive or exemplary damages based upon the
[fraud and fiduciary duty claims] was bifurcated at Amin's
request.”

E. Amin's Objections to the Proposed Statement of
Decision and the Court's Final Statement of Decision

Amin filed a response to the proposed statement of decision
raising several objections. First, Amin argued that while
the court's statement had concluded Encino proved a claim
for “fraudulent concealment,” the fraud claim set forth in
the complaint did not allege any concealment had occurred;
instead, the pleading asserted only that “Amin's acts were
without Sharim's ‘knowledge or consent.’ ” Thus, according
to Amin, the court had no basis to proceed under a theory
of fraudulent concealment. Amin also argued the evidence at
trial was not sufficient to prove he had concealed the lease
terms from Encino because the undisputed evidence showed
he was acting on behalf of the company when he entered the
lease. Amin further asserted that no other form of fraud had
been proven.

Amin also challenged the manner in which the court had
calculated compensatory damages, asserting that Sharim's
own experts had concluded that the total damages to Encino
were only $120,000, not $165,000. Amin argued there was
also no basis to award Sharim $2,500 on his individual claim
of breach of fiduciary duty because the court had failed to

“identify any damages personal to Sharim as distinguished
from damages to Encino by reason of the land rent shortage.”

Finally, Amin argued that while the court's statement of
decision indicated there would be a separate hearing to
determine the amount of any punitive damages award, no
such hearing was necessary because “the statutory standard
of proof [for punitive damages had not been] met.” Amin
explained that, under Civil Code section 3294, the decision to
impose punitive damages had to be assessed under the “clear
and convincing” standard of proof. The court's proposed
statement of decision, however, had concluded that Encino
established fraud only by “a preponderance of the evidence.”

At the hearing on Amin's objections, Shamir conceded
that Encino's compensatory damages should be lowered to
$120,042, and that the “nominal damages” on his individual
claim for breach of fiduciary duty should be reduced to one
dollar. On the issue of punitive damages, Shamir argued that
while the court was not required to articulate the applicable
standard of proof in its statement of decision, the court should
nonetheless clarify that its fraud findings were made under
the clear and convincing standard “as a cautionary measure.”
Finally, Sharim argued that his complaint had specifically
pled a fraud claim, thereby supporting the court's decision
to address the issue of fraudulent concealment. However, to
remedy any potential procedural defect, Shamir made an oral
motion “to amend the complaint to conform to proof to allege
that [Amin] concealed the fact that he could have received
$2,500 per month on behalf the company and instead took
$1,000 per month which personally benefited himself.”

*5  The court informed the parties it would allow Amin
to submit a brief opposing Shamir's motion to amend his
pleading to conform to the proof at trial. On the question
of punitive damages, the court explained that it would have
found Amin's conduct amounted to fraud “regardless of
the standard,” adding that “[i]t could have been beyond a
reasonable doubt and it still would be a burden that was met.”
The court agreed, however, “that the standard should be clear
and convincing.”

After Amin submitted his briefing on Shamir's motion to
amend, the court issued a final statement of decision that was
substantially identical to its original proposed statement. The
final statement did, however, contain three material changes.
First, in the final statement's analysis of Encino's fraudulent
concealment claim, the court included language indicating
that it had permitted Encino to “amend[ ] the pleading to
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conform to proof,” and that Amin was not prejudiced by the
amendment because the complaint's fraud claim referenced
deceptive conduct that essentially involved the concealment
of material information. Second, the court inserted language
clarifying that Encino had proven each element of “fraudulent
concealment” by “clear and convincing evidence.” Third, the
court reduced Encino's compensatory damages to $120,042,
and Sharim's “nominal damages” on his individual claim for
breach of fiduciary duty to one dollar. In all other respects,
the final statement of decision was identical to the court's
proposed statement.

F. Punitive Damages and Entry of Judgment
After entering its final statement of decision on the liability
phase of the proceedings, the court held a hearing on punitive
damages. The only evidence the parties presented at the
hearing related to Amin's net worth. Amin's counsel argued
his client had a negative net worth, and that a nominal punitive
damages award would therefore be sufficient to punish him.
Sharim's counsel, however, argued that Amin had grossly
underestimated his true net worth, and requested that Encino
be awarded $800,000 in punitive damages. Counsel clarified
that, in making its award determination, the court should
consider that Amin owned 50 percent of Encino and would
therefore effectively receive half of any punitive damages
award he might be required to pay. The court thereafter issued
a proposed statement of decision finding Amin's net worth to
be between $3,100,000 and $4,250,000, and awarding Encino
$500,000 in punitive damages.

Amin filed objections to the proposed statement and
requested that the court explain the basis for several of the
factual findings it had made regarding Amin's net worth.
The court thereafter issued a modified statement of decision
responding to Amin's objections and reaffirming its punitive
damages award of $500,000. The court entered a judgment
requiring Amin to pay Encino $654,000, which included
compensatory damages, punitive damages and costs.

DISCUSSION

Amin raises three issues on appeal. First, he asserts there
was insufficient evidence to support the trial court's decision
to impose punitive damages. Second, he contends there was
insufficient evidence to support a finding that he engaged
in fraudulent concealment. Third, he argues the trial court

abused its discretion in granting Encino's post trial motion to
amend the pleading to add a claim for fraudulent concealment.

A. Substantial Evidence Supports the Trial Court's
Decision to Impose Punitive Damages

*6  Amin argues there was insufficient evidence to support
the court's decision to impose punitive damages. Amin does
not challenge the amount of the punitive damages award or
any of the factual findings the court made regarding his net
worth. Instead, Amin contends only that there was insufficient
evidence for the court to conclude he had engaged in any
conduct that justified the imposition of punitive damages.

Civil Code section 3294, subdivision (a) states: “In an
action for the breach of an obligation not arising from
contract, where it is proven by clear and convincing evidence
that the defendant has been guilty of oppression, fraud, or
malice, the plaintiff, in addition to the actual damages, may
recover damages for the sake of example and by way of
punishing the defendant.” Thus, to obtain punitive damages
under section 3294, the plaintiff must prove both that the
defendant breached a noncontractual legal obligation, and
that he did so with “malice, oppression or fraud.” Amin
has not appealed the court's finding that he breached his
fiduciary duties to Encino, nor does he dispute that such
duties were “noncontractual legal obligations.” Accordingly,
we need only determine whether there was sufficient evidence
to support the court's determination that Amin acted with

“malice, fraud or oppression.” 4

4 In his appellate brief, Amin contends we cannot
consider the breach of fiduciary duty as a “basis
for [the] punitive damages. .... [because] the trial
court did not premise its finding of liability for
punitive damages on the breach of fiduciary duty
claim, but on the fraud claim.” The record does
not, however, support Amin's assertion that the
court's punitive damages award was based solely
on the fraud claim. The trial court's statement of
decision on the issue of liability acknowledged
that Sharim had sought “punitive or exemplary
damages based upon the [fraud] and [breach of
fiduciary duty] causes of action,” and stated that the
amount of any such damages would be determined
at a bifurcated hearing. Moreover, in its analysis
of Encino's claim for breach of fiduciary duty,
the court specifically found Amin had acted “in
bad faith.” The statement of decision on punitive
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damages does not distinguish between the fraud
and breach of fiduciary claims, stating only that
the court was “awarding punitive damages on
the derivative action in the amount of $500,000.”
Thus, nothing in the court's rulings suggests it only
intended to award punitive damages in relation
to the fraudulent concealment claim; instead, the
language of its statement of decision indicate
it found punitive damages were appropriate in
relation to both claims.

We review the court's decision to impose punitive damages
under the substantial evidence standard of review. (Shade
Foods, Inc. v. Innovative Products Sales & Marketing,
Inc. (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 847, 891.) “As in other cases
involving the issue of substantial evidence, we are bound
to ‘consider the evidence in the light most favorable
to the prevailing party, giving him the benefit of every
reasonable inference, and resolving conflicts in support of

the judgment.’ [Citation.]” (Ibid.) 5  If the trial court findings
are supported by substantial evidence, we must affirm the
punitive damages award even where the evidence may also be
reconciled with contrary findings. (See Lenk v. Total–Western,
Inc. (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 959, 968.)

5 Although the heightened “clear and convincing
evidence” standard of proof applied to the trial
court's findings on punitive damages (see Civil
Code, § 3294), that does not affect our standard of
review on appeal in determining whether there is
substantial evidence to support the court's findings.
As explained by our Supreme Court: “[The clear
and convincing evidence] standard was adopted ...
for the edification and guidance of the trial court,
and was not intended as a standard for appellate
review. ‘The sufficiency of evidence to establish
a given fact, where the law requires proof of
the fact to be clear and convincing, is primarily
a question for the [trier of fact] to determine,
and if there is substantial evidence to support
its conclusion, the determination is not open to
review on appeal.’ [Citations.]” (Crail v. Blakely
(1973) 8 Cal.3d 744, 750 [fn. omitted].) “Thus,
on appeal from a judgment required to be based
upon clear and convincing evidence, ‘the clear
and convincing test disappears ... [and] the usual
rule of conflicting evidence is applied, giving
full effect to the respondent's evidence, however
slight, and disregarding the appellant's evidence,

however strong.’ [Citation.]” (Sheila v. Superior
Court (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 872, 881.)

*7  In this case, the court concluded punitive damages were
appropriate because the evidence at trial showed Amin had
engaged in fraudulent conduct. Section 3294, subdivision
(c)(3) defines the term fraud to mean: “an intentional
misrepresentation, deceit, or concealment of a material fact
known to the defendant with the intention on the part of the
defendant of thereby depriving a person of property or legal
rights or otherwise causing injury.” Accordingly, to establish
fraud under section 3294, Amin had to demonstrate two
elements: (1) Amin intentionally concealed a material fact
known to him; and (2) he did so with the intent of depriving
Encino of property.

The court found Amin had “intentionally and in bad faith
failed to disclose” that Randhawa had originally offered to
lease Encino's premises for $2,500 per month, and that Amin
thereafter requested to restructure the lease agreements so that
only $1,000 per month would be paid toward the premises
and $4,000 per month would be paid toward the equipment,
thereby diverting $1,500 per month from Encino to Amin.
The record contains substantial evidence from which the
court could reasonably infer that Amin intentionally withheld
this information from Encino. Amin admitted at trial that he
did not consult with Sharim, Encino's only other managing
member, before signing the premises lease on Encino's
behalf. Amin confirms these statements in his appellate
brief, acknowledging that he was “solely” responsible for
negotiating the leases with Randhawa and that he did so
“with no participation by Sharim.” Sharim likewise testified
he was not aware of the terms set forth in the leases, or the
negotiations that had preceded their execution, until after the
leases were signed. In light of these statements from the two
principals involved in this lawsuit, the court could reasonably
infer Amin intentionally concealed his conduct regarding the

lease transactions from Sharim and Encino. 6

6 Amin does not dispute the information he was
found to have concealed—that Randhawa initially
offered to lease the premises for $2,500 per month
and that Amin requested the lease payments be
reallocated in a manner that benefitted him at the
expense of the company—qualified as a “material”
fact within the meaning of section 3294.

The court also found by clear and convincing evidence that,
by engaging in such concealment, Amin had “intended in
bad faith” to deprive Encino of $1,500 in monthly rental
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payments. Again, the record contains substantial evidence
from which the court could reasonably infer such a finding.
The undisputed evidence at trial showed Randhawa initially
offered to pay $2,500 per month to lease Encino's premises
and $2,500 to lease Amin's equipment. Melamed, however,
testified that Amin asked him to change the allocation to
$1,000 and $4,000 respectively, and that Randhawa agreed
to this request. Melamed and an expert witness testified that
$2,500 per month reflected the fair market rental value of the
premises, while $1,000 per month fell below the fair market
rental value. The court could reasonably infer from this
evidence that Amin intended to deprive Encino of property
by unilaterally proposing to change the lease allocations in a
manner that reduced the company's monthly rental payment
by $1,500 per month, while increasing the monthly payment
Amin received for his equipment by that same amount.

Amin, however, contends that Sharim failed to prove several
elements necessary to establish his conduct amounted to
fraud. First, he argues no reasonable trier of fact could
conclude he “concealed” any information regarding the lease
transactions from Encino because he was a 50 percent owner
and manager of the company. According to Amin, his status
as an owner and manager of the company shows that “both
[he] and the Company knew all the facts [he] allegedly ‘failed
to disclose’ to the Company.” Thus, Amin appears to assert
that any knowledge he had regarding the lease was necessarily
imputed to the Encino based on his status as an officer of the
company.

*8  As a general matter, however, “[a] corporation is not
chargeable with the knowledge of an officer who collaborates
with outsiders to defraud the corporation.” (Peregrine
Funding Inc. v. Sheppard Mullin Richeter & Hampton LLP
(2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 658, 679; Meyer v. Glenmoor Homes
Inc. (1966) 246 Cal.App.2d 242, 264; S.E.C. v. Seaboard
Corp. (9th Cir.1982) 677 F.2d 1301, 1310 [“[corporate
officer's] knowledge ... cannot be imputed to [the corporation
when the officer] was alleged to be a participant in the fraud
against it”].) That is essentially what the court found to have
happened here, concluding that Amin induced Randhawa
to restructure the laundromat lease agreements in a manner
that deprived the company of $1,500 per month in rental
payments while enriching Amin in the same amount. Under
the circumstances of this case, we find no legal basis to
conclude that Amin's knowledge of his own fraudulent
misconduct may be properly imputed to the company against

which he perpetrated the fraud. 7

7 Amin also contends the court erred in finding
that Encino was unaware of the lease terms
because there was evidence at trial that Sharim
tried to obstruct enforcement of the lease. In
support, Amin cites evidence related to conduct
that Sharim engaged in after he learned of the
executed leases. Based on the trial court's findings,
however, Amin's fraud was completed when he
and Randhawa executed the lease documents, at
which point the premises lease became binding
on Encino. Sharim's subsequent conduct merely
shows that, after learning of Amin's fraudulent
conduct, he attempted to preclude enforcement of
the agreement. It does not show he was aware of
the lease negotiations or the lease terms at any point
prior to the completion of the fraud.

Amin also asserts there was insufficient evidence to support a
finding of fraud within the meaning of section 3294 because
Sharim presented no evidence that Encino “rel[ied] on any
concealment to its detriment.” When fraud is alleged to
have occurred as the result of a concealment, rather than
a misrepresentation, reliance is established when there is a
“reasonable probability” (Alliance Mortgage Co. v. Rothwell
(1995) 10 Cal.4th 1226, 1239 (Alliance Mortgage )) the
plaintiff would have “behaved differently” if the “omitted
information had been disclosed.” (Mirkin v. Wasserman
(1993) 5 Cal.4th 1082, 1093.) Amin theorizes that, in
this case, a reasonable trier of fact could not conclude
Encino would have acted any differently had it known of
the concealed lease terms because the evidence at trial
demonstrated that Sharim objected to the lease and attempted
to “obstruct” its enforcement. Although Amin does not cite
any evidence in support of this argument, he appears to rely
on testimony showing that, after learning of the executed
lease, Sharim told Amin's counsel he did not believe the lease
was enforceable, and then tried to prohibit Randhawa from
occupying the premises.

We fail to see how such evidence precluded the court from
finding that Encino would have acted differently had Amin
disclosed the terms of the lease before the agreement was
executed. Based on the evidence at trial, the court could
reasonably infer that if Amin had disclosed that he intended
to restructure the lease in a manner that deprived Encino
of $1,500 per month in rent, Sharim would have taken
legal action to enjoin such conduct before the premises
lease became binding on the company. As Amin himself
acknowledges, the evidence at trial showed Sharim took steps
to invalidate the lease immediately after he learned of its
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existence, and then commenced this action “very shortly
after the lease was entered into.” The fact that Sharim took
legal action immediately after learning of the lease agreement
supports the court's findings that, had Amin notified him of
the proposed terms before executing the agreement, Sharim
would have attempted to prohibit him from signing the lease
on Encino's behalf. While it is possible Sharim might not
have elected to take such action, the court's factual finding on
this issue was a reasonable and permissible conclusion. (See
Alliance Mortgage, supra, 10 Cal.4th at p. 1239 [“ ‘Except in
the rare case where the undisputed facts leave no room for a
reasonable difference of opinion, the question of ... reliance ...
is a question of fact’ ”]; cf. Engalla v. Permanente Medical
Group, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal.4th 951, 977 [“a presumption, or
at least an inference, of reliance arises wherever there is a
showing that a misrepresentation was material”].)

*9  Finally, Amin contends the evidence failed to establish
his conduct amounted to fraud because Sharim did not
demonstrate that the concealment of the lease transactions
caused the company harm. According to Amin, “[a]ny harm
to the Company was the result of the lower than market rental
charged for the land, not any concealment of any fact relating
to the lease.” Amin's contention that his concealment of the
lease terms played no possible role in bringing about Encino's
injury is without merit. As explained above, the court could
reasonably conclude that had Amin disclosed the terms of the
lease before it was executed, Sharim could have taken legal
action on behalf of the company to preclude the document
from being executed, thereby avoiding the very damages the
company incurred.

In sum, the record contains substantial evidence that Amin's
conduct amounted to fraud within the meaning of section
3294, thereby supporting the court's award of punitive
damages.

B. The Trial Court's Alleged Errors Pertaining to the
Fraudulent Concealment Claim Were Harmless

Amin raises additional arguments asserting that: (1) the
trial court erred in permitting Sharim to amend his
complaint to conform to proof by adding a claim for
fraudulent concealment; and (2) there was insufficient
evidence to support the court's finding on Encino's fraudulent
concealment claim. We need not reach the merits of either
argument, as Amin has failed to demonstrate he suffered any
prejudice as the result of either alleged error. (Winfred D. v.
Michelin North American Inc. (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1011,
1038 [“ ‘ “ ‘Prejudice is not presumed and the burden is on

the appellant to show its existence’ ” ’ [citations.]”]; Brokopp
v. Ford Motor Company (1977) 71 Cal.App.3d 841, 853–
854 [“ ‘Prejudice from error is never presumed but must be
affirmatively demonstrated by the appellant’ ”].)

To establish prejudice, Amin was required to show “
‘ “ ‘it is reasonably probable a result more favorable
to [him] would have been reached absent the error.
[Citations.]’ [Citation.]” [Citations.]’ [Citation.]” (Villano
v. Waterman Convalescent Hospital, Inc. (2010) 181
Cal.App.4th 1189, 1200.) For the reasons explained below,
even if we were to find that the court erred by allowing the
claim for fraudulent conduct or entering a ruling on the fraud
claim, that would have no effect on the judgment.

At trial, Sharim asserted derivative claims asserting that
Amin had committed fraud (later amended to fraudulent
concealment) and breached his fiduciary duties by
restructuring the lease agreement in a manner that enriched
himself at the expense of the company. Amin does not dispute
that the court found that his fraudulent concealment and
his breach of fiduciary duties resulted in the same form of
compensatory damages to Encino: the difference between the
fair market rental rate of the premises ($2,500 per month) and
the actual rate at which Amin leased the premises ($1,000
per month), which was determined to be a total of $120,042
over the ten-year lease period. Amin has not challenged the
court's finding on Encino's breach of fiduciary duty claim.
Accordingly, even if were to find the court erred in allowing
Sharim to assert a fraudulent concealment claim and finding
that the claim had been proven, Amin would still be required
to pay the same compensatory damages as a result of the
breach of fiduciary duty claim.

The same analysis is applicable to the punitive damages
award. Encino specifically requested punitive damages on
both the fraud claim and the breach of fiduciary duty claim.
As explained above, the record contains sufficient evidence to
support the court's finding that Amin's breach of his fiduciary
duties to Encino was conducted in a manner that constituted
“fraud” within the meaning of Civil Code section 3294. Thus,
even in the absence of the fraud claim, Amin would still be
liable for punitive damages.

DISPOSITION

*10  The judgment is affirmed. Respondent shall recover its
costs on appeal.
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We concur:

PERLUSS, P.J.

SEGAL, J.

All Citations

Not Reported in Cal.Rptr., 2015 WL 7180680

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Proceedings: (In Chambers) Order
Granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss

The Honorable PHILIP S. GUTIERREZ, District Judge.

*1  Wendy K. Hernandez, Deputy Clerk.

Before this Court is Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. The
Court finds the matter appropriate for decision without oral
argument. Fed.R.Civ.P. 78; Local R. 7-15. After considering
the moving and opposing papers, the Court hereby GRANTS
the Motion.

I. BACKGROUND
Defendant David Zinberg (“Mr.Zinberg”) is the founder, chief
executive officer, president, and chairman of the board of
Defendant BIDZ.com, Inc. (“Bidz.com”). Second Amended
Complaint (“SAC”) ¶ 10. He also owns roughly 3 million of
the 23.38 million outstanding shares of Bidz.com, giving him
a 12.7% stake in the company. Id. at ¶ 31. His sister, Defendant
Marina Zinberg (“Ms.Zinberg”), is a Vice President of

Bidz.com and, like her brother, owns a number of shares in
the company. Id. at ¶ 11. Specifically, she controls more than
7.5 million shares of Bidz .com, giving her a 32.9% stake in
the company. Id. at ¶ 32.

This lawsuit concerns activities that occur on a website run
by Bidz.com. From this website, Bidz.com sells closeout and
non-closeout merchandise using a live-auction format, with
no reserve prices and $1 opening bids, even on items that
might retail for thousands of dollars. Id. at ¶ 35. Specifically,
the principal impetus for this lawsuit is an incident involving
Marla Tidenberg (“Plaintiff”). On September 30, 2007,
Plaintiff purchased a ring from Bidz.com “under a false
impression that Bidz.com was selling high-quality goods.”
Id. at ¶ 72. Plaintiff paid a total of $37.03 for this good
($25.00 for the ring itself, $10.95 for shipping and handling,
and a transaction fee of $1.08). Id. Upon receipt of the ring,
Plaintiff inspected it, only to discover that “it was not of
the high-quality that she expected based on the website's
representations.”

On August 22, 2008, Plaintiff filed a class action complaint
against Bidz.com and Mr. and Ms. Zinberg (collectively,
“Defendants”). Then, on January 20, 2009, Plaintiff filed
a SAC. In her SAC, Plaintiff alleges that Plaintiff and a
class of other similarly situated persons are the victims of a
“massive and systematic fraud” committed by Defendants.
Plaintiff further alleges that the company makes money by
misrepresenting the quality of its merchandise and engaging
in a practice called “shill bidding,” in spite of an admonition
in its Terms and Conditions on the website that declares:

Shill bidding is prohibited on the site,
that is the placing of bids or causing
bids to be placed on any product for
the purpose of artificially increasing
or otherwise manipulating the bidding
process on Bidz.com or the bid price
of any product listed on the site, or
influencing user behavior on Bidz.com

SAC ¶ 68.

As evidence of this shill bidding, Plaintiff points out that
many of the putative bidders on the website have names in
a similar format: a nickname followed by a string of four

numbers. 1  According to Plaintiff, the similarity of these
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names “strongly suggest[s] that someone is automatically
generating these names and using them to bid up the prices on
auctions.” Plaintiff also alleges that her counsel has spoken
with at least three people-two so-called “informants” and a
so-called “insider”-who confirmed that Bidz.com engages in
shill bidding. Id. at ¶ 62. This insider, according to Plaintiff,
“knew,” albeit upon information and belief, “that Bidz.com
used so-called ‘bots' to create fake user names” to engage
in shill bidding. Id. at ¶ 62. Allegedly, one of the two
informants contacted Plaintiff's counsel in November of 2008
and pointed out to Plaintiff's counsel “a long list of bidders
whose main function appears to be to bid in early stages
of auctions in order to ensure a certain minimum price is
achieved.” Id. at ¶ 63.

1 For example: al5180, alex2662, andy7303,
angelsman4703. Id at ¶ 60.

*2  Plaintiff asserts nine causes of action against all three
defendants. Presently, Defendants move to dismiss seven of
these causes of action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
9(b) (“Rule 9(b)”) for failure to plead averments of fraud with
particularity, and under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)
(6) (“Rule 12(b) (6)”) for failure to state a claim.

II. LEGAL STANDARD

A. Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
Under Rule 9(b), the “circumstances constituting fraud”
must be stated with particularity. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b).
The Ninth Circuit has explained that the reference to
“circumstances constituting fraud” requires, at a minimum,
that the claimant pleads evidentiary facts, such as time, place,
persons, statements, and explanations of why the statements
are misleading. In re GlenFed, Inc. Sec. Litig., 42 F.3d 1541,
1547 n. 7 (9th Cir.1994); see also Vess v. Ciba-Geigy Corp.
USA, 317 F.3d 1097, 1106 (9th Cir.2003) (internal quotation
omitted) (noting that the pleading must be “specific enough
to give defendants notice of the particular misconduct ... so
that they can defend against the charge and not just deny that
they have done anything wrong”); see also In re GlenFed,
Inc. Sec. Litig., 42 F.3d at 1548; see also Fecht v. Price Co.,
70 F.3d 1078, 1082 (9th Cir.1995) (observing that plaintiffs
seeking to satisfy Rule 9(b) must “set forth an explanation as
to why the statement or omission complained of was false and
misleading”).

B. Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

Under Rule 12(b)(6), a party may move to dismiss a claim if
the claimant fails to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted. In evaluating the sufficiency of a complaint under
Rule 12(b)(6), courts must be mindful that the Federal Rules
require only that the complaint contains “a short and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled
to relief.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 8(a)(2). Nevertheless, even though a
complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion does not need
detailed factual allegations, “a plaintiff's obligation to provide
the ‘grounds' of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief’ requires more
than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of action will not do.” Bell Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 1965, 167 L.Ed.2d
929 (2007) (internal citations omitted). Rather, the complaint
must allege sufficient facts to raise a right to relief above the
speculative level. Id. (citing 5 C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal
Practice and Procedure § 1216, pp. 235-36 (3d ed.2004)).
Importantly, though, “[s]pecific facts are not necessary; the
statement need only give the defendant fair notice of what
the ... claim is and the grounds upon which it rests.” Erickson
v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 127 S.Ct. 2197, 2200, 167 L.Ed.2d
1081 (2007).

In deciding a 12(b)(6) motion, a court must accept all factual
allegations in the complaint as true, Leatherman v. Tarrant
County Narcotics Intelligence and Coordination Unit, 507
U.S. 163, 164, 113 S.Ct. 1160, 122 L.Ed.2d 517 (1993), and
must also construe all reasonable inferences in the light most
favorable to the plaintiff. See Broam v. Bogan, 320 F.3d 1023,
1028 (9th Cir.2003).

III. DISCUSSION
*3  Defendants presently move to dismiss seven Causes

of Action asserted against it on what are essentially three
different grounds. First, they argue that Plaintiff lacks
standing to assert two of her claims (to wit, her Second and
Third Causes of Action). Second, they contend that Plaintiff's
fraud and fraud-based Causes of Action fail under Rule 9(b).
And, lastly, they argue that Plaintiff's Causes of Action fail
under Rule 12(b)(6). Each of these arguments is addressed,
in turn.

A. Whether Plaintiff Has Standing to Assert Her Second
and Third Causes of Action

The Court first addresses the issue of standing as it relates
to Plaintiff's Second and Third Causes of Action. Plaintiff's
Second and Third Causes of Action are brought under
sections 17200 and 17500 of California's Business and
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Professions Code, respectively. Section 17200, commonly
referred to as California's Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”),
bans unfair business practices and authorizes injunctive and
restitutionary relief against “[a]ny person who engages ... in
unfair competition.” See Cal. Bus. & Prof.Code §§ 17200,
17203. In comparison, section 17500, commonly referred to
as California's False Advertising Law (“FAL”), prohibits, as
its name suggests, false advertising. See Cal. Bus. & Prof. §
17500.

Defendants take the position that Plaintiff lacks standing for
two alternative reasons. First, she cannot demonstrate the
“actual injury” component of standing. Second, they argue
that, based on the present circumstances, the UCL and FAL do
not apply extraterritorially. For the reasons that follow, only
the second of these arguments has merit.

1. Plaintiff Has Demonstrated the “Actual Injury”
Component of Standing

As both parties are aware, it is well-established that Article
III requires a party who invokes the court's authority to
“show that [she] personally has suffered some actual or
threatened injury as a result of the putatively illegal conduct
of the defendant .... This is the ‘actual injury’ component
of the standing doctrine; it requires an injury to be ‘real
and immediate,’ not merely ‘conjectural’ or ‘hypothetical.’
“ Casey v. Lewis, 4 F.3d 1516, 1519 (9th Cir.1993) (internal
citations and quotation marks omitted). Further, where, as
here, a claim is brought under the UCL or the FAL, a person
must demonstrate that she has “lost money or property”
as a result of such unfair competition or false advertising.
Buckland v. Threshold Enter., Ltd., 155 Cal.App.4th 798, 812,
817, & 819, 66 Cal.Rptr.3d 543 (2007); see also Californians
for Disability Rights v. Mervyn's, LLC, 39 Cal.4th 223, 227,
46 Cal.Rptr.3d 57, 138 P.3d 207 (2006).

Plaintiff contends that her purchase of the ring amounted to
an injury in fact. And indeed it does. On September 30, 2007,
Plaintiff purchased a ring from Bidz.com for $25.00. SAC ¶
72. Plaintiff alleges, however, that the ring “was not worth
the price that she paid Bidz.com.” Id. Put otherwise, Plaintiff
“lost money” on her purchase. Consequently, Plaintiff has
demonstrated the “actual injury” component of standing.

2. Nonresidents of California May Not Invoke the UCL
or FAL When the Allegedly Unlawful Conduct Does Not
Occur Inside California

*4  Next the Court considers whether Plaintiff, an admitted
Texas resident, can avail herself of the UCL and the FAL.
As observed by the California Court of Appeal in Nw.
Mortgage, Inc. v. Superior Court, 72 Cal.App.4th 214, 85
Cal.Rptr.2d 18 (1999), the UCL was neither designed or
intended to regulate claims of non-residents arising from
conduct occurring entirely outside of California. Id . at 222,
85 Cal.Rptr.2d 18; see also Sullivan v. Oracle Corp., 547
F.3d 1177, 1187 (9th Cir.2008) (refusing to apply section
17200 to claims of nonresidents of California of conduct that
took place outside of California). However, “state statutory
remedies may be invoked by out-of-state parties when they
are harmed by wrongful conduct occurring in California.” Nw.
Mortgage, Inc., 72 Cal.App.4th at 224-25, 85 Cal.Rptr.2d 18.
Similarly, by its own terms, California's FAL applies only
when the conduct complained of occurred in California. The
FAL prohibits false or misleading statements made “before
the public in this state” and “from this state before the public
in any state.” Cal. Bus. & Prof.Code § 17500 (emphases
added).

The critical issues here are whether the injury occurred in
California and whether the conduct of Defendants occurred
in California. If neither of these questions can be answered in
the affirmative, then Plaintiff will be unable to avail herself
of these laws. Beginning with the first issue, it is unclear
from the SAC exactly where Plaintiff was when she purchased
the ring. Plaintiff simply alleges that she made a purchase
via Bidz.com's website. SAC ¶¶ 8 & 72. In theory, Plaintiff
could have accessed this website from a computer located in
California. However, the more reasonable inference is that
Plaintiff accessed this website from a computer in Texas,
the state where she resides. See Broam, 320 F.3d at 1028.
Therefore, the only remaining way for Plaintiff to show that
these statutes can be applied to her claims is if she can show
that Defendants' allegedly unlawful conduct took place in
California. Nw. Mortgage, Inc., 72 Cal.App.4th at 224-25, 85
Cal.Rptr.2d 18; Cal. Bus. & Prof.Code § 17500.

Apparently, Plaintiff believes that because Bidz.com's
principal place of business is in California, a fact that
Defendants concede, the Court can presume that any false
and misleading statements emanated from California. But
the bulk of authority counsels against making such an
assumption. Although the fact that Bidz.com does business
in California gives California personal jurisdiction over
Bidz.com, the Supreme Court has specifically admonished
that the existence of personal jurisdiction over a defendant
does not alone permit application of the forum law to the
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claims of nonresident plaintiffs. See Phillips Petroleum Co.
v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 821, 105 S.Ct. 2965, 86 L.Ed.2d 628
(1985); see also Nw. Mortgage, Inc., 72 Cal.App.4th at 226,
85 Cal.Rptr.2d 18. Rather, a nonresident plaintiff must allege
that there is “significant contact or a significant aggregation
of contacts to the claims asserted by each member of the
plaintiff class” to ensure that application of the state law
to a defendant's conduct would not violate the Constitution.
See Standfacts Credit Servs., Inc. v. Experian Info. Solutions,
Inc., 405 F.Supp.2d 1141, 1147 (C.D.Cal.2005) (citing Nw.
Mortgage, Inc., 72 Cal.App.4th at 226, 85 Cal.Rptr.2d 18).

*5  Plaintiff does not allege any specific facts linking
Defendants' contacts with California to the claims Plaintiff
asserts against them. Instead, she only alleges that Bidz.com's
principal place of business is in California. Also, noticeably
absent from the SAC are allegations concerning Mr. and Ms.
Zinberg's own individual contacts with California. Thus, the
SAC insufficiently establishes the constitutionally-mandated
“significant contact” with California. See Nw. Mortgage, Inc.,
72 Cal.App.4th at 227 & n. 16, 85 Cal.Rptr.2d 18 (citing
Shutts, 472 U.S. at p. 822). Accordingly, the Court concludes
that Plaintiff lacks standing to assert claims under the UCL
and the FAL. For this reason, the Court GRANTS Defendants'
Motion insofar as it relates to Plaintiff's Second and Third
Causes of Action.

B. Whether Plaintiff's Remaining Causes of Action
Should Be Dismissed Under Rule 9(b)

The Court next considers whether Plaintiff's remaining
Causes of Action should be dismissed under Rule 9(b) for
failure to plead averments of fraud with particularity. As
an initial matter, though, the Court must clarify which of
these claims is subject to the heightened pleading requirement
found in Rule 9(b), as the parties dispute the applicability of
Rule 9(b) in this case.

1. All of Plaintiff's Claims Are Subject to Rule 9(b)
It is well-established that the heightened pleading standard
applies to allegations of fraud. In re GlenFed, Inc. Sec.
Litig., 42 F.3d at 1547. Accordingly, Plaintiff's Fifth and
Sixth Causes of Action for actual and constructive fraud,
respectively, are subject to Rule 9(b). It is also beyond
dispute that the heightened pleading standard applies to
claims “grounded in fraud” or that “sound in fraud.” As the
Ninth Circuit explained in Vess v. Ciba-Geigy Corp. USA:

In cases where fraud is not a necessary
element of a claim, a plaintiff may
choose nonetheless to allege in the
complaint that the defendant has
engaged in fraudulent conduct. In
some cases, the plaintiff may allege a
unified course of fraudulent conduct
and rely entirely on that course of
conduct as the basis of a claim. In that
event, the claim is said to be “grounded
in fraud” or to “sound in fraud,”
and the pleading of that claim as a
whole must satisfy the particularity
requirement of Rule 9(b).

317 F.3d 1103-04. Thus, the critical issue here is whether
Plaintiff's First, Fourth, and Ninth Causes of Action are
“grounded in fraud.” Id.

Plaintiff's First Cause of Action asserts a claim under the
Consumers Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), Cal. Civ.Code
§ 1750 et seq, and rests on allegations that Defendants
have violated the CRLA by (1) representing that the goods
sold through the Bidz.com website were of a significantly
higher quality than they in fact were; (2) by advertising
that its auctions were $1 No Reserve auctions with no shill
bidding, when they had no intent to provide such a service
as advertised; and, (3) by representing that their goods could
be purchased for as little as $1, even though such a discount
did not exist due to rampant shill bidding. See SAC ¶¶ 81-86.
Put otherwise, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants have violated
the CRLA by engaging in a “massive and systematic fraud”
through shill bidding and misrepresentations. SAC ¶ 1. As this
“unified course of conduct” is the sole basis on which this
claim rests, the claim is deemed to be one that is “grounded in
fraud.” Vess, 317 F.3d 1103-04. Accordingly, it must satisfy
the particularity of Rule 9(b). Id. at 1304; see also Buckland,
155 Cal.App.4th at 809, 66 Cal.Rptr.3d 543 (confirming that
CLRA claims can be grounded in fraud).

*6  The Court reaches a similar conclusion with regard
to Plaintiff's Fourth and Ninth Causes of Action. Like her
First Cause of Action, Plaintiff's Fourth and Ninth Causes of
Action rest on allegations of a “massive and systematic fraud”
perpetrated on Plaintiff and other class members. Specifically,
in connection with her Fourth Cause of Action, which asserts
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violations of California Civil Code sections 1709 and 1710,
Plaintiff alleges that Defendants have violated California law
by (1) suggesting that their auctions provided $1 No Reserve
auctions with no shill bidding, when Defendants did not have
reasonable ground for believing this is true or in fact believed
this to be true; (2) suppressing the fact that their auctions were
not $1 No reserve auctions, were rampant with shill bidding,
and that they sold goods markedly inferior to the quality
standards to which Defendants claimed to adhere; and (3) by
promising that the auctions were $1 No Reserve auctions with
no shill bidding, when Defendants had not intent to perform
on this promise. See SAC at ¶¶ 110-114. Her Ninth Cause of
Action, by comparison, alleges that Defendants violated the
Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”),
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), by repeatedly using the United States
Postal Service, interstate overnight couriers, and the interstate
wires to transmit signals, sounds, or writing for the purpose of
executing or in connection with the “massive and systematic
fraud” discussed at length above. See SAC at ¶¶ 156-57. Both
of these Causes of Action are based on the same unified
course of fraudulent conduct and, thusly, are properly deemed
claims that are “grounded in fraud .” Vess, 317 F.3d 1103-04;
see also Moore v. Kayport Package Express, 885 F.2d 531,
541 (9th Cir.1988) (applying Rule 9(b) to a RICO claim);
Bruce v. United States, 759 F.2d 755, 758 (9th Cir.1985)
(same).

In summary, the five aforementioned Causes of Action are
either fraud claims or “grounded in fraud.” Accordingly, Rule
9(b) applies to each and every one of them.

2. Plaintiff Has Failed to Properly Plead Her Causes of
Action Against Defendants

The next order of business is to determine whether Plaintiff
states with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud.
See Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b). Defendants essentially raise two
arguments with respect to the sufficiency of Plaintiff's claims
under Rule 9(b). First, they contend that all of Plaintiff's
claims-state claims and RICO claim alike-fail under Rule 9(b)
because they do not specify the “times, dates, places, benefits
received, and other detail of the alleged fraudulent activity” in
relation to each defendant. See In re GlenFed, Inc. Sec. Litig.,
42 F.3d at 1547 n. 7. Second, they contend that Plaintiff's
RICO claim in particular fails because Plaintiff has failed to
adequately plead mail and wire fraud, which are the predicate
acts for this claim. The Court addresses only the first of these
arguments because the conclusion reached in relation to it
disposes of any need to analyze the second argument.

*7  In conducting the following analysis, the Court is
mindful of two principles. First, Rule 9(b) applies only
to the specifics of the alleged misrepresentations; it does
not, by contrast, apply to other aspects of Plaintiff's claims,
such as reliance or damages. See Anthony v. Yahoo!, Inc.,
421 F.Supp.2d 1257, 1264 (N.D.Cal.2006); Indiana Bell
Tel. Co. v. Ward, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26013, *3, 2002
WL 32067296 (S.D.Ill.2002). Second, consistent with the
general rule that a claim sounding in fraud must state
certain evidentiary facts, courts have routinely held that each
defendant against whom a fraud-based claim is asserted must
be notified of the circumstances surrounding the fraudulent
conduct with which she individually has been charged.
Wanetick v. Mel's of Modesto, Inc., 811 F.Supp. 1402, 1405
(N.D.Cal.1992); McFarland v. Memorex Corp., 493 F.Supp.
631, 639 (N.D.Cal.1980); see also Jacobson v. Peat, Marwick,
Mitchell & Co., 445 F.Supp. 518, 522 n. 7 (S.D.N.Y.1977). In
accordance with this second principle, the Court undertakes
this analysis in relation to each defendant, beginning first with
Bidz.com.

Under California law, the “indispensable elements of a fraud
claim include a false representation, knowledge of its falsity,
intent to defraud, justifiable reliance, and damages.” Moore
v. Brewster, 96 F.3d 1240, 1245 (9th Cir.1996) (quotation
omitted). Upon review, it is apparent that Plaintiff's averments
of fraud meet the heightened pleading requirement imposed
by Rule 9(b). Plaintiff alleges that listed on Bidz.com's
website is a Term and Condition which states as follows:

Shill bidding is prohibited on the
site, that is the placing of bids or
causing bids to be placed on any
product for the purpose of artificially
increasing or otherwise manipulating
the bidding process on Bidz.com or the
bid price of any product listed on the
site, or influencing user behavior on
Bidz.com.

SAC ¶ 68. She also alleges that Bidz.com represents that the
jewelry sold on its website “have significant resale potential
for those looking to turn a profit and make perfect gifts.” Id.
at ¶ 69. In addition, Bidz.com allegedly “makes an effort to
make the jewelry look high-quality and presentable” through
a “compare” feature that allows consumers to compare the
auction price of a certain good with its supposed retail value.
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Id. at ¶ 70. Relying on these representations, Plaintiff, on
September 30, 2007, purchased a ring from the website. Id.
at ¶ 8 & 72. This ring was allegedly not worth the price
Plaintiff paid Bidz.com and was not of the high-quality that
she expected based on the website's representations. Id. at ¶
72.

These allegations are not, however, sufficient for the purposes
of Rule 9(b). To satisfy Rule 9(b), a plaintiff must set
forth more than facts about the time, place, and manner of
fraudulent statements. Rather, she must also “set forth an
explanation of why the statement or omission complained of
was false and misleading.” In re GlenFed, Inc. Sec. Litig.,
42 F.3d at 1548. Representations concerning the absence of
shill bidding can only be false if shill bidding in fact occurred
during the auction at issue. However, Plaintiff has failed to
allege that in this particular instance, during this particular
auction, shill bidding occurred. Similarly, the “compare”
feature is only misleading if Plaintiff used it during the
auction. However, the SAC fails to allege this particular fact.
Accordingly, because Plaintiff has not linked Defendants'
allegedly fraudulent conduct to the particular auction she
participated in, the Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to
sufficiently allege her averments of fraud against Bidz.com.

*8  This conclusion is consistent with the purpose of Rule
9(b). The heightened standard under Rule 9(b) exists to
safeguard defendants against spurious accusations and the
resulting reputational harm by providing sufficient notice to
defendants about the charges levied against them. Vess, 317
F.3d at 1104. That is exactly what Plaintiff's averments do not
do. It is unclear from the SAC whether Plaintiff was defrauded
by Bidz.com because of representations concerning the
quality of the goods, the misleading “compare” feature,
shill bidding, or any combination of these three things. Put
otherwise, the allegations do not allow Bidz.com to defend the
fraud-based claims asserted against it because it lacks notice
of the particular circumstances surrounding its allegedly
fraudulent conduct in relation to Plaintiff.

Having determined that Plaintiff has not sufficiently pleaded
her claims against Bidz.com, the Court next considers
whether the same is true for Plaintiff's claims against the
individual defendants, Mr. & Ms. Zinberg. As noted above,
each defendant against whom a fraud or fraud-based claim
is asserted must be notified of the circumstances surrounding
the fraudulent conduct with which she individually has
been charged. Wanetick, 811 F.Supp. at 1405; McFarland,
493 F.Supp. at 639; Jacobson, 445 F.Supp. at 522 n. 7.

Without exception, all of the relevant allegations concerning
the fraudulent conduct at issue are made only in reference
to Bidz.com. See SAC ¶¶ 35-72. Indeed, it is not until
paragraph 73 of the SAC when Plaintiff first begins to
make allegations concerning Mr. and Ms. Zinberg's conduct.
Moreover she only does this by using the term “Defendants.”
But such categorical grouping is not permitted, despite
Plaintiff's arguments otherwise. The law does not, as Plaintiff
believes it does, allow a plaintiff to bootstrap claims against a
corporation's executives, board members, or shareholders to a
sufficiently pleaded fraud claim against the corporation itself,
simply by virtue of the relationship between the corporation
and the executives, board members, and shareholders. This
is true even where, as here, the individual defendants hold
upwards of 45% of the corporation's issued stock. Were the
Court to allow such bootstrapping, then the Court would
deprive the individual defendants of the very protections Rule
9(b) was meant to afford them. Vess, 317 F.3d at 1104. Thus,
because Plaintiff has failed to allege specific facts detailing
Mr. and Ms. Zinberg's individual involvement in the fraud,
Plaintiff's fraud claims against these two defendants fail under
Rule 9(b). Therefore, Defendants' Motion is GRANTED
insofar as it relates to the First, Fourth, Fifth, and Ninth
Causes of Action, as they are asserted against Defendants.

C. Whether Plaintiff's Causes of Action Should be
Dismissed With Prejudice

Lastly, the Court considers whether Plaintiff's claims should
be dismissed with prejudice. As a general rule, denial of leave
to amend is proper when the court concludes that further
amendment would be futile. Rutman Wine Co. v. E. & J. Gallo
Winery, 829 F.2d 729, 738 (9th Cir.1987).

*9  In this instance, it appears that amendment will be futile
with respect to only one claim: Plaintiff's Sixth Cause of
Action for constructive fraud. Defendants argue that this
Cause of Action fails because Plaintiff did not plead a
fiduciary relationship between herself and Defendants. On
this point, Defendants are correct. Constructive fraud consists
of “any breach of duty which, without an actually fraudulent
intent, gains an advantage to the person in fault[.]” See Cal.
Civ.Code § 1573. The Court is not aware of any legal or
equitable duty that arises during an everyday transaction
between consumer and merchant. Accordingly, it appears that
Plaintiff's claim fails as a matter of law.

As no legal duty exists between Defendants and Plaintiff,
amendment of the Sixth Cause of Action will be futile.
Therefore, the Court dismisses Plaintiff's Sixth Cause of
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Action with prejudice. All other Causes of Action are
dismissed without prejudice.

IV. CONCLUSION
Based on the foregoing, the Court:

1. GRANTS Defendants' Motion insofar as it relates to
Plaintiff's Second and Third Causes of Action, for lack
of standing.

2. GRANTS Defendants' Motion insofar as it relates to
Plaintiff's First, Fourth, Fifth, and Ninth Causes of
Action as they are asserted against Defendants, for
failure to plead averments of fraud with particularity, as
required by Rule 9(b).

3. GRANTS Defendants' Motion insofar as it relates to
Plaintiff's Sixth Cause of Action as it is asserted against
Bidz.com for failure to state a claim, with prejudice.

Plaintiff has 15 days to file a Third Amended Complaint, if
she so chooses.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

All Citations

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2009 WL 605249

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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